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Highlights

Financial highlights

Group revenue

Adjusted profit/{loss) before tax**

Adjusted net cash/{debt)
{exclusive of lease cbligations)

Statutory diluted EPS’

Order book

' Oncontinuing activities,

Net debt {inclusive of lease obligations)

Reported profit/{loss) before tax’

EBITDA to cash conversion®**

Adjusted diluted EPS*

Accident frequency rate

**  On continuing activitles, stated before excerrionsl costs and amortisation of acquisition intangibles.
*** Being EBITDA divided by cash inflow from aperating activities of centinuing vperations,
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Strategic highlights

- New cllent relationship with the
Ministry of Justice to provide
housing services

— Significant capabilities to support the
decarbonisation of the UK's housing

stock including an end-to-end offer
for clients, enabling prajecis to be
designed, funded, Implemented
and measured

— Good progress in managing the
controlled closure of our
Development activities, releasing

working capital absorbed In that area

— Excellent working capital
management

— Underlying net debt (before lease
obligations) at close to zero

ESG highlights

— Staif delivered 1,500 local community

mojects generating over £29.4m of
soclal value

— Plans to eliminate our carbon feotprint

by 2030

— Awarded Order of Distinction by the

Royal Society for the Prevention of

Accldents (RoSPA), having achleved

Gold Award standard In our safety
record for 19 consecutive years

— Recognised as one of the Best
. Blg Companies to work for by the
Sunday Times

Reconciliations between the statutory
figures and the alternative performance

measures are reconciled on pages 55 and

56 of the Financial review. The Financial
review also provides detailed analysis
of the financial Impact from the
discontinued operations.
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Strategic Report

Specialists in housing solutions

OUR PURPOSE

Working together to help people and
communities thrive. This is the guiding
principle that defines our brand and drives

our activities, it is what makes Mears distinctive
and is the starting point for al of our acthvities.

OUR VISION

To be the leading provider of hpusing
sefvices and solutions to the affordable
housing market in the UK.

OUR VALUES

We valus our CUStOMers

and communities, putting

tivelr needs ot the hesrt of
everything we do.

Our business at a glance

WHAT WE DO

Mears has a single-minded focus on the housing market and delivering
services to the rasidents of these homes, We aperate within the
sffordable housing sector, which is an area that will see continued
investment given the sigaificant housing shortage and the fising numbier
of people who are regarded as statutorily homeless. We are also a key
player in the Net Zero agenda. As the targest provider of repairs and
maintenance to the social housing sector, we are already delivering Net
Zero housing sotutions with our pariners.

OUR S5ERVICES

Qur core services are In the maintenance and management of homes,
Increasingly we operate an intelligent approach to maintenance. using
iechnology and experience to operate preventative maintenance
prograrmmes that reduce tavets of emergency repairs. As regards
management, we collect rent and ensure homes are managed ang
maintaned 10 a decent standard, whilst often providing other wetfare
services o the tenants. Qur particular focus is on providing sustainable
altermatives to homelessness, helping reduce the Asing problems
created by the housing shortage Inthe UK.

OUR CUSTOMERS

We work predominantly with Central Government and Local
Government, in the delivery of housing services. These are typically
through long-term comracts. We equally consider the residents of the
homes that we manage ancd/or maintaln ia be our customers, and we
take pride in the high levels of customer satisfaction thai we achieve,

02

We value Innovation,
heing inventive in our
approach and empowering
people to take reasonable
action without fear or
discrimiration.

LONG-TERM DRIVERS

The shorage of hausing in the UK has made Invesiment in housing both
a political and an economic priprity. The Social Housing While Paper will
fead to gresgter focus on tenant engagement and safety. UK carbon
reduction 1argets will also mean that significant further investment In
nausing Is needed. including the replacement of gas boilers.

We are slready seeing rising In
altention to the quakity of Gellvery.

it In our

rkets and a greater

Demographic change is also a key long-term drhver, given the growing
and agelng population af the UK. This will create opporiunity for more
specighst housing. where management and maintenance services can
be effectively combined throlgh a single partner.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

2021 accreditations

An organisation that actively
promotes support to Armed
fForces Veterans

An organisation that promotes
a safe working environment

ROYAL SOCIETY FOR THE PREVENTION
QOF ACCIDENTS

Healh and safety is paramount to cur business.

in 2021 Maars Group was awarded the RoSPA
Order of Distinction alongside its 1&h conseautive
Gald Award in the intemationally renownad
Health and Safety Awards run by RoSPA.,

An organisation that engages
with customers

TPAS CONTRACTOR ACCREDITATION
AND AWARD WINNER

Mears has continuousty held the TPAS
Contractor accreditation since 2015, 1tis an
independent evidence-based accreditation
scheme \hat assasses and recognises resident
engageinent amangements. Mears is privileged
to have haen awarded the TPAS Award for best
contractor — tanant engagement.

ARMED FORCES COVENANT —

GOLD AWARD

Mears has signed up 1o the Armed Forces
Covenant to demonstrale our comeniiment to
ensure that those who serve ot who have
served in the armed forces, snd thelr familes,
are ireated fairly.

A great employer

BEST COMPANIES

Mears was named in 2021 as ane of the Top 25
large businesses 1o work for in the Sunday Times
Best Companies to work for list. Best Companies
recognises businesses that take workplace
engagement sericusly in ordes 1o bulid a happier,
healthler workforce. Our listing in the top 25 has
been maintained for 3 years.

An organisation that

. . A diverse and inclusive business
delivers quality

CUSTOMER SERVICE EXCELLENCE
Mears aims 10 put customers atthe heart of
everything we do. The Customer Service
Excellence accreditation is a practical 1001 for
driving customerfcused change.

EW GROUP INCLUSIVE

CULTURE PLEDGE

Mears Is proud o have signed the EW Group
Inclusive Culture Pledge. The Pledge wili

tacus on keeping the equakity and diversity
canversation alive in our organisation and how
we continue 1o progress our diversity and
incission agenda and achievements,

Mears Group PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2021




An organisation that
champions Social Mobility

SOCIAL MOBILITY INDEX

Mears is listed as a top 75 Social Mobility Emplovyer in the Social
Mobility index. The Index is an important bench-marking Inttiative
that ranks Bntatn's employers on the actions they are taking to
ensure they ans uprt (o accessing and progressing talent from
all backgrounds and it showcases progress towards improving
social mobliity.

A socially responsible business

FTSEAGOOD

Mears Group is placed in the top 9% of the UK's most socially
responsible husinesses in the FTSE4Good Index which recognises
excelent environmental, social and governance {ESG) practices.

Delivering excellent
customer service

ICS SERVICEMARK

Mears 3ims to put customers at the heart of everything we do.
The ICS ServiceMark helps organisations understand how
effective their customer service strategy is, and identifies areas
for improvement.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

An organisation that believes good
people make a great business

INVESTORS IN PEOPLE
Mears is proud to have long held the Investors in People standard.
Investors in People is the Industry standard for people management.

Colleagues receive best
in class training

ICS TRAININGMARK

The institute of Customer Service {CS) TreiningMark demonstrates
that owr Customer Excelience Tralning (Making 2 Positive
Difference) programmes mee! national standards for customer
sarvice, as independently recagnised by the ICS.

Backing our essential workers

ICS - SERVICE WITH RESPECT

Mears is proud to support the I1SC's new *Service with Respect’
campaign combatting the abuse and anti-social behaviour
experienced by essential workers in custormer-facing roles.
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s letter

For much of the last two years,
Mears’ strategy has been to
streamline and refocus its
activities on the core provision
of low capital intensity housing
services to public sector clients
and in doing so to reduce its
indebtedness. This has now
been achieved.

Kieran Murphy
Chairman

06
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INTRODUCTION

The most obvious theme for 2021 was the
gradual and pragressive relurm to normal
warking across most of Mears’ activities.

At the start of the year, a version of lockdown
was siill (n place, our repair and maintenance
activilles wera restricted and a number of
contracts contfnued, &s they had far much of
2020, to repey our cosls but eliminated the
scope for profit generation. By the half year, -
we had relumed 10 almost normal operations
and contractual conditions. Activity continued
to bulld throughout the second half of the
year, with giowing work valumes and a more
active bidding process. The resilience of our
markeéts and our gperations was underined
by the fact thai the appearance lple in the year
of the Omicron Covid variant, while creating
soma operational challenges, had very little
impact on activity levels, service quality or
financiyl performance. We entered 2022 with
a sttong trading and financial positian, a good
pipeline of work and continued high leveis of
customer service.

This resilence in performance owes much
tothree factors. The first, and maost important,
is the quafity of our staff. { have seen many
examples of extraordinary dedication and
resilience in the face of difficult drcumstances
and a determination o deliver 8 good
experience for customers, not simply to
execule a plece of work, The second is the
strength of our customer retationships, fostered
by our balief that excelent customer setvice
Is the key to effective cooperative working
Detween chent and provider. Finally, out
information technology platform has been
integral to the delivery of our high guality,
responshve service, Mears’ peopke have much
te be proud of in the way they navigated 2021,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Continuing revenues

£878.4m

{2020: £605.8m})

Adjusted diluted EPS

18.23Pp

(Statutory diluted EPS 11.50p)

Mears in 2022 is a financially strong group
whose business Is to fulfil contracts from UK
Local and Central Government bodies to
provide essential services 1o customers in
need. No UK company will be entirely immune
to the consequences of the current
deterioration in the world geopolitical climate,
but Mears’ financial stability and increasing
certainty of revenue provides the Group with
strong defensive quakties and confldence in
cur Sustainable ulure,

RESULTS

Mears’ results for the year reflect this patiern
of underlying activity, with activity and
profitabliity growing as the year progressed.
Fuli year revenue from continuing activities
reached £878.4m, very close to that achieved
In 2019 {£881.5m) and a significant increase
an 2020 (£805.8m). Adjusted profit before
tax reached £25.6m (2020: £3.4m loss).

Cash generatlon throughout the year was
particularly strong, both in the core operations
and in proceeds from realisations in the
residual development business, The year end
adjusted net cash balance was £54.6m but,
more importantly, average daily adjusted

net dett for the year was eflectively zero.
Underlying cash conversion of over 100% In
the last two years, {as defined and detailed in
the Finance Review), has, along with strategic
disposals, rransformead the Group’s financiat
pasition and created the curvent balance
sheet strength which Meers is determined

1o retain into the future,

The value of new contracts bid and secured

in the year was relatively low given the delay
caused by Covid. The Group was pleased o
develop a new Central Government client
retationship with the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) 10
provide housing services, supporting low and
medium risk prisoners upon thelr release into
initial accommodation and then providing a
clear pathway to a settled home. While the
Initial value of the contract is modest, there is
scope 1o extend the longevity and geographic
coverage of this wark as we become familiar
with the requirements of a new and different
customer base and a new client,

We were delighied that in early 2022, the
Ministey of Defence {MoD) notifled Mears that
it had been successful in its bid o continue to
provide housing services to military personnel
in the community under the new RLAP. This is
an extremely impartant client and contract for
the Group, and we look forward to continuing
ta provide a very high quality service to our
military customers for a number of years.
Including this successful retention, the
Company’s order ook remains strong

at some £2.4bn {2020: £2.6bn),

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accoumnts 2021

DIVIDEND

The Board is proposing a final gividend of 5.50
pence per share, bringing the total dividend for
the year t0 8.00 pence per share. We are
pleased 1o have beean able to reinstate
dividend payments as our trading returned
towards normal during 2021 and it is the
Board's policy to pay a progressively growing
dividend, keeplng covers at between 2x and
2.5x normalisedt earnings.

STRATEGY

For much of the last two years, Mears' strategy
has beento streamline and redocus its activities
on the core provision of low capital intensity
housing services to public sector cllents and

In doing se has realised value from non-core
activities to reduce s indebtedness. This has
now been achleved. During the last year, the
Board has invesied considerable time in
working with the management team, supported
by extarnal advisers, to assess the scope for
the Group's fulure development.

The backdrop Is encouraging. Demographic
trends are Increasing the demand for
affordable housing and more sophisticated
retirement living solutions. Socist housing
waiting lists remain long and there |s grawing
pressure on Locel Authorities and Housing
Associations to find, service and maintain
homes to a high standard. Finaffy, the
Govermnment's commitment ta national carbon
reduction targets cannot be achieved without
both a very substantial investment in the
quality of the existing housing stock as

wall as significant changes in the way

houses are heated.

Mears is positioned to benefit from all of these
trends. We expect to use our position as the
market leader In housing maintenance 1o win
new business at good margin and 1o
progressively extend our range of services o
cllents. We will explare ways in which we might
be abie to operate profitably with private secior
clients. We wiil graw our capabilities, especially
in relation to the ‘greening’ of housing and,
once effective funding mechanisms are found
1o pay for this work, expect to be a market
leader in this tansformation of the country’s
social housing stock. We will maintain a strong
financial position and our focus on excellent
cash generation,
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s letter continued

Qur commitment to ail of our stakeholders will
remain 8t the forefront of our development.

We will contihue 10 subpost customers and
communities, both in how we underake gur
core wark and in the social vakie projects we
support. We will inves! in ow business to
generate Incrarnental oppounity and quality
improvements in the service we can provide
customers and clignts, Cur commitment (o our
staif's weliare and their personal and career
davelopment will also be strengthened. We will
Instituie a programime 1o eliminate our own
carbon foetprint by 2030. We will maintain
close relationships with our bank tenders,
although our facitities wilf be smaller than in
past yedrs. And we will keen a cdose eye gn the
heed 1o balance ratained financial strangih for
the Group whh 2 sieady and growing return of
value 10 our shereholders.

BOARD DEVELOPMENTS

As foreshadowed in last year's repart, both Roy
irwitt and Geraint Davies stood dawit frant the
Board at the 2021 Annual General Maeting
[AGM). The Board is grateful for thelr services.
At that tme, the Board proposed to add one
new Non-Executive Directar during 2022,

Much wark was undertaken by the
Nominations Commitiee 10 identify both what
skills and experience would be of most value in
recruiting a new director and in examining our
nead for a coninued effort 10 reflect at Board
lavel the Group's overall cammiiment 1o
diversity. This work Is discussed further in

the Report of the Nominations Committee.
Folfowing an extensive procass, the Baard
was pleased 1o announce the sppointment of
Angela Lockwood as lts new Non-Executive
Director with effect from 1 January 2022,
Angeia has held senior rakes in the affordable
housing sector for many years and her in-depth
understanding of that community will be of
immense valye to Mears as it continues ta
develop its business.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

For a number of years, Mears' largest
shareholder was Primestone Capital, which
held aver 12% of 1he Company's shares.

Quer the 135t 12 manths, Primestone
progressively reduced is halding and, by the
end of 2021, it was no longer a sharehalder.
Mears’ currem shareholder base is dominated
by a small number of funids with significant
holdings. most of whom have been substantial
and supportive owners of the Company for
many years.

08

“We will continue to emphasise
the need to support customers

and communities, both in how we
undertake our core work and in the
social value projects we support.”

While day-ta-day diglogue with sharehsiders
Is led by the senior management team, itis
important for me as Chairmsn 1o have the
opponuURity to talk with sharehalders frem time
10 {ime so that | can understand the key Issues
which underpin their support for Mears.

During 2021, [ keld discussions on at least

one occlsign with mrast of the largest 15
shareholders in the Group, which sllowed
them to queslion me about the position and
praspects for the Group and laclitated my
understanding of what matters for them In their
continuing support for the Company. | inteny
to continue that diaiogue, DOth freactively

and proactively, through 2022,

ESG .

{ referred above o the importance of the
‘carbon zero sgenda’ in the future development
of the Mears' buslness, and this is discussed
further in the CEO's review, Mears is
devaioping s plan to eliminate its own cardon
footprint by 2030. This plan will be closely
monitored by the Board as it s rolled out across
the Group to ensure that the changes we make
are sustainable, effective, and permanent.

Mears' commitment to responsible business
snd the creation of social vaiue I$ an inlegral
part of the fabric of the Group, We mre pleased
that it coatinues to be recognised by a wite
range of oviside cbservers. We were
delighted to be awarded the Order of
Distinction by RaSPA (the Roya! Society for
the Prevention of Accigents), hawing achieved
Goid Award standard i our safety record for
19 cansecutive years. We remain one of the
Best Big Companies Lo work for In the annual
Sunday Times survey. We have continued to
develop a range of programmes 10 support
staff from apprentices through 1o middle
management in their career devefopmend.
Our commitment to CUSIOMer service was
reflected in the retentian of the ICS's
SarviceMark Accreditation for Housing.

We remaln in the forefront of the develapment
of good busimess Peactice with the production
of our report on Ethical Procurement and in the
development of our Scottish Business Charter,

Further details of other Initiatives are included
in the ESG section of the Strategic Report.

CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

Much has been achieved by Mears over the
last three years to optimise its position and
prospects, despite the strong headwinds of
the Covid pandermic for mugh of (hat period.
Credit for this must go to the management
1eam arxi the workforce generally, ang (L

I5 & pleasure, on behalf of the Bosard. 10
acknowiedge the hard and effective work
which has been put in over this periad.

We ara confident in our capabilities, our
abllity 1o add value and our capacity o
generate sustainable profitable growth.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



An interview with the

Chief Executive Officer

There has been so much publicity around
the challenges in the asylumn system.

How Is this likely to impact the businesy
going forward?

itis carrect to say that there have been major
challenges this year and our staff have been
brilliant in reacting to very high levets of
demand, often 81 very short notice. We find
initlsl and dispersed accommaodation, an
behalf of the Home Office across Scotland,
Northern Ireland and parts of the north of
England. At the time of writing this response,
there is ho sign of the number of people
requesting asylum decreasing, altitough we
have assumed that this will start to happen
from the middle of 2022, We will continye

to focus on providing good quality housing
and to work with other groups to support the
welfare of the individuals concerned.

“Our staff have
been brilliant

in reacting to
very high levels
of demand,
often at very
short notice.”

What is the sltuation regarding matenals
avallability and inflation, as well as the
pressures arising from labour shortages?
Worldwide demand had put pressure on
both the supply and price of some materials.
We are fortunate that all our major cantracts
provide for increases In inflation, but we still
hawe a duty to miligate the impact on our
chents. We have close working relationships
with our supplers and ensured there Is
good vislbllity of forward demand. There are
some pressures on front line trade roles,

To mitigate this, we have put increased focus
on apprenticeships. invested in the Kickstart
Scheme and developed new entry level
roles. Qur continued focus on promating
diversity is also important in ensuring that we
reach out to all people In society. The most
important thing s staff retention, and itis
chviously helpful that we are recognised as
belng one of the best large companies ¢
work for inthe UK. We have, however, gone
further, improving terms and conditions for
staff. in areas such as holidays, flexible
benefits and sick pay.

Covid must still be presenting challenges to
Mears. How are you dealing with them?
Cavid has almost become a business-as-
usual chalenge within Mears. By this Imean
staff have been excellent in'sticking 1o
stringent safety procedures and being able to
balance woiking from home and the office,
sometimes changing at very short notice.
We have tried and tested procedures, and
whilst it is possible that more severe
lockdowns may happen, it is evident that the
work will not disappear, but just get delayed.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2029

Do you believe that the facus on carbon
reduction is a real opparlunity for Mears?
Without doubt. The business is already
winning work in this space and had
developed an end-te-end service capability
10 support clients’ work towards net zero
within their housing stock. | am also excited
by the benefit this work has on reducing
fuel poverty. While belng ambitious in our
development planning and specifically in
broadening the skills in aw workforce here,
we are belng cautious as regards to the
speed at which clients invest, given some
uncerainties with grant funding availability.
Overall, though, this is probably the biggest
opportunity for Mears over the next 5 years.

What steps are you taking to promote
diversity in Mears?

Our dlients are very diverse and so is owr
workforce. | am pleased that stalf have readily
shared EDI data with us, so we have avery
good picture of our warkforce, and we
muortitor closely how ow woarkforce is
progressing. It's been goad to see significant
growth in the percentage of managers who
are women In Mears and that the gender pay
gap [s closing. We have an Empioyee Director
on the main Board and a Deputy Employee
Director, who [s also the disability champion
for the Group. Diversity tralning has taken
place atevery level in the Group, including at
the main Board. We have a Social Diversity
and Incluslon Board, with thvee independent
Directors, that reports to the main Board on
the progress the Group is making.

Our succession planning procedures, at all
levels, fuly consider diversity aspects and
our angoing goal to be aleader in this Neld.

“Our clients are
very diverse
and so is our
workforce.”

Now the cash position of the Group has
improved 50 much, do you see 8 iole

for acquisitions?

We don't believe that any major acquisitions
are likely. We have a very clear strategy with
some good opportunities for organic growth.
We will, of course, cantinue o have this
position under review,
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review

We are trusted partners to our
Local and Central Government
clients, who increasingly recoghise
the need for a high quality housing
specialist to help them provide a
wide range of accommodation and
related services to often vulnerable
people within their care.

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer

INTRODUCTIONMN

2021 was a strong year for the Group,
characterised by high quality operations and
customer service, & robust financial positon
and trading oulperformance, Qur track recard
of operational excellence underpins everything
we do: from winning new work, attracting and
retaining the best staff, delivering » strong
and sustainabte financial performance.,

The pandermic again placed additional
pperating challenges this yasar. Prior long-term
imvestment In client relatlonships, cur people
and systems ensured the business continued
to pertorm well refative 1o IS peers,

We are g rusted partner to our Locai and
Central Government chents, wha increasingly
recognise the need for & high quality housing
specialist 10 help them provide a wide range of
accoimmodation and related services to often
vutnerakle people within their care.

1am keen 1o put on record its appreciation for
the ongoing dedication and commitment shawn

by all statf and the cooperation and support
recelved from our dients and customers.

Accident frequency rate

0.19

{2020: 0.15)

Order booic

£2.4bn

(2020: 2.6bn)
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GROUP REVIEW

The trading performance of the Group continued 1o recover strongly over the course of the year as
the financial impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic receded. The recovary in revenue in the continuing
operations to near 2012 levels in 2023, and the rise in operating margins, especially in the second

half, were very positive.

Continuing activities

H12021 H2 202 2021 2020
Revenue £m £m £m £m
Maintenance-led 2865 2579 S44.4 5369
Management-led 1395 1685 308.4 2538
Development 172 79 256 153
Total 4437 4347 8784 805.8
Opersting profil before tax messures:
Statulory operating profit/floss) 97 U2 244 {6.3)
Adjusted operating profitfloss) %6 181 337 66
(pOs!-IFRS 16§
Adjusted operating profitiloss) 137 159 296 06
{pre-IFRS 16)
Adjusted aperoting margin 3% 7% 34% am
(pre-iIFRS 16)
Profit before tax measureg
Stetutory profitffloss) before tax 5.6 0.7 16.3 152}
Adjusted profit/floss) before tax? b uSs 25.6 34

1. Stahtory operating profivfloss) includes share of profit In assoclates.
2. Adjusted measures are defined in the Alternative Pedormance Measures section of the Finance Review.

Group revenues for the year were £878.4m
{2020: £805.8m). a 9% increase on the prior
year, driven by elevated volumes across the
Management-led coniracts, repair volumes
returning to pre-pandemic levels within
responsive Maintenance and a good sell-
through In Devetopment, espedially in the
first haif of 2021,

Operating profits and margins continued o
strengthen over the course of the year as
lockdown restrictions eased, volumes
increased, and the business reverted toits
original commercial mechantsms with clients.
Pre-IFRS 16 adjusted operating profit for the
year was £29.5m (2020: £0.6m), with pre-IFRS
16 adpusted operating margins recovering from
3.1% In the first half to 3.6% by the second half.

Adjusted profit before tax for the year was
£25.6m (2020 £3.4m loss). benefitiing from
the impwroved trading performance and lower
interest costs glven the Group's much
improved debt position throughout 2021.

OPERATING REVIEW

Maintenance-lad

Through its portfolio of Maintenance-led
contracts, Mears is responsible for the upkeep,
repair, and maintenance of social housing
across the UK, on behalf of around 50 Local
Authorlties and Housing Associations.

The Group's Mainlenance-ked contracts saw

an iImproving volume and revenue trend during
2021 as restrictions eased and more normalised
trading canditions returned to most branches.
All contracts reverted to thelr original
commercial mechanisms.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

We experienced particularly high volumes in
reactive maintenance actlvity in the second
half of 2021 as we worked with clients and
customers o clear the backlog of lower priority
maintenance jobs thal had been defsyed by
lockdowns. Higher Covid-related levels of
sickness In gur warkforce duning 2021, together
with some reductlon in praductivity given
ongoing social-distancing protocols, has
resutted in a higher level of overdue works
orders, Planned maintenance works have been
slower 1o retum to normal levels, However, this
spend is non-discretionary over the langer
term and we are confident these works wilt
return guring 2022,

Our procurement procedures have meant that
we have not experlenced significant problems
with material supply. Where lead times have
lengthened, we have managed to plan for this
in our operations! delivery. Howewver, as
evidenced across the industry, we have
experlenced inpul price inflation In the period,
Impacting upon both materials and labour.
The Group's customer contracts include
inflationary uplift mechanisms which negate
much of this risk over the medium term,
aithough there can be timing differences in the
short term. The Mears model has always been
to invest In and retaln our own staff 8s much as
possible, with lesser rellance than peers on
sub-contracied and other short-term labour,
Our employee turnover remains low relative
to the industry and, accordingly, we are

better protected from the shortages and
accompanying price inflation seenin the
broader construction labour markets.

Management-led

Mears’ Management-led contracts include the
procurement, management, and meintenance
of over 10,000 affordable homes and support
to the pecpie in those homes, Most of the
revenues in Lthis area are generated through
contracts with Central Government.

Our contracts in this Management-led
category performed strongly throughout 2021,
with revenues up 22% year on yeas. This was
largely driven by the Asylum Accommadation
and Suppor Contract (AASC) in which we find
Initial and dispersed accommodation on
behalf of the Home Office across Scotland,
Northern ireland, and parts of the north of
England. AASC continued to experience
elevated volumes across the entire asylum
process, with more service users entering

the system than exiting. The process of
supporting these vulnerable people Into
dispersed accommodation is continuing.
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

1 am immensely proud of how the Mears AASC
team and Group Infrastructure have maneged
such high demand (ofien at short notice)

+ and continued to pravide good quality
accommaodation and tenant support
throughout the year. While volumes remain
elevated at the time of writing, we anticipaig
that numbers within the system wili start to
normalise from the middle of 2022,

Mears was awarded & contract with the Mo
Mo} to provide transitional housing services
and support 1o Iow and medium risk prisoners
upon thels release, from ihitial accommodation
Into a settled home. A key aim of this pliot
scheme is to ensure that no one leaves piison
without the offer of & good qualily place 10 ive
from thek first night in the community, and a
clear pathway 10 a setthed long-term home.
This is a new cusiomer for Mears. We will
provide an integrated service inckiding the
provision of \he property, maintenance,
management, and welfare support. The contract
mobflised in July 2021 and has ramped up
siawly during the initlal si+months, reaching sn
annuakised run-rate value of circa £6m revenue
by ihe year end. Initial feedback rom the MoJ
has been posittve and discussions cantinue in
respect of extending bath the term and
geographic reach of the programme.

Mears was delighted 1o be awarded the new
RLAP contract, providing a wide range of
housing services to the Defence Infrastruciure
Organisation (DIO). The new contract |s fora
period of up to Seven years and has a contract
valse In excess of £50m a year. Under the
contract, Mears wik provide a wide range of
accammodation and property services to
service personnel and their familles across the
UK. Services include property search, selection
and leasing, relocatlon services, tenancy
management, responsive rapalrs, and
maintenance. The new contract s expected

‘o commence in April 2022. Mears has been
successiuily providing simiar secvices since
206 under the predecessor Substhute Service
Accommodation contract, delivering @ high
level of service and operational delivery,

which has conributed 1o this successful re-bid.
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Development

Our few remaining developmaent sites achieved a strong sefl-through, particularly in the first half year.
The Group sold 50 units in ihe year, generating cash and revenues of £25.6m {2020: £15.1m).
The Group anticipates a full exit from the remaining Development ponfolio during 2022.

Development piots Units
Completed units as at 1 Jahuary 2021 49
Units completed dwing period 17
Units sold during period {50
Completed units a1 21 December 2021 16
Building in progress at 31 Decembaer (in addition to completed units) 26
Net working capital absarbed {31 December 2021 £12m
{2020: £25m)

Energy efficiency

Tne Social Housing sector, comprising some
20% of the total number of 28 million dwellings
inthe UK, has been tasked by Government 1o
fead the way in the decarbonisation of the UK's
housing stock, in line with the UK's overall
ciimate change ampitions. Furthermare, rising
levets of fuel poverty 8s energy prices swge
demand furthes action on energy efficlency.
Mears has built significant capabifities in this
area and is heavily engaged with its Local
Authority and Housing Associatlon client base
to help them rise to these challenges.

An anaiysis by [nside Housing put the
estimared cost of decarbenising the UK's sociel
housing stock at £104bn or circa £21,000 per
property. While Central Government has not
yet released enough funding for clients to
achieve thelr 2030 targe(s. there are now
increasing funding commitments available to
enable progress lo be made, Apct 2022 wik
see £800m released for the English Sacial
Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF), with
similar funds existing in devaivied nations.

The Warm Hornes Front and Energy Company
Obligation {(ECO4) scheme also present
significant investment opportunities.

Meaers has created an end-to-end offer for
cllents, enabling projects 1o be designed,
funded, implemented, and measured.

Mears has worked cofisboratively with several
clients to design ilored retrofit sclutions and
secure funding through the SHOF. This Is

the first ranche of funding from Centrat
Government, which will be released over

the next (Qyears to improve the engergy
performance of sockal remed homes on the
journey 10 achleve net zero by 2050 In England
The funding applications were faciitated by
Mears in partnesship with Livin Housing, Crawley
Homes and Milton Keynes Coundl. The Group
crasted & ‘carbon reduction teem’ focused on
developing solutions o Ssupport our existing
chens to decarbonise thelr housing stack by
taking 8 resident fiest approach that is centred
on reducing fuel stress. improving residerits”
quakty of Ilke, and improving the condition and
energy performance of cients’ housing stock.

The successful funding awands 1o date,
combined with client investment, will defiver
schemes 10 cur Milton Keynes Councll, Crawley
Homes and Livin Housing 10 an aggregate
value of over £15m {including grant funding of
circa £5m), with works to be completed before
tMarch 2023.
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it Is obviously iImportant for dients ko integrate
green Investment with other plannad
maintenance work and for this work to be well
maintained after installation. Mears is uniquely
placed to ntegrate such projects efficiently Into
cllents’ ongoing maintenance and regeneration
programmes. Creating energy efficiency isnota
one-off piece of work, it will become an ongalng
key part of the management of housing stock,
along with rising stancards of building safety
and tenant engagement. The current Decent
Homes standards review can only give furlher
momentum 1o these Improvements.

Of course, we have a respansibility to take
action on our awn direct operations to increase
carbon efficiency and aim to achleve Net Zero
on Scope 1 and 2 emissians by 2030. We will
publish our roadmap to this target in 2022,

CUSTOMERS

The Group conducts over 36,000 "Voice of the
Customer surveys a8 year 10 demonstrate to
ourselves and out clients thal the highest
standards of customer service are matntained.
These show that the Group's ‘Satisfled with
Service’ and ‘Likely to Recommend (NPSY
scores remained consistently above 80%

and 60% respectively, throughout the year.
Such scores are substantially above the
benchmark for the'industry across both the
public and private sector, with 35% being

the average. Integral to this performance was
the Mears Contract Management (MCM)
technology platform, which facllitated a
seamless transition to and from remote
working, for both Mears employees and
crucially our cllents.

“At a time when competition for
skilled labour is high, it has never
been more important for Mears to
continue its commitment to being
a great place to work for our staff.”

EMPLOYEES

At a time when compelition for skilled labour
is high, It has never been more important for
Mears to continue its commitment 1o being 8
great place to work for our staff. For the thied
year running, we have secured our place in the
2021 Sunday Times Best Companies list of top
25 large companies to work for In the UK, and
encouragingly our score Is higher than both
2019 anid 2020, Our culture [s defined by

our values, as set out in the ‘Red Thread'.

We recognise that through great employee
engagement we will achieve commercial and
customer success. A culture of investment,
inclusion and develfopment in the workforce
ensured that the Group saw only modest
increases in staff turnover and costs during
the year, despite labour markeats tightening
significantly across the sector.

The benefits of this effort can be seenin the
extraordingry effort and commitment from our
staff during the Covid period, which has had
such a hig impact on our operational deilvery.
As new opportunities arise, such as energy
efficiency, open up, we will have ta continue
irvesting in our staff to develop both the
capabllity and cepacity of our teams to take
advantage of such opportunities.

Mears Group PLC Annual Repert and Accounts 2021

During the year, we have used staff feedback
to further sirengthen our warkforce proposition,
with the following key Initiathves implemented
durihg the year:

— Improved holiday and sick pay for front
line operatives

— Building the workforce of tomarrow,
through Investing in apprentices,
supparting the Kickstart programme
and creating new entry level rgles 1o
drive social mobliity

== Introgducing flaxible benefits and enabling
a better balance batween home and
office working

== Providing excellent communication and
support around Covid and maintaining the
highest standards of internal
communication more broadly”

— Incressing investment in stefl, through
bespoke training such as our ‘Emerge’
development programme, for staff iocking
to progress to senior management positions

— Externally appointed Soclal and Diversity
Impact Board and accredited by the
Howsing Diversity Netwark, including
growing the number of women in
management positions and reducing the
gender pay gap. We wil publish our first
‘ethnicily gap’ report by the end of 2022

== The development of new low carbon
technoiogy and awarenegss tralning to
help transition our staff to these new
opporiunity sreas

— Prgviding comprehensive mental health
and welbeing support, especlally given
the difficult situations many of our staff
face on a day-to-day basis
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

HEALTM AND SAFETY

The Group's health and safety record across
ihe year was exceptionally good, as evidenced
by our Heallh and Safety Tesm being awarded
its 1Sth Consecutive RoSPA Gold Award and
retaining its place on ROSPA's Order of Merit.

The Mealth gnd Safety 1eam worked closely
with the operationa! team mobhising the
Ministry of Justice contracl, to ensure robust
governance policies and procedures were
embedded into contract defivery. In this
regary, the Group's knowledge, expertise, ang
expetienca derived from managing AASC was
hugely beneficial and was a key element in the
very successful depioyment of services during
the 1atter part of the year.

The ever-increasing importance of data
SeCUrity Is & key strategic consideration for

the Group and, In this regard, | have recently
widened the rola of the Compliance Commitiee
1o encompass greater scrutiny of this essential
ares moving forward intp 2022, 1o enhance the
level of information avallable to the main &oard,

SOCIAL VALUE AND

RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS

Our business is founded In Yocal communiies
where we dellver the highest standards of

care to people, their hames and their lived
envirmnment. By caring about the peopie and
communities we wark with, we are wefcomed
"o People’s homes, are & irusted pariner to
oW Clients, and an attractive and valued local
employer. Despite a challanging year in which
to engage with our local communitles, the
Group's staff dekvered over 1,500 local
cammunity projects generating over £29.4m of
social value. Qur AASC stalf delivered laptops
ta schools and supported children through
lackdown with self-isolation packs in 11 differem
languages. Our Key Worker contract teams
conthibuted over£1m of social value through
the ‘Reuse’ initiative that donales and

distibutes used fumniture 1o those in focal need,

We have 1argeted each employee to generate
£5.000 of social value in 2022 and the Mears
Foundation [our in-house, companylemployee
funded charity) 1o award £200,000 in funding
1o Support kocal projects.
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ORDER BOOK AND PIPELINE

The order book a5 21 31 December 2021 stoog
at £2.4bn {2020: £2.6bn), refleciing the tming
of contract renewals over Ihe last 12 months
and lower levels of re-tender attivity acioss the
industry due to Covid.

Whilst Mears itself enjoyed several shoti-lerm
extensions, such as at Tower Hamiets, the
Group was BlSO pleased ta secure imporiant
longer-term extensions to a few existing
conisracts, notably:

= 8 5-year contract extension with Orbit
Housing which will see Mears continee to
provide services, with an annual value of
circa £20m, until at least March 2027

— & 3-year contract extension with Livin

Housing, based in Sedgefield, which witi
se@ Mears continue to provide services,
with an annual value of around £12m per
annum until at jeast April 2025; and

- 85 discussed shova, the Group was
delighted 1o secure work with 8 new
Central Government cllent, tha MoJ,

We are seeing increasing ‘evels of bid
activity and the Group’s bid pipeiine
currently stands at circa £3bn. The Group
coninues to prioritise the retention snd
expansion of work within existing cfient
relaionships. The reported pipeline excludes
the Narth Lanarkshire Future Integrated
Heousing Services contract re-tender
estimated at more than £1.0bn, where the
Group ts well placed, with further feedback
expected during Q2 2022. The Group has
aiso had positive Initial feedback from the
Main respect of the CAS 3 temporaty
accommodation pilot programme and
discussions continue around the potential
extension and expansion of these services,

STRATEGY REVIEW

We are leaders in the affordable housing
market In the UK_ Qur services include
responsive repair, refurbishment, and
regeneralion of housing stock, a3 wel as the
procurement and management of temporary
accommodation and tenan support for Local
and Central Governmant cienis. The future
demand profile for these specialist housing
services remains positive, given the
fundamental shortaga and poor quality

of affordable housing in the UK,

In 2021, we completed a S-year strategic plan
for the Group, focused on this affordable
housing sector. We see oppartunities to grow
consistently and sustainably over the medium
term, given the following markel drivers:

— Increased Governmeri Investmentin the
affordable housing secior given expanding
social housing watting Fsts and renewed
political focus on quaity housing post-Covid.

- Social Housing White Paper and
Government policy towards higher
standards jor safety and customer
engagement. Changes in procusement
procedures, post-Brexit, are also likely
1o bring sdventages 10 those companies
wha have high focus on soclal value and
servica quality.

— The commitment o ralse the carbon
affidency of all social housing stock
by ong EPC band by 2030 presents
significant investment requirements.

We are now starting to see increased
funding come through.

= Increasing Local Authority spend
an lang-lerm, cost-effective
homelessness solutions,

- Ongoing demographic pressure on
the UK housing shoriage, particularty in
Mears’ core compeiencies of afforcable
rental and specisiist retirament fiving.

~ Delivering ESG commitments In line with
the high standards of social responsibilily
that are the foundations of our business.
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Mears will address these market opportunities
through the folowing measures:

- Leveraging our market-leading position in
housing maintenance to better cross-sellf
upsell our bvoader housing services
through more effective cllent planning and
thereby growing our share of wallet with
existing clients.

— Continuing to evolve our affordable
rental, temporary accommadation,
and inteqrated housing offer o meat
increasing market demands.

— Participation in larger, integrated
housing contracts. across Local and
Central Government.

— Driving greater operatianal effickencies
through more centralised administrative
and support services such as our regional
Hub network.

— Continued digital Innovallon to increase
the agility of front line operations whilst
continuing to drive improvements to the
customer experience,

- Operational consistency across the Group
and driving Improvemenis where contracts
are underperforming.

Even with the potential post-Covid economic
challenges, Housing i & secior that will gain
investment to support economic recovery

and to meat longer term challenges, such as
those posed by climate change. There Is clesr
opportunity to grow both our maintenance-led
and management-led work and indeed we see
a number of opportunities that will integrate all
of our services. The responsible approach that
we have taken to business through Covid, and
from the start of Mears, has left us well placed
1o benefit.

The business continues 10 make strategle
prograss towards the vision to be the UK's
most respected and trusted provider of
housing solutions.

CAPITAL ALLOCATION Accident frequency rate
Over the last couple of years, the Group has

significantly reduced its indebtedness and

re-established s cash generative, lease-based 0 .1 9
business model. Following this successful

de-gearing process, the Board will continue to {2020:0.15)

keep under close review its policy as 1o the

appropriate allocation of the Group's capital Order book

resowces. At least in current market conditions,
itis Itended to continue to operate the Group
with no more than modest levels of debt,

£2.4bn

The Board considers that the Group can {2020: 2.6bn)
continue to detiver organic growth within that

framework, with a retatively modest level of

.capital expendituwre. This business model will

conlinue to generate strong free cash flows.

The Board is committed 10 investing In the
businass and to innovation, and will be willing
1o increase capital investment, espedally in
technology, to develop new digital solutions
both to drive operational efficiency and to
develop business lines. Opportunities may also
arise 1o complete small strategic acquisitions,
again particularly of technology or data-oriented
husinesses, where they can add vafue to the
development of the Group’s business lines,
espedslly in carbon reduction. The Group's
curent view s that farger acquisitions are
uniikely to drive shaseholder value, but the
Group will retain the flexibility to act where
opportunities arise &t short notice, Mears

will continue to promote Its objective of

being the most socially responsible business
working with the public sector and inthat
context would expect to continue to drive
improvemeants in payment practices,

Having restorad the payment of regular
dividends 1o sharehoiders, the Board intends
to continue ta maintain a progressive dividend
policy and would expect to reduce eamings
cover over the relatively short term toward two
times. The scope to make further distributions
to shareholders, whether by way of share
buybacks or special dividends, will be kept
unger review as the investment policy
described above unfolds.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Case study

Repairs and
Maintenance

in partnership with North Lanarkshire C_ouncil

Mears delive’s an all-encompassing service
caried out in parinership with North
Lanarkshire Council, lo fully maintaln and repair
every property within the Council's portfolio.

In 2022 we will be bigding far 2 mew contract
with the Council — one of the largest contracts
in our pipeline. which will deliver repairs and
maintenance 10 every property within the
Louncil's portiolia of 36,700 tenanted
properties and over 1,000 public buldngs.

If successiul, the new contract wik significantly
Grow our work volume across the Authority.
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North Lanarkshire Council and Mears are

Jjoint partners in the LLP, ensuring we have
comtinuad invesiment in the North Lanarkshire
community for the long lerm. The two
crgantsations are truly integrated, with a shared
commitment to daliver excellent services to
residents, whist bringing community and
training benefits 10 the Nornth Lanarkshire
community in a sustainable way. Contract KPis
have been increased from 90% to 95% as parl
of this cormmitment.

These include the following:

Flexible working patterns 1o address
emergencies ~ to ensure Mears offers
ermergency repairs 7 days per week,
365 days a year with coverage from
8.00am 10 10.00pm.

485

employed within North
Lanarkshire cantract

Joint contact ceniee — Jaint working
amangements between Mears and North
Lanarkshie have delivered efficiencies
across the contract and enable closer
working for both parties.

Van siock review — the Sieategic review has
minirmised down ime and driven efficiencies.
Void property approach — through a joint
pre-inspection of all woid properties, the
deiivery of materials 1s now automated to
site I advance of works. This has
minimised travel and down time of tha
team 19 focus on poductive installation,

INVESTMENT IN NORTH LANARKSHIRE
Salaries totailing £19m per anhum
Local procurement of rateriais totalling
£8m per annum
Payments of £14m per anowm to local
supply chein parthers
Training 150 and emplaying 54
spprentices, achieving a 58%
retentlon rate on all apprenticeships
Employment of 485 employees within
North Lanarkshire working on the contract

Read more
about new contracts
in our sirstegy section
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Case study

Changin

Lives

with the Ministry of Justice

Read more
about new contracts
In our strategy section

We have added to our stable of contracts for
housing services 1o Central Govemment with
our successful bid to win the Ministry of Justice
CAS 3 project. This Is one part of a wider £70m
project to reduce reoffending, through the
provision of temparary accommodation,

CAS 3 will accommodale and provide services
to people on probation - this means adult
offenders of all genders who are 18 or above
who have been released as homeless from
prison folkowing a custodial sentence.
flesidents will be sccommodated for up to

84 days in Mears managed praperties and

will receive support and assistance to enable
a successful move on to their own home.

The MoJ's key requirement is "to ensure that no
ane leaves prison without the offer of a place 1o

“live, from their first night in the community and

a pathway to settled accommodation’,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report end Accounts 2021

£70m

dedicated to the provision of
temporary accommodation

MEARS HOUSING MANAGEMENT
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

JOHN TAYLOR SAID:

“We knew when bidding for the contract that
we had the necessary skills and expertise

of working with vulnerable peopls to dativer

a supporting service, Enabling people to
move on with their lives Is so important to

us, We understand that even the risk of
homelessness and the instability caused
means that people are more likely 10 reoffend.
Mears is proud 10 be part of a joumey to reduce
the fikelihood of a downward spiral once
people have served their time and deserve 10
be rehabilitated.”

The contract will run for 1 year, subject to an
option to extend for a further 3 years based on
valua for money and positive outcomes, and we
arg in the process of bidding for further housing
opportunities with the Ministry of Justice.
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Strategic Report

Case study

Building an
Exemplar Relationship

in outer London — London Borough of Havering

The Londeon Berough of Havering has
announced Mears as its new repairs and
maintenance proviler. The Local Authority is
a dynaimic organisation with a core ethos of
continuous improvement and the client has
made i clear that s intention i5 to buikd the
highest performing contract thal is seen as
the dbest in Londaon.

With over 12,000 dwellings, the contract builds
on our existing presence in East London with
our current contract i Redbridge.

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

AT MEARS, LUCAS CRITCHLEY,
WELCOMED THE NEW RELATIONSHIP:
"From the gutset we have made i clear that we
will work with Havering 10 make this contract
the best in London and an exemplar for other
councils to follow, Mears will be a safe pair of
hands for residents. and we will bring our
speclalist approach (o each propenty.

Mears wi start from the beginning with

strong communication with residents and

give them every apporiunity to feed back

on ow performance.

*I particutarty welcome the focus on developing
local employment ophortunites — for toth
cuerent residents who are unemployed and
existing local supply chains. We lock forward

ta meeting our new supliers and to a great
partnership for the future.”

Mears will be a safe pair
of hands for residents,
and we will bring our
specialist approach

to each propersty.

Lucas Critchley
Chief Operating Qfflcer

Mears will bring its IT expertise 1 the new
pannesship (o ensure the best customer
approach possible. Custorners waiting for
8 repair will be informed by sutomated text
and will have 8ccess 1o & live tracker — our
in-house approach, MCM Live, A key part
of the software (5 that it directly finks the
customer with n immaediate satisfaction
survey sp both Maars and the client can
see how we are performing.

Qur social value commitment Ioaks to detver
for the residents of Havering. This includes
commitments 1o careers advice, iocal
employment, spprenticeships, job menicring
and supporl. We aiso have a firm commitment
to use the local supply chain,

Read mare
about new contracis
In our siategy section

18
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Case study

Mears and Livin

Partnership

to give Shildon estate a £6m revamp to address major
issues including fuel poverty and carbon reduction

Mears and Livin have embarked on a multl-
milfiion-pound project to regenerate a
housing estate. addresaing fuel poverty
mnd corbon reduction In County Durham.

Following extensive engagement with tenants,
residents, owners, private [andiords and
stakehalders, The Courts on the Jubilee Fields
estate in Shildon will undergo an extensive
transformation that will Include:

intraducing private garden spaces;
providing allocated parking;

converting unwanted flats into
spacious family homes;

cresting an improved estate layout; and
energy efficiency.

The Courts will be made move energy-efficient
and economical to heat.

Mears will deliver the EEm scheme between
November 2021 and spring 2023, creating
20 homes for rent and 15 homes for sale,
avallable in phases.

ALAN BODOY, UVIN'S CHIEF EXECUTIVE,
SAID: “Our place making approach is & proven
way of addressing issues on estates, balancing
imvestment in exdsting and new homes and
addressing community needs and aspirations.

"By listening to cur tenants and local residents,
and through working with our trusted partners,
we have designed & £6m scheme that
transforms homes and lives, and creates an
estate that is sustainable and fit for the future.”

As a business, Mears is
committed to generating
zero carbon housing in
the UK and this project
brings us one step closer
to meeting our target

of zero carbon emissions
by 2030.

Lucas Critchley
Chief Operating Officer

MEARS CHIEF OPERATING QFFICER,
LUCAS CRITCHLEY, SAID: “We are delighted
to be working in partnership with Livin and the
resittents of Shildon on a project that will make
a massive difference to the community.

“As 3 business, Mears is committed to
generating zero carbon housing in the UK and
this project brings us one step closer to meeting
our target of zero carbon emissions by 2030,

"We are looking forward to revitalising
the estate to create something speclal -
something that everyone can be proud ot.”

Raad mare
about decarbonisation
tn qur £SG seclion

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Market drivers

MHOUSING MARKET

Affordable housing continues to be an
attractive sector for the longer term, given
the UK housing shostage, decarbonisation
contracts, long social housing waiting fists,
cydles of gutsourcing, policy changes
encoursging more spcial hpuse building
and broader resilence of demand.

Market position
A leading provider of

affordable housing solutions
in the UK

A go-to, end-to-end expert
on decarbonising out social
housing stock

A large provider of repairs (o
the affordabie housing sectar

Provider of atfordable rental
managerment solutions

A private reglstered provider of
housing shs withn the Group

Leading pariner to both
Central and Local Governmeni

20

Political and
economi< landscape

The Govemment's focus an
achieving Net Zere and & particular
focus on housing

The Social Housing White Paper will
be implemented with an increased
fozus an tenants and a new Decent
Homes Standard

Changes to the procuremen framework
in 2022

We face a national skills gap for new
Net Zero works

Qpportunities

Rewrcfitting and future proofing existing
trousing stock

A further commitment 1o betier repas
twough the Fulwe Homes Programme
and the Socla! Housing Regulalion Bill

in 2022

The Procurement White Paper wil
hopetully see & more transparent and fair
bicding process which lakes inlo account
social vawe with more impact

Risks

—

A reliance on plecemaeal Gavernment
fundlng for Net Zero which could prevent
ous clients deitvering Net Zeng plans
whilst maintaining stock in a strategic way
Further Covid restrictions

Mears’ rasponse

—

Wwe will continue o detiver a mariet
leading service as b pure-play Specialist
in housing solutions

We are winning more work with Central
Government, with contracts 10 provide
housing provision for three Government
gepartments

We have developed a clear carbon offer
for our clients, including funding models.,
and havea already won Contracts ta aid our
clients’ carhon jourmney

Thraugh aur independent Scrutiny Board,
we have gone further than we believe
legisiaton will require 1o ensure tenants
have a say In how our service runs

‘We have remodelled our apprenticeship
approach 1o bring through the rext
generation of skills, whilst creating
technica) positions for those who are
retired to enable them to continue working
without 8 longer-term commitment.

We have aiso been an active supporter
of the Kickstart programme

Rising levels of homelessness,
asylum claims snd housing need
tor the most vuinerable

— The UK i5 experiencing the highest influx
of refugees and economic migrants »
recent history, all of whom have a right
to ba housed

- Councils lack funding la provide thelr
stawtory homelessness duties

- The Scotland 2040 Housing plan
adopted by the Scottish Government
envisages a role for private providers
in meeting housing largets

Opportunities

- inrovative and rapid solutions needed,
ghven likely continued slow growth on
new build provision

- Homelessness sifll growing, witn
eoundils looking for solutions which
nnovate and suppon

- Agrowth in the market for housing and
support forvuinerable individuals

Risks
—  Associeed reputational fisks through
working with the mos: vulnerable

Msars' response

- We have award winning solutions for
more homelessness and stiordable
homes, such as our partnership with
the London Borough of Waltham Farest,
which we hope will see 3 further tranche
of housing over 2022

- We have become the leading provider of
cost-alfective hamelessness solutions

- In 2021 we have further breadened our
footprint to areas of specific need
following our successful bid 1o the
Ministry of Justice

— Qur Housing Associations Plexus and
Omega now represant the largest Private
Registered Sacisl Landiord in the UK

— We awalt confirmation from the Scottish
Housing Regulator that we wifl be the
fist private Housing Associabion in
Scotland, wilh our Shadow Board
already up and waning

- We are working wel with the Home
Office 10 continue housing supply in
the face of increased migration

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Demographic change

- The UK's over BS population
will grow from 1.6 millien in
2020 to 21 million in 2030,
andg 3.7 miiion by 2050

— Funding for soclal care
has now been announced
but a White Paper is still
to be delivered

- Ofthe UK's care hames,
an estimated 70% are now
aged 20 years or older.
Conversion homes and
even 1990s purpose-built
homes are becoming
increasingly outdated

Opportunities

- More specialist housing ks
needed to imit escalating
cost to the NHS and
social care

— A growth In the market and
concept of retirement living

wm  The next generation of over
85s will hava many affluent
and high income members
whag won't qualify for state
funded care and will alsa
want 1O pay a premium
for the best possible
residential care

Maears’ response

- We are developing
750 extra care units
in partnership with
Carawall Councll

-~ We continue to service our
specialist housing solutions
such as extra care and
Supported Living

— We have shown that the
costto the NHS per
person is over £2,400 when
ot in extra care through
commissloning independent
data from HousingLin

= All of our services are rated
adequate or bettern
England and Scotiand

Pece of technological
development

- There are rising Government
and cusiomer expectations
that services will be easier to
navigate through technology

— Technology is playing an
increasing role in all aspects
of service management

Opportunitles

-  Our cusiomers wilt experience

a servica which gives them
control over appolntments

— Fewer customer complaints
8s we introduce mare easlly
navigable services

Mears’ response

- We have market-leading
technology to reduce
long-lerm costs and enable
us to integrate our services

— We are making use of
self-service technology in
support of changing
expectations such as MCM
Live and chatbot

«— There s a greater use of
customer insight and
development of bespoke
consuitation tools with cur
Voice of Customer
programme

— We wili be introducing more
technology lo improve every
step of the customer joumey

The impact of Covid
and Brexit

Supply chains to the UK
are stressed due to Covid
and Brexit

Opportunities

To further demonstrate our
health and safety expertise
and risk managemer
approach

Further develop workforce
engagemenl

Risks

Loss of work
Rising cost of materials
Safety challenges

Mears' response

Maars has emerged healthily
from the pandemic.

Qur procedures are tried and
tested and, while i is possible
that there will be interruptions
inwortk levels, it is fikely that
any deley work will be
subsequently delivered.

We have strong relationships
with suppllers and a good
understanding of demand
levels, enabling us to manage
matertal suppily challenges well
We have an excellent
workforce engagement
approach that gives us the
best possible chance of
recruiting new people as well
as retaining our staff,

While there are Inflationary
pressures, our major contracts
have bullt-in uplift
mechanisms that limit these
impacts significantly

Rising customer
expectations

— There are rising resident

expectations

The Government focus on
‘levelling up’ and a commitment
to the renewal of gdemocracy so
people's voices ¢an be heard
A new Future Homes Standard
is expected in the next 3 years

Opportunitias
- Customers’ quality,

communication and speed
expectations ¢continue to
Increase

Stronger tenant voice
demanded by White Paper
Opgortunity to demonstrate.
the core strengths of our
business model

Our social value impactis the
basis of o business

Meaers' response
- We now have a sole focus on

housing, having divested
unprofiteble, non-housing
related businesses

We are benchmarking weil
ageinst the best across all
Industries

We continue 19 support
regulatory change that gives
service users a bigger voice,
as promised in the forthcoming
White Paper

We continue to demonstrate
our approach 10 outsourcing
proactively

We are working to continuously
improve tenant engagement,
highlighted by accredliation
from TPAS and winning the
Inside Housing Award for
Outstanding Tenant
Engagement — Contracior

We are continuing to support
better communities in which
service vsers live, with 8 focus
on developing skils for the next
generation and bringing people
back Into the workplace

QOur commitment to social value
and tenant engagement
through Your Volce and our
Independent Scrutiny Board
Our social value work remains
at the heart of our business and
is bolstered by the work of the
Mears Foundation
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Strategic Report

Our value creation model

OUR PURPOSE
Working together to hefp peopie and communities thrive. This is the guiding princlpte that defines our brand and drives
aur activitles. it IS what makes Mears distinctive and !s the siarting paint for 3l of our aclivities,

OUR VISION
To be the leading provider of housing services and soltions to the affordabie housing market in the UK.

Key resources and relationships What we do and how

OUTSTANDING PARTNERSHIPS:

Firmly rooled in Local Government and Housing Associations, we are a%o
animportant partner for Central Government. Our end service users are fhe
recipients of housing services and extra care kving.

HOUSING

MANAGEMENT
A RESPONSIBLE APPROACH:
Creating soclal value |5 2 key part of our business strategy. as this enables — Procure, manage and maintain portfolios of
us to be seeh a3 a trusted partner by Our clients snd is an essential part of affordable housing stock
building stronger relationships. Our new ESG stralegy sets out how we will
continue on our soclally responsible jaurney

see pages 3310 45

EXCEPTIONAL PEOPLE: S TERANCE
Proud 10 be in the Sunday Times Top 25 Big Companiles 1o work for.
We recagnise our staff 8s our greatest asset. Mears employees are skilked
in dedivering an excellent service whilst showing a strong customer sefvice - Regenerate, refwbish and re-purpose stock
ethas and an empathy f0r Our Service users. - Inteligent maintenance

= Decarbonise homes

MARKET-LEADING TECHNOLOGY:
Our performance is bullt on a bedrock of first-class IT platforms, giving
market-leading capabdity end driving innovation and restdent engagement,

SUPPLY CHAIN PARTNERS:

‘We choose suppliers who share our values and meet our standards.

We wark closely with suppliers i develop innavative services and integrate
1hem with our core systems,

SUPPORTING PEQPLE
N THESE HOMES

= Tenancy management
w Tenant welfare and suppor!

FINANCIAL STRATEGY:
We are fundad from & comiination of shareholder funds, retained proftis

and moderate Jeveis of bank debt. Our underlying business has good REVENUE GENERATION

torward visibiliLy, stable margins, strong cash conversion and timited capital Mears’ revenue is genedated from payments from
requirements. Accardingly, free cash fiow can predominantly be used to Govermnment, Local Authority and Housing Association
invest further in the business, to mairtain low levels of debt and to provide clients in respect of its Housing services. Whilst the end
returns o capitat praviders. Sefvice users are &t the centre of our business moded,

they do not pay for the service directly. These payments
2% made under long-term contracts (average 7 years)

INNOVATION:

The challenge of debvering sendce improvements at lower cost requires STABLE MARGINS AND GQOD CaSH

Innavetive thinking and the use of technology. We create and lead best CONVERSION

practice in our markets. We have a long-standing record of stable profi marging

of contracts ionce mobiliseq) and converting profittnto
cash, utilising suong financial management combined
with good relationships with clients and the supply chain.
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Value 1 Velue 2 Value 3 Value 4

We value our customers We value teamwork, We value personal ‘We value innovation, being

and communities, putting supporting each other, responsibility, selting consistently  Inventive in our approach and

thelr needs at the heart of sharing ideas and never high standards for our work and empowering people to take

everything we do. excluding others. holding ourselves accountable reasonable action withoul fear
for achieving them. or discrimination.

Community outcomes The value we share

180434 DIOILYELS

\

SHAREHOLDERS:

Given the public health emergency, in 2020 Mears did
not pay a dividend for the firsttime In 25 years, as we
believed that given the gver-riding importance of cash
management meant it would be imprudent 1o declare a

Reduce dividend during 2020. In 2021 we were able 10 restore
Create better pressures on the the dividend to our shereholders.
places to live NHS and the
public purse
GOVERNMENT:

In 2021 we paid an aggregate sum in direct and indirect
taxes of £167.4m. In addition, through the services

we provide to the public sector, we are delivering
significant cost savings and better value to Central
Government, Local Authoritles and the NHS,

tmprove life
ho::l::::ass chances for CUSTOMERS
people We maintain homes throughout the UK, undertaking

KEY STATISTICS

>£165m

£878m

around 5,000 repairs per day. Mears has extendad
Its activities to provide solutions to resclve the
challenges of homelessness, asylum housing,
MoD and MaJ accommodation.

COMMUNITIES

At the heart of Mears lies a strong sense of
responsibility towards impraving people’s lives.

We create opportunities and enable pecple to develop
new skills within some of the most disadvantaged and
marglnalised communities in the UK. Every branch of
Mears makes & social value pledge, which focuses on
specific activities to improve its local communily in at

wages and salaries paid to revenue delivered to over A
circa 5,400 employees 100 clients least one of our social value priorities.
EMPLOYEES
>1 m >2oo Mears is committed 1o tralning. We have an extensive
apprenticeship programme and provide a number of
service users apprentices altesnative training solllons for upskilling employees

>30%

women in senlor positions

>£2,800

average soclaf value

delivered per employee
>£160m c. £9m
taxes paid dividendspaid and proposed

Mears Group PLC Annua!l Report and Accounts 2021

and for the professional development of Mears
managers. We are proud to be rated as one of the
best 25 large companles in the UK ta work for by
the Sunday Times,
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Strateglc Report

Our strategy

The Board has fully
reviewed the strateqy
for the business in 2021.

Our vision is to be the
leading provider to the
resilient and growing
affordable housing market
in the UK. A provider that
operates with a strong
sense of social conscience,
tackling issues that matter

to people and communities.

Agaeinst this vision, we have four
strategic priorlties:

Yo be recognised as the mast
trusted large private provider
warking with the public sector

To have the highes! Jevels ol
custaomer service in the
affordable housing sector
where we operate

To embrace innavation that
drives positive change such as
digital and carbon redugtion

To maintain and grow & resifient
business with iong-tem
partherships, & strong balance
sheet and cash position, along
with a committed, engaged
wotktorce

24

Strategic priorities

To be recognised as the
most trusted large private
provider working with the
public sector

What we achieved

To have the highest levels
of customer service In the
affordabie housing sectar
where we operate

What we achleved

= Secured wark with 8 new Ceniral
Govennment departmert, being the
Ministry of Justice

- Consulted across Scotlandg and launched
a charter as to how we will operate
ethicaily In this country. Simitar work
will follow with other nations

2022 priorities

— Through the Covid period, we maintained
our aready high service scores

— Recognised for the guality of our sgrvice
and customer engagement, through
several natlonal awards

— Qur new independent Customer
Scrutiny Board has published a report
an cur performance

~ We have faced some chaflenges wilh
Covid refated work backiogs and high
levels of asylum seekers

2022 priorities

— Continue 10 achieve bid win rales
ahead of hstorical norms

= lLaunch our new ESG plan with dear
roadmaps tawards goal achievement

-— Caontinue to gperate to the highes
ethicat standasds

How we measure Success

~= Manage ihe challenges associaied with
high demands both from maintenance
and from the asylum system

How we measure success

- Extending services with existing clents
Retaining contracts at sustainable pricing
Winning waork with new clients who share
our values .
— Being seen as a trusted, responsible and
ethical provider 1o Central Govetnment

Rigks

- Service user ant client feedback

Rigks

= Economic pressures on some clents
will mean price will continue to orive
decisions on some contracts

Lirk to KPls

~ Rising customer expeciation requiring
ever more individual cesponses

«— Shortages in some areas of ihe labour
market and some delays in materials
avallability

Link to KPIs

000000

06000
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To embrace innovation
that drives positive
change such as digital
andg carbon reduction

What we achieved

To maintain and grow

a resilient business with
long-term partnerships,
a strong balance sheet
and cash position,
along with a committed,
engaged workforce

What we achieved

«= The establishment of carbon reduction
capabillity in house to assist clients

— The conlinued improvements o core
systems, which enable our customers o
interact in real time with us and 1o report
and track their work requests

2022 priorities

— Continued to reduce debt

— Secured long-term contracts with
both existing and new clients

— Retained our position In the Sunday
Times Top 25 Best Big Companies list

- Provided a wide range of lools to assist
with mental health and wellbeing

2022 priorities

-~ Establish Mears as feaders in carbon
reduction in Social Housing

w Expand our sustainable housing solutions
that address homelessness, an ageing
population and challenges to the health
and social care system

How we measure success

«= Continue to improve margins

— Maintain our Sunday Times Best
Companies position

— Continue to increase the diversity of our
workforce at all levels

— Maintain focus on employee engagement
and helping tackle the challenges of
wellbeing and mental health

How we measure success

= Levels of new work won

Risks

Staff retention leve!

Benchmarking v other organisations
Margin improvements

A happier, healthier and more engaged
workforce based on Best Companies
survey results and mental health and
weilbeing working group policies

= There remains some unceriainty as 1o
how fast Cantral Government funding will
flow through to enable housing landlords
to meet their carbon reduction targets

Link to KPIs

- Inflationary pressures in some areas
- Theimportance of diversity and inclusion
has never been clearer

Link to KPls

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Key performance indicators

Non-financial

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

Iy order for customers 10 recommend us, we must
deliver excellent service. The Group completed over
1.5 milion repairs in 2021 and we subsequently past
inspect around 10% of works orders and encousage
tenants to provide feedback so we can defiver further
service improvements.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

86%

2021 TARGET

85%

@ Quiperiormance

2022 TARGET

86%

CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS

Imcidents resulting from poor secrvice result in 8 complaint
per thoysand jobs. We are commitied to geating with all
complaints on an (ndividual basis.

RESULYTS FROM THE YEAR

22%

2021 TARGET

22%
e On-track

2022 TARGET

21%

EMPLOYEE TURNOVER

Cur employees ara fundamental to meeting cur Strategic
priorities. We recognise the importance n avtracting and
retaining skilled staff, and al a time when competition for
skilied 1abour Is high, i has never been more important.
The 5131t churn figure is calculated as the total number
of leawers during the year as a proportion of the
average headcount.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

22%

W21 TARGET

26%
@ Quiperiormance

2022 TARGET

22%

Business deveilopment

NEW CONTRACT SUCCESS

Contract sucoess Is measured by the 1018l revenues
secured as a proportion of the total value of tenders
submilted. We typicaity tender around £1bn of new
opportunities each year. The average contract length is
around six years. in arder 10 achieve our organic growth
forecasts, it is important thay we secure around one in
three, by value.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

35%

2021 TARGET

33%
(M outpertormance

2022 TARGET

33%

ORDER BOOK

Our order book (wovides us good visibility of those
revenyes secured for future periods. 1 is helpful that

we have long-term contracts that allow us to plan with
confidence, in the knowledge that we have significant
revenyes aleady contracted. it Is also positive for sl our
slakehoiders, providing stability 1o our supply chain,
funders and, mast importantly, for recruiting and
molivating our workforce.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£2.4bn

2021 TARGET

£2.4bn
@ Underperformance

2022 TARGET

£2.1bn

26
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Financial performance

REVENUE GROWTH (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)
Our key performance indicator (KPY) target relates (o total
revenue although it is Important to aiso identify the spiit
between organic growth and growth that has been
delvered through acquisitions. We betieve that organic
growth gives a better indication of business perfunmnance,
heing an aggregation of Sucgess in aew cuntract bidang
and contract retention, The reduction expected in 2022
reflects an expectation that the elevated revenues
enjoyed in 2021 will normalise,

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

+9%

2021 TARGET

+2%

@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

-5%

ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN
(CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

Operating margin Is the KPl used to measure and
understand the profitability of our activities. The
operating profit measure IS taken before exceptional
costs and the amortisation of acquisition intangibles.
The measure is stated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, being
the measure that is utiised within the business and
understood by our investors and bankers.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

+3.4%

2021 TARGET

+3.7%

@ Underperformance

2022 TARGEY

+3.8%

AVERAGE DAILY NET DEBT

(EXCLUDING LEASE OCBLIGATIONS)

Good working capital management remalns a comerstone
of the business. The Group's IT systems are designed to
deal with the challenges of high volume and low value
activites. The Group has made significant progress in this
area over the last 2 years, and now looks 10 maintain & low
level of debt ur even a small net cash balance.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£nil

2021 TARGET

£60m

@ Quiperformance

2022 TARGET

£nil debt

GROWTH IN NORMALISED DILUTED EPS
Normalised earnings are sisted before exceplional costs
and exclude the emortisation of acquisition intangibles
together with an adjustment 1o reflect & full tax charge.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

18.23p

2029 TARGET

18.0p

@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

19.5p

Health and safety

o)

ACCIDENT FREGUENCY RATE

The heakh, safety and wekbeing of our employees s our
primary consideration in the way we do business. Health,
safety and emvironmental risks are fuly embedded In the
governance structures of the Group. Providing our
employees with a safe working environment remains
paramount, Qur accident frequency rate (AFR) Is
cakuiated as the number of reportable incidems (by both
employees, service users ang third parties) divided by the
number of hours worked, muitiplied by 100,000,

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

019

2021 TARGET

0.24

@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

0.22

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Listening to our stakeholders

Stakeholder engagement is central to our strategy.
We are focused on delivering positive outcomes for all our stakeholders

Clients

HOW WE ENGAGE

Qur clients ace from Central and Local
Government and Housing Assaciations.
Qut model has always been based on
establishing long-term partnerships that
address the significant housing challanges
and solutions to help our clients.
Transparency and respansibliity are at the
heart of our appraach, and we focus on
solulions that establish sustainable
solutions, rather than quick fixes.

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS

Our clients expect 8 trusted partner that
can contribute to wider sector and
strategic thinking as wet as dellver
innovative operational solutions that
improve service and lower lohg-term cost.
Partners now look beyond the coptract and
rightly demand good governance, a
responsible financial position and high
levels of social respensibility to be at the
heart of what we da.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

We operate as a trusted long-term pariner
10 the public sector. As pariners we have 16
demonstrate that our values complement
thair awn. We aca ot ke many other
oulsource organisations, in thal both the
focused nature of gur services and the
culturat fit with our clients continue to
pOSition US 10 win Major new Conlracts, such
as with the Ministry of Justice, and to retain
lang-standing contracis in the way that we
o, We alsa iry to head the sector in good
practice, as demonstrated by our thorgugh
independent scrutiny arrangements which
take the best of public sector scrutiny.

Tenants and customers

HOW WE ENGAGE

Our "Your Voice® programme éngages
tenants via our independent and reslident-
fed Scrutiny Board, Qur customer forums
and our ofiine customer network.

We have strengthened our tenanl
engagement to ensure that we go above
and beyond requirements suggested nthe
Govermnment White Paper. At 8 local (evel we
have a syslem lo engage cuslomers 85
sooh as they interact wilh Mears, should
they wish to do s, This enablas us to Create
anetwork of our customers via feedback
and ondine forums which can feed into our
Scrutiny Boand to create a genuinely
resident designed service,

HOW WE ENGAGE OUR BOARD

The Your Voice Independent Scrutiny Board
reparts directly inte our PLC Board to
ensure that its indings are reported &t the
highes! leve! of pur organisation.

STAXEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS

Our tenants and sarvice users expect 1o be
part of developing solutions rather than 1o
be simply a recipient. Expectations from
tenants are rightly rising and they should be
Sean not merely as sérvice users but as
consumers wha have the rightla levels ol
service. The greater requirements for
complaint handting and reporting emerging
from the Governmesd White Paper are
something we have siready gone above
ang beyond. Mears weicomes any further
regulation from Government In this area
over 2022

RELEVANCE TQ BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

As an organisation with a clear objective to
be the leader in terms of customer service,
wherever wa operate, this cannot be done
withaut good engagement. Our auistanding
cusiomer service performance is 8
tostament 10 OUF SUCCESS.

KEY ISSUES

Clienms want us 1o demonstrate a strong sel
of financial, cultural and community-led
values. We demonstrate an ethical and
ransparent approach and bring the best of
private sector innovatian in areas such as
{echnology and access lo institutional
finance, We do this whilst maintaining the
Spirlt of public service delivery whilst puiting
customers at the hesrt of what we do,

QUTCOMES

Our comimitment to putting our Customers
first was demonstrated by our winning the
TPAS award for best contractor
engagement with tenants in 2021,

KEY ISSUES

Increased reguiation is coming In 2022 and
wa haye spent the las! year prapating 10 go
above and beyond. Our custamer forum has
hasted the Housing Ombudsmar (o test
whether the Mears apgroach is working and
10 ensure that we are leading the sector
rather than responding to future legisiation.

OUTCOMES

= Created the Your Voice sCrutiny
approach with customers invoived at
every level

- Provided a direct line from the Your
Voice board 10 the PLC Board ~ our
resident board members can speak o
our Non-Exegcutive and Executive Board
members directly

— Engaged with the Housing Ombudsman
10 @n5ute Oour PioCesses are already in
place before legisiation i§ passed

- lnovated with our repairs platform
MCM Live, which gives tenants more
Inform#tion ebout when their repalr is
due and enables them ta thange the
time/date without having 1o cafl us
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Communities

HOW WE ENGAGE

All of our branches develop thelr own

local specific social value plans which
demonstrate where we will add value lo

the communlity, often over and above any
contract commitments. Our social value
activity target is £2,500 per employee.
Examples include supporting communities
to develop green spaces, to provide sccess
to the internet for asylum seekers so they da
not suffer from social isolation and 10 heip
develop the skifls of whale communities
through cereers advice and suppoit,
training and ultimately through job creation.

HOW WE ENGAGE OUR BOARD

An Executive board member sits on our
independent Social anc Diversity impact
Board which is lad by independent experts
and helps us to drive our social value
resources to achieve meaningful community
outcomes. The independent board reports
drectly into the PLC Board.

Colleagues

HOW WE ENGAGE

We are proud 1o be on the list of the Sunday
Times 25 Best Big Companies to work far,
and on the Soclal Mobility Index of the tap
75 employers in the UK for our commitment
1o social mobility. We have a natlonal
Warkforce Group that is responsible for
selting the approach to staff engagement
and each local branch has 8 People plan,
which sets out what it will do In each year.
We have an Employee Director who sits on
the Mears Group Board, which also helps
ensure that the views of the workforce are
listaned to and actioned.

Qur Say What You see survey is aligned
with the Sunday Times Best Companles
portal, providing Independent and
anonymous leedback.

We communicate with our colleagues

with the aim to ensure that every single
employee has a right to understand how our
company Is performing. We do this through
regular briefings from our Executive Board
and through two-way communication.

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS
Stakeholders expect, given their long-term
commitment, that we contribute positively to
the communities in which they five. They want
us to help local people into work, 1o upskid
people and to wark with them to address local
issues where we can. This is Our continuing
contribution t¢ the Govermment's Levelling Up
agenda, and something we have committed
to for many years.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

Belng a soclally responsible organisation
with a firm commiiment to supporting
communities Is essential to being a valued
partner to our cllents. Establishing strong
community links also helps us attract the
right paople into our workforce and to
establish links with other community-based
organisations, which can contribute to our
secvice offer, '

STAKEMOLODER EXPECTATIONS
Throughout 2021 we have developed

our empioyee offer to Introduce an
increase in pay and holiday entitiement
for those who earn the least. Qur regular
surveying shows that our colleagues want
rransparent and regular communication
from the business about how we stand
financially and an honesty in our approach
to any business changes.

Quwr staff want to work for an organisation
that values them and the communilies in
which they live. They want an organisation
that treats people fairly and gives them the
opportunity for personal development.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

Our workforce engagement is built around
the Mears ‘Red Thread’ model, which
works to establish the type and culture of
workforce that we know wiil lead to both
customer and flnancilal success.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

KEY ISSUES

Cost of fiving crisis In the communities
wé serve, including fuel stress.,
Opportunities to address our sector’s
skills gap as & large employer.

Gavernment has begun to release
tranches of funding for the net zero
carbon challenge and have altocated
funding for retrofitting, for which Mears
is already a successful spplicant.

QOUTCOMES

— Providing free learning provision
to our colleagues, clients and
communities we work in.

— Ensuring we have the right local skills
in place through our apprenticeship
programmes.

— Focusing on playing our part to tackle
fuel stress and poverty, and doing our
bit for the nation’s Net Zero targets

KEY ISSUES

Security in the workplace dwing a time
of financlel Huctuation. A focus on mental
health, welbeing, and encouraging hard
to reach groups into our workforce.
Creating a more diverse workforce.

A constant focus on communicating better
andg performance management.

OUTCOMES

— We have worked with independent
experts, through our Social and
Diversity impact Board and colleague
engagement ta look at where cur
seclor needs to improve in recruiting,
promoting and retaining collieagues
from backgrounds who suffer from
discrimination. This has formed our
new proactive policies to which we
will be held account.

- We have placed a primary focus on
performance management 1o ensure
that our workforce is appraised snd
able to davelop In the best way for
each individual.
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Strategic Report

Section 172 statement

Our duty

Statement by the Directors It performance
of thelr statutary dutles in accordance with
Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2008

The Board of Direciors of Mears Group PLC
consider, both individually and together, that
they have acted in the way they consider, in
good faith, would be mosi ikely o promote the
success of the Company for the benafit of its
members as a whole In the decisions taken
during the year ended 31 December 2023,

The Board recognises a wide range of
stakehotder imterests and seeks to create

8 culture whereby decisions are made with
canskietation to the wider Impaci upon the
organisation as well as financial performance
and strategic objectives. The Company's
Directors recognise thelr fegal duties under
Section 172(1) of the Companies Acl 2008, to
actlin the way that s most likely to promote the
success of the Campany for the benefil of its
members as a whole whilst als¢ having regard
for the interests of employees. the sutcess

of their relationships with suppliers and
cugiomers, the impact of cur operations an
the cammunity 8nd the emvironment, whilst
maintairdag a reputation for high standards

of business coanduct.

30

Non-Executive Directors and
senlor management receive raining
on Directors’ duties to ensure
awareness of the Board's respansibilities

Stakeholder engagement
activities recorded, and detail
inclydad in Board pagers

v

A

Social Value report reviewed
and approved by Board

Board information

Customer Scrutiny Board:
independently chaired and
working alongside PLC Board

The Group's culture ensuras that
there |s proper consideration of
the potantial impacts of decisions

Meers Foundation, a charitable
trust with an independent
chair, provides regular updates
to the PLC Board

Board strategic decision

Signiticant focus given
1o workforce engagement
and custamaer service
during Board discussion

5.472 factors considered in the
Board's discussions on steategy
and in setting the 5-year plan

Board decision

Engsgement and dialogue
with stakehoiders

v

Follow up actions
with Baard oversight
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Section 172 factor

The likely cansequences of any decision on the long term

Annual Report disclosures

Company purpose and vision page 02
Our valve creation model pages 22 and 23
Performance review page 26

The interasts of the Group's employees

Performance review page 26

Listening to our stakehoiders pages 28 and 29
Diversity and inclusion page 38

Social Mobility page 04

The succass of our relationships with supptiers
and customers

Responsible payment practicas page 40
Modemn slavery page 40

Sustainablity pages 33 to 37

Non-financial information statement page 45

The impact of our operations on the community and
the enviranment

TCFD pages 42to 45
ESG pages 33 to 45

Maintaining high standards of business conduct

1E1td

Antl-bribery and cormuption page 41
Whistleblowing page 41

Modern slavery page 40

Risk management pages 460 49
Internal controls pages 76 to 81

Acting for the benefit of our membaers

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 202t

«= Listening to our stakeholders pages 28 and 29

Shareholder engagement pages 71and 72

= Annua! General Meeting page 72, 98 and 169
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Stratagic Report

Section 172 statement in action

Promoting the success of the Company

Stakehotder engagement is centrat

to pur stralegy. Dur key stakeholder
grougs are detailed on pages 28§ and 23.
The Baard is mindful that it s not always
possibie to provide a positive outcome
for all stakeholders ang the Board
somatimes has to make decisions based
on competing priaritles of stakeholgers.

The differing inlerests of stakeholders are
conskiecad it the business decisions we
make as a company, a1 all levals, and ara
reinforced by our Board setting the tone right
from the \op. All of the Board's significant
declsions are subject to an§172 evaluation
to idetity 1he Tikely consequences of any
deciston in the tong term and the impact of
our decision on our stakeholders.,

Cutcomes and impacts for our

workforce, cllents and communities

The Mears S-year plan addresses the most
Iimportant social and business questions of cur
genesation, We aim (o treate 8 more diverse,
saclally responsible, safe and green environment
in which 10 serve pur clients’ Reeds and for our
own workiorce to benefit fram. Through the
Board's decisions, we have created a plan which
embeds Meers as a great piace (0 wark, with the
right facus on skills and commuantties. it has afso
led 1o the direct award of three energy contracls
with our clients 10 decarbonise homes thanks 10
the investment In our sustaindbility team.

Exampies of dacisions taken by the Board and how stakehoider views and Inputs, as well as
other 5,472 considetations, have been considered inits decision making are setaut below:

Outcomes and mpacts for our
warkforce, clients and communities
Thraugh delly direction and dialogue with
our warkforce and clients, Me#rs was able
10 weather 1he pandemic by supporting
emergency waorks o homes which people
wére not able 1o leave. We wate able to
continuatly upgate financlal and weltoeing
support for cur workforce and 1o bulld on
our health and safely expertise through oue
Partners in Safety Programma. This enabled
U5 to continue 10 repair the homes of our
mas! vuinerable service users whilst assuring
them and our employees of their selety.

Stakeholder groups
S Service Users

£ Employees

| Investors

€1 Community

D Debt Funders

C2 Customers

G Government

Stakehoidar
Boerd considerations group
~— The plan will deliver growth in prafit and value for shereholders )
Approval of 5-yearplan. The plan commits to invest in our workforce, improving the quality and capability of staff. E
Tne visian underpinning the — The plan looks ltr the Group to ba more diverse at every level of the organisation. E
plan is 16 be the leading )
prorvider 1o the resillent and - The pian aspires (o be recognised as {He most sadially responsible business worldng with CLES
grawing affardable housing the public sector, mainiaining the highest standards of governance, customer and client
marketin the UK. A provider engagement, and workforce saféty.
that operstes with a strong ~= The plan committed to being leaders in cafton reduction within Sociat Housing, whilst CALE
sense Of soclal conscience, focusing an developing 8 stronger climate change response with aur ambition to be carbon
1ackilng issues that matier o neutral by 2030 .
— The plan commits to invest further in digital platforms, embracing new technologies that can €2,5,€
enhance operational performance, both intemally 10 Mears and in the home environment.
- Dafty coramunications thioughout lockdawn. E
— Decision taken 1 furlough colleagues; however, top-up mechanism intreduced to ensure I,D,E
kawest pald staff were not inancially disadvantaged.
— Rapid pravision of additional mobile technology 1o enable peopie 1o work from home. E
Covid-19 crisis — Topping up saiares of staff required 1o seti-isolite and nardshi fund for stalf in financial afficuity. E
managemeny. — Putting heaif and salety first af all imes, inCiLding agreeing with dients to focus on ECS
As the Cowvid-19 pandemic emergency and essential works anty.
f':c""""“- ‘:;:_3“"‘1 songie = Rapid resporse to PPE shorage, enabling Mears 1o secure stocks when many others did nat. EcC
reased imera
maintain continuat dislogue = Voluntary repayment of furiough recetved in 2021, G
on the poteniiatimpact ta - Cancetistion ofthe fingl dividend far 2019 and subsequently teinstating the interim dividend cD
ColepgUEs, CHeNs, service for 2021.

users and sharehofders.
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ESG

“Our ambition is to become the most
socially responsible business in the
housing sector by 2025.”

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer

ESG COMMITMENT - PUTTING QUR
CLIENTS FIRST

Through our approach, we will put our
clients first, working in parthership 10
achieve our combined ESG ambitions.’

To achieve this we will focus on:

— Heaithy Planet - our transition to
net zerg, by decarbanising nomes,
reducing emissions acloss the
Mears Group and making a positive
contribution 10 our planet

- Improving Lives — making a positive
difference by dellvenng great service
safely, glving something back and
treating everyone failly and equalty,
speciic to their needs

- Good Governance - unning our
business in the most ethical and
transparent way, opersting robust
governance Processes covering:
ethics, risk, [T, procurement and
partnership working

DIVERSITY
Womaen on the Board

6 Male

3 Female

(2020: 2 femaie, 8 male)

By everyone working together and delivering
our ESG ambitions, we will maintain strong
business credentials and demonsirate our
commitment to always doing the right thing.
Successful delivery means, by 2025, we

will have:

— enhanced our ESG reputation and
articulated a clear story to the City, our
investors, clients, customers and partners;
attracted new investors 1o our business;
retained all agreed ESG relsted
accreditations;

- champicned external themes that
demonstraie our values;

- estahlished curseives &5 8 Thought Leader
- staying ahead of, and belng involved in,
future policy and regulation changes;

- @stablished Mears Foundstion as the
cornerstone of gur community
investment work;

- grown diversity, acrass ow business,
especielly in senior positions;

- demonstrated commitment and intemal
leadership to ESG;

Women in senlor leadership roles

36 Male

9 Female

[2020: 7 fermale, 31 male)

Mears Group PLC Annyal Report and Accounts 2021

supported work winning and retention;
developed strong partnership working with
supply chain;
— enhanced our employer brand story

and colleague loyalty; and
— bacome leaders in reducing carbon end
fuel poverty in social housing.

With the above In mind, this document sets out
our plans to develop our ESG Approach. We want
to become a trusted friend to our clients and help
them realise thewr ESG ambitions, as well as build
trust with ot our stakehaiders,

Qur approach prioritises where we can have
the greatestimpact and supports & culture that
fully integrates sustainability and

purpose beyond profit.

Together we can raise standards across the
sector, 1o the benefit of every resident.

Employees by gender

3,917 Male

1,587 Fernale

(2020: 1,633 female, 3,871 male)
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

SOLID FOUNDATIONS TD SUPPORY
QUR 2025 AMBITION

Our culture and values centre around out
ambition to be the most sockally responsible
business in the housing sector by 2025.

We velue:

== DUr CUSIOMers and communities, pulting
thelr needs st the heart of everything
we do;

— teamwork, supperting each other, sharing
Ideas and never ex¢iuding others;

= personal responsibility, setting consistently
high standards for our wark and holding
ourselves accountable for achieving them:
ang

- Inngvation, bekrg irventive in our approach
ardd empowering peaple (o take reasonable
action withaut fear of recrimination

ESG RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board leads and provides swategic direction
10 the Group and carres ulimate responsibiity for
management of the Group's activities, ESG and
fimancial performance,

The Board acknawledges accountabifity

ta shareholders, clients, employees and
customers, for proper conduct of the business,
effective assessment of risk ang the long-term
success of the Group, having regard ta the
interests of all stakehotders.

OUR MATERIALITY REVIEW

- Through an online survey. we consulied
with 32 of our intemat stakeholders o
identify the matters that are important 10
them and asked them to rank a number
of specific ESG and sustainability topics
on a refative basis. We also assessed
these tapics on the incremental impact
that they can have on our business

— White ali items shown are important,
some have greater urgency, In terms
of focus, to aur business than others

- We will use the resuits (opposite] to
help inform our apprcach and
devetopment plans

- NB —ihe key materiaiity topics used
were scLeced from relevant ESG
framewarks and sectar insights

- N 2022 we will widen our consuitatian
to external stakeholders. led by our
wndependant ESG Board

34

“The Mears Board places our
responsibilities to society

at the heart of our business.
Through robust governance

and identifying risks, we will
ensure that our company is ready
to fully commit to the measures
set out in our ESG Approach.”

Andrew Smith
Chief Financial Officer

HIGH interast

tance)

I

Priority Business impact Priority to Mears Group PLC High Priority
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UNITED NATIONS' SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
The UN has identified 17 Sustainable Developrment Goals (SDGs) which aim to achieve a betler and more sustalnsble future for ail.

Mears has Identified the 10 following goals ang fully aflgned them to our own 2025 Strategy and ESG Appioach. The goals we have idenlifled
are those which we belleve are highly relavant to our business and the housing sector, i which we operate.

140d3H D1931Vils

12. Responsible consumption and production:

3. heatth and waell g: Ensure healthy lives Ensure sustainable management and efficient use

and promote wellbeing for 2)) at all ages of natural resources -
Decent work and economic growth 8
8. t -"d. <9 :Promote 13. Climate action: Take urgent action to combat a
sustainable economic growth, full and productive chimate change and its mpacts 3
employment, and decent wark for all -
A
m
ovatio tructur a
g-‘:;unq. lar d ndn' Oﬂ:ﬂinfrfns i 15. Life on land: Sustainably manage forests, combat Q
0P, upgrade, and retrofit infrastructure to make desenification, halt and reverse land degradation, halt :
them gustainable, with increased resource effictency biodiversity loss -4
and deaner technolcgies and processes §
-
)
16. Peace, justice and strong institutions: Promote -
10. Reduced inequalities: Reduce inequality by pesceful and inclusive societles for sustainable
SUpporting the marglnalised and disadvaniaged development, provide access to fustice for all and .
: build effective, accountable, and inclusive insiitutions ~
11. Sustainable cities and communities: Provide access 17. Pantnerships: Partner with Governments, businesses, )
to safe, adequate, and affordable basic services, energy, academla, and communities to mobilise action for 2
housing, transportation and mare sustainable development ;
:
Our Approach will see the Group repart progress against the chosen SDGs and we wiif continuafly monitor the UN's goals to ensure that we are -
always acting on those most relevant to our business. For more information on the UN SDGs, please find out more here: hitps://sdgs.un.org/goals 3
m
| z
Introducing our plans z
-
HEALTHY PLANET IMPROVING LIVES GOOD GOVERNANCE
-
"
x
»
n
m
F
o
[ g
-]
m
n
z
"
-]
=
-
P
2
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2
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Lk o socs: [E1 K51 K1 EED R0 uink o socs: [N KB Link o soc {EF K K
We will achieve net zero carbon emissions on We will improve lives by contribuiing atleast We wili enhance o strategy tor sustainable
Scope 1a8nd 2 by 2030 across our operations £5k, per employee, of social value each year procurement by 2023 and evolve our approach
1o maintain our high standards
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Healthy Planet

QOur aimisto become a
carbon neutral organisation,
whilst heiping clients

create safe and sustainable
places that will have long-
lasting benefits for their
communities.

HEALTHY PLANET (N 2021

96.63%

waste diversion from landfill

Zero

poliviion incidents.

Zero

environmental fegistation breaches

3

Socigl Housing Decarbanisation
projects sacured with aur dients

36

Reducing our
carbon emissions

Qur goals

«— Achieve net zero carbon emissions
on Scope 1and 2 by 2030 across
Dur operations

= Achieve net zero carbon emissions
on Scope 3 by 2045 8cross our
supply chain

Qur plan

— Create 8 net zero carbon ransition
plan using sclence-based targels

— Continue disclasing our emissions.
and publicly report On progress
agrinst ow largets

— Transitian to electric vehicle fleet
by 2030

= Contnue partnership and support
supply chain 10 achieve net zero carbon

— Support our clients in meeting
Govertment commitmeants

= Create an Internal plan for reducing
carbon across our contracts, creating
awarenass and underslanding with
all coleagues

Minimising waste

Our goal

= Achieve a Zero Waste Index score
of 1.5 degrees Celsius by 2030,
from 2021 baseline of 253%

Qur plan

= Increase cofeague dwaraness and
introduce measures to reduce wasle
across all sites

= Reduce carbon thvough the protection
of natural resources by reviewing our
waste processes

- Avoid waste by Improving the reuse of
'wasie materials’

~ Partnerwih charites o reuse snd recyde
fumiture and white goods, increasing the
percentage recycled yearty

~ Monilor and adopt new lechnologies as
they become available

-  Work in parinership with our National
Wasie partnes 10 embed improvements
10 achieve Zerp Waste index score

Decarbonising homes

Qur goal

~ By 2025 we will 3im to be & sector-
{eading provider of carbon reduction
solutions in the social housing sector

Qur plan

- Achieve and maintaln all relevam
accreditations to demonstrate
competency and compifance

- Help our ciients measure thelr
carbon emissions and retrofit
solutions to deliver carbon savings.

— Embed a resident first approach 10 the
decarbonisation of homes {Cata >
Define > Design > Deliver > Declare}

- Use asset data o help access the
limiied financial tesources currently
avallable AND laverage funding as
it becomes available

-~ Transition our warkforce as @ whole to
ensure undersianding and capabllity

Preventing pollution

Our goal

— Continually evolve our approach o
maintain zere poliulion ncidents and
2ero enwircnmenial legislation breaches

Qur plan

= Maintain 150 MO0 {Environmenta)
Management System) certification

- Work with clients and communilies to
clear pohiutants from the envikonments
wie work in e, litter, plastics, etc.

— Continue activity to raise environmental
awareness within our workfarce

— Maintain robust policles and proceduras
to ensure environmental compliance
and adherence with legislation

-  Moniior and adopt new technologles
as they become available
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Healthy Planet:
Green space
refurbishment
in Thurrock

Mears, Thurrock Council and the Riverside
Community Big Local have joined tagether
with the community to take derelict and
mistreated woodland and have created the
newesl green space for local pecple to enjoy.

Falconwood in Thurrack had sadly become
& prime spot for fly tipping and vandalism,
meaning that this was not a space the
community could use in safety.

After being asked to help by the Council,
Mears-volunteered to participate in the
project to bring this site back to life, working
with the Riverside Community Big Local.

Having reviewed the site, we drew up a list
of immeadiate tasks and asked volunteers

for help. This included instaling new metal
security gates to the front and rear entrances
ta protect the wood against vandalism and
also rebuilding vandalised brickwork piers.

The team was then able to remove overgrown
sheubs and weeds 0 enable us to proceed and
Install parmanent pathways S0 everyone can
use the woodland. Atthe end of the clearing.,
we removed over 15 tonnes of waste, including
washing machines and matiresses.

Susan Murray, Asset Investment & Dellvery
Manager from Thurrock Council, commented:
“This was a great project to participate in with
our local residdents and partnering contractor
Mears. The work everyone achieved will be &
great asset for everyone in the community to
be able tc enjoy."

Andy Blakey, Chairperson from Riverside
Comnunity Big Local, commented:
“Falconvwood was one of the very first projects
that residents ldentified for the Riverside
Community Big Local — it's an area that has
caused problems for many, many years.

“For far too long it has been a waste
ground, overgrown and prone to fly
tipping. We really want to transform it into
an atiractive and inviting space thalis a
real asset for the local community.

“Everyone at the Riverside Community Big
Local is Immensely grateful to Mears for
partnering with us to help make our ambition
for Falconwood a reaslity.

~The help and support that Gary Luscombe and
his colleagues from Mears have given

has been amazing and — aithough there Is still

a long way to go — they have helped make

the transformation of Falconwood a reality.”

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Gary Luscombe, General Manager

of Mears, said:

“When Thurrogk asked us 1o pltch In and
help, we said yes immediately. | think we've
all bean reminded over the last year of the:
importance of grean space and having
places where we can all appreciate nature.
Sadly. Falconwood was not In good shape.

When we put out the call for help, we had so
many members of the community volunteer
that we actuslly had to tum pecple away.

It really |s a fantastic exampie of how, when
called upon, the peaple of Thurrock truly
come together for the benefit of everyone.

What's next?

Now the woodland has been restored,
Riversige Community Big Local has
ambitious plans for the rest of the year.
Having asked residents what they would
like to see next. we are working with them
on the next stage of the refurblshment.

Gary Luscombe added:

“Without the volunteers and donations,

we could not have achleved what we have.
It's been a real pleasute to work with the
Councll and the Riverside Community

Big Local project. Thank you to all the
volunteers who helped — this really Is

a space for the community.”
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.Strategic Report

ESG continued

Improving Lives

From a solid baseline,

our aim is to create an
environment that is ‘fair

for alf, which enables
customers, colleagues and
communities to thrive by
improved: social impact,
health, safety and wellbeing,
employee value proposition
and fairness and.inclusion.

IMPROVING LIVES IN 2021
Social valpe:

- Circa 1,500 soclal value projects
— £29.4m sodial value impact

- Over £2 BOO Impact per employee

Mears Foundation:
— ¥50k grant gonations to support
local communily projects.
For more information about the
Mears Foundation please visit:
hupsiwww themearsfoundatian.org uk/

Health & safsty:
- Accident frequency rate: 0.99

Fairness & Inclusian

— 92% of colleagues shared ED! deta
- Y00% of managers trained in EDY
-— Gender pay gap of 22%

— Empigyee tumover of 22%
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Promoting fairness
& inclusion

Our goals

- Continuaity evaive s Board-driver
strategy that ensures fakness and
inclusion for 4 colleagues

By 2025 we will aim (o achieve:

- 36% of women it leadership positions
{grade 5+)

— 12% Group representation of biack,

Asian and other ethnicities

- Gender pay gap of 19%

— Coflieagues consider vs a leader

Our plan

- Maximising current recruitment
processes lo ensure they are bias free
and encourage job opportunities for ak

— Publish first ethricily gag report, with
98% of colleagues sharing EDI data

- Achiewe leading Gold standard faimess
& inclusion accreditation

- [nsight-led approach 10 enswring our
waorkforce reflacts ouf local Communities

=~ To eredicate under-representation and
pay disparky in alt job rofes

- All coleagues across ihe business to
receive fairmess & nclusion trainlng

-~ Achieve Disahiity Confident
Employer staius

- D&llargets to be embedded in
managers’ performance and
reward schernes

- D& cansabdation’ training lox
managers ~ periodic (every 3 years)

— Conlraciua) requirement for suppliers
10 provide evidence of how they are
addressing D&l

impraving health & safety

Our geals

= Continuatly evoive our spproach
to maintain our Kigh standacds lar
creavng a safe working enviranment
far everyone:

- Accidern frequency rate
of helow 0.25.

- Win the ROSPA Indusiry Secior
Award, which recognises best H&S
performance W the sector, by
2030

Attracting &
retaining talent

Oour goals

- Continuafly evoive & cohesive strategy
for atiracting and selaining the bes
talent; enabiing our colleagues {a thrive

By 2035 we will aim (o achieve:

-~ Employerof choica recognition

~— 90% of all apprentices secure work
21 Mears ar another organisation, o
campletian of thelr apprenticeship

«— Employee turnover of 18%

Our plan

- Deveiop 8 competitive Employee Value
Proposition, Including stangard and
flexible benalits

— Delver an enhanced spproach to talent
management

- Promote internally and externally the
Mears Brand and Employee Value
Propasition

- Yeaton yedr growlh, in percemage.
of overall recnuitment from undes-
represented groups

- Implement Voice of Colleague forum,
chaired by Employee Direclor, to
enable even bigger empioyee voice

- Maintain epproech 1o ensuring al!
employees are pald the real Living
Wage or above

-~ Malntain governence 1o ensure no
inappropriate Zero Hours contracts

w=  Pramote Mears’ flexibie working offer
Inked ta wellbeing to support attraction
and retention

Our pian

— Maintain all ISO accreditations.

~— Retain RoSPA Gold Award

— Maintain a tearn of professionally
qualified Safely. Health and Environment
Managers Lo suppact the business.

- Maintain robust polcies and procedures
1o ensyre health and safety compiiance

- Conthucl reguiar audits and
Inspections across the business
10 monitor compllance

— Monitor and invest in new technoiogies
8s they become avaliahle
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Boosting heaith
& wellbeing

Our goal

— Continually evolve a Board-driven
wellbetng strateqy, the importance
of which is reqularty communicated
1o the workforce, that ensures the
health and wellbeing of our colleagues

Our plan

— Mental Health First Aider in 100% of
contracis and departments

== Tailored and enhanced Employee
Assisiance Programme (EAP)

- Access for all employee to voluntary
health services and programmes

- Enhance support for vuinerable
colleagues

— Enhance flexible benefits package and
contractual terms to support access
to opportunities

= Maintaln focus on employee engagement
and help tackle the chalienges of
wellbeing and mental health

Raising social vatue

Our goals
«= Continually evolve our approach
to ensure that, by 2025:;
== All contracts must have a yearly
sacial value plan contributing
st least £5k, per employee, of
soclal value
- We will grow Mears Foundation
grant giving to over £200k
pEer annuim

Qur plan

- Devalop Social Return on investment
reporting to focus more on qualitative
outcomes and personal impact

— Bulid on engagement with supply chain

— Year onyear Increase In use of
volunteering hours

- Lobbying Government for a more
transparent and consistent measure
of soctal value

Improving Lives:
Mears Group adds
to its team using
DWP’s SWAP
scheme

Mears Group, the UK's leading housing
solutions pravider, has recently engaged
with the Department of Work and Pensions’
(DWP) SWAP scheme 10 connect two
jobseekers with permanent empioyment

in its Milton Keynes call handling facility.

The DWP's SWAP - Seclor-based Work
Academy Programme — scheme connects
people trying to enter the job market with
opportunities in local businesses. SWAPs
are an opportunity for jJobseekers (daiming
Universal Credt, Jobseeker's Allowance or
Employment and Support Allowance) to
Improve job prospects, leamn new skills and
get experience of working in particular
Industries such as care, construction,

or warehouse work.

In Milton Keynes, The MK Council
Nelghbourhood Employment Project
Manager approached Mears’ customer
success manager, Claire Foden, to
colisborate on a SWAP initiativa. Recognising
that attracting new talent o the housing
solutions sector is an ongoing challenge,
Claine was keen to drive the inltiative forward,
support Mears' commitment to social
responsibillty and secure employment for
vacant rotes within Mears Group.

At the end of the process. which included a
two-week DWP SWAP training programme
followed by Interviews, Mears offered roles
to two indlviduals who have been employed
as call handlers for the past four months.

The benefits to Mears and the employees
are numercus; both individuals have
become trusted and valuable members
of the call handling team, while galning
valuabie skills and experience that will

sai them up for the future.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

One of them commented on how the
opportunity has positively impacted him:
*Since jolning Mears | have been able to
setlle into a routine, which Is great for my
condition. | have been idemifled as
someone who can progress at Mears and
am looking forward to this. Customer service
is really Important to me — it's been amazing
so far.” Another commented: “ is nice to be
back In work after two years out of work. | am
lucky lo have a supportive manager and
greal colleagues at Mears.”

Minister for Employment Mims Davies MP
salid: “It's great to hear about people getting
Into work and progressing at Mears, with the
support of our Sector-based Work Academy
Programme. What's great about SWAPs Is
that this training Is connected {0 live
vacancies, offering people the best chance
at landing that all important job.

“Cur Plan for Jobs, Including the SWAPs
scheme, is supporting people across the
countsy on their way to work in exciting
new sectors, from housing to hospitality,
by giving them the skills, experience and
opportunities they need.”

Managing Director of Mears and MK
resident Peter Baldwin said: "l am very
proud of cur new colleagues — they have
slready become much valued members
of our team here In Milton Keynes and

1 look forward to seeing them develop.
Initiatives like this should be used by all
companies —as shown in this case, we
can make a real difference to people's
lives within a supportive environment.”

Clalre Foden of Mears added:

“We are defighted that the SWAP scheme
has worked so well for Mears and has
resulted in them becoming valued members
of our team. We will continue to engage with
SWAP and |ook forward to bringing more
pecple inlo the team across the UK.”
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Good Governance

Through robust govemance
and identitying risks and
opportunities. the Mears

Board works to the highest -

level of transparency and
good gavernance. Our aim
is to take this approach
throughout our business

to ensure that ethical
behaviour, transparency and
openness form the heart of
aur culture at every level.

GOOb GOVERNANCE IN 2021

—= Strong balance sheet, with good
CASN COMAIION BT Ky debl

—  Long-term, iow risk contact
portolio 1or eSsentsl seviies

— 800 humen righis breachas

- Cvar 1,000 residents #re port of
Oy OFNE O JACEMENL NItwoTk

- Bward wioning Coslones
Seruuny Board

— Nowly reformed ESG Acvitory Boded
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Protecting
buman rights

Dur poal

- Maidain our Spproach i Snsure
Wyl 1 HLUMAN QNS Draachas
of isues

Qur piant

~ Continue lo conduct buskess and
doibnt SECVICS I I wivy than respects
acid congders human fights

— AFsuppliers fully Compliant with
Group pokcy by 2024

—  Uphold our siandards and compliance:

SEpvary, human .

ang chidforcad labour

= Regulary mantior tabour 8nd payrol

- Deiver 8 package of kWUNVES thel
13K BWATENEES with smployses

-GN gresier uncersisoadiog of the
SUP Py T Dractices and procedures
of our key supplers

Information security
and governance

Our goal

- Continutlly svohe a robust sirstegy
o arvsure we celivar to the highest
SInndad, have no secuity breaches
and sra fully SDPR compliant

Our plan

- Embia s coasistant paocess lo dentfy
and pasess pracy rigc - 100%
compllance SCross 6l DUSNESY Ireas

—~ Alinkumdlion sacuriy INCIRNGS are

ands arges of

ane idaniified and sctioned

= Duliver & package of initistves thal
ensum pwareness and understanding

s al colORUES
—  Mairitin an informption Security
Manageman Syswen that Is certiied
10150 27001
- DN 80 maintain inchustry certificaions
- [ciniify 2nd menage cybeé risks.
~ Dubiver secure inkumstlon sysieny
o the Grayp

Sustainable
procurement

Cur gowl

e Deflne our sirategy ‘or Susteinabie
procurement by 2023 and 1leneaiter
defvie and mvo've U appraach o
mamiain out high standards

Our plap

- Al Suppilens siGned up 1 our
Suppler COMmRmMents. wikch afe
measured Bnd moniored annyaly

— Al Coré supplers frave successha
A nanLs) Budlt rrsUlS by 2029

— Alltimber products sowrced from
Carfas torests by 2000

- 0K af 2l 30wrced procucIs ane

* from sumalnable sowces by JC25

- MBkTAIN responsiDia gpproach
to prompt payment cade

— EMUme our procursament sctnaty
15 OULEONE- 10U O et wll-
delined delverables

= COninue o work with extemaly

velua 10 sustainable protrement
- Our Top 10 Suppikers engaged n
collsborptiviy E5G pisn

Partnerships

Qur gouls
We will-Continue 10.

— Work clasely wilh owr chents snd supply
<haln anainciease parnnerthic tenuce:

— Work closaly with imvestors and fuiciers

- O OUSEAvES 10 SC00UN /00GH SN

Our plan

- POOVIGE SRS IVESITANT a0 funoing

= COntie with Your Voice Cusiomar
Scnyliny Boaed ~ Indgoendent

% for Cugtomar

— Lontinue with ESG Advisory Board
- kvdaprendent bodvisers thel
comsiructivaly challnge:

- Consided ESG Iactors acrass il bssels
i which we fovest by 2005

— Paviner with Governmants, businesses,
acadedTua, erul Communtties 10 ensuee
best piactice and moblliss sction for
SUSLANBIE CvaIODMant

= Postvely ifluernce polcy end current
pracice Local and fetional Governmen]
through ouxr Thouaht Let det programme
~ continug to kK the way
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Risk, ethics &
governance

Our goal

== Maintain a robust stralegy and
governance framework 1o ensure we
are fully compliant, manage risk and are
regarded as 8 responsible business

Our plan

— Ensure year on year compllance with
alitl-coruption goverhance

- Continue zero tolerance 1o
anti-competitive behaviour

— Year on year compliance and
good practice onfinanclal reporting
and tax goligations

— Review and align ourargets to TCFD
and UN SDGs

= Promote Executive Board and senlor
management responsibllities for
governance and risk approach

- Continue Independent audit and risk
assessment annually with transparent
action and reporting

- Provide a confidential whistleblowing

channel to encourage colleagues to

speak out

Opt Into open carbon raporting

Continue with Mears Workforce Group.

as govemance to main Board, leading on

alt workforce practice ang engagement

— Continue disciplined approach to
bidding and capltal allacation to
maintain strong balance sheet

“Through good governance
we know that we can
reduce risks and create
value by leading from

the front to create a
business truly based on
ethical and transparent
business practices.”

Alan Long
Executive Director

Good Governance:
Holding Mears
to account

In 2021 ow Independent Scrutiny Beard
published its first annual repaort, which
highlighted the Company's performance,
including recommendations for continulng
service Improvements.

The reskdent-led board forms one part of
our resident engagement model, which

has the right to question any part of the
Mears business, to scrutinise how we deliver
services to the housing sector and make
recommendations aimed at improving
customer experience. The Your Volce
Scrutiny Board reports directiy to the PLC
Board and has the power 10 pubtish
independent public reports about Mears.

We also recognised that there may be
some Issues which impact on customers’
Itves which are autside of Mears' direct
control and the Scrutiny Board wilk consider
how it can influence wider improvements
working with local councils, Housing
Associations and Govemment. Your Volce
I8 structured as follows:

Mears Group PLC Annyal Report and Accounts 2021

Meoars Customner Scrutiny Board —
Anindependently chalred panel of customer
representatives warking elongside the PLC
Board and providing oversight, challenge and
suppon to Mears. it will be suppored and its
independence assured by the Centre for
Public Scrutiny.

Mears Customer Champions Forum —
Made up of Mears’ branch-based customer
engagement (or equivalent) leads plus other
key stakeholders such as cllent Scrutiny
Board ¢halrs, resident assodiation leads, and
community activists. This forum wlll create a
link between the Scrutiny Board and the local
involvement groups and scrutiny struclures.

Mears Onlfine Customer Network —

A virtual network of residents from around the
country, who opt into providing feedback on
Mears servicas, provide Insight into what's
important and what's not, offer opinions and
suggestions, and validate and endorse our
thinking/new initlatives.

You can read the Board's 2021 report here:

Mears Scruliny Board — Annual Report
2020-2021| Mears Group PLC
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

Mears s commiited (o adopting the
recommendations of the Task Force on
Climata-refaied Financial Disciosures (TCFDY,
providing our stakeholders with decision-usetul
information on climate rélated risks and
opportunities that are relevant 10 our business.
We are continuing to evolve our climate Hsk
disclosures in kne with the TCFD guidelinas.
Dyring 2021, the manggement team conlinued
10 focus on the mpiementation of TCFD.

The Gepup has not completed scenario
planning, and in this area the Group is not
complant with the TCFD recommendations.
As part of our risk planning in 2022723, we

will complete scenarlo planning {o enable

our business lo miigate chmate rejated rlsks.

Mears is not new lo ESG. in fact, ESG has
always been st the hearl of what we do.

We structure our ESG Approach through our
three pricritles:

seepeages 3504

~— Healthy Planet Reducing emissions and
making a posithve cantribution to our planet

— Wnproving Lives: Making a positive difierence
by delfivering great service, giving something
back and treating everyone faity and equafty,
speci: o their needs

~— Good Govarnance: Running our business
in the most ethical and transparent way

Each of these Is ditven by an undersianding that
& company of cur size can make an Impact on
the communities wa wark in and on the wider
workl. We set our standandgs extremaly high ang
have a robyst set of governance structures in
place, including independen scrutiny.

Mears will aiso piay a crucial role in helping to
retrofit and improve the nations! housing stock,
Using ouwr internal experis, we are airéady
developing plans with our clients to achieve
Met Zero int emissions fram hausing. We see
1his as a major parl of our fyture as a business.

Our ultimate goal 15 19 be recoghised as the

mast soclally responsible business working In
the public sector.

42

Governance

Disclose the organisation's govemnance around
cfimate related issuss and opportunithes.

Our ESG Appraach can be viewed in full o
pages 33 10 41 and outfines our plans (o reduce
emissions — this being one of our three strategic
prigrTties for £5G akngside improving Lives
and creating opportunities and Good Govemance.

As pert of ous strategy in 2021, we appointed a
new sustainability leam to provide a vision and
plan for us both internally and as a contraclor io
the public secior.

The Board is focused on ensuring that Mears
lives by its values. The Board Is accouniable for
the long-term suctess of the Group. setting a
framewark of effective controls which enables
risks, Including climate related risks and
opportunities, to be gssessed and managed.
Responsibility far ESG is embedded Into our
corporate governance and owned by the
Board, receiving inpuis fmm the Compliance
Committee and Group Sustainability Team,

Qur execuiive management leads and provides
strategic direction to the Group, and camies
ulimate responsibiitty for management of the
Group's activives, ESG and financlal performance.

Wider management fungtiens throughout the
arganisation aiso have cfimate refated roles
and responsibiities, For example, out Health
and Safety funclion supports the delivery of
our environmental sirategy. with particulac
focus on wasie management and recycling,

We will continue to embed climate related roles
and responsibities throughout our functions
and operations during 2022.

Cur strategy will See us:

— achieve nat zero carbon emissions by
2030 across our operalions;

- achieve net zera carbon emissions by
2045 aeross gur velue chain:

— ambed a net zero carbon cultvre based on
personal responsibility, and

— rove o 2n glectic vehicle fleat by 2030,

We are curently concluding our Cerbon Pian,
which is due for completion during the first hatf
of 2022, This will inciude additional Interim
mitestones as we progress lo net 2ero carbon
emissions by 2030.

We are proud o have achieved IS0 14001
(Enviranimental Managament System)
certification and this will form a key indicetor
for the Board 1o teview.

See page 36

Strategy

Disclose the actual and potential impacts
of climate related risks and opportunities
on the organisation’s business, strategy

and fi lal planning such
[refrmation is material

Ciimate change presents Mears with bath
risks and appartunitias.

RIBKS

As 3 \arge rmanager o housing SIoek, the
Company will need 10 demonstrate a leading
rale in ensyring our Stock is fit far Net Zero.

As & cepairs and maintenance provider, we

will need (o move out vehicle fleet 10 elacyic
by 2030, Howewver this commitment is
dependent vpon the infrastructure in the UK
being available 1o alksw our operatives 10
charge their electric vehicias without impacling
upen productivity.

OPPORTUNITIHES

As part af our 2025 Sirategic Plan, the Board
fias direcied that we wHi wark (0 become
leaders in catban reduction within 50ciat
housing and within our organisation.

The strategy planning for 2025 means that we
are glready In 3 position 1o financially plan for
an electric vehicla fleet, to mitigaie the effens
of chmate chenge on ow busingss ang 1o
enhance aur affer on Net Zerg & enable us 1o
banefit from the opportunities of Net Zera.

The benefits of Nel Zero are clear to Mears.
The retrgfitilng of social housing will Decome
amajor grawih area for Mears. Qur expertise
Inthis area makes us an integra! part of the
green econciy, We have dlready secured our
first three enevgy efficiency projects as detaled
within the Chief Executive Officer's review.

A further benefit will be to show Invesiors with
an emphasis on £5G snd the green economy
that Mears i3 an attraclive imvesiment, and ow
expertise wif present 3 competitive advantage
when bidding for contracts.

In considering our climate risks and
npportucities, we have considered short-tarm
risks between O ang 2 years, medium-term
risks from 2-5 years and long-term Msks being
over 5 years. The Board would expect to
increase thase thme harizons as the Group
builds on the recommendations of the TCFD
and completes the scanario planning work.
Al this ime, a peviod that is significantly
greater than 5 years is Lonsidered too long,
qivan the inherent uncertainties invoived.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures continued

SHORT-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES {0-2 YEARS)

Risks

== Faiture lo financially plan tor upskilling
workforce in low carbon taechnology

— Failure to access all available funding

MEDIUM-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES {2-5 YEARS)

Risks

— Risk that supplers will nol be able to adapt
In timeframe set

= Failure 1o analyse all contracts for business
procurement. These will all need to be
stress tested to ensure that they help us
to achieve our Net Zero gaal

- Failure to begin upgrades 1o housing
stock we own and manage

Opportunities

— Helpto upskit our supply chains 1o
reach our Net Zero goals

— Become the prefarred supplier for Net
Zerain social housing stock nationwide

— Access to Government funding to
decarbonise hausing s10Ck (see financial
planning below)

LONG-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES (5 YEARS AND

ABOVE)

Risks

— Transition (o electric vehicie fleet will
depend on charging infrastructure

— Scope 3is dependent on suppliers

— The UK skills shortage could affect
our plans

— Ourincreasing housing footprint reduces
our 2bility o meet ow goais

== Changing sources of supply, e.g.. for
forastry products that may be impacted
by climate change

— Energy and IT supply risk, where bad
weather causes widespread downtimes

= Additional maintenance pressures 8s a
result of more extreme weather conditions

— Need for greater flood protection
measures for homes as risk areas spread

Opportunities

— We become the UK's leading end-to-
end carbon reduction experts with
capability to analyse existing stock,
access funding, implement new
technologies and measure impact

= We support the UK skills base by
supporting our supply chains to adapt to
new skilts, technotogies and regulation

— Need for protection of and greater support
for biodiversity will enhance our social
value offer by greening communities

— Combatting cNmate change will present
us with opportunities to grow our
maintenance business

— With Increasing migration we can harness
the new skllis to fill the current gap

FINANCIAL PLANNING

Our 2025 Strategic Plan sets ot our ambition
o become leaders in carhon reduction.
Financlal planning is tied to our strategy

and as such we have giresdy incarporated
thls and wik continue to do 50 to meet owr
goal of Net Zera for our business by 2030
Appointing a carbon reduction team is an
example of cur investment.

To become leaders in this area, we need
to ensure that we are able 10 access the
significant Investment coming in through
Social Housing Decarbonisstion funds,

the Warm Homes Front and the new ECO4.

We already have an emerging pipeline of
opportunity, although further Government
funding announcements will influence how
fast this opportunity will develop. We know
that £800m will be released under the English
Social Housing Decarbonisation fund 1n

April 2022, with a further £800m mentloned
for Apeil 2023 (there are similar pots in the
devalved nations). In each case, this wifl be for
work being carried out over a 3-year period.
We also know there is £150m In the Warm
Homes Front for off gas properties and

April will see ECO4 launiched with a potential
£1bn fund for housing of all types.

CARBON PRICING

As part of the scenario analysis, we will further
consider the Impact of future carbon pricing.
Carbon taxes have to date remained refatively
low but are expecled 10 increasea In the fulure
In line with Government commitments.

We consider the most significent financisl
impact Is where the cost of carbon taxes and
levies, both those Incurred directly by Mears
ang where Indirect carbon taxes are passed
to Maars through Its supply chain, cannot be

‘passed onto customers,

RESILIENCE

We link our wark to the Group's $trategic
priorities and principal risks, As part of our risk
planning in 2022/23, we will complele scenario
planning o enable our business 1o mitigate
climate refated risks. This will include planning
to ensure that we mitigate against risks that

the Group does not maximise opportunities
presented by ESG related changes in its
business environment.

See pages; 460 54
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Risk Management

Disclose how the organisation identifies,
assesses snd manages climate-refated risks.

The Group Sustainability Team identifles
strategic clmate change risks and opportunities
facing Mears through the regular review of
Issues and trends. Active collaboration with
external experts, and representation at
conferences and events help to ensure
up-to-date knowledge. ldentified risks and
appartunitles are shared with the Board and
included within the strategic risk register.

As detailed in the Risk management section
on page 46, Mears has a structured risk
management framework operated at &
business unit, function and Group ievel,
The senior management team reviews and
identifies the key risks; climate related risks
are identified and considered as part of
that process. Climate related risks are not
considered in isolation, and the process

is integrated into the Group's overall risk
management process.

The Board has carried out a robust assessment
of the principal risks, including climate related
risks, facing the Group, Including those that
threaten the business model, sirategy and future
performance. Risks are prioritised based on
the Ilkellhood of occurrence and the severity

of the impact on the Graup. This severily can
be measurad using various criterla such as
financial, customer service, growth, regulatory
comphiance and reputational criterla. Therefore,
Mears messures more than simply the financial
impact of the risk. These scores are used 1o
escalate risks and to drive the mitigation plans.

Climate change reprasents both risk and
opportunity for the Group. There Is a risk that
Mears does not identify and manage the risks
associated with changes in environmental
legislation relating ta housing, transportstion,
and corporate reporting requirements. There is
also a risk that the Group does nol maximise
the oppatiunilies presented by energy
efficiency in the affordable housing sector.

See pages 46to 54
Climate risks are assessed as part of our

integrated risk management framework as
detailed on pages 46-54
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Task Force on Climate-related Financia! Disclosures continued

Metrics and Targets

Disclose the matrics and targets used
to and e rel 1t
related riaks and opportunities where
such information is material.

Mears will create 8 net zero carbon transition
plan, with science-based targets. We will
publish data in our Annuel Repen and on our
ESG website, which will publicly show our
emissions, and progress ageinst our largets.
We will develop our year on year targets for
redycing Scope 1and 2 as pact of gur transition
plan over 2022,

Specific targets Inciuda:

— lransition o electric vehicle fleet by 2030;

- work in partriership and SuUpport suppiy
chain to achieve oet zero carbon;

— 100% cartion awareness raining for
colieagues by 2023.

- irvest in carben offsetting to balance
residual emissions by 2030; and

— achieve net zera carbon emission by
2045 across our vatue chain.

We have set a small number of cimate
refated metrics and targets in our Group
strategy, and included tham within our wider
ESG plan, notably:

— greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. absolte
Scope 1and 2 (a3 detalled opposile)

— GHG emission intensity fas detaited
oppositey. and

—~ waste diverted from landi (as detailed
on page 36).

We secognise the need to review our cimate
targets in 2022 and 2023, and further
pesformance measuras will be considered

in due course.

The Group's carbon emissions dala ot the year
s detsiled opposite.

See pages:35ta 37
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GHG EMISSIONS
The Group's carben emissions data for the year is provided below.

The data set out in thase 1ables represents emissions and energy use fot which Méars Group PLT
is respansible and is incorporated by reference in the Ditectors’ Report on page 99. To calculate
our Group emissions, we have used the main requirements of the GHG Protocot Corporate Standard.

These figures have been generaled from independently provided reporis of carbon errissions

or energy usage from a varlety of sources and, where necessary, eneigy ussge has been
canvened into carpan emissions using the UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company
Reporting 2021,

This year, we have aisc calculaled our Scope 2 emissions using the market-based methodology
to recagnise the purchasing of low carhan energy.

Scape Units 200 2020
Scope 1~ UK Tonnes C(npe 36397 34370
Scope 2 — UK locaticn-based Tonnes COze 6,449 7376
Scope 2 - UK market-based Tonnes COqe 5.817 n/a
Scope1and 2 Units 2021 2020
Interssity tonnes CO-e/EM revenue 4878 49,63
Energy consuimption Mwh 188363 185,074

Qur reparting follows the Greenhause Gas Protocol Corparate Accounting and Reporting
Standard, applying 1he "Financlal Contof approach (organisationai boundary].

Our policy is to festate carbon and energy figures in consideration of changas in methodologies,
improvements In the accuracy. ¢r discovery of emors in previous years' data. Mo restatement has
been made this year.

Cur gross carbon emissions have been classified In the following way.

Scope 1~ Direc| emissions from: vehicle use (owned end leased). heating fuets used in buiidings.
Scope 2 ~ Indirect emissions from: electicity used in our buildings, We report Incation-based
emissions (taking Inko account the UK grid average).

Scope 3 - [ngirect emissions from business travel by air and taxi; hatel stays; water supply; and
waste recyclng and disposal.

Ot of Scope — Indirect emissions frem: biofuel ysage from all divislons in line with DEFRA
reporting guidelines.

During 2021, Mears has 1aken active measures to improve ts energy efficiency, including:

\Utilising technelogy to minimise joumey time belween ail operational visits

Expanding use of videqa lechnology 10 reduce ive number of journays travelled by over 75%
Soutcing enargy from renewable resources

Working with our supply thain lo reduce packaging and wasie on a conlinual basis
Employing a Sustainability manager t0 comp'ete & roadmap itraugh 10 2030 and beyond

Ty
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Non-financial Information Statement

Board requirements

Stakeholders (customers,
suppliars, etc.)

Policies and standards
which govern our approsch

Additional information and risk management

— Responsible Business Charter

Data Protection

— Responses to Social Housing White Paper,
Procurement Green Papeér and the Dacent
Homes Review

— Scottish Business Pledge

- 1SO 44001 - collaboration in contract
management

= Monitoring right first time, customer

. complaints, customer satisfaction

Boward activities — page 70

5.172 statement — pages 30 to 32

Critical market factors that influence
performance — page 46

Awards and accreditstions — pages 04 and 05
Market drivers — pages 20 and 2t

Business model — pages 22 and 23

Customer satisfaction = page 26

Stakeholder engagemen — pages 2810 29
and 7N and 72

Environmenteal matters

— ESG Approach

FTSE4Good membership

ISC 14001 {Environmental Management
System) cerlification

ESG reporting website

ESG Approach - pages 33 to 41

TCFD statement — pages 42 to 44

Carbon emissions statement — page 44
Envircnment and waste recycing — page 36

Employees

Whistieblowing policy

Family Friendly policy

Safeguarding  *

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion

Approach to Labour Standards compliance
Launch of a socially responsible business
plan to attract and retain staff and go further
on our diversity and Inciusion plans

2025 Strategy

Health and Safaty

Red Thread Approach

RaSPA Otder of Distinction

improving Lives — pages 29 and 3810 29
Gender Pay Gap Report - page 38
Governance report — page 71

Remuneration report — pages 82 to 97
Awards and accreditations — pages 04 and 05
Heaith & Safety - pages 38 and 39

Human rights

Modern slavery and human trafficking
Freventing engagement of child labour
Whistleblowing policy

Family Friendly policy

— Modern Slavery Act - page 40
— ESG Governance ~ page 40

Anti-carruption

- Anti-Bribery & Corruption

— Govermnance —page 71

and bribery = Independent research into ethical = Report of the Audit and Compfiance
procurament sponsored by Mears Commitiees — pages 76 to 81
— Responsible Business Charter
Sacial matters ESG Approach ESG Approach - pages 33to 41

Social Value UK Certificate Level 2
FT$E4Good Index

Mears Sciutiny Board

ESG Board

Sociel Mobility Index

Awards ang accreditations — peges 04 and 05
Governance - page 71

Stakeholder engagement — pages 2810 29
and Z1and 72

Description of principal
risks and Impact of
business actlvity

Risk management — pages 46 10 49
Principal risks and uncertainties —
pages 50 to 54

- Business model- pages 22 and 23

Description of
business model

- Business model — page 22 and 23

Non-financial KPis

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

- Strategic Report — page 26 -

Corporate governance - page 64

Report of the Audit and

Compliance Committees — pages 76 to 81
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Strategic Report

Risk management

Mears’ strategic objectives can only be achieved by taking an
appropriate level of risk in accordance with our risk appetite.
Effective management of risks and opportunities is essential
to the delivery of the Group's strategic objectives, whilst
protecting our employees and other key stakeholders.

Risk management framework

Governance

Board

= 3e1s the tone on risk management culiure

~— Maintains sound and effective risk mansgement and interaal
CONMIol Systerns

-  Defines risk appetie

Audit Committee (Non-Executive)

— Rerdiews the effectiveness of the risk management pracess
- Approves fisk management polides and guidelines

Internal Audit

— Defines and monitors the risk management pracess and
mitigation 1ools and actions

— Plans and executes assurence activities 1o ensure that there are
polkcies and procedures in place \o support the effectiveness ot
the Group's internal control system

Compliance Committee (Executive)

— Develops and oversees implementation of risk management
strategies and makes recommaendations to the Audit Committee
and senior management

- Supports the Audit and Risk Committee in menltoring
sustamability risks

Business Unit and Central Functions

= Risk awareness embedded in day-to-day operations

- Risk identification and assessment performed across business
operations on an everyday basis

- Implementation of risk mitigation programmes and operationst
monitoring of internal contraks

— s tesponsible for principal risk identification and ongeing
menitorng of the Company's risk exposure 10 ensure that materis)
matters are managed in alignment with strateglc objectives

3rd line of defence

— Prepares reguiar risk and internal control reports for approval

by the Audit ang Risk Committee and maintains the Risk
Assurance Map

— Perlorms risk analysis on growth projects, detailing the specific

conditions and risks faced by § new project

2nd line of defence

— Supports the Audit and Risk Comymitiee in evaluating the Group's

risk prafile and intecnal controls implemented by management

— The Chair of the Compliance Commitiee presents 1o the Beard

twice a year, 1o provide a detailed update on the activities of
the Commiltee

1st line of defence

Mears Group PLC Annual Repert and Accounts 2021




Risk governance and oversight

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has overall responsibility for
determining the nature and extent of risk

itis willing to accepd within the agreed
strategy and ensuring that risks are managed
effectively across the Group, Risk is a regular
agenda item at Board meetings and is clasely
aligned to strategy review. The Board also
reviews reports on the effectiveness of the
systems and processes of risk management
and Internal control.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee manilors the Group's
key risks identified by the risk assessment
processes and reports its findings to the
Board. It also has delegated responsibility for
reviewing In detall the effectiveness of the
Group's system of internal control policies and
procedures for the Identification, assessment
and reporting of risk.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

Our intern al sudit plan Is devised by
understanding the stralegy. objectives and

risk profiie of the Groug and considering the
other forms of management and independent
assurance before agreeing what internal audit
work is required. This enabiegs us to ensure that
our internal audit resources target the key
areas and it also enables us to be efficient by
not duplicating other assurance activities,

The Group has engaged KPMG as an
outsourced provider of internal audit services.
KPMG assists the internal Group risk function

to set the internal audit plan, This is a dynamic
programme set on a 3-year time horizon and
ensures certain risks and themes are priaritised
and appropriate resources and skills applied to
those areas.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has a very active
sub-committee, baing the Compliance
Committee. This reflects the significant focus
that the Group gives to dealing with health,
safety and environmental risks, The extent
1o which the full integration of heslth, sefely
and environmental risks is now embedded In
the govemnsnce siructures of the Group Is
highlighted by the members of the Compllance
Committee, who include the Group's Chief
Executive Officer, Health and Safety Director
and internal Health and Safety legal adviser.

BUSINESS UNIT AND FUNCTIONAL
RISK OWNERS

Mesrs has a structured risk management
framework operated at a business unit, function
and Group level. The senior management team
reviews and Identifies the key risks which may
impact upon the achievemeant of the Group's
strateglc goals and will consider how these risks
are developing with changes in the operations,
markets and the regutatory environment.

The nature of the risk Is reviewed, Including the
possible triggering events and the aggregated
impacts, befare seting appropriate mitigation
strategles directed at the causes and
consequences of each risk. The risk is assessed
in relation 10 the likelihood of occurrence and
the potentlal Impact of the risk upan the
business, and assessed against 8 matrix scoring
system which Is then used to escalate risks
within the Group as apprapriate. The senior
management team has responsibility for
managing the Group's key risks.

The Group has a functional risk register and
there is a good understanding of the risks that
could impact the Group, and their severity.

The Group has a positive risk culture, with &
clear lone-at-the-top being sei by the senlor
management team, The contral environment is

underpinned by a detalted scheme of delegated

responsiblities that defines processes and
procedures for the approval process in respect
of decision making. This ensures that decisions
within the organisation are made by the
appropriate level of management.

Mears Group PLC Annyal Report and Accounts 2021

Three lines of defence
— assurance providers

Mears operates a ‘three lines of defence’
assurance model.

Quir first ine of defence, our operational
management, have a responsibility to
manage day-to-day risk In their own areas
guided by Group policies, proceduras and
control frameworks.

QOur second line of defence includes our
central support functions, which develop and
maintain the risk management framework
and engage with management io ideritify,
agree and update risk information on a
regular basis 1o review the effectiveness

of the mitigating actions and controls.

Qur outsourced provider of internal sudit
services provides our third line of defence.
providing independent assurance on
internal controls end risk management
processes. Further external assurance

15 provided by our statutory auditor, In
respect of the financiel statements, and
other extema! specislists as required.
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Strategic Report

Risk management continued
Risk management process

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The responsibility for risk identification,
analysis, evaluation and mitigation rests with
the senior management team. This is alse
responsible for reporting ang monitoring key
risks in accordance with established processes
under the Group cperational policles.

tdentified risks are documented in risk registers
showing: the risks that have been idemified;
charactarislics of the risks; consequences of
the tisks; the basis for determinihg the
mitigation strategy; and what reviews and
monitoring are necessary. The persons)
sccountable for assessing and monitoring
each risk is nated.

We continue to drive improvaments in our sk
management process. We also review our ’
business mode), core markets and business
processes 10 ensure that we have properly
iggentified all tisks, As part of this review,

Setting our internal
audit priorities

48

Step 4
Strateglc priotities
Pricvities: shorumedrm/
tang term

Risk management Core controls
Refresh of principal risks, Core conirols
mitigating ections, and spoi checks
aSswanCe review
a Slep:d Kt Scheme of Delagated Step3
esource and skilts Fraug Risk register Authority (SO = .
|dentify and deploy team fsciﬁtatﬁ ty S0DA} tdentifying priorities

Step B
Audit plan and approach
Develop an intemal
audit plan

The Group's principal risks are identified on
the pages thal follow, together with how we
mitigate those risks. Each principal risk is
considered in the context of how It relatas

to the achievement of the Group's strategic
objectives. The risk discussion includes
assessment of gross risk anda net risk. Gross
risk raflects the exposure and risk isndscape
belore considering the mitigations in place,
with net risk being the residual risk after
mitigations. The movemenl in gross risk from
the priot year for each principal risk has been
assessed and is presented on the pages that
follow. Mitigations in place supporting the
management of the risk Lo a net dsk posilian
are siso described for each princpal risk.

Climate related risks are considered in both the
Group and Operational risk registers, but their
sevarity is not considered 10 be significant.
‘We continually review our miligating actions o
ensure that they are sufficient 1o minimise pur
residual risk. Key financlat and non-financial
risics Identified by the businass from the risk
assessment processes are collated and
reviewed by the Audit Commitiee and are
regularly reviewed 1o monilor the status and
progression of mitigation plans; the key risks
sre reported to the Board on a regular basls.

PRIMCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Board has camied out 3 robust 8ssessment
of the principal isks facing the Group, including
those that threaten the business madel, sirategy,
future performance, sohvency and liquidity.

Risks have been ldentified as ‘principal’ based
on he likelhood of occurrence and the severity
ofthe impacton the Group.

Step 2
Anslysis of risk
Top down/botiom up
risk profiing

Specific risk areas
Serious Incident response
Beanch spot visits including
business continuity and
sub-coniractor managemant

ntormation security

Step 4
Other assurance
Consider other assurence
processes
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Principal Risk Heat Map: year end
The Group's risk register rates risks on a matrix scoring system based an thelr ilkefitood and t
Impact, i.e. potential severity, This severity can be measured using tife and limb, financial,
Ccustomer service, growth, regulatory compliance and reputational criterla. Therefore, Mears
measures more than simply the financiat impact of the risk, These scores are used to escalate
visks and to drive the mitigation plans. 3

Almost certain

Likely

Likelinood of occurrence
Possibla

Unkikely

Rare

Insignificant

EMERGING RISKS

Minor Moderate Major

MNa.  Risk
Fallure 10 successiully dellver the Asylum
Seekers Contract from a commercial,
reputational, and operational perspective.
Major breach of information or data seculity
Serious health and safety failure
4 Felure in governance, control, processes,
systems and structure In the management:led
coniracts
5 Faliure to recover operations in a disasier or
crisis (business continuity)
6 Poiitical ard market disruptions, for example
towards outsourcing
Reduction In the Group's ability to atiract and
4 4 retain talent
Serious damage o or 10ss of brand integrity
due {0 poor management of publicity and
external communications
Serious fallure to manage housing
sub-contractors
W Risk of perceived and actual discrimination
7 leading to repulational damage and financial
penaites

N

10 10

Gross risk
Net risk

Severe
7 8 High

Medium

Low

Read more in the Corporate
governance section

Read more in the Report of the

Catastrophic
Audit and Compllance Committees

Severity of impact

in addition ta known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks and the need for mitigation as part of our existing
risk management processes. Emerging risks are events that present uncertainty, They may potentlaly Impact us in
the longer term but there is currently insufficient information to understand and assess the likely scale or impact, or
for the senior management team to set out an Bpprapriste risk response. In some cases, emerging risks are
superseded by others, or cease to be relevant, as the environment in which we operate changes and evolves.

The Board has considered the following areas and their rsk to the Company:

Covid-19 aftershocks

The risk that the Group fails to successfully recover from the short-term impact of Covid-19. Areas of concern
are Increased healih and safety risks to the Group's staff and its service users, adapting to remote working,
and mental heslth and wellbeing.

Covid-19 has long-term implications for the Group that could resultin financial losses and limitations on fulwe
growih. Possible scenarios include a reduction In Governrnent spending, Increased texation, and potentlal
future claims from staff and service users in relation to the medical condition ‘Long Covid!"

£56

ESG presents risks and opportunities for the Group. There Is a risk that Mears daes not identify and manage
the risks associated with changes in environmental legislation relating to housing. transportation and
corporate reporting requirements. There is alsa & risk that the Group does not maximise oppartunities
presented by ESG related changes in its business environment.

Legislative changes

Read more

Changes to building and fire safety legistation that result in higher cost 10 comply with requirements and
increased scrutiny from regufators.

in the Carporate governance sectian and in the Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees
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Strategic Repart

Principal risks and uncertainties

Damage to Reputation Damage to Reputation

Strategic priotitles

To be recognised as the most
trusted large private pravider
working with the public sectos

To have the highes! levals
of customner service in the
#flardable housing sector
whene we operate

Ta embrace Innovation that
drves pasitive change such
a5 digitai and carbon reduction

Ta maindain and grove o resikent
business with long-term
pactnerships, a strong batance
sheet and cash pasition,

alpng with & commitied,
enhgaged workforce

MSK  Faiture to successfully K

1 deliver the Asylum Seakers
Cantract. Given the nature
of the contract, the failure
to manage the reputational
impact of an incident or
operational or commercial
issugs remains a key risk.

0e

Strategic cutcome

Major breach of information
2 or data security resulting in
negative puliiicity leading to
loss of confidence in the
sector or financial penalties.

LIS

Risk Level
O severe
@ Hich

¢ ivedium

KPIs associated with risk

Change in year
@ lncrease in risk expasure

@ Reduction in risk exposure

@ No change in risk exposure

50

- Woaorks orders completed on time %
{mantrily)

- Right first time % (montiiy}

Customer satisfaction (monthiy}

Complaints [monthty}

Mitigations

w  Number of privacy complants
~— Response time to dete

subject requests

— Business As Usual risk register s
maintained for the gsylum contract
which is reported 10 Home Office on
a monthily basis eng acts 38 3 basis
far questioning o Mears

= Mobilisation, transition and defivery
planning led by senior team and ciose
attantion from Group Executive

- Weekly Taams call including Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financlal
Officer 10 ensure all sentor team
members arg aligned

o~ Varigus projects around 1T system
set up, GDPR, HA relaled and training

—= Information Security team in place.

Meetings sve sttended by Information
Security Group 15G) and information
asset owners on 3 monthly basis.

The asset owners gre held responsible
for thel respective depariments’ actions

- Penelration testing ts undertaken

by an external speciallst company

-~ Third party review and support for

traming in terms of GOPR requirements

== On 50Mme of the Group's most sensitive

contracts, the thent conducts aucks that
review physical access, security of herd
copies of fikes and IT system sectnily

- Compliance with IS0 27001

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability

Damage to Reputation

RISK Failure to manage the

3 impact of a health and
safety incident leags to
reputational damage and
high tinanciat penaities.

XS

Strategic outcome

RISK Failure in governance,
4 cantrol, processes,

systems, and structure in
the Registered Provider of
Social Housing key risk.

O

RISK Falluse to recover
5 operations in a disaster or
crisis {business continuity).

LIS

KPis associated with risk

— Accident frequency rates
- Customer complainis
— Excellent service rating

Mitigations

Propertles with valid gas, electrical and
Legioneila test certificate (100% target}
Properiies with up-to-date asbestos
survey and fire risk assessment

{100% target}

Tenant satisfaction (monihly)

Custoemer complaints

= The amount of time since each plan

was updated

== The Group's Health and Safety function

provides a second line of defence

and carries out reqular branch audits

— Monthly branch inspection of
performance against KPis with
business improvement records
issued to managers and action
completions are being tracked

«= HAccidents are reported within

24 hours. kvestigations are perfarrmed
for every case and recommendations

are pravided where applicabile
= Safety, Health, Environment end
Quality report submitted o

Compliance Commitiee covering key

areas (safety, health, environmental,

waste, quality, compliance, and trend

analysis on accident statistics)

Registered Providers have own Board
structure which includes five Non-
Executive Directors and an independent
Chalr. Sub-Committee {Assurance and
Qperations) meetings are held which
focus on key contract detalis

The RPs have been subject to audit by
the Regulatar of Social Housing
Regular Committee meetings are
held on key areas: performance
updates, customer saervice
perormance, compllance (gas.

fire, elecirical and asbestos risk
assessments, and complalnts update)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

- A crisis management policy is in place
- Business continuity planis in place for

each branch
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Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Damage to Financial Viabllity  Ability to Resource

KEY

Strategic priorities
To be recognised as the most
rusted farge private provider
working with the publiC sectar

To have the tighest fevais
of customner service in the
affordable housing sector
where we opersie

To embrace innovation that
drives positive change such
as digital and carbon reduction

To malnaln and grow a
resiient business with
fong-term partnerships, a
strang batance sheet and

cash position, along with a
commited, engaged workforce

riSK  Politicat and market
6 disruptions, for example
towards ouisourcing.

o0

Strategic outcome

RISK Reduction ir the
7 Group's ability to

attract snd retain talent.

KPis assaclated with risk

Change in year
(@) Inrease Inrisk exposure

@ Reduction in risk exposure

@ Ng change in risk exposure
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— % of surveyad clients and pofiticians
who regard Mears as highly
responsible [annual)

= % of overal media coverage that
i positive {monthiy)

Mitigations

Staff curnover (Monthly)

Socla! value per employee (annual}
Self-defivery % imonthly)

% of apprenices completing their
caurse and oblaining work (annuaf)
Great Place 1o Work score (annual)

% of the grade 5+ workforce who are
wamen (annuail}

~ There s reqular Board level monitoring
of the polticai cimate

-= Regular one-to-one meetings between
CEQ and Members af Parliament io
Improve muwel understanding

~ The businass is diversifiad to become
a registered provider of social housing

- Close working relationships aie
developed with Local Government
organisations

A 'Workforce Strategy Group consisling
of senior emplayees I in opesation, o
address key matters associated with the
femh of data analysls action planning
and implementation monioring
Rigarous process ansures that al
annual appraisals above grade 5
[mid-management) are reviewed

by senior management team

Mears Learning Is an internal training
depariment used to implement
Learning and Devetopment strategy
There is an Executhve backed

culture of retaining and developing
the Group's talen
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Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability

RISK  Serious damage to or
8 loss of brand Intagrity due

to poor management of
publicity and external
communications,

O

Strategic outcome

RISK  Serious failure to manage
9 housing sub-contractors.

RISk Risk of perceived and actual

1 o discrimination leading to

reputational damage and
financial penalties.

KP!s associated with risk

% of surveyed clients and politicians
wha regard Mears Bs highly
responsible (annual)

% of overall media coverage that

is positive {monthly)

Customer satisfaction {monthiy}
Complaints {monthly}

Mitigations

Self-delivery % (monthly)

Works orders completed on time %
(monthly)

Right first time % (monthly)
Customer satisfaction {(monthly}
Comglaints ([manthly) :

11

- % of apprentices completing their

course and obtaining work (annual)

- % ofthe grade S5+ workforce who are

wornen (annual)

Engagement of extemal public
relations advisory

All staff are required to follow the soclsl
mediapolicy

There is a dedicated Group Head of
Communlcations

Whistlebiowing policy and procedures
in place (for some potentlal adverse
publicity events)

Staff are given clear directions as to
how to deal with a préss enqguiry

—  Acritical control peint {[CCP) has been
developed which partly focuses on
Branch compliance with the Group's
sub-contractor processes

- Priorto sub-contractor engagement;
rigoraus nterview process covering

heaith and safety and insurance

— Mears Contract Management (MCM)
holds key sub-contractor Information

and dacumentation

Payment controls

Post inspection checks and monthly
performance reviews of accident
statistics)

Mears Group PLC Annuyal Report and Accounts 2021

-  Social Value Board with external

Board members

= Workforce Strategy Group, consisting

of senior employees, addresses key
matters associated with the remit of
data analysis, action planning and
implementation monitoring

- Investment in single HR database

{Workday) which allows for improved
analysis.

= Gender pay gapis considered as part

of tha people plan

== Remuneration Committee provides

governance 8t executive level

« Tradeswomen into maintenance and

social mobility initiatives in operation
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Strawegic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

‘Smartphone’
initiative for
Rotherham's
asylum seekers

54

The Dlobal angineerag company AESSEAL
s wah the Mears F o

10 hip 85ylum seesers mpofanly houed
in Rotherharn 1o cymmunicaa with thei
Tarniligx and tup part groups

The Pwo Srganisdtions funded the purchase
o mara then BOG krniariphones in an
infilative thet recognises the £ockr and
wimclanal neads for connectivity of & greup

Ahat has In Mog1Lcases axperienced extreme

hardship during ue jourrey ¥ the UK.

&ty one iime, sround SO0 people,
inctuding Inchviduals and ferily proups, awe

“These arp disphaced prophe snd Tsnfias
with the seme needs for emotianal 3upport
nd connectivity thal we ofi have. It'sa

T Joihed-vD world et smaetphones give

thetin scress. 10 information and imporant
fomity and 3ociMl suppan.” he added.

The charity and th Rotherharn

o party
ard jointly irancing the (ntistive (o buy
@ ook of ey levetbur fully Funclionat
smariphofes that dre capabie of inlernet
canaeLtion and Suppds) vidwo caling,

This is ka aaciion 30 M8 tupnot, provided Dy

nhotel of other ROrary

I Rotheshiem yehilg thalc asyRem claims we
processed The asylum saekar cams rpm
veriout part of the word, (ncluding &
Niembir from contlict ragions such 3s
aighanisten, Syrio end Likrsine,

e, food and

tha LK wthose BT I thir
UK seeking a3yRim o 8 vitrity of Qfountls.

Hiathae Tyrar, Ganetsl Mariager of the
Winars Faurdation, suikt, “We dre proud to

e SN by the Home Cifice.

Hioars is & providier of fousing 5 asytwe

saekany in Yorishire, The Mears Foundation

It B ot for profit chiRabia foundation
WHICH SupPOTts e commun TS wheds
Manrs works.

AESSEAL MD Chrin Rea said the: company
heara yhout the sylum seokers ant
‘egnldd (o heip erusurs thah, whstever

e ouicoma of thels cype 1o remein inthe
UK, Uy retainad pasitive memattas of

T iverhenm, Bl s pyagie.
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PATSECution, IV it ¢ ew cormmunity mus!
Feermdsuiiing. e hops that By providing &
rk for 1hem 10 be aule Yo SPeBK 10 reigtves
and K Tind g Boout their naw lacal wred,

thi will tveip 118 M K0 SETE K40 R 01 the UK.



Financial review

. This section provides further key information in respect of the financial - - -

performance and financial position of the Group to the extent not already
covered in detail within the Chief Executive Officer’s review.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES (APM)

The Strateglc Report includes both slatutory and adjusted performance measures, the latter of which are considered to be useful to stakeholdersin
projecting 8 basls for measuring the underlying performance of the business and exclude ems which could distort the understanding of performance
inthe year and between periods, and when comparing the financial outputs to those of our peers, The APMs have been set considering the requirements
and views of the Group’s investors and debt funders among other stakeholders. The APMs and KPIs are aligned to the Group’s strategy and also
form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration.

These APMs should not be considered to be a substitute for or Superiar to IFRS measures, and the Board has endeavoured to report both statutory
and alternative measuras with equal prominence throughout the Strategic Report and financial statements.

The APMs used by the Group are detalled helow with an explanation as lu why management considers the APM to be useful in helping users to have a
better understanding as io the Group's underlying performance. A reconciation Is also provided 10 map each non-IFRS measure o its IFRS equivalent.

The Group defines normalised results as excluding the amortisation of acquisition intanglbles and befare other normalisation adjustments which
management belleves are infrequent in nature and are constdered not to be part of underlying trading. The normalised results are further adjusted
lo reflect a 19% corporation tax charge. The Directors belleve this aids consistency when comparing to historical resulls and provides less Incentive
for the Group {0 participste in schemes where the primary intention is to reduce the tax charge.

A recenclliation between the statutory profit measures and the normalised result for both 2021 and 2020 is detsiled below. -

In addition, the Group also provides an APM which reports results before the Impact of lease accounting under IFRS ¥6. Management has provided
this alternative measure at the request of 8 number of shareholders and market analysts to allow those stakeholders to propery assess the resuits of
the Group gver-time. In particular, the Directors use the pre-IFRS 16 measure 10 generate the Group's headiine operating margin; whilst this generates
a lower operating margin, it reflects how the underlying contracts have been teriered and is also more aligned to cash generation. In addition, the
Group's banking covenants utllise adjusted profit measurements which are reported befare IFRS 16 and stakeholders require better visibillty of the
Group's adjusted proflt for that purpose.

Continuing activities' 201 2020

Note £'000 €000
Profitlass) before tax Statutory 16,333 (15.218)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles Note 13 7654 9526
Non-underlying items Sea below 1,627 2,279
Profit/loss before non-underiying items, amortisation of acquired Intangible and tax APM 25,614 3,413
Removal of IFRS 16 profit impact See below 2,876 ma
Finance costs (non-IFRS 16) Note 5 1148 2,875
Operating profit pre-IFRS-16 before non-undertying items and amortisation of acquired intangibles APM 29,638 B8O
Amortisation of software intengiblas Note 13 2423 221
Depreciation and loss on disposal {non-IFRS 16} Note 14 5,884 5,677
EBITDA pre-IFRS 16 and before non-underlying items APM 37644 8,468
IFRS 16 profit impact See below {2.876} ana)
Finance costs (IFRS 16) Note 5 6921 7123
Depreciation and loss on disposal {IFRS 16) Note 15 43,386 42,242
EBITDA post-IFRS-16 before non-underlying items and amortisation of acquired intangibles APM 85,075 56,5
Amortisation of software intangibles Note 13 (2123) f2,21)
Deprecistion and loss on disposal (IFRS 16) Note 15 {43,386) (42,242)
Depraciation and loss on disposat (non-IFRS 167 Note 14 (5.884) 5,677
Operating profit post IFRS 16 and before non-underlying items : APM 33,683 6,585

1. Operating profi/loss) and EBITDA measures include share of profits of associates.
2. Includes profit on dispasal of £27.000 (2020: £268,000).
1. Includes lossAprofit) on disposal of $268,000 (2020: (£3.00010
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Strategic Report

Financial review continued

Tha profit impact in respect of IFRS V6 is tetalied belaw:

20 2020

£'000 £'000

Charge 10 Income stalement on a post-IFRS 16 basis {50307 {49365)
Charge lo income slatement on 8 pre-IFRS 16 basis {47431 (48,247
Profit imgact fram the adaption of IFRS 15 (2876} i)

Nan underlying itams

Nan-underlying ltems are items which are cansidered outside normal cpergtions. They are material 1o the results of the Grolig throtgh either their
size or ngiure. These iiems have been disciosed separalely in the adjusted result above Lo provide a better understanding as 1o the underlying
perormance of the Group.

wn 2020

£000 £000

Repayment or waiver of fuflough entitiement 1627 -
Irnpairment of assets in the course of construction ~ 1500
Restructure costs - besl
1,627 2,279

The Direclors elected 10 volunarily repay 1o HMRC amounts previousty received of £1.1m and, in addition, to not submit a claim for g further amount of
£0.5m accrulng during 2021 under the Covonavirys Jab Retentioh Scheme {furiough’). During the first lackdown, the furlough scheme was essential
in safeguarding the financial stability of the Group and prolecting empoyment. However, the Directors believe that the strong recavery of the
business in 2021, augmented by the dispasal of Terraquest, meaas that 1o continug ta claim furough is no longer necessary and IS not within the spirit
of the legislation. A number of Meats’ chents Yooked I the Group 1o continve o utilise the furlough scheme, and much of that cost reduction passed
10 1hose chients as part of the open book reconcillation, lesving Mears Group PLC 10 subsiiise this voluntary repayment.

The Directors betisve that the repayment of furlough shouid be disclosed within non-underying ilems, this voluntary repayment is not 8 teading item
and by its nature is unique and non-recurring. The size of this item Is cansidered material and the Directors believe R would distort the readers’
understanding of the financial rasults of the Group.

Af furlough received during 2020 was recognised within the income statement in normat rading, matched against the assockled cost, and no
repayment is intended in respect of that earlier peried.

In the prior pefiod, the Group Incurted restructuring costs of £0.8m, which were disclosed &s non-undertying and exciuded from the adjusted operating
profit 1o the extent they arose from initiatives which wera significant in scope and Impact but woutd not form part of recurring operational activities in the
fulure. In addition, during that ssme pariod, the Group recognised & £1.5m impairment on an asset In the course of construction being the diffarence
between the tat cost finciuding an estimata of the costs Lo compiete) and the fakr value ol the asset. The impairment charge applied against this asset
was considered exceptional given is size and due 1o it relating 16 an sciivity which fs nat part of the continuing activities of the Group,

Earnings per share (EPS)
For the purposes of assessing the Group's complience with Iis banking covenants, the Group utiises an sdjusted measure based on EBITDA before
the impac! of FRS 16 and before non-ungerlying items which are lermed as ‘exceptional iems' within the Group's bank fackity agreamant.

A reconclliation between the statutary measure for profit (loss) for the year atributabie to sharehoiders before and sfter adjusiments for doth basic
and ditluted EPS ig:

Diluted (continuing

Diluded (continying DPinited (cominued) 2nd lacontinued)
2024 2020 201 2020 202 2020
. ] B ] p ]
Earnings per share 150 {H0.66) 039 50.87 1249 4021
Effect of amortisation of acquisition Intangibfes 877 B62 - - 877 862
Effect of full 1ax charge agjusimen {129 n92) ©32) @67 N53) {1.60)
Effect of non-undertying Hems 7 167 - B873 17 [3706)
Narmalised earmings per share 1823 229 067 246 1890 o7
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Continuing and

Continulng Disconinued discontinued
2011 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £'000 £000 £°000 £000 £'000
ProfiViioss) altributable 1o sharehoiders 12,996 m7en 1122 56,242 14118 44 461
Amortisation of acquisition Intanglbles 7654 9,525 - - 7655 9528
Fuli tax adjustment {1.365) (2,125} (364 {10.696) {,726) (12,821
Exceptional Costs 1,318 1,846 - (42,823} 1318 {40,977
Normalised earnings 20603 {2,535} 761 2,723 21365 188

Net casti/(de by

The Group excludes the financial Impact of IFRS 16 from its adjusted net debt measure. This adjusted net debt measure has been Introduced to atign
the net borrowing definition to the Group's banking covenants, which are required 1o be stated before the impact of IFRS 16. The Group utiises leases
as part of its day-to-day business providing around 10,000 residential properties (o vuinerable service users and key workers. A significant proportion
of these leases have break provisions and the jease terms are aligned to the Group's customer contracts to mitigate risk. The Group does not
recognise these lease obligations as traditional debt Instruments given the Group's ability to break these leases and in $o doing cancel the
associated lease obligation. A reconcliiation between the reported net cashAdebt) and the adjusted measure is detailed helow:

201 2020

Note <000 £000

Cash and cesh equivalents 54,632 96,220

Amortisation of acquired intanglbles - {39,353

Adjusted net cashf{debt} APM 54,632 56,867

Lease liabilities {current) Note 20 (41600) {42888

Lease liabilities {(non-current) Note 20 _ {175250)  (166383)

Total Statutory {162,258) {152.204)

Less: lease obligations {IFRS 16} above 216,890 209,00

Adjusted net cashAdebl) 54,632 56,867
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

202¢ 2020

£'000 €600

Amortisation charge 7,654 9,525

A charge for emortisation of acquisition intangibles arose in the year of £7.7m (2020: £9.5m). This charge predominantly relates to the MPS acquisition
in 2018, resulting in intangible assets being identified associate with to the order book and customer refationships. This MPS intangible has now been
fulty written off, The Directors estimate that, in the absence of further acquisitions, the amortlsation charge moving forwards will be circa £0.3m per
annum. As detailed above, the Group adjusts for this charge within the Group's alternative profit measure, This amorisation charge Is very materlat in
size and can vary significantly based upon the Directors” assessment of useful economic lfe. The Group's sharehokders and market analysts typically
add back this jtem in their analysis and the Group’s aliemative performance measure Is aligned ta that. Management believes that reporting profit
figures if1at exciudes this item can hefp tha reader (o better undersiand the underfying performance of the business, without any distortion as 8 result
of this charge.

BISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES

As detailed within last year's Annual Report, in December 2020, the Group completed a disposal of its entire share capital In its Planning Salutlans
business ('Terraquest') for a headline enterprise value of £72m. The consideration payable lo the Company pursuant 10 the terms of the Disposal
Agreement was structured as follows:

— £56.9m payable In cash at Compietion

— Theissue by the Buyer to the Company of Consideration Loan Notes with an aggregate nominal vatue of £3.16m, accruing an interest rate
of 10% per annum payable on redemption

- The issue by the Buyer 1o the Company of £0.06m of Ordinary Shares in the Buyer, representing 6.16% of the entlre issued share capital

— A maximum amount of £10m of deferred consideration payable in cash conditional upon the Terraquest Group achleving an aggregate
EBITDA of £9.5m in the financial year ended on 31 Dacember 2021. A minimum consideration of £5m was guarantead.

The Directors are pleased that the Terraquest business, under new ownership, has performed well. The Direclors have been notified by the buyer
{Apse Capital} that the scquired business delivered an EBITDA of circa £8.5m in 2021, being the earn-out period. The legal egreement allows Mears
time to review the basis of this result and a mechanism for resolution if there is any disagreement. Based on the draft assessment of the Terraquest
resull for 2022, deferred consideration has been falr valued at £6.5m, being an Increase of €1.1m. This sddltional profit has been recognised within
discontinued activities. The deferred consideration is payable in April 2022,

57
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Praperty, ptant and equipment (PP&E) s stated at historical cost of £57.3m (2020: £64.6m) less accumulated depreciation of £36.6m (2020 £41.0m),
giving a net camying value of £20.7m {2020; £23.6m). Mears historically has a track record of delivering organic growth In the core Housing
activities with a low requirement for capital expenditure. When the Group secures a new contrac, the Group will typically open an office in that
locallty delivering services to this single client; whilst Mears will typically lease the site office, improvements are often required to ensure that the
property Is set up to delfiver the required services, and T Infrastructure and equipment is also required, and allthis spend s typically capitalised.
Leasing properties for rental 1o tenants is a core business activity for Mears. As a result, Mears currently holds around 10,000 residential property
leases and a further 3,500 office property and vehicle leases. Broadly speaking, 8 lease should be accounted for under IFRS 16 only if Mears has
the right to direct its use, which, through Its decision making rights, can affect the economic benefit derived from that asset. Around one-half of
the Group's residential ieases meet the criteria for recognition on the balance sheet. Those that do not meetthe ¢riteria are typically due to them
belng short term in nature, often driven by the existence of a two-way break clause {a praciical expedient offered under IFRS 16 aliows those
leoses with o term of less than 12 inonths to be expensed).

IFRS 16 focuses upan & 'right of use asset’, and to complete the book-keeping. recagnises a comesponding lease obligation, The lease abligation

is not entirely consistent with the historical definition of a labllity; accordingly, the lease obtigation Is nol a typical debt instrument as Mears can

terminate & significant propertion of its leases giving 30 days notice, with no more than an insignificant penaly.

Warking capital balences include trade receivables, trade payables and inventaries; further explanation is provided within the working capital

management section that follows.

The Group participates In two principal Group pension schemes (2020: two) together with a further 21 (2020: 20) Individual defined benefit

schemes where the Group has received Admitted Body status in a Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).

— Penslon assels of £37.7m (2020; £€7.1m} which relate to the two Group pension schemes. The significant increase In the surplus is driven by
the Increase in the discount rate assumption, which reduces the carrying value of the pension cbligations. Positivety, the facus of the pension
trustees is to reach a position In the mredium term where both these scihiemes become seif-sufficlent.

— Fenslon obligations of £17.0m (2020: £45.7m) which predominantly relate to the Group's LGPS pension arrangements. The significant reduction
In this obligation Is driven by increasing discount rates. Whilst pensions Lypically have long-term time herizons, the risks carried by the Group
assoclated with the LGPS obligations match the time horizon of the underlying contract which, whilst not removing all risks, does reduce the
period over which a deficit can arise.

— The expoasure 10 the Group In respect of its LGPS obligations Is reduced where the Group enjoys back-10-back indemnities with its t.ocal
Authority and Houslng Association clients. These indemnities are classed as Guarantee assels, absarbing £13.0m of pension obligations
(2020: £30.7m). Therefore, in respect of its LGPS pension schemes, the net exposwe Is £4.0m (2020: £15.0m) being the pension obligation
tess the Guarantee assel. In addition, 8 number of LGPS schemes are reporting swpluses amounting to £37.7m (2020; £1.1m) which the
Directors belleve would not be prudent to recognise as assets, but which do provide additional headroom against future deficlt.

The pension disclosure is spiit on the face of the balance sheet between non-current assets and non-current llabikities. iy addition, the pension

guarantee assets are reported separately from their associated liablities. Where LGPS arrangements are reporting surpluses, these are not

récognised as assets.

Recelvables relate 1o the disposal of Terraquest and comprise deferred consideration of £6.5m and loan notes of £3.5m as detailed within the

discontinued activitles section above.

Cther payables include provisions relating to the Group's insurance risks and a small number of anesous contractual provisions which arise when

the unavoideble costs of meeting contractual obligations exceed the remuneration expected to be recetved,
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Strategic Report

Financial review continued

CASH FLOW AND WORKING CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has delivered exceflent operating cash flows aver recent years with sirang undertying EBITDA to operating Cash conversian.

As highlighted in last year's report, and netwithstanding the sirong underlying perfarmance in the prior year, the Group did benefit from a number of
Covid-19 refated cesh inflows which would unwind during 2021 notably the VAT deferral which increased the operating cash fiows in 2020 by circa
£16m and which was subsequently settled and is reporied as an outfliow in 2021. Given the unique cirgcumstances brought by the pandemic, the
Directors believe 1hat taking a combined result for the 2 year paried provides stakeholders a better measwe for assessing the undertying cash
performance of the business. The EBITDA to operating cash conversion for this 2 year period. as detalled below, was 118%.

Mears has atways fostered a strong ‘cash culture’, wheseby the Group's front-line operatians understand that imvokeing and cash colaclion ate
intrinsicaily linked, and that 8 works order is not complete until the monies are banked. This culture has underpinned strong cash performance over
many years. The reported cash conversion has been enhanced further as the working ¢apltal ahsorbad within the Group’s Development activities,
which have been in run-off phase for the past 2 years, has siarted 10 be released. The working capital absorbed i the Developmant activities
reduced o sround £12m at 31 December 2021 {2020: circa £29m), a reduction by circa £17m over the last 2 years.

2021 2020 202142020

€000 000 £000

{Loss)profit before tax 18333 5.218) T
et finance costs B.069 9998 18,066
Amortisation of acquisition imangibles 7654 9525 {7180
Depreciation and amortisation 51,392 51,630 103.022
ERTDA 683448 55,935 139383
Other adjusiments ' (.213) 1508 395
Change in inventories 12944 4787 i
Change in operating receivables (2,244} 18,475 623
Change in operating paysbles (32573 22418 (10155]
QOperating cash fiow 60,362 103223 163,585
ERITDA to operating cash conversion 72% 185% 7%

The Group reported an adjustad net cash position at the yeer end of £54.6m (2020 £56.9m). The small reduction predominantly reflects the unwing
of the VAT deferral, which cancelled out the free cash flow generated in the period. Whilst it IS pleasing 10 report 3 svong cash posiion within the yeat
end balance shaet, of much greater significance is the performance over the 365-day period. Positively, the strong year end pedformance is also
mirrored in the average daily adjusted net cash for the year a1 £0.4m (2020: adjusted net debt £97.3m).

2024 2020

£000 000

Average dally adjusted net cashidebt) 400 {97.300)
Adjusted net cashAdebi) al 31 December 54632 56,867

The average month end trade receivable and wacde payable balance split by Housing categary reflects strong working capital management during
the period end is detalled below:

2021 2020

Recaivables Paysbies  Net working capital Recalvables Payoties Nel working capitel

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Maintenance-led 20 (129.5) 125 1385 1257 128
Management-led ri-] fc k) (3.8 324 255) 6.9
Davelopment 26 B8 78 N0 [6.04 25.0
B1.5 (1659 16.5 2019 {157.2) 447

The ¢ore activities of Maintenance and Manasgement have hisiorically absorbed a relatively low level of working capital when compared to the size
of the business and the profit genereted. This low working caphal intensity remains the case and 18 reflected in the sverage month end baslances
detailad abgve. The working capital absorbed within Management-led activities beneflited from payments received on account averaging arownd
£15.0m over the year; however, even if excluding 1his temporary benefi, the adjusted measure would reflect sirong performance.

The Development posifolio had a sirong sell-through in the period totating £25.6m of revenues. The working capital absorbed within the
Development activity has seen a reduction reflecting excellent pragress in uniocking the cash thal has been absorbed in this lagacy part of the
business. The working capital balance absorbed In Development as at 31 December 2021 was circa £12.0m. Management continues to expect 1o
complete the remaining unwind of the warking capital absorbed in this area over the course of the next 12 months.
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Banking and financial covenants

The Group has a simple approach 1o its debt funding arrangements, holding a single revalving credit facility (RCF) which provides a total commitment,
but allows the Group to draw down monles as required, mirroring an overdraft facility. Foliowing the significant reduction in debt levels, the Directors
completed 3 refinancing, reducing the total commiiment to £70m.

The Board ls'graterul for the tremendous support that has been provided to the Group by its banking partners; Barclays and HSBC have provided
support to the Group for many years end made additional funds available at a time of extreme uncertainty, as the UK entered the first national
lackdoven. It i pleasing to refinance at levels which are cansiderably lower, whilst rotaining significant headroom. The refinance also saw it Bank
enter the banking arrangement, and the Mears team locks forward to extending this new relationship.

The financial covenants included within the RCF, which are tesied twice-yearly on 30 June and 31 December, ere delailed below:

Covenant Formulae Covenam ratio
Leverage Consolidated net barrowing divided by Adjusted cansolidated EBITDA® 3.00x
Interest cover Adjusted consolidated EBITDA" divided by Consolidated net finance charges™ 3.50x

*  Adjusted EBITDA on a rolling 12-month basis, pre-IFRS 18, and stated before non-underlying items and share-based payments.
** Netfinante charges comprise all commigsion, fees and other finance charges payable In respect of financlal Indebtedness. This excludes Income/casts relating
ta Group pension arrangemens.,

The margin applied to draw-downs under the RCF increases Is determined by the Group's ieverage ratip at @ach quarier end, as detailed befow,
This margin |s payable in addition to the Sterting Overnight Index Average (SONIA) being the Bank of England risk-free rate for Stevling markets.
Given the strong cash perfomance in 2021, the Board's expectation wolld be for the margin to stay at the bottom end of the ratchet throughout 2022.

Leverage ratig Margin % p.s.
Greater than or equal o 2.50% 275
Less than 2.50x 250
Less than 2.00x 2.25
Less than 1.50x 2.00
Less than 1.00x 175
Andrew Smith

Chief Financial Officer

3t March 2022
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Strategic Report

Financial viability review

This viabflity review is being completed
iollowing a pertod of almost 2 years thal has
sean the unprecedented event of a worldwide
pandemic. The Covid-19 outbreak brought
significant short-term chakenges. The Group
adapted quickiy to deliver seérvices in a secure
and safe enviranment 1 protect both our
employees and service users. Whilst the
Group adapted quickly to find the new ways of
working, the sllemalive methods of working
reduced productivity and brought incrementat
cosis such as PPE. Howewer, the Board takes
significant comfort from the fact thal during this
period, where the Group was requited o react
to an event that was more severe than any
scenario thay was previously considesed, the
Graup dellvered services safefy, maintained
high levets of customer satistaction and
improved amployee engagemant, whilst from
a financlal parspective deitvered both a profit
2and improved lquidity. Whilst this visbility
review looks to the fulure, the recent
performance of the business in the most
challenging of circumstances provides the
Board additional confidence a5 to the
resilience of the Groyp.

In accondance with circa 2.2 of The UK
Corporate Governance Code 2014, the
Directors are required to assess the viabifity of
the Group over a S-year perod, A perod of 5
years has been chosen as it refiects the
sverage contract length, being a blend of an
average contract length of 5 years excluding
extansian oplions. Whilst the Group holds
conjracts which extend beyond this time
heorizon, a petiod of greater than 5 years

was considerad oo \ong, giventhe inherent
uncerainties involved.

The Board considered (s key risks. The
principal risks are set aut on pages 50 o 54
and are those which are Considered 1o threaten
the Group's fulure performance, solvency

and lquidity. Risks are ideniified as "pringipal’
based on the likelihood of cccurrence and

the severity of the impact on the Group.

A financial model has been built on a8 contract-
by-contract basis for the next 12 months and
extended for the folowing 4 years. The 5-year
plan conslders cash flows as well as finandal
covenants. The forecast for 2022 s based
upon revenuas generated (rom existing
customer relationships, and 8 business that is
generating canttact margins that are in line
with recent run-rates. The foracast lor 2022
a55umes 3 mpdes) level of new Customer

revenues secured from the cutrent bid pipetine,

but with no further growth anticipated beyond
this first year.
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The base case model forecasts a resukt for
2026, belng year S of the model, with revenues
and profit before tax (PBT) of £741.2m snd
£293m respectively, and an average net cash at
the and of that petiad of £66.6m. The financial
model excildes the Group securing wark with
new customers beyond the firsl 12 monihs and
reflects some revence reduction from existing
clients, where it is expected that there wiil be no
turthey opportunity upon expiry of the cument
contract. The base case model could be
considered to be conservative.

Sensitivity analysis was undertaken 1o stress
1est the reslliance of the Groud and its business
madel ts ihe potential Impact of the Group's
principal risks, or 8 combination of those risks.
A downside case was prepared by management
o fiustrate the impact of adverse changes in
key variables of the base case forecastand
profections. The downside case is inlended 1o
Musirsie 8 reasonable worst-case scenaria
which coutd affect solvency o liguidity in
‘severe but plausibie’ scengrios.,

The Directors have conslderad five scenarios:

— A prolonged impact of Covid-19 upon
Mainienance-led activities

— Significant deterforation in Group's bidding
SuCCeSs on coniract fe-bids

- A performance falluré on a major cantract

— Significant deterioration in working capital
management

— A cambination of ak of the above scenarios

The ToRkowing sensitivities have been applied
o each downside case:

SCENARIO 1. COVID-19 IMPACT UPON
MATNTENANCE-LED ACTIVITIES

The Covid-19 reagonable warst-case
assumptions assyme 8 fourth UK nationa)
lackdown in the 3-month period bet

Q2-23, A 5% reduction in revenue in Apdl
and May 2023 with a relurn to the base case
n june 2023,

Key financial output, Scenaria 4

w= A reduction in revenye, PBT and net cash
in 2027 tp £769.3m (base ¢ase: £823.0m),
£174m fhase case: £28.0m) and £25.7m
{base tese: £27.5m) respectively, The
size of the revenue and prefit shontfall
reduces in 2023, reflectng the easing
of rading restrictions.

SCENARIO 2. SIGNIFICANT
DETERIORATION IN GROUP'S BIDDING
SUCCESS ON CONTRACT RE-BIDS

This downside Scenario assumes a negative
outcome in respect of Housing maintenance
cantract ranewals. Given the average contract
tength of circa 5 years. several key cantracts
will come vp for renewa) over the viabllity
review perlad. The Group has a gobd track
record of securing wotk on re-bid. However,
for the purpases of this viebillty review,
management has assumed a significan
deterioralion in the Group's performance in
this srea, possibly following a shgrificant event
which has impscted negatively on the Group's
reputation in the sector. The Group has
modellad a downside scenario where it fails
10 te-secure any matedis! contracts that come
up for re-bid during the period 2022 10 2025,
The impaci upon revenue of this assumption
i3 detaiied below:

October and December 2022, with rading
In fing with that experienced batween April
and _June 2020, but without the benefit of
the UK Gavernment's Coronavitus Job
Retentlon Scheme or other simllar measures,

Annustvélue  Expiry
Contract £m date
Contract A £16m 2022
Conract B £12m 2022
Contract C £42m 2023
Contract © £1'm 2023
Contract £ £20m 2023
ContractF £24m 2024
Contract G £12m 2024
Contract H £42m 2024
Tolal annual
value in 2025 £179m

Follawing 1his Cecline, this scenario assurnes
hat this periad is followed by a phased
recovery in trading, as the restriclions are
gradually relaxey. Notably:

Q4-22: A 45% reduction in Maintenance-led
revertue compated to the base case, refiecting
& hurther UK lockdown of equal severity to that
experienced in 02 2020.

ON-23: An 18% reductian in Maintenance
evenye, miroring levels reported in Q3 2020,
refiectng customers desire to dekver some
high priarity senvices but equatty to defer any
spending which could in the short term be
considered discretionary.

Key financial output, Scenario 2

-~ Revenue reducing from £823.0m (n 2022
10 £555.9m in 2026, togethet with an
associated reduction in PBT from £28.0m
in 2022 1o £17.3m in 2026.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



SCENARIO 3. PERFORMANCE FAILURE
OF A MAJOR CONTRACT

The Directors have modelled a performance
failure in 2023 resulting In higher costs of
delivery with na recovery from the customer.
In order to lHustrate a worst-case scenario, the
Directors have considered a performance
failure on the Asylum contract, being the
Group's largest single contract, which is
expected to account for around 15% of Group
revenues. This feilure ks assumed (o be driven
by a shortage of residential housing units,
resulting in a significant increase in cccupants
being placed in hetel accommaodation for an
extended period, This senskivity assumes that
this parformance fallure begins in April 2023
with 1,000 service users being accommodated
in hotels over a perlod of 12 months.

Key financial output, Scenario 3

— A reduction in PBT in 2023 to £21.4m
{base case of £30.2m). The net cash
balsnce at 31 December 2023 also reflects
this profit reduction, reducing 10 £33.2m
(base case £40.2m).

SCENARIO 4. SIGNIFICANT
DETERIORATION IN WORKING
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

This scenario assumes a significant
deterioration in the cash collection
measurements, being an Increase in the time
period between the completion of works and
the receipt of cash from the Group’s clients
{which follows a process where works are
valued and invoiced by the Group before being
approved and settied by clients). The Group
has made significant investment In its
operational systems which are key to ensuring
that the work delivered is identified and
invotced carrectly. The Group has an excelient
track record in maraging the working capltal
absorbed. This scenario modelled a permanent
deterloration In respecl of the maintenance
contract assel collection period, increasing
from 60 to 70 days. Whiist & scenario where the
Group experiences a permanant deterioration
in working capital is considered particularly
pessimistic, such a scenario is helpful to the
Directors to further stress test the viabillly
review when taking a combination of
cdownside scenarios.

Key financial output, Scenario 4

- A reduction in the net cash balance st each
financial year end, reducing to £47.9m in
2026 (base case £66.6m).

SCENARIO 5. A COMBINATION OF ALL SCENARIOS 1TO 4.
The Directors modelled the impact from the occurrence of all downside scenarlos occurring -
concurrently. The key financial outputs from this combination are detailed below:

Scenarto 5 2022 2023 2024 20258 2026
Revenue £m 769.3 6325 5725 555.9 555.9
PBTEm ' 71 123 15.2 173 173
Net cashAdebt) £m 135 2.8} {5.9) (0.0} {14.5)

No mitigating actions were included within any
scenario, which was considered conservative
but not entirely realistic. Mitigating actions
available to managemaent include a reduction
In giscretionary capital expenditure, dividend
policy and robust working capital management
around covenant test dates. In addition,
upsides that are avallable to the base case
include generating an improved margin ata
local contract level over and above the current
run-rate and securing new contract awards.

In addition to the five scenarios, the Board tested
the sensitivity of the business to increasing the
severity of the assumptions detafled in each case,
to measure the tigger points at which the viability
of the Group, in the absence of further
mitigations, could be impacted.

— Scenario 1indicates thatin the event of
a national lockdown of simiar severity to
that experienced in Q2 2020, and In the
absence of any Government rellef such as
the Corcnavirus Job Retention Scheme,
each trading month reports a profit
reduction of circa £3.5m. Whilst the Group
would continue to retain strong Hiquidity,
the Group's interest cover covenant is
breached In the event that the Group™s
pre-IFRS 16 EBITDA is negative.

- Scenario 2 assumas that all revenue is 1ost
on re-bid and in Isolation this would not
impact an the viability of the business.
Were the Group 10 see existing contracts
terminated before their time, this could
impact upon covenants and funding levels,
and could inevitably Impact upon viability.

— Scenario 3 assumes a contract faliure for
8 period of 12 months, reducing Group
profits by £1.0m per month over that
period. In the event that a contract failure
of a similar severily extended over a longer
pericd, the Directors do not believe such
an event would impaci upon the vability of
the Group In isolation but could mpact
upon sotvency and liquidity to the extent
that this more negative outcome combined
with other negative events.

— Scenario 4 shows a change In net cash/
{debt) by circa £18m for a change of
10 days in the contract asset collection
perlod. Given the significant headroom
within the existing banking facllities,
it is not considered plausible that the
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collection perod ¢could deterlorate 1O
such an extent as to result in exceeding
the available banking facilities.

The viability review also considered the
increasing risk that fines can be levied upon
companies for non-compliance In areas such
as health and safety and data protection.
Fines are discretionary based on the nature,
gravity and cuipability of the company but
fines are applled based upon a8 percentage
of Group revenue. In a low margin business
such as Mears, any single fine could have 2
stgnificant and proporlionate impact upon
retalned profits. Whilst such an event could
be damaging. it would not be expected to
vitimately impact on the long-term viability
of the Group. Both health and safety and

IT and data feature high on the Group's

risk register. and we continually review

our mitigating actions to ensure that we
minimise our restdual riskc

The Group's existing debt facillties run 10
December 2025. The future viabilty review
extends beyond this date and therefore
assumes that there will be enough appelite
from our existing or new funders to provide
the required level of funding on similar terms.
The Group reported an average daily net cash
balance of £0.5m in 2021, The future viability
review indicates net cash at the point of
renewal in respect of Scenario 110 4. Only In
the case of Scenario S Is a net debt position
of £5.9m forecast at the point of renewal.

The Directors recognise that there is naturalty
uncettainty within ary forecast and this uncertainty
increasas as the projections cover a S-year
period. The conclusion attached to the viability
review was that there was a reasonable
expectation that the Group will continue in
operation and would be able to continue to
meet liabilties as they fall due over the S-year
period of business planning.

This Strategic Report was approved
by the Board on 31 March 2022

D Mites
Chief Executive Officer

david.miles@mearsgroup.co.uk
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Corporate governance

Our corporate governance compliance statement

This section of the Annual Report sets out how the Company is governed. It provides
biographical and service details about the Board of Directors and discusses the
composition of the Board, how that has been developed and the Board evaluation
process entered into in 2021, It discusses how the Board assures itself as to Company
performance and sets out the key areas which were subject to significant Board
review and discussion in 2021. Finally, it sets out how the Board communicated

with shareholders and key stakeholders.

. 'S Int (At s
Introduction to Cnaiman's introduction Page 6!
corporate governance

Board of Directars Page 66
Roles and responsibilities Page 68
d rship:
Boar Iea.dt-a _sh p Corporate governarnce framewuri Page 69
Board activities
Key Board activities in 2020 Page 70
$Stakeholder engdgement Page 71
- . ition, devel j ?
Composmon, syccession Board composition, development and evaluation Page 73
and evaluation Report of the Nominations Cammittee Page 74
- he Audit and Compliance Commitle
Audit, risk and Report of the phan mitees Page 76
internal controls
Report of the Remuneration Commitiee Page 82
Annuyal Report on Remuneration Page 90
Remuneration
Report of the Directors Page 98
Statement of DireCiors' responsibilities Page 100
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Chairman’s introduction

The Board continues to develop its activities and processes so as to provide effective
oversight and valuable input to the sustainable development of the business.

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to
introduce the corporate governance report

for 2021. The averali purpose of this reportis

to brief stakehoiders on how the Board
undertakes its responsibifities for the leadership
of the Company and for the promotion of its
long-term sustalnable success. Duiing 2021, the
Board considers that it was compiiant with the
principles of good govemnance set out in the UK
Corparate Governance Code 2008 (the ‘Code’).

PEOPLE AND CULTURE

Mears has a strong and distinctive corporate
culture. The Mears ‘Red Thread' underpins
how our workforce undertakes its daity lasks,
with its emphasis on working hard, being a
role model, taking responsibility and initiatve,
and focusing on excellent customer service
- & desire not |ust to do each job wellbut to
make a positive difference to customers and
commnities. The wellbeing of our woarkforce
and our cuslomers, alongside the creatlon

of commercial value for stakeholders and
shareholders, are key ingredients to the
Company's long-term sustainable success.

The promaticn of this Cuiture Is an important
element of the debates that take piace at

each Board meeting and informs the strategic
decisions which the Board takes. Al each
meeting, the Board recelves reports on key
workiorce developments, monthly health and
safety and compliance statistics and up-to-date
feedback from customers, both complaints

and commendations. In 2021, eech meeting
also received data on Covid infections and
disruption to the business caused by the
pandemic. Twice a year, the Board receives

a more detailed report on key trends In the
regulatory and compliance landscape. Similarly,
the Board receives an in-depth report of key
human resources developments twice a year,
Including an analysis of the annual Voice of

the colleague staff survey, data as to workforce
diversity and developments in staff training and
development schemes. Each Board meeting
also has a discussion facilitated by a report from
the Employee Diractor on current issues of
importance to the workfarce. In these cifferent
ways, the Board maintalns constant oversight of
the development of the Mears culture.

STRATEGY

—During the.course of 2021, the Board spent. .
significant time examining how Mears should
best develop once it had completed its exit
from activities which it had decided notto
continue and reduced Its Indebtedness to
acceplabia leveals, This exarcise, underiaken
with the help of external advisers, is discussad
further in my letter at the front of this Annual
Report. The conchusion was that Mears should
remain as a specialist provider of housing
services, largely to the public sector. Areas for
future growth will be developing homelessness
salutlons for our key Local Authority customers,
executing on the very large programme of
insulation work and other heating reiated
changes to the UK's social housing ponfolio
needed to satisfy Government targets for
carbon reduction and selectively developing a
capabiiity 10 provide services (o privale sector
customers on a sustalnably profitable basis.

BOARD EVALUATION

During 2021, the Board underook a rigorous
extemal svaluation of Its performance.
supported by Independent Audi Limited {IAL).
| am grateful for the objective, candid and
suppartive manner in which the AL team
approached Its task. IALs reportidentified
areas of good practice and made a number of
suggestions for improvement. This is discussed
further in the Report of the Nominations
Committee. The Board will foliow up on this
reviewin 2022,

BOARD DEVELOPMENT

During the course of 2021, the Board
undertook an exercise to [dentify and appoint
a new Non-Executive Director. This process is
discussed in more detall In the Report of the
MNominations Committee. The resulf was the
appointment of Angela Lockwood to the
Board with effect from 1 January 2022,
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ESG

The Board continues to take a close interestin
the development of the Company sgenda for
Improvements in its envisonmental performance,
the creation of social value and the promotion
of good governance.

Owing 201 and inlo 2022, the management
team has been working on a detailed plan
o glve effect to the Company's ambition to

. dedver gperations which are net zeno in carbon

emissions terms by 2030 (see E5G section
on pages 33 10 41).

Our commitment (o social value was relnforced
by the development of the Mears Customer
Scrutiny Board, whose Chairman reports
twice-yearly to the Mears Board about #s
activitles, These involve the detalied scrutiny

of selected operational activities throughout

the Mears Group with & view 10 producing
recommendations for change designed to
create Incremental improvements in the quality
of service which Mears defivers ¢ its customers.

We continued to strengthen our govemance
over the year, with rigorous planning of Board
agendas to ensune that all important aspects

of the business are examined at Board level at
{east once a year, if not more often. We have
strengthened the contribution of the Employee
Director at Board meetings and thereby ensured
that current workforce issues can be a point of
discussion 51 each meeting.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company, primarily through the
managementteam but also at Chairman

level, maimalns a close dialogue with its major
shareholdess, Each Board meeting recelves

a report oninvestor relations issues, with a
discussion on changes and trends, and there’

is a discussion sbout anything of importance
that has emerged. it is important that all Board
members understand the main reasons why
maljor shareholders are supporters of the Group
and what therr key Issues are $0 a5 to ensure
that the voice of the owners is also brought into
boardroom discussions and decision making.

AGM

For the first time In three vears, it appears that it
will prove practicable to hold this year's AGM in
person. Accordingly, | look forward to meeting in
person any sharehoiders who wish to come (o
the meeting.

K Murphy

Chairman
31 March 2022
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Corporate governance

Board of Directors

Kieran Murphy David J Miles AndrewCM Alan Long Angela Lockwood
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Smith Executive Director Non-Executive Diractor
Chief Rnancisl Otficer

Age Age Age Age Age

83 56 43 59 59

Tenure Tenure Tanure Tehure Tenure

3years 25 years (15 years on 22 years (15 years oh 16 years {11 years on 3 months
the Board) the Board) the Board)

Skills and sxperlence

Skills and experiance

Skilla and experience

Skills and experience

Skills wnd experience

Kieran is a very David joined Mears in Andrew joined Mears In Alan joined Mears in Angela has extensive
experienced Non- May 1996 and, priorto 1999 and, prior 10 his 2005 and, prior to his experience gained from
Executive Director and his appointment ta the appointment ta the appaintment to the a career in housing
Chalrman, He spent Board in January 2007, Boerd, was Chief Board in August 2009, spanning nearly 30
much of his executive was Managing Director Financial Otficer wag Managing Director years. Starting her
career working af the Mears Social covering the Group's of the Group's Care career at Sunderiand
in finance. At Kiginwort Housing division. subsidiaries. division, having Councll, Angela then
Benson, he buiita Before Joining Mears, Andrew gualified as & previously held the worked for Home
market-teeding Bavid held a seniar . Charterad Accountant pasition of Group Sales Housing and
corporate finance Dosiion with the MITIE in 1994 and warked in and Marketing Director, subsequently jained
advisory business Group. His batkground professional practice Prior to joining Mears, Endeavaur Housing
in the bullding andg ks in elegtrical pror to joining Mears. Alan held senlor roles Association, firstry as
canstruction sector and engineering. at Britannia Bullding Housing Diteclor and
became & member of Society, Mars and thent Managing Director.
the bank's investment Smith & Neghew. She joined North Star
Bank Management in 2009, howding the
Committee. More positlon of CEQ.
recently, at Gleacher Angela hokis an MBA
Shackiock, Kieran and is a Feflow of the
axtended his advisary - Chartered Instiute
waork into the business of Housing.

services secior,

Principal external Princlpal external Principal external Principal external Principal external
appointments sppointments appointments appointments appointments
Allaxis S.4. Unhaarsity None None None CEQ of North Star

of tondon Housing, Joseph
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Rowniree Housing Trusi,
Natlonal Housing
Federation Board,
Institute of Customer
Service
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Claire Gibbard Loughiin Dame Julis Unwin Jim Clarke Ben Westran
Employee Non- Non-Executive Director, tndependent Non- Independent Non- Comparty Secretary
Executive Director Sanior Independent Executiva Director Executive Director and
Director, Remuneration Audit Committee Chair
Committes Chair
Age Age Age Age Age
34 69 65 62 45
Tenure Tenurse Tenure Tenure Tenure
1year 2 years 6 years 2 years 18 yaars (7 years as
Company Secretary)

Skills and experience
Claire Joined the Group
in 2018, following the
acquisition of Mitie’s
maintenance business.
Priar to this, Claire
worked for 8 Local
Authority g5

well as previously
warking et Mears for

7 years In various roles,
Claire Is currently
working 8s a

Customer Insight
Manager in the Group's
Marketing tearm and has
worked across a wide
range of branches and
central support,

Skills and experience
Chris is a very
experienced CEQ.

His last executive role,
prior to his retirement in
2020, was Chief
Executive Officer of
Pennon Group pic, the
listed company which
owhned South West
Waier and the waste
business Viridor,

He was previously CEQ
of South West Waler
and before that held
roles at Lioyds Register.
British Nuclear Fuets Fic
and Magnox.

.

Skills and experience
Juftia is tormer Chief
Executive of the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation
and the Joseph
Rowntree Housing
Trust. She has
significant experience
in the housing and care
sectors, having been a
member of the Housing
Corporation Board for
10 years and Chalr of
the Refugee Councll.
She was appointed
Dame Commander of
the Order of the British
Empire in January 2020
for service to civil
soclety.

Skills and experience
Jmis avery
experienced company
Chief Financiat Officer.
He qualfled as a
Charterad Accountantin
1984. He has spent
much of his career in
senior financa roles in
consumer facing
industries, having been
Chief Financial Officer at
David Lkyd Leisure, JD
Wetherspoon and
Countrywide.

Skills and sxperience
Ben is a Chartered
Accountant and, prior
to his appointment as
company Secretary,
was Group Financlal
Controfler and Direcior
of 8 number of the
Group’s subsidiaries.
Ben joined the Group
In 2004, having
previously worked In
protessional practice.

Principal external
appointments
None

Mears Group PLC Annual Repornt and Accounts 2021

Principal external
appointmants
British Water,

Water UK, Retall

Principal external
appointments
Yorkshire Waler.

York St John Unhsersity
Smart Data Foundry
(University of Edinburgh}

Principal external
appointments
None

Principal external
appointments
Nohe

67

AOINYNUIAODD BIVEOLNOD 140d38 O1911VH1S

SLNINILYLS TVIONYNIL

NOILYMYUOINI HIUTOHIAUYHS

\

\

Y




Corporate governance

Roles and responsibilities

Role Responsibilities Include:

Chairman
Kieran Murphy

Senior independent Director

Chris Loughlin

independant Non-Executive Directars

!

P

Promeoting a culture of chalienge, debate, openness, support and mutual respect
Legoership of the Board, sening 1ts a0ende and ensuiing effective Information Hlow

ang time management

Ensuring that Direclors contribute effectively and aliocate sufficient time 1o the Company
ia do so

Ensursing that the Board listens to the views of shareholders, the workiosce, customers
and other stakeholders

Ensuring that the Board bath monitors and demonsirates culture, values and behaviours
of the Group

Ensuring that the Board determines the nature and extent of tisk and reward in

SirateQy execution

Ensuring effective Board evaluation

Leading 1he annual performance evaluation of the Chairman
Providing & sounding board for the Chalrman
Avaltabie to shareholders as 8 channel for them to raise Boerd level lssues

Promoting the highest standards of inteqrity, probity and comorate governance

throughout the Group

Jim Clarke —~ Constructively challenging decisions proposed by the Executive Dicectars
Chris Loughiin o Ensuring stakeholder views are debated and considesed
Dame Julla Unwin ~ Assisting in developing Rroposals on strategy

- Coniributing to the pesfarmance evaluation of the Chairman
Angela Lockwood —~ Briefing the Board on decisions made and key issues from each Commitiee Chair

-~ Promating the highest standards of integrity 8nd probity

— Assisting in develaping proposals on strategy
Employes Director — Assisting the Goard ( receive full, open and honest insight and views fram its
Claire Gibbard workforca on how strategic initiatives are being implemented

Chief Executive Officer
David Miles

Chief Financiat Officer
Andrew Smith

Executive Director
Alan Long

68

11

Heiping (o provide the widerworkforce with & better understanding of how the
Board operates

Managing the day-1o-day running of the business in line with the strategy and objectives
set by the Board

Ensuring the Board Is supphed with sufficient and approprsiate information an a imely Dasis
Leading the business within the scope 5et by the Board

Developing strategy and setting objectives to meet the Group strategy approved by

ihe Board

Managing the Group’'s opelations 10 ensure they meet the risk appetite sel Dy the Board

Supporting the Chief Exacutive Officer in developing stsategy and meeting cbjectives
Bringing & comsercial and financial perspetiive to the Board

Leading the finance function and estabiishing strong control processes

Managing the treasury activitias in accordance with the cedit risk appetile sel by the Board
Supporting the Chiet Executive Officer with investor relstions

Leading the development of Lalent within the finance function

Supporing the Chief Exacutive Officer indeveloping strategy and meeting objectives
Supponing the Chief Executive Officer In managing extermnal communications and
investor relaions

Setting the Group social value policies and procedures

Leading the operational leadership and development funciion of the Group
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Corporate governance framework

BOARD ATTENDANCE

During the course of the year, there were
11scheduled and 4 unscheduled Board
meetings, B Audii and Risk Commitiee
meetings, 6 Remuneration Committee
meetings and 4 Nominations Committee
meetings, with full attendance.

INDEPENDENCE AND

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Beard reviews the independence of

its Non-Executive Directors as part of the
annual evaluation process. The Nominations
Committee also considers this as part of its
ongolng review of the Board compaosition.
The Board consldaered all Non-Executive
Directors to be Independent.

The Board operates a policy to identify and
manage situations declared by Directors in
which they or their connected persons have,
or may have, an sctual of potential conflict of
Interest with the Company. No Director conflict
sltuation currently exists or existed at any time
during the year.

INDEMNIFICATIONS OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with our Artickes of Association
and to the extent permitted by the laws of
£ngland and Wales, Directors are granted an
indemnity from the Company in respect of
liabilitles incucred as a result of thek position in
office. However, our indemnity does not cover
Directors or officers in the event of being
proven of acting dishonestly or fraudulently.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE
GOVERNANCE

The Board Is the principal decision making
body of the Company. Certain matters, for
example relating lo strategy. financial structure,
communications and policy approvals, are
matters reserved for the Board to decide.
Authovity for other specific matters Is formally
delegated by the Board to three Board
Commitiees — Audit, Remurneration and
Nominations — and (o executive management.

During the course of 2021, following an
Independent appralsal of the effectiveness

of the Board, an exercise was undertaken to
review and update the documents which set
out the role of the Board, the Chairman and the
CEQ/executive management and to review the
matters reserved for Board approval. The full
text of these documents can be found on the
Group website,

A summary of the roles of each element
of our corporate governance reglme is set
out opposite.

THE BOARD

The key purpose of the Board is collectively to
lead the Company and to promoie its long-temn
sustainable success, so generating value for
shareholders and other stakeholders, ang
contributing to wider society. The principal
responsibility of the Chairman s 10 lead the
Board and to ensure its effective operation.

The Board’s key functions are:

8) leadership: establishing Company purpose
and values, strategy. financial structuwe,
adequacy of human and financial resources,
and worklorce policies;

b) oversight: of corporate practice
and behaviour, financial controls,
implementation of workforce policies,
risk and managerment performance,
and succession;

¢} relationships: understanding views of

shareholders, other stakeholders and the

workforce, and the means to influence
those views; and

decision making: to take effective decislons

on those matters raserved 1o it, ensuring

it has the appropriate mix of skills and

experience and the information, time

and resources to do 50.

d

-—

Tha matiers reserved for decision by the
Board are:

8 sirategy and management: approval
of the strategic plan and annual budget,
any changes In the scope of activities
and review of performance against plans;

b) financial structure, capital allacstion,
dividend policy and Rsting:

c) approval of financial and ather major
communications and resolutions for
geneval meetings,

d} approval of major contracts;

¢} changes to the composition of the Board
and its committees and appointment of the
external auditor,

f) remuneration and other corparate

policles; and

risk appetite and review of strategic risk,

g

The Board's aclivities in 2021 are set out on
page 70. The compositien of the Board and
the evaluation process undertaken during the
year is set out on page 73. The Chalrman’s
review of 2021is set out on pages 06 to 08 of
this Annual Report.

The Audit Committee

The key purpose of the Audit Committee isto
assist the Board in s function of oversight of
risk, financial controls and reporting.

The Commitiee:

a) oversees the development of the
Company's strategic risk reglster and
makes an assaessment of the effectiveness
of the Company's risk management;

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

b) assesses the Company's financial systems
of control, accounting policles and key
|udgements, and compHance with
regulaiory requirements,

¢} oversaes the work of both the Internal and
exiernsl auditors; and

d) reviews the Company's policies on fraud,
bribery, whistieblowing, etc.

A report of the Audit Committee’s activities in
20211s set out on pages 76 to 81.

The Remuneration Committee

The Commitiee’s key function Is to determine
the Remuneratlon Policy for executive
management and oversee the appropriateness
and effectiveness of Group-wide remuneration
policies. It:

8} determines the remuneration of Executive
Directors and the Chairman;

b) reviews and decides on awards under all
share incentive schemes,

¢) reviews the application of pay and pension
policies across the Company, and

d) reviews Group-wide human resources
strategy.

The report of the business of the Remuneration
Committee in 2021 is set out on pages 82 to 97.

The Nominations Commitiee

The Commillee reviews the composition,
structure and size of the Board and oversees
the process of recrutment to the Board, It also
reviews executive managemaent succession
plans. A report on its activitles in 2021is set out
on pages 74 and 75.

The Chief Executive and executive
management genarally

The CEO has responsibility for the day-to-day
operations of the Group and authority for all
decislons which are not reserved to the Boarg
or its Commitiees. The key role of the CEQ is to:

&) ensure that the resources of the Company
are effectively directed to the execution of
the agreed strategy., that key performance
metrics are in place and that progress
agalnst those metrics is measured and
reported to the Board,

b} lead, inspire and support Company

employees, through developing a high

perfarming management team and effective

Campany-wide communication;

lead the Company's relationships with

shargholders, customess, suppliers, other

stakeholders and the wider community; and
ensure that adequate processes are In
place to manage risk.

[+

—

d

-—

The CEQ's report Is set out on pages 10 1015 of
this Annual Report.
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Corporate governance

Key Board activities

ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD N 202t
The Board met a total of 15 times in 2021, of
which 11 were planned meetings and four were
shorter ad hoc discussions convened duting
the year 1o dscuss particular Iopics. As in
2020, proceedings of the Board were
significantly sifected by the Covid pandemic
and & did not prove possible 1o meet
collectively in person on a regular basis
unlif after the summer, All of the meetings
werea sttended by all of the Directors.

While all Board members agree that the quality
of Board discussion is typically better when

we meel in person, the Board has noted that

it has praved perfectly practicable to take
effective decisions while being required to
work remotely. Accordingly. the Board resaived
at the start of 2022 to have some rmeelings

together &nd soma ramately, laking into
account the recammendations of the
exiernal review of Board effectiveness.

The Board agenaa is sel by the Chalrman
with suppart from the Company Secretary.
Early In 2021, a plan wes produced and
approved by the Board which set out the
proptsed particular discussion areas for
each meeting. inevitably, ihe plan evolved
and changed during the year.

Al every planned Board meeting, each of the
Exacutive Directors and the Employee Director
provides a repott and/or 8 verbal summary in
retation to the activities for which they fave
responstbitity. in addition, the Board receives
verbal updates from the chairs of each of the
three Board commitiees on activity whikh has

occurred shce the last Board meeting, Finatly,
the Board receives a verhial report on any site
visits underiaken by the Chairman or ather
Non-Executhse Directors since the lasi Board
meeting. In this way, the Board Is sssured 1haj
al each meeting it is provided with an
up-lo-date understanding of sirateglc and
sector related developrments, aperational
issues and successes, major contracl
performance, customer feedback, heattt and
safety performance, financial matters, invesior
relations, workforce issues, successes and
awards, progress on new business wins,
communications, marketing and influencing.

The tabta befow sets out the ather substantive
matters with which the Board deal during 2021:

Strategy and performance Finance and risk Peaple Statutory and governance

— Development of a 5-year Group - Review of the strategic - Deep dive reviews of health ~ Approval of the Company's
stratagy snd focused risk reqster, foowing and safety ssuves and Annual Report, AGM
discussion on issues and recommendations from interna) performance documents and fesotions,
opporiunities related 1o the audit and the Audit Committee .. Review ol workiorce survey preliminary and interirn financial
requirement for carbon Review and approval of the data and rencs staements and ad hoe trading
reduction, on opportunities in Company's insurance — Review of the ESG Strategy statements
the private rented sector and programme, reflecting {see ESG seclion on pages ~— Approval of certain Group
on future KPl measures Group risk appetite 33 1o 45) polickes including in redation

~ Deep dives inlo the operations Review of 3 vahsstion of the — Review of pay and the Gender to going concern and
of the housing mainienance Group prepared by the Pay rapert, following discussion viabllity assessment, tax
business, the housing with care Company’s atvisers end of at Remunerstion Committee and modern slavery
portfolio and the asylum stock market perspectives - Deep dive on key workforce = Approvai of the dividend policy

coniracts

In-depth reviaw of the

IT functian and key
related issues

Review of the report of
the Mears Customer
Scrutiry Board

Review of the proposaed-
Scattsh bugingss charter

Appraval of a debt refnancing
package
Approval of the annua! budget
for 2022

policles and issues

Rewview of senicr management
succession following discussion
a8t Nomingtions Commitiee
Approved the appointment on 8
new Non-Executive ditector with
etiect from 1 January 2022,
following a process run by the
Nomunations Corneniliee

and of proposed dividend
payments

Review of the Independem
report on Board governance
practice

Approval of updated
documents setting aqut those
matters reserved for the Board.,
Remuneration Committee terms
of reference and the roles of the
Boerd, Chairman and CEQ

70
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Stakeholder engagement

BOARD ENGAGEMENT
WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Within the Strategic Report, we detait how
we engage with our key stakeholders, and
explain how each stakeholder group Impacts
upon our business model and our abllity

to deliver against our strategic priorities.

The Board recognises that engagement

with key stakeholder groups strengthens

our relationships and is an cngelng part of
the operational management of the Group.
This in¢ludes employee surveys, assessments
of customer satisfaction and ongoing
conversations with regulators and non-
govemmental organisations. The Board
receives regular updates from senior
management on insights and feedback from
stakeboiders, which allows the Board 1o
understand and consider the perspectives
of key stakeholders In decision making.

The table betow sets out the different
stakeholdars with whom we engage

and how the Board monitors these
Important redationships.

Description

Clients

Tenants and
customers

Communities

Colleagues

Suppliers

Shareholders and
debt funders

The Company Is committed to maintalning goad communication with investors.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

How the Board is kept informed

Executive team has daily contact
with key clients

Regular discussion of key issues
at each Board meeting

Access to extemal press and
news flow

Monthly customer performance
statistics, including satisfaction,
complaints and compliments
Executive Director attendance
at tenant panel meetings
Customer Scrutiny Board

Monthty social valug megsures
Social Value Annual Report

— Close monitoring of staff surveys

Monthly People KPis

= Employee Director

(I

Engagement with supply chain

Investor roadshows and

investor briefings

Shareholder feedback

gathered bi-annually

Analyst research notes

Regular dialogue with
shareholders and funding banks
Engagement with supply chaln

Read more

Page 28

Page 28

Page 29

Page 29

Page 22

Page 72
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Corporate governance

Stakeholder engagement continued

IMVESTOR MEETINGS

Invesior meatings are predominantly attended
by the Group CEQ, CFO and Head of invesior
Relatlons, siihough other senlor Executives
miay attend. There is an aclive programme of
cammunication with existing and potentist
shareholders, with ‘City Days’ scheduled on a
maonthly basis {outside of closed periods) which
provides any shareholder an oppanunity for a
meeling with management. There is ncreased
dialogue fofiowing the publication of fina! and
nterim results, which is facliitated 1through &
serles of formal presentations, and management
allocstes a full week at those times Lo ensure
all shareholders can be sccommodated.

The Chaiman is afso avallable for discussions
with sharehclders 85 and when they 50 wish
and B aumber of such discussions took place
during the year,

The Chair regularly engages with majer
shargholders to canvass thelr views an
govermance and performance against
sirategy. Committee Chairs wili engage
with shareholders where a particylar
matter refates Lo thelr area of raspansibility.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Shareholder participalion at each AGM is
usuaily encouraged. Given the restrictions
caused by the Covid-19 pandemic, special
measures meant that no shareholders were
able 10 anend the 2021 AGM in these unique
clrcumstences, Ful detalls of the 2022 AGM
will be Set outin the Notice of Meeting.

In normal circumstances. all shareholders
are invited to attend the Company's AGM,
8l which point they have the opporiunity

1o meet the Board and ralse questions.
Sharehaiders who are ynable to attend are
invited to emaill questions in advance to
company.sacrelarydmeaarsgroup.co uk

ANNUAL REPORT AND OTHER
COMMUNICATIONS

The Board maintains regufar contact through
1he provision of the Annual Report, reguiar
lnterir Reparts and regular trading updates,
This information can be fourkd on the Group's
website (www.mearsgroup.co.ukj.

CORPORATE WEBSITE

The Group website has a dedicated nvesior
section which provides an overview of
Mears, whilst also providing BCLess to histosic

Annval Reports and shareholder presentations,

The Group regulady recetves and responds to
questions raised by small private shareholders
through the invesior enguiry portat within the:
Group's website.

The Group also has regular dlalogue with its
banking pariners. The Group refinanced its
debt fachities In December 2021, puttingin
plece @ £70m unsecured revolving credit
faciity. The Directors were pleased 10 extend
the close relationstip with Barcteys and HSBC,
which have bolh baen banking partners Lo the
Group for over 20 years. Tha Direciors were
also delighted \o include Citi Bank in the naw
arangement and look forward to bullding on
that pastnership n the fulure.

MHoxiing Holding at

March 2022 April 201

Sharehoiders hokling over 2% of issued simre copltal %c %
Shareholder Value Management 10.3% 9.8%
Artemis In 1 Management 102% 3%
Fideiity Mansgement & Research 2.9% 0.0%
Premier Miton B.2% -
Majedie Asset Management 28% 22%
Meronbridge Investmant Managemant 6.5% 5.0%
Columgia Threadneedle rvesuments 53% 51%
LOYs 5% 5¥%
Huntington Partners. 4.3% 33%
Dimensigna! Fund Advisors o 4.3% 41%
PrimeSwne Capita) -~ 12.3%

72

2021 investor refations
programme:

JANUARY
~ Shareholder calls avallable on request

FEBRUARY

— Nontalder investor virtual) roadshow

= Chairmarn's {virtusl) rosdshaw with top
sharehoidars

MARCH
— Pre-close tradging update ilowed by
calls with major sharehotders

APRIL
- Close periotd

MAY
— Preiiminary sesults jos FY2020 released
foliowed by tull investor (virtual) roadshow

JUNE
- AGM and trading update followed by
Calls with major shareholders

JULY
— Close period

AUGUST
- imarien resuis for H1 FY2021 released
followed) by full fruallinvestor roatshow

SERTEMBER
—  ESG consuhations with major sharehoiders

QCTOBER
- Ad hoc¢ non-halder [virtual}
Investor maetings

NOVEMBER
- Tiading vpoaie jollowed by calls
with major sharenolders

OECEMBER
- Management vinu st Q&A session with
existing and prospective investors
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Board composition, development and evaluation

1. COMPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT
It is critical to the success of the Board that

it has the optimal mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity {o produce an
informed debate and a high guality of decision
making. Directors offer themselves for re-
election annually. The Board considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors applies
thedr time and experience so as to make an
effective contribution to the deliberations of
the Beard.

a) Independence

In accorcdance with the Code, the Chairman
was independent at the time of his
appointment in January 2019. The other three
Non-Executive Directors {Julia Unwin, Chris
Loughtin and Jim Clarke) are ali considered to
be independent for the purposes of the Code.
The three Executive Directors and the
Employee Director by virtue of her
employment In an executlve role within the
Group) are not consldered to be independent.

At the stan of 2021, both Roy lrwin and Geraint
Davies served as Direciors of the Company
and both were considered to be independent,
Both stood down from their positions at the
Annual General Meeting In June.

The Company considers that it has been in
campliance with the Code requirements as
to independence throughout 2021.

b) Tenure

All Directors are subject 10 annual re-election
by shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting. The length of service of each
Director as at the end of 2021 is set cut

in their biographies on pages 66 and E7.

c) Skills and experience

The Nominations Committee regularty
assesses the skills and experience mix of

the Non-Executive Directors. More information
on this pracess in 2021 is set out in the Report
of the Nominations Committee.

The Board requires a range of views, skills
and experience in order to ensure thatit can
effectively challenge management's ideas and
deiivery but also contribute positively to
Company strategy and corporate development
more generally. The balance of those skills
and capabllities is kept under review to ensure
that the Board can supply effective leadership
and that, In particular, it has both extensive
commercial private sector experience and

a good understanding of the dynamics and
processes which drive the behaviour of its
dient base.

Set oul below is a self-assessment of the skills
mix of the six Non-Executive Directors:

Skills and experience mix of the
Non-Executiva Diractors

Customer knowledge
Service sector experience
Finance

Human resources

Strategy
Inrvestor relations
Senior executive keadership

Risk management
Business development

Operations

OF [ & | (I | B U]l | [O | B

This assessment underplnned the decision
making behind the recrultment of 8 new
Non-Executive Director in the second half of
2021, a process discussed In the Nominations
Commitiee repart on pages 74 and 75,

d) Diversity

As at the end of 2021, the Board had eight
Directars, two of whom were female. Of the
HNon-Executive Directors (Including the
Chalrman), three were male and one female.
There are currently no Directors from an ethnic
minority background. The diversity mix was a
factor in the approach taken {0 the recruitment
of a new Non-Executive Directorin 2021, which
is discussed further in the Nominations
Committee report on pages 74 and 75.

To consolldate the Board’s focus on diversity
and Inclusion, a seminar was heid in spring
2021, coordinated by Jane Farrell of EW Group,
which examined a number of aspects relevant
to the oversight of a large commerclal business
such as Mears.

Mears will work to secure balanced boards o
broaden the range of pesspectives and
expertise, and ultimately benefit the services
and cllents we seek to support,

We will follow the principles set out inthe FTSE
Wormnen Lesders review, which alms to increase
opportunities for women at the top of Britain's
{argest companies,

e} Inductlon

In view of the intended appoiniment of a new
Non-Executive Director, the Chairman and the
Company Secretary reviewed and updated the
Company’'s induction programme. This now
provkies for 8 comprehensive series of
meetings with each of the Directors and senlor
managers in the Group, access to the key
Board and Committee papers prepared and
discussed over the last 12 months, plus a
programme of visits 1o some of the Group’s
key operating locations.
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f) Commitment

The Directors, Execulive and Non-Exacutive,
are required to devote as much time as is
reasonably required 1o discharge their dutles
effactively and the Board is satisfied that the
Directors do sc. This s illustrated by the fact
that in 2021 all of the Directors were in
attendance at all Board meetings, whether
planned or ad hoc. Similar levels of attendance
were In evidence at meetings of the Board
sub-committees, each of which are now
attended by all Non-Executive Directors.
Directors wishing to take up additional extemal
appointments require the permission of the
Board, acting though the Chalrman.

g} Processes

All Directors have access to the Company
Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring
compliance with law and regulation and that
Directors are kept abreast of changes in
relevant corporate legislation. Directors,
collectively or individually, have access though
the Company Secretary to appropriate external
professional advice should that be needed.

The Board operates a policy o identify and
manage sivations declared by any Director in
which they or their connected parties have, of
may have, an actual or potential conflict of
interest with the business of the Company.
No such sitvation currently exists or existed

n 202,

In accordance with the Articles of Association,
and to the exten! permitted by law, Directors
are granted an indemnity from the Company in
respect of labllities incurred as a result of their
position in office. The indemnity does rol ccver
Directors or officers In tha event of their
behaving fraudulently or dishonesthy.

2. EVALUATION

During the course of 2021, an independent
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board
and lts committees was undertaken by
Independent Audit Limited. A description of this
process and the outcomes is set out n fullin
the Report of the Nominations Commitiee,
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Corporate governance

Report of the Nominations Committee

This report sets out
the key matters
which were
addressed by the
Commitiee in 2021.

Meeting sttentjance

€ Laughtin

K Murphy

J Unwin

G Davies
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JClarke

R Irwin a4

K Murphy
Chairman
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As foreshadowed In last year's report, one of
the main 1asks for the Committee in 2021was
the selection of & new Non-Executive Director,
consequent to the retirements of Geraint
Davias and Roy Unwin,

To commenke this process, the Commitlee
reviewed 1he mix of skills and experlence

&t Non-Executive Director level, taking

into account Geraint and Roy's departure.

In discussion, the Commitiee concluded that
we requied an individual with an excelient
understanding of the dynamics and oparations
of the arganisations which are the key
constituvents of Mears' current customer base,
The ideal candidate would demaonstrate
effeclive leadership at Board Jevel, having
held one or more leading executive positions
In a Local Authority, operational Government
department or Housing Assaciation, The key
requirement would be an ability 1o bring that
knowiedge of Merrs” customer base (0 make
an effectiva contribution to sirategic debate,
with b clear understanding of the drivers of
customer behaviour and how that could be
matched with Mears' deskre for growth and
value. it was alsa important that the successful
candidate be aware of and empathetic 1o
Mears’ comporate Culture.

The Commitiee was also conscious of the

need to cominue to traaden the diversity

of backgrounds around the boardroom tabie
and this was explicitly reflected in the cholce of
recruitment consullant made for the assignment
and ¥ the brief given to that adviser.

The Committee interviewed five candidates for
the role, chosen from a tonger list of passible
appointees, and selected Angela Lockwood,
Angela is Chief Executive OFficer at North Star
Housing, 3@ successful mediurn sized Mousing
Association based in Stockion on Tees which
won Investors in People UK 2021 Platinum
Employer of the Year for smalfer orgafisations.
Angela has extensive experience galned from
a carger In housing spanning nearly 30 years.
Starting her career st Sunderand Council,

Angela worked for Home Housing and
subsequently Joined Endeavour Mousing
Association, firstly as Housing Director and
then Menaging Director. She joined Notth Star
in 2009. Angela holds an MBA, 13 a Fellow of
{he Chartered Insttute of Haousing, a Board
member of ihe Joseph Rowntree Houslng
Trust, & member of the Natiorta! Housing
Federation Board and a Vice President of the
Institute of Customar Service. Angela joined
the Mears Board with effect from 1 January
2022 and has begun an extensive induction
programme with s series of meetings and visits
to Graup operations,

The other major task for the Comwnittes [n 2021
was lo underiake an Independen) evaluation
of the effectiveness of the Board and its
committees, in accordance with the Cade.
This review was posiponed from 2020,

independent Audit Limited was appoinied in
May 2021 to undertake such a revigw. IAL has na
other connection with the Campany and this is
the ficst time it has evaliated the Mears Board.
IAL undertock a comprehensive review
caverng aff aspects of Board and Commitiee
effectiveness. The reviewers attended Board
and Commitiee meetings in person andg virtualty
during the summer, reviewed a full cycle of
Board information and held one-to-one
disCussions with all of the Directors, a fange of
othey senior executives and the externa) auditor.
1AL reported 1o the Boerd in September 2021,
altending an in-person meeting. A)l Direciors
had an opporiunity to discuss the findings, ask
the reviewers questions and consider the
direction of fuiure Board development,

The review concluded that the Board had
undergone cansiderable change In the last
two years, with the Chair hawving exlensively
changed both the composition of the
non-executive team and the planning of
Board agerwdas, Much had been improved
over that period and there was the potential
for further Improvement.
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Strengths of the Board

Areas for Board development

Stable and long-
standing executive
team with effective
operations| controf
of the business

More effective
scrutiny, with oversight
of and Input to stratagic

and financial issues

Siillad chaking and
good quality debate
and challengeon a
range of major topics

The Employes Director
provides a valuable
employee perspective
and heips reinforce the
woricforee volce

The review highlighted a number of areas for the Board to focus on in 2022,

Key areas for
development
A stronger focus on offective

communication with more time
spent together if possible

Action taken/
to be taken

Helding more Board meetings In person,
moving Committee meetings to different
days, regular Non-Executive group
discussions before Board meetings

and, over time, more visits by Non-
Executives to operations

Clearer documentation of the role
of the Board, its committees, the
Chairman and the CEO to facilitate
collective working

Reviewing and agreelng documents
setting out the respective roles of the
Board, committees, Chalrman and CEC.
These documents can be viewed on
the website

Clearer plan for executive succession
combined with further consideration
of the roles of the most senior
managers befow Board level

Substantive discussions held about
executive reprganisation, the recruitment
of & new senior commerclal director

and continuing discussion on senior
executive succession

Maintain focus on strategy and
on the use of KPIs and risk analysis
and assessment

The Board will review the S-year plan in
spring 2022, examine the Group's carbon
reduction plan and continue its
discussion of KPI reporting

Clarification of the role and
contribution of the Employee Director

Ensuring that each Board meeting has
an agenda itemn for the Employee Director
to report on her activities and key issues

More work needs to be done and the Board intends to ungdertake an internal self-evaluation

during 2022,

In addition toits assessment of the Board, 1AL also provided input 1o the review of the Chairman

conducted by the Senior Independent Director.

The terms and conditions of each of the Non-Executive Directors are avallable for inspection at
the AGGM and can be made available lo shareholders on request to the Company Secretary.

K Murphy
Chairman, Nominations Committee
31March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees

This report sets out

the key matters
which were
addressed by the

Committee in 2020.

4 Clarke

C Loughlin

¥8
8

J Unwin

4/4

G Davies

44

4 Ciarke
Audit Committee
Chairman
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This repart sets out haw the Committee has
fulfilled Its responsibilities during the year and
In relation to financial reporting maters, the
significant issues that were conskdered and
how they were sddressed.

{n my first year as Chalrman of the Augit
Commitiee. | am pleased to present the
summary of the work of the Committes
gver the last 12 months.

As detafed in last year's report, the Commitiee
appointed Ernst & Young LLP {EY} as the new
exiemal auditor pnd the first year of the new
audit engagement went wedl, but was made
mare challenging by the rastrictions placed

on office working theough the pandeasmic,

The Camimhtee is pleased with the Lrogress
ol BY in its second year, with much of the
Jearning and knowledge accumulated In the first
year allowing a more focused audit spproach,
with continued leverage of data-anaytics tools
to deliver an efficient process.

The Committee has reviewead the significant
finenclal reporting matters and judgements
identifled by the management team and EY
through the audit process. and the approach
o addressing these is detafled o pages 78
and 79 of ihis repont.

Tha 2021 financisl year was refatively
simightforwarg when compared 10 the previous
two yaars, which had encountared a number of
disposais [Domic Rary Care and Terraguest),
sleps taken to exit the Developmant aciivities,
significant raw accounting stendards (FRS 16
‘Leasas’} and the unique challenges
encountered at ihe start of the pandemic.

By contrast, 2021 was a périod of stabifity and
strengthening; the areas within the financial
statements requiring stgnificant estimates and
judgement are hot hew 10 the management
team or any of the Commitiee members.

The continugtion of the pandemic ensured
that the fight agalnst Covid-19 and the
necessity to keep our people and customers
safe remained one of the primary concerns of
tha Compliance Committee throughout 2021,
The ever-changing environment meant there
were thallenges across our entire range of
operations, most notably in asylum support
ang care services, whitst the Group's decislan
to take a very cautious approach to the
refaxation of control measures linked 1o the
return tQ ‘business as usual’ meant we were
able 10 quickly respond o the threat posed
by the Omicron variant.

The eves-increasing imporiance of data
security is a key strategic conskderation for

the Group and in this regard, the Compliance
Committee's role has recently been widened
ta encompass greales scrutiny of this essential
area moving forward into 2022, to enhance the
level of information avadabfe o the main Board.

In relation 1o risk managemen snd internal
controls, the Board arsd Audit Committee are
mindful of the importance of continuing to
improve both control and output in this area,
The wock carried out during 2021is detailed
within this report. The co-seurcing between
the Intemal Mears team and KPMG has
delivared a high quality output and excellent
value. allowlng KPMG 1o bring in speciallsts on
an ad hac basis rather than adding fut-time
employment for what are mainly ‘task and
finish’ projects. The overall lead for our
Internal pudit work continues to sit with KPMG,

Our regular programme of meetings and
discussions, supported by our interactions

with the Company's managemenl, and extermnal
and imemai auditors, and the quality of the
reports and Information provided to us, engble
the Committee members to effectively
discharge their duties and responsibliities,
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HOW THE AUDIT

COMMITTEE OPERATES

The Commitiee provides independent

review and maaitoring of the risk management
snd control procedures within the Group.

Each Committee member is independent and
has broad commercial experience. Hm Clarke
is a Chartered Accountant and has significant
recent and relevant financial experience,

most recently at Countrywide as Group CFO.
Chns Loughlin has held a number of CEQ and
COO roles within large, quoted entities and
brings broader, more cperationally focused
commercial expertise. The final Commitiee
membear, Juba Unwin, has held senior roles
within housing and care sectors which bring
industry specific expertise, whilst also currently
engaged by the Financlel Reporting Councll.

During the year, the Committee heid elght
meetings. These meetings were also attended
by the Group Chief Executive Officer, the
Chief Financiat Dfficer, and the Group
Chairman. The interrial and external auditors
were [nvited to all meetings, The Company
Secretary acis as secrelary to the Committee,

The Audit Committee Chairman meets with
the external auditor and Jead internal auditor
regularly throughout the year,

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

In addition, the Audit Committee has a

very active sub-commitiee, being the
Compliance Commiitee. This reflects the
significant focus that the Group gives to
dealing with health, safety, and environmental
risks. The Compliance Committer is a
sub-committee of the Audit Commitiee and is
chaired by Jason Burt, the Group Director of
Health, Safety and Compllance, a former
specialist health and safety lawyer. He has

an extensive and detalled working knowledge
of the Issues which can adversely impact the
efficiency of health, safety and compliance
governance systems and ¢ause and drive
regulatory prosacutions and employers’

and public tiability claims. The extent o

which the full integration of heaith, safety

and enviconmental risks [s now embedded

in the governance structures of the Group is
highlighted by the members of the Compliance
Commitiee, who include the Group's Chief
Executive Officer, Healh and Safety Director
and internal Health and Safety legal adviser.
Others are called upon to attend as required.

The Committee’s terms of reference are
avallable on the Company's webshte and
on request from the Company Secretary.

Main activities of the Committes during the year

Internal audit

~— Reviewed and monliored progress against
2021 internal audlt plan

— Reviewed the quality and effectiveness
of the outsourced arrangement

— Reviewed the interal audit plen for 2022

Risk management

— Received réports from the Chair of the
Compliance Commitiee

- Reviewed and approved the Group's
risk register

- Reviewed and vaiidated the effectiveness
of the Group's Systém of Internal controls

= Monitored fraud reporting and incidents
of whistleblowing

- Qversight and monitoring of the Group's
compllance with the Bribery Act

Finsncial performance

— Reviewed the basis of preparation of the
financlal statements as a going concern
and the long-term viability review

— Reviewed and discussed reports from
the CFQ on the financial statements
and considered the significant
accounting judgements or where
there is estimation uncertainty

— Consideted reports from the externai
auditor in respect of the suitabllity of the
accounting policies and the integrity of
the financial reporting

-— Reviewed the 2021 Annual Report
and Accounts and provided a
recommendation to the Boerd that, as
awhole, they complied with the 2018
Code principle to be fair, balanced,
and understandable, end provide the
information necessary for shareholders
to assess the Company's positon,
performance, business model
and strategy

External auditor

- Agreed the audit fee for the year
ended 31 December 2021

— Reviewed the proposed audit plan
for the 2021 statutory audit

« Reviewed recommendations arising
from the 2020 statutory audit

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

We cansklered the aspects of the financlal statements that raquired significant sccounting judgements or witere there is estimation uncerfainty.
These are explained in greater detail within the notes 10 the financial siatements. The Augh Committee recelved delslled reports from the CFO
and the extarpal auditor on these ereas and other mattess which they belleved should be dréwn to the attention of the Committee.

The Committee discussed the range of possibie trastments both with marnagement and with the external auditor, confirming that the judgements
made by management were robust and supportable. For all the significent issues detalled below. it was concluded that the trestment adopled was

the mast appropriate.

Signiticant issue

Read more as ta how this key Issue was
addressed in the financlal statements

Lease accounting

IFRS 16 was adopted with effect from 1 Janpary 2019 and
has proved a difficult standarg 1o implement and ane which
has require significant changes to the systems and
day-to-day processes.

Under IFRS 16, a lessee will recognise Iis right to use a
leased assel akong with a lease fability representing Its
abtilfigation to make lease payments. On inception of 3

new lease, g right of use asset and lease obligation are
measured at the present value of the future lease payments
discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
The depreciation cost of the newly recognised right of use
assel’ will be charged 10 the profit within cost of sales ot
administrative costs, whilst the interest cost of the newdy
recogmised fabtity will be charged to net finance Costs.
On the basis that depreciation is required to be charged
on a straight-line basis, whilst interestis charged on a
reducing balance basis, this results in a higher overall
charge being applied to the iIncome stalement in the early
years of 8 [sase, with this Impact reversing over the later
years. The profit impact over the life of a lease is neutral
and IFRS 16 has no impact on pre-ax cash flows.

Legse accounting s critical ta Mears given the Group halds
more than 13,500 leases across its portfolio of residential
praperties, offices, and vehicles. The most significant and
complex Category relates 10 the Group's portfollo of
rasidential properties, which camprises approximately
10,000 leases; whitst the Group endeavours to standardise
the form of Joases, operational demands diclate that many
leases have specific wording te address the specific
operational need and also to manage the associated
operaionsl and financisl risks.

The Commities chakenged management in respact of the
processes and controls thet were In place thfoughoul the
year to ensure the completeness of the right of use assel
and lgase abligations. The Cammittee recognised this to be
a high visk area given the high number of new lesses being
incepted and the complexities of IFRS 16.

The Committee as reviewed the assumptions and Key
Jjudgéments provided by management, includling the
additional detail provided, resulting from the extensive
review and reassessment of tha process inrespect of
leage identification.

The Committee recagnises that lease accounting Is very
significant to Mears and is a key area for stakeholders o
fully understand.

The complateness of the lease ubligation Is identified as a key
audi area and EY has provided Turiher detail as 10 how this
matter was addressed duting its dudit work on page 105,

Determination of the
amount of the Group's
retirement benefit
obligations

At 31 December 2021, the Group reported a net retiremant
benefit surplus of £20.7m, being the difference between the
fair value of the scheme assets less the prasent value of the
benefits expecied o be pald to members of the schemes.
This assessment requires an assumption to be made in
respect of mortallty rates and future inflation rates which
will result in an increase in future benefits received by
members. This also requires an appropriate discount rate
10 calculate the present value of these fulure obligations for
tive future payments. Where the Group has a contractuai
right to recover the costs of making good any deficit
pension scheme, the fair vaiue of that asset has been
recognised and disclosed.

The Committee reviewad the key assumptions proposed by
managermnent, notably assumplions in respect of discount
rate, RPY, CP and fulyre salary increases, which are detalled
im note 28 to the consalidated financial statements,

Given the technical nature of this area, the Commitiee
placed refiance upon the work of AoN, which Is engaged
to support management in setting assumptions and
consolidating infarmation prepared by the respective
scheme actuaries in fespect of each of the defined benefit
pension schemes. The accounting for defined benafit
pension schemes i aiso identified as 8 key sudit area

and EY provdaes further detail as to how this matier was
addressed during its audit work on pege 106.

78
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§_i_gnmcant Issue

Read more as to how this key issue was addressed
In the financial statements

Assessing whether the
Group has the power
to contro! in respect of
a beneficial interestin
49% of the shares in a
company, Haydon
Mechanical and
Electrical LLC

An investor, regardless of thé nature of its involvement with
an ertity, is required to delermine whether it is a parent by
assessing whelher it controls an nvestee, An Investor
contrals an investee if and only if the invastor has power over
the investee. In assessing whether it has power, an investor
considers only substentive rights relating to an investee, Fora
right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical
ability to exercise that right.

The Group holds a beneficial interest in 49% of the shares in a
company, Haydon Mechanical and Electrical LLC ('Haydon
LLC'). registered in the UAE. Whiist the Group took active
steps to dispose of Haydon LLC in 2016, certain completion
conditions associated with the sales transaction have not
been met, and the beneficial Interest in Haydon LLC has as
such been retained by the Group. EY has identifled this as a
significant control deficiency.

Haydon LLC ceased trading during 2017 and reports a net
Kability position. The carrying value of the Group's investment
In this associate has previously been reduced to £nll, and the
Diractors do not believe that the Group has Incurred any legal
or constructive obligations on behalf of this associate.

The Commitiee reviewed and considerad the key judgements
by management. In assessing whether the Group has the
practical abllity 1o have power over the investee, the Directors
have considered severa operational, legs! and regutatory-
barriers which prevent Mears from exercising is rights.

These barriers included the absence of suitable individuals
willing to provide an executive management service and
resirictions placed uponthe trade licence.

The Directors have therefore taken the judgement that Mears
does not have the practical abibty to direct the activities of
Haydon LLC and as such does not meet the criteria for control.

The judgement of the Directors was supported by external
legal advice which confrmed the significant restrictions
preveniing the Group from exgecising its rights.

The commitiee took comfort from the additional work carmied
out by EY, and that they Independently reached the same
conchusion to that reached by the Executive Directors

and Committes.

Goodwill impalrment

AL 31 December 2021, the Group reported goodwill with

a carrying value of £118m. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, management ldentified two separately
Identifisble cash flows which are lermed as cash-generating
units {CGUs). The two CGUs identified are the continuing
Care activitles {referred ta as ‘Housing with Care’) and the
Group's other Housing activitles. Determining whether
goodwill is impaired requires an estimate of the value in use
of each of the C5Us ta which goodwill has been allocated.
The vaiue-in-use cakculation involves an estimate of the
future cash flows of the CGU using the current one-year
budget, exirapolated fof five years 10 December 2026,
requiring a medium-term growth assumption and a generai
terminal growth rate, and an assessment of an appropriate
discount rate to calculate present values, The Committee
took comfort from the fact that there was significant
headroom when reviewing any impéaiment in the prior year.

The key assumptions, and a discussian of how they are
established, as well asthe sensitivity analysis are described
In note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Ravenue Racognition

Revanue is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 ‘Revenue
from Contracts with Customers”. IFRS 15 provides a single,
principles-based, five-step model to be appiied to all sales
contracts. it is based on the transfer of controf of goods and
services to customers. The accounting policy within note 2
o the consclidated financlal statements sets out the
principat types of contracts and how the revenue is
recagnised in accardance with {FRS 15,

Determining future contract profitability requires estimates
of future revenues, costs to complete, stage of compietion

of certaln contracts and the recovery of work In progress,
mobiisation costs and contract assets. Each contract is
treated on its merits and subject to a reguler review of

the reverue and costs to complete that contract. In making
these assessments, there is 2 degree ofinherent unceriainty.
The Group utilises the appropriate expertise in determining
these eslimates and hes well-established internal controls

10 assess and review the expacted outcome.

The Audit Committee addressed this area of judgement
in the following ways:

-~ The Committee reviewed the key judgemenis report
prépared by management, which provided a detailed
explanation in respect of the valuation of unbiled
works and the recogrition of revenues,

-— The Committee took comfort from the contract
management system which is ¢entral in generating
the valuation of works (both billed and unbilled) and
the integrated process that follows to ensure an
accurate cut-off so that revenue is appropriately
matched to cost. EY carrled out substantive testing
of the amounts recoverable on contracts, adopting
a blend of risk-based and randam sampling
approaches to testing, and provided detailed
feedback to the Committee in this area,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

79

AJNYNEIAQD AUVHOLEOD 180d3Y J1DILYHLS

SININIALVLS TVIONYNIL

NOJLYWNOINI NIATOHINYHS

\

\

A\Y




Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
The primary focus of the Compliance
Committee during 2021 was ditested towaids
the following areas:

- Monitoring and raview of the Group's
policies in relation o health, safety and
environmantal (HSE) matiers.

= Review of HSE risks and risk assessments
on the Group risk regtster and mitigatian
actions and controls related therelo,
including sub-contractor controls and
related procurement.

-~ Providing an operatiana focal point ang
report far KPMG, the Group's independent
internal audior.

— Considering any other significant HSE
matters, including emerging risks and
unforeseen risks 8s they arose.

— Providing greater scrutiny on data security
and enhancing the fevel of information
availabie to the main Board.

The continuation of the pandemic ensured that
the fight against Covig-19 and the necessity to
keep our people and customers sate remained
one of the primary concarns of the Compliance
Committee throughout 2021, The ever-changing
enviranment mearnt there were challenges
across our entire range of operations, most
notably i asylum support and care services,
whilst the Group's gecision to take a very
caulious approach to the relaxation of control
measures inked 1o the return 1o ‘business as
ususf’ meant we were abie 10 quickfy respond to
the threat posed by the Omicron vaniant. ke all,
the Group performed excaptionaly well during
these challenging imes,

The Asylum Accommaedation and Support
Contraci was also a ey area of focus as its
operational challenges were impacied by the
unprecedented increase in the number of
ssylum saekers entering the country,
necessitating {urther reflance on hotel-based
accommogation, The Compliance Commintee
provided suppon and guidance to the relevant
teams, inked 10 the procurement, malntenance
and day-to-day running of the same and
implemented enhanced govermnance protocals
to ensure compliance with the Group's knternat
procedures and wider regulatory obligations.

The Compliance Commitiee also worked
dosely with tha team mobilising the Ministry

of Justice CAS2 contract, to ensure robust
QOvesnance policies and procedures were
embedded into the contract delivery. in this
regerd. the Group's knowiedge, expertise, and
experience denved fform managing the Asyluny
Accommodation and Support Contract was
exceptionally beneficial and was » key element
in the very successful deployment of services
during the latter pant of the year.

380

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board Is responsible for establishing the
Group's overall risk appetite and ensuring that
the Group has in place an adequaie system of
Intemal controls. However, in accordance with
the requirements of the Financial Reporting
Councivs Guidange on Risk Management,
Internal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting, the responsibiity of
monioring and reviewing the integrity and
effeciiveness of the Group's overall systems
of internal controls and risk management has
been gelegatad to the Commitiee.

Tha Commitiee also provides the Board with the
assurmNCe that the risk management and imemal
controls Systems, including strategic, financial,
operational, and compliance controls, are
sufficiently robust to mitigate the principal ang
emerging risks thel may IMPact the Comgany.

The system of inernal contsols Is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failyre
1o schieve businass cbiectives and can onty
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurnce
ageinst material misstaternant or loss. lkincludes
all controls including finencial, aperationat and
compliance controls and risk management
procedures. These incluce health and safety,
peaple, legal compliance, quaiity ¥ssurance,
Insurance, and security, and reputational,

social, ethical, and anvironmental risks.

The Group's principal risk repart captures and
assesses the principsl risks facing the Graup.
This tarms part of the Group's framework for
determining risk and risk appetite. This document
Is updated regularty and is consldered at both
Commitiee and Board level throughout the
year. Further details are included within the
Strategic Report on pages 46 to 54.

The intemal audit function camies out wark
across the Group, providing independent
BsSurance, advice, and Insight 1o help the
omanisation accompish s objectives by
bringing 4 systematic, discipined approach to
evalusting and Improving the effectiveness of
risk management, cantrof, 3nd governance
processes. in December 2021, the Audit and
Risk Commitiee agreed 1he FY 2 audit plan to
be undertaken by the internal audit feam.

The audit pian coverage is based on risk,
strategic priorities, and considerstion of the
strength of the cantrat environment. The intemat
audit function prepares audit reports and
ecommendatiaons following each audit, and
appropriate measwes ane then taken 1o ensure
that ail recommendetians are kmpleémented.
Significant issues, If ey, are raised at once.
There were no such Jssues In 2021,

The Board has reviewed these procedures and
considers them appropriate given the nature
of the Group's operations, The Committee s
pleased with the additional suppon provided
by KPMG.

The Board has sdopted a schema of
delegated authority, with defined financial
and other authorisation limits and setiing
procedures for approving capital and
Invesyment expenditure, The Board also
approves detailed annual budgets.

it subsequently reviews performance against
targets set docth in thesa plans and budgels,

Throughoul the year. the Group's principal
rigks have been ragularly reviewed by
management 10 provide assurance on the
robustness, Imegrity, and effectiveness of the
systems in place, inciuding those that coutd
threaten its business madel, operatians, future
performante, sohvency, and liquidity.

The Board also seeks io ensure that a sound
system of internal controis, basaed on the
Group's pokcies, slandards, and procedures,
is i place in all material associate and joint
arrengernent entities. Qur systems of (nfemal
<ontrols and risk management are designed
{o identfy. mitigate, and manage rather than
eliminate business risk and can anly ever
provide reassonable, and not absolute,
assyrance against material financial
missialement or fraud.

The system of imternal controls encampasses
the cukure, behaviaurs, organisation design,
policies. standsrds, procedures, and systems
that, taken together, faciltate its effective and
efficient operation. These internal controls
are pased on the ‘three fnes of defence’
principles as detailed on pages 46 and 47

of the Sirategic Report,

The Compary's risk-based internal audit
programme for 2021 was considered and
appraved by the Committee in December
2020 This programme was developed further
during the year to consider the Company's
principal risks and 16 identify where they
primarly occur in the business; through
discussions with the Committee and senior
managemen; by recognising changes within
ne Group and the exiernal environment; and
with consideration to prior audit coverage.

e spproviag the 2021 sudit programme, the
Commitiee considered the coverage of the
principal risics by the proposed audits. It was
agreed that primary focys for 2021 shauld be
on the following areas:
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RISK MANAGEMENT

— Refresh of principal risks, mitigating
actions, and assurance review

-~ Fraud Risk register facilitation

CORE CONTROLS
— Core controls spot checks
— Scheme of Delegatad Authariy

SPECIFIC RISK AREAS

— Management of key contracts

~— People management and HR processes

~— Legal and compliantce framework

— Branch spot visits including business
continuity and sub-contractor management

— T systems, controls, and security

There has been good sponsorship of Internal
audit froam the senior management team and I
is pleasing o observe the positive tone at the
top In terms of openness to discussion of
issues, agreement of Action plans and a
commitment to doing the right thing.

From the core controls work comgleted to date,
no high pricrity gaps were identified; howewver,
in a few areas there is a8 need 10 ensure that
processes are being foliowed and for control
activity to be formally documented and
evidenced. This is also important within the
wider regulatory context where there are
emerging requirements for public interest
entities to have a documented control
framework and in due course an articulated
Audit & Assurance Policy,

There Is a cullure across the Group of active
maonitoring by executive and senior
management. Our focus this year was on
management’s oversight of branches.
Intema| audits were carfed out on two key
coniracts and a further three branch audits
ware completed, and the themes Identified
during those audits witl be developed further.

The 2022 programme was considered and
approved by the Committee in December 2021
and perfarmance against this plan will be
reported in next year's Annual Repost.

The Company has In place internal control and
risk management systems in relation to the
Company's financlal reporting process and the
Group's process for the preparation of the
consofidated financial statements which are
produced by the Group finance function, which
is responsible for the review and compliation of
reports and financial results from each of the

operating subsidiaries in accordance with the
Group reporting procedures. The consolidated
financial statements are supported by detabed
working papers. The Audit Committee is
responsible for overseeing and monitaring
these processes, which are designed to ensure
that the Company complies with relevant
regulatory reporting and filing requirements.

As at the end of the period covered by this
report, the Audit Commitiee, with the
participation of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer, evalusated the
effectiveness of the design and cperation of
disclosure controls and procedures designed
to ensure that information required to be
disclosed In financial reports Is recorded,
processed, summarised, and reported within
speclfied time periods.

We have conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of aur risk management system
and Intemnal control systems In accordance with
the UK Corparate Governance Code. Part of this
raview Involves regular review of our financlal,
aperational and compliance controls, following
which we report back to the Board on our work
and findings as described above. This aliowed
us 1o provide positive assurance 1o the Board to
assist it in making the statements that our risk
management and intemal control systems are
effective, as required by the UK Corparate
Gowvernance Code.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditor engagement was
re-tendered in 2020, st which point EY was
appointed, replacing Grant Thornton UK LLP,
which had been appointed since 1996,

The Senior Statutory Auditor, Paul Maplesion,
is required to rotate after a maximum of five
years, the year ending December 2024,
belng his last possible finandial year.

The Commitiee expects that the next tender
date will be no later than 2030 |n accordance
with the current segulation that requires a
tender every 10 years.

Annually, the Commitiee reviews the extemal
auditor's audit plan and reviews and assesses
information provided by it confirming lts
Independence and objectivity within the
context of applicable reguiatory requirements
and professional standards.
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The Committee also reviews the auditor's
effectiveness, which involves assessment

of the auditor by the Committee and key
Executives; and confirmation that the auditor
meets minimumn standards of quallfication,
independence, expertise, effectiveness,

and communication. These assessments

are carried out prior ta the Committee
recommending to the Board that the external
auditor be proposed for reappolntment at
the Company's AGM.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Company has adopted a strict policy of
prohiblting the external auditor from carrying
out non-audit services, to safeguard audit
objectivity and independence. The Committee
Is responsibie for approval of all non-audit
services pravided by EY; however, this is in
exceptional crcumstances anly. In such an
exceptional evant, the Audit Committee would
approve such work only where the Company
would be disadvantaged by engaging an
alternative provider, for instance where EY
possesses a detailed knowledge of the
structure of the business or an understanding
of the markets within which the Group
operates. No non-audit services were
provided by EY durlng 2021.

J Clarke

Audit and Compliance
Committee Chairman
jm.clarke@mearsgroup.co.uk

31 March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee

This report sets
out the key matters
which were
addressed by the
Committee in 2021.

Meeting anendance

C Loughiin

J Unwin

JClarke

R irwin

K Murphy

G15|518]8

C Loughlin
Remuneration
Committee Chairman

32

Dear shareholders

tam pleased 1a preseat the Dkectors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended
31 December 2021,

This report is made up of three paris;

— This Annual Statement, where I'set out
details of the key decisions of the
Remuneration Committee and the business
context within which they were taken.

— An abridged version of the Direclor's
Remuneration Policy, which was approved
by shareholders in June 2020

- The Annual Report on Remuneration,
which sets out details of (i) remuneration
earned by Directors and the ink between
Company performance and pay in the year
ended 31 December 2021 and (i) how we
intend to implement the Directors’
Remuneralion Policy in 2022

There will be an advisory shareholder vote on
the Annual Statemant and the Annual Report
on Remuneration at the 2022 AGM,
Shergholders approved the current Directors’
Remuneration Policy at the 2020 AGM and this
is imended 10 apply for a three-year perlod up
to the 2023 AGM.

Business context

2021 was a very strong year for the Group.

We entered the year in a lockdown which
restricted our activities, but by the half year,

much of the business had returned to alimost
narmal operations and contractuat conditions.
Activity continued to build throughout the second
hak of the year and this resulted in higher work
volumes and @ more active bidding process.

As mentianed in the Chalrman's letter earlier
\nhis Annug! Report, ous 1esifience in
performance is down lo three main factors.
Qur staff have been exemplary during the year,
a continuatlon from 2020. They have
demonstrated extraordinary dedication and

a daar facus on service and delivering for

our customers. Our strength of customer
relationships has lad 1o effective Cooperative
watking between client and provider. Finally,
our IT platform has been integral 1© delivering
our high quality, responsive service.

This is reflected in our Ainancial results, with
revenue Kicressing by 9% to £878m, which is
veary close 1o pre~pandemic revenue in 2019,
Adjusted PBT increased 10 £25.6m and we
ended the year with 8 net cash balance of
£54.6m. Underlying cash conversion of over
100% in the last two years has, along with
strategic dispasals, ransformed the'Group's
{financial position and crested the cumrant
position of balance sheet strength which Mears
Is determined 1o retain into the future. In 2021
we rejnstated the dividend and the Board has
proposed a final dividend of 5.50 pence per
share, bringing the 10tal dividend for the year
lo 8.0 pence per share.

For the third successive yesr we have secured
our place in the Sunday Times Best Companies
list of lop 25 large companies to work for In the
UK, with our 2021 score higher than the
previgus two years, Our staff and therefore our
empioyea DIoposition s very impornant 1o us
and during the year, following teedback from
empioyees, wa have implemented the
foliowing initiatives:

— Improved holiday and sick pay for front line
operatives,

— Building the workforce of tomoiraw,
through Investing In apprentices,
supporting the Kickstart programme and
creating new entry level roles 1o drive
social mobillity,

- Introducing flexible benefits and enabling
a better balance belween home and
office working.

= Providing excellent communication and
support around Covid and maintaining the
highest standards of internal
communication more broadiy.

«= Increasing investment in staff, through
bespoke training such Bs our Emerge
development programme, for staff
looking 1o progress 1o senior
management positions,

— Weremain ane of the very few Listed
Companies with an Employee Director
an the Maln Board.,

-  Extemaly appointed Social and Diversity
Impact Board and accradited by the
Housing Diversity Network, Including
growing the number of women in
management positions and reducing the
gender pay gap. We will publish our first
‘ethnicity gap' report by the end of 2022,
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= Providing camprehensive mental heaith
and wellbeing support, especially given
the difficult situations many of our staff
face on a day-to-day basis.

INCENTIVE OUTCOMES FOR 2021
Annual bonus

As set out in the business context section
above, the Group continued to make good
progress against its key stratagic objectives,
focusing on core housing activities and
reducing indebtedness.

The 2021 annual bonus was based 40% on
Group profit before 1ax, 30% on average daily
net debt and 30% on strategic objectives
refating to cusiomers, employees and the
generation of social value, These targets were
set early in the year and were not adjusted at
any point theraafier, The achievements against
the targets were as follows:

— Profit before tax {30%)

— The Group delivered adjusted profit before
tex on il activities of £26.5m, which was
within the target range of £23. 1mto £28.1m.
This is assessed on all activities compising
a PBT of £25.6m on continuing activities,
additionat fair value of £1.1m from the sale of
Terraquest. and a sundry loss of £0.2min
respect of the discontinued Care activities

Average daily net debt [30%)

The Group reported a small datly net cash
balance, meaning the threshold and stretch
target of £64.4m and £43.9m of average
daly net debt respeciively was achieved

- Employea engagement, customer
satisfaction and soclal value
genersted (30%)

—  Our employee engagement criterion was
measured by reference 1o (nclusion within
The Sunday Times bast companies to work
for, which was achieved

— The customer satisfaction criterion was
assessed differently this year as a resuit
of the pandemic Impacting upen our
interaction with the client, Mears has
adopted alternative methods of working
since the onset of covid-19, with the
primary focus being on ensuring the
safety of our employees, customers, and
service-users. Uitimately, the accident
frequency rate which includes all measures
with regard our working practices and
provisions of delivering essentlal services
throughout the pandemic, it ls the most
relevant measure of success In 2021,

The Group is delighted ta report an
AFR of 0.19 (shead of target of 0.24).

«= The soclai value generated was In excess of
£3.000 per employee, which was sbove the
maximum stretch target of £2,794 which
required 20% growth on the prior year

Overall, the strong performance over the year
resulted In a formulaic bonus gutcome of 8B8%
of the maximurm, 67% of the banus will be paid
in cash, with the bakance deferred in shares for
three years.

The Remuneration Committee believes this
outcome is appropriate and fuly reflects the

strong financial and operating performance of the

Group during the year. As a reminder, prior {o
2021, the Remuneration Committee had applied
significant negative discretion on the formulaic
bonus outcomes for financial years 2018, 2019
and 2020. Such discretion was not deemed
necessary inrespect of 2021 performance.

LTIP outcome

There were no long-term incentive plan (LTIP}
awards capable of vesting for parformance
ending in 2021, The firs] awbrds to be granted
during the year under the LTIP adopted as part

of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy appraved

at the 2020 AGM were made in June 2021
and these wik veast in June 2024,

Update on 2020 annual bonus

As set out in last year's report, the annual
bonus for 2020 was scaled back to reflect

a number of faclors. The sesulting bonus
outcome was 46.6% of salary. In accordance
with the agreed Policy, one third of the bonus
was deferred in shares and the remainder,
which should have been paid in cash shority
after the 2020 year end, was withheld by the
Company. The Commitlee determined that this
withheld cash amount would be released at an
appropriate time in 2021, taking into account
business recovery and the impact en our
shareholders. Following the recovery of the
business, the cash element was released tc
the Executive Directorsin October 2021.

Mears-wile pay review

Al 3 time when unemployment is low and whene
competition for rescurces labour ks high, it has
never been more important for Mears to continue
its commitment to being a great piace to work for
our staff. Mears is committed 1o fine tuning our
employee brand proposition, emphasising more
clearly the benefits of working for Mears. We will
continue our progressive approach of enhancing
packages i enhance retention.

Given the significant cost of living increases
pressures being encouniered by our staff,

we were very focussed on directing as

much of the increase 1o the lowest paid.

The outcome of the 2022 pay review was a
4% Increase applied lo the first £40,000 of
basic pay for all our employees (except where
certain employees pay Is inked ta national

or local agreements). The weighted average
Increase in base salaries across the group

has been calculated as circa 3.4%. induding the

mandatory requirement 1o apply Statutory
Living Wage Increases which predominantly
relates to our Housing with Care activities.

APPLYING THE POLICY IN 2022

Base salaries

The Commiliee has agreed that the Executive
team will have a £1,600 increase, being n line
with the workforce, from 1 April 2022 who were
awarded a 4% pay Increase, but capped at
£1,600, The Commiltes intends to review base
salary positioning later in the year, with any
proposed increases disclosed in nextyear's
report and apptying from 1 Aprit 2023,
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Annual bonus 2022

Following on fram the above, the Committee
hag considered both the measures and targets
for 2022. We have decided that all measures
should remain the same for 2022 ag was the
case In 2021. Similarly, the Committee has
decided that the same welghtings applied to

—each performance 1arget-will remain-the same—

as the previous year, being profit before tax
(40%), average daily net cash/{debt] (30%).
customer satisfaction {10%), employee
engagement (10%)} and the generation of soclal
value (10%). The specific targets for each of
these measures have also been set {o reflect
the achievements in 2021. Yhe actual targets
for 2022 and performance outcomes will be
reportedin next year's report In 2023,

LTtp 2022

The second awards under the LTIP adopted
as part of ihe Directors’ Remuneration Policy
approved st the 2020 AGM will be made in
2022 at a level of 100% of salary to each of
the Executive Directors. The LTIP consists

of two measures, being EPS growth and total
shareholder return (TSR) measured relative to
the FTSE SmallCap (exciuding investment
trusts, fingncial services and natural resource
companies), The Committee will consider
return on capital employed (ROCE)
performance in assessing the outcome for the
EPS component and the Committee has the
ability to reduce the vesting outcome [f
performance |s inconsisient with the
performance of the business or individual
during the three-year performance perlod.

Pension

Pension contributions for the current Executive
Directors for 2021 will be 15% of salary.

This contribution level wil reduce from 15% of
salary to a level allgned with the workforce by
1 January 2023, The contributian [evet for any
new Executive Director hires will be aligned
with the warkforce Immediately on joining.

Conclusion

The last two years have been challenging for
many buslinesses. The Group has performed
well in the unforeseen circumstances and has
made strong progress in delhvering against its
sirategic priorities. The protection of our staff,
of our customers, and our shareholders and
other stakeholders, white re-shaping the
business, have been our priorities.

1 believe the Committee has put its mind tathe
matter of Executive Pay matters in a serlous and
thorough way and has been faithful wo the Palicy
that we consuited with our shareholders on in
preparation for its adoption this time last year.

| am happy to recelve feedback from the
Company's shareholders, Please get Intouch
with me direct, or via the Company Secretary,
Hen Westran.

C Loughlin

Remuneration Committee Chairman
I March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK ~ AT A GLANCE
The following SecUon sets out dur remuneration framawork, 8 summary of how our Policy was applied in 2021 in the comext of our business
performance, and kom page 95 delaiis of how the Committeg intends o implement the Policy in 2022,

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF REMUNERATION

The Committee believes i is iImportant that, for Executive Directors and senior management, a significant proportion of the remuneration package
should be performance related, and the performance conditions applying to incentive arrangements should supgoft the delivery of the Company's
strategy. The following table sets oul how the annual bonus scheme and LTIP reflect the Group's strategic priorities:

QOur strategy
l.'::ponl“ g Increasing quality szd Developing Continue
relationships leadership our business our paaple ta Innovate

How we have measured progress against these objectives

-~ Exceptionat health and safety performance, with the Group being - Continue (o unwind the Graup's Housing Development activities
awarged its 19th conseculive ROSPA Gold Awatd and retaining its with a gositive tmipact 1o net debt
place on RoSPA's Order of Merit, — Top 25 Sunday Times ‘Best Companies’

—  improvement in Group aperating profit maegins

How are our strategic objectives linked to our incentive plan

Annual bonus (capped at 100% of salary; 67% paid in cash, 33% deferred shares)

Adjusted Averige - Custamer Etployea Soclal value
operating profit dally net debt satisfaction engagement 40%)
“a%; (30%) ’ {10%; {10%)

LTIP {capped at 100% of salary with 3-year performance targets)

Tota) shareholder Earnings per
retum share
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TAKING ACCOUNT OF THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In implementing our Palicy during the course of 2021 and in planning for its iImplementalion in 2022, we have been careful to take full account ofthe
provisions of the Code and it will continue 1o be & key touchstone for the Committee. In summary, with regard (o iow we have sought to compty with
the six factors outlined in Provision 40 of the Code, we believe the following are worthy of particular note:

Clarity — the Policy Is well understood by our Directors and has been clearly articulated to shareholders and proxy voling agencies.

Simplicity — the remuneration structure is sirmpie and transparent and we have purposefully avoided any complex structures which have the
poteniial to deliver unintended outcomes.

Risk — our Policy and approach to target setting seek to discourage any inappropriate risk-taking. A balanced scorecard of financlat and
non-financiel ohjectives applies to the annual bonus scheme and the targets are appropriately stretching, to mitigate the risk of Inappropriate
actlons being taken. Malus and claw back provisions apply.

Predictability — executives' incentive anangements are subject to individual participation caps. An indlcaiion of the range of values in packages
i provided in the reward scenario charts on page 88, Deferred bonus and LTIP awards provide alignment with the share price and their values
will depend on share price at the time of vesting.

Proportionality — there Is a clear link between Individual awards, delivery of strategy and our long-term performance.

Alignment to culture — pay and policies cascade down the organisation and are fully aligned to Mears’ culture.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY — A SUMMARY

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting and is intended to apply for a period of
three years including the 2021 financlal year. An abrdged version of the Policy which sets out the key aspects is set out below (10 Include updated
charts illustrating the application of Remuneration Policy in 2021) and the full original Policy can be found in the 2019 Annual Report and on the
Comparny website.

REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE
The table below sets out the key elements of the Policy for Executive Directors:

Objective and Performance measures
link to strategy Qperation Maximum °Eﬂm""§ and assessment
Base salary Salarles will be efigibie for increases during the  The Commiittee is guided by Not applicable.
The purpose of the base three-year period that the Remuneration Palicy  the general increase for the
salary is to: operates. The Committee reviews base salaries broader employee population
annually with any change typicatty effective bt may decide to award a

— help recrult and retain from 1 April. tower increase for Executive

individuals of the Directors orindeed exceed

necessary calibre to The Committee will retain the discretion to this to recognise, for example,

execute the business increase an individual's satary where there an incregse in the scale, scope

strategy; is a significant difference between current or responsibility of the role
- reflect the individual's levels and a market competitive rate. and/for to take into account

experience, role and When determining base salaries and whether  relevant market movements,

contribution within the to increase levels the Committee will 1ake the

Group; and fallowing into consideration:
- ensure fais reward for

‘doing the job'. wa the performance of the individual Executive

Director;

- theindividual Executive Director's
experience and responsibilities;

= theimpact on fixed costs of any increase;

- pay and conditions throughout the
Group; and

- the economic enwvironment.

When setling the salary levels for the Executive
Directors, in addition to the factors summarised
above, salary levels paid by companies of a
simiar size and complexity to Mears are laken
Into account,
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Objective and tink to Performance measures
strategy Operation Maximum opportunity and sssessment
Pension The Company may contribute directly into an The curent Executive Mot applicable.

To provide a framework (O occupational pension scheme (an Executive Directors receive 8 contribution

save Ipr retiremeni that is Direcior's persons) pension) or pay b saery of up 10 15% of salary.

appropriately competitive, supplement in ieu of pension. If apprapriate,

a salary sacrifice afrangement can apply.
Only the hase salary is pensionable.

Any new Executive Director
appoiniments to the Board
after $January 2020 will
receive a pension contribution
(in parcentage of salary terms)
in line with the prevalling
cantribution for the majority of
the Mears worklorce. 2020 wili

receive a pension contribution

{in percentage of salary terms)

in ine with 1he prevaiiing

contrbution for the majority of

1he Mears workforce.
Annual bonus Bonus measuras and largets are reviewed Maximum bonus potential ks Bonus perfomance measures
To reward and Incentivise the  annuaily and any payout is determined by the  capped a1 100% of salary for are set annually and will be
achievement of annual targets  Committee after the end of the financial year.  Exetulive Directors. predominantly based on
linked to the dejivery of the based on performance against largets set for challenging financial targets set
Commpany’s sirategic priorities  the ane-yedar financial period. in fine with the Group's strategic
for the yeat. privtities and tailored to each

86

Up ta 67% of arty bonus that becomes payable
Is pald In cash with the remainder deferred into
shares for three years.

Deferrad bonus shate awards typically vest
subject (o continued employment,

lndividuais may be able to recetve a dividend
eguivalent payment on deferred bonus shares at
the tireve of vasting equal to the vaise of
dividends which wouk] have accrued during the
vasting period. The dividend eguivalent payment
may assume the reinvestment of gividends on a
cumulative basis.

In the event that there was (i} a matavial
misstatement of the Campany's results; (i) &
miscaiculation or an assessment of any
performance conditions that was based on
incorfect information; (i) misconguct on behall
of an individual: (W} the occurrence of an
insolvency or adminislration event; fv)
reputational damage: or [vi) serfous health and
safety events; malus and/or clawback provisions
may apply for three years from the date of
payment of any bonus or the grant of any
deferred bonus share award,

ledividusat role as appropriate; for
exxample, targets relsting to
adjusted eamings. Fos B minority of
tha banus, strategic or cperational
ohjectives may operate.

The Commitiee has the discretian
to vary the perforrnance measuies
used from year to year depending
on the sirategic priorities al the
stari of each yeer. Details of the
performance measures for the
retevant financial year wil be
provided i the Annual Report on
Remuneration and aciual largets
will be disclosed retrospectivety.

For financial targets, and whete
praciicable In respect of cperational
or strategic targets, bonus startsto
sccrue once the threshokd tanget is
met {up 1o 20% payabls) rising on a
graguated scale to 100% for siretch
petformance.

The Commitiee may adjust bonus
outcomes. based on the
application of the bonus formula
sel at the slar of the relevant year,
il fl considers the quantum to be
mconsistent with the performance
of the Company, business or
Individual during the year. For the
avoidance of doubt this can be to
a0 and bonuses may not exceed
the s i levels detaled
above. Any Use of such discretion
would be detalled in the Annual
Repaort an Remunerstion.
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Objective and link to
ltrategLy

Operation

Maximum oppartunity

Parformance measures
and assessment

Benefits

To provide benefits that are
valued by the recipient and are
appropriately competitive.

The Executive Directors may recelve benefils
including a Company-provided car or an
allowance in liey, fife assurance and private
medical Insurance. Other additional benefits

may be provided where appropriate. Benefits in

kind are not pensionable.

Benefit values vary year on
year depending on premiums
and the maximum potential
value Is the cost of these

pravisions.

Not applicable.

Long-term incentive plan

its purpose Is 10 incentivise
and reward the dellvery of
sirategic priorities and
susiained performance over
the longer term.

To provide greater gignment
with shareholders’ Interests.

The LTIP provides for awards of free shares (Le.
either conditional shares or nil or nominat cost
opiions) normally on an annual basis which are
eligible to vest after three years subject to
continued service and the achievement of
challenging performance conditions. ltis

anticipated that the first award under this scheme

for curvent Directors will be made in 2021,

Vested awards are subject 1o 8 two-year
pust-vesting halding period. In exceptional
circumsiances such as due to regulatory or
legal reasons, vested awards may also be
settted in cash.

Diideng equivalent paymenis may be
made on vested LTIP awards and may

assume the relnvestment of dividends,
on a cumulative basis.

In the event that there was (i) a material
misstatement of the Company's results; {i) a
miscalculation or an assessment of any
performance conditions based on incotrect
informatlion; {lii} misconduct on behalf of an
individual; {iv) the occurrence of an insolency

or administration event; {v} repulational damage;

or (vl) serlous health and safety events, malus

and/or clawback provisions may apply for three
years fram an award becoming ellgible to vest.

In any financial yeal,
performance shares with a face
value of up to 100% of salary (or
150% of salary on an exceptional
basts, such as in recruiiment
cases) may be granted to an
Executive Director.

The actuat grant level will take
Inte account the share price
performance of the Group and
the number of awards made in
previous years.

The actual grant level will take
Into account the share price
performance of the Group and
the number of awards made in
previous years.

The Committee may set such
performance conditions on
LTIP awards as it considers
appropriate reflecting the
medium-term priorities of the
Group. The choite 0f measures
and their welightings will be
determined prior to each grant.

Up to 25% of ewards will vest for
threshold performance with fulf
vesting taking place for equaliing,
of axceeding, the maximum
performance targets. No awards
vest for performance below
thrashold. A gradusted vesting
scale operates between threshold
and maximum performance levels.

The Committee may adjust LTIP
vesting outcomes, based on the
result of testing the performance
condition, if it considers the
quanturm to be inconsistent with
the performance of the Company,
business or individual during the
three-year performanca pericd.
For the avoldanca of doubt this
can be to zera. Any use of such
discretion would be detalled In the
Annual Report on Remuneration.

All-employee share plans
Encourages employees (o own
shares in order to Increase
alignment over the longer term.

All employees are eligible to participate in the

Company's Share Incentive Plan (SIP} and share

save plan (Save As You Earn),

Under the terms of the share save plan. all
employees can apply for three or five-year

optians to acquire the Company's shares priced

at a discount of up o 20%.

Under the terms of the SIP, the Company

can choose to offer free shares, partnership
shares, maiching shares (up o two for one on
any partnesship shares purchased) and/or
dividend shares.

In addition, the Company operates a
discretionary unapproved share plan and
a Company Share Optlon Plan (CSOP).
No awards to Executive Directors are
proposed under these plans.

Under the SIP, shate save plan
and CSOP, the maximum
amount is equal to the HMRC
limits set from time to time,

Not gpplicable.
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Carparate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

ILLUSTRATIONS OF APPLICATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY

The Campany's Remuneration Policy results in a significant prapontion of remuneration received by Executive Directors Deing dependent on
Company performance. The composkion and tolal value of the Executive Directors' remuneration packages for minimum, an-target and maximum
performance scenarias, along with @8 maximum perfomance scenario with a share price growth assumption included, are set out In the graph below.

ASSUMPTIONS:

= Minimum performance inckides only fixed pay (base salary for 2022, the value of 2021 banefits as per the single figure of remuneration 18ble and
a 15% salary pension contribulion).

w- On-arget performance includes fixed pey and assumes an annual bonus payoul of 50% of maximum and 25% vesting of 4 100% of salary grant of

LTIP awards.

Maximum pesformance Includes fixed pay and assumes full bonus and 100% LTIP vasting.

Maximum performance with share price growth as per maximum but with 50% share price growth assumed on LTIP awards.
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CHAIR AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES
The Board as 8 wholg Is responsible for setting the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors, other than the Chalr, whose remuneration is
determined by the Committee and recommended to the Board.

The table below sets out the key elements of the Policy for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors.

Objective and link to strategy  Operation

To provide compensation that
attracts individuals with appropriate
knowledge and experience.

Fee levels are reviewed periodically
taking Into account independent
advice and the time commitment

required of Non-Executive Directors.

The fees paid to the Chair and the
fees of the other Non-Executive
Directors &im to be competitive with
other listed companies which the
Committee (in the case of the
Chalrman) and the Board (in respect
of the Non-Exetutive Directors)
conslder to be of equivalent size
and complexity.

Non-Executive Directors receive &
base fee and additional responsibility
fees for undertaking the role of Senicr
Independen Director or for
membership andfr chalrmanship of
certain Committees,

In exceptional drcumstances, If

there is a lempovrary yet material
increase In the time commitment for
Non-Executive Directors, the Board
may pay exira fees on a pro-rata
basis to recognise the additional
workload involved,

The Chair receives a single fee andg
does not receive any additional fees
for membership and/or chalmanship
of Committees.

Non-Executive Directors also
recelve retmbursement of
reasonable expenses {and any tax
therecn) incurred through
ungertaking their duties and/or
Comparny business.

Performance measures

Maximum cpportunity and assessment

Any Increase in Non-Executive Non-Executive Director fees
Director base fees or additional are not performance related,
responsibility fees may be above the Non-Executive Directors do
level awarded to other employees, notreceive any variable
given that they may only be remunerption element.
reviewed periodically and may need .

to reflect any changes to time

commitments or responsibilities.

Tha Company will pay reasonable

expenses incurred by Non-

Executive Directors.

Current fee levels are set out in

the Statement of Implementation

on page 95.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
This section of the Directors' Remuneration Report contains details of how the Company's Directors’ Remuneration Policy was implemented during
the financial year ended 3t Decamber 2021 and how it will be implemented for the ollowing year,

SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION {AUDITED|

EXECUTIVE DIRECTGRS

The remuneration of Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures is set out baiow. Figures provided
have been calculated in accordance wath the regulations.

Fixed
Executive Director Taxuble and bm:m Annusl Long-term  Variable pay Towal
{£000) Yea Selery’ benciits' Pension® sub-total borua® _ Incentives sub-lolat  remwinération
O J Mites 202 400 25 o0 485 353 - 353 833
2020 393 26 59 477 123 - 123 600
2021 267 bl 40 ki 235 - 235 553
A M Smith 2020 262 ) 9 30 82 - 83 392
2021 218 1 33 262 193 - 193 455
Along. 2020 24 15 32 261 67 - 67 328

1 Benefits ncluded a Company-provided car of an allowsnce in ey, e sssurance and private medica! Insurance.
2 Execylive Directors ieceived a cash allgwanca ln keu of pension,
3 Full delails of the annual boNus SUICOMES Bnd S8 OuL i I section Delow.

ADDITIONAL DETAILS IN RESPECT OF SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION TABLE {AUDSTED)
The periormance measures and targets for the annual bonus for the year ended 31 December 2021 ace detailed below.

The annua) bonus measuses chosen for 2021 were dependent upon achievement of B number of targets detalled below; 70% of the annual bonus was
finked! to financial measures with the remaining 30% based on strategic objectives relating to customer satisfaction, empioyee engagement and monetary
social value generated, The actual performance achieved in respect of the annual bonus for 2021 1S alse summarised below against each larget.

Threshold Maximum

of % of Threshold Actugd
g imum Imiim target Maximum  performance oy Bonus cutcome
Messuse (% of satary) payatie) payatrie) for 2021 for 2021 2021 (%ol salary)
Adijusted Group operating prof® 40% 20% 100% £23.:m £23Im £26.5m 30%
Average dally nel debi® 30% 20% 100% £64.4m £43.9m 120.5m) 30%
Achieved,
Customer satisfaction™ 10% 20% 00% n's n/a seq below 0%
Employee engagement; Sunday Times, Bast
Big Companles score {Jenualy 2022)M 10% 20% 100% $59.2 675 571 8%
Creation of social vaiue™ 10% 20% 100% £2,540 £2794 £2,800 10%

i Adlusted Group prodit before tax Is s1ated before the amortisation of acquisition inlanGibiles ang non-undedying Rems. [t Is 25ses50d on 8l activities comnpdsing a PET of
£225 6m on continuing activities, additional fair value of £1.fm from (e sake of Taraguest during 20, and 8 ioss of £0.2m In respect of the discontinued Care activities.

i} Average dally nel oepiis dertved from 365-0ay sverage bank stalement betence. The oulcome for the year was a positive cash average dally cath position.

) The Customer satisfaction crilerion was assessed differently this yeas 8s a result of the pandemic impacting uypon our iInmraction wilh the client, Mears has adopted
ahernathve methods of working since the onset of covid-19, with the primary 1OCUS Deing 0n enswring the safelty of CuF eMployess, CUStomers, Bnd Service-users.
Littimately, the accident frequency rate whichi Includes all measuces with /egard our warking practices and provisions of delvering essential sendces throughou! the
pandemic, it Is the mest retevant measure of success in 2021, The Grawp reported an AFR of 0.19 shead of iaget of 0.24)

W The employee engagemert measune is set againgt the overall score swarded [0 the Group by the Sunday Times in the Best Companies awards.

&) Socisl vawe 1s independently assessed JtHising a soclal vaiue measurement tool and is expressed a3 8n amaunt generated per empioyee.

The annua! bonus Mmechanism resulted in an aggregate bonus entitfement across the three Exectutive Directars of £767,000 which is included within

the singia tatal figure of remuneration. Two-thirds of this emitiement |s paid in cash and one-third of the bonus entitlement will be deferted in shares
for & perlod of three years.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS® SINGLE FIGURE
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures is shown below. Figures provided

have been calculated in accordance with the regulatians.

Variable

Chairman and Non-Executive Solary/ Taxable Fixed pay Anmal Long-term pay Total
Director {£'000) Year fees*  benelits Pension  sub-total bonus incentives sub-totsl  remunaeration
K Murphy 2021 160 — — 160 - - - 160
K Murphy 2020 147 - - 147 - - — 147
J Unwin 2021 63 = - 63 — - - 63
J Unwin 2020 55 — — 55 - — - 55
J Clarke 2021 68 - - 68 — - - 68
J Clorke 2020 52 - - 52 - - - 52
C Loughlin 2021 70 - - 70 = - - 70
C Loughlin 2020 56 - — 56 - - - 56
C Gibbant® 2021 56 — - 56 — - - S6
C Glbbard® 2020 23 - — 23 - - - 23
G Davies' 2021 38 - - 38 - - - 38
G Davies’ 2020 69 - - 69 — - - 69
JBurt! 202 - - - - — - - -
JBurt 2020 18 - - 18 - - - L]
A Hiderty? 2021 — — - - — - - -
A Hillerby? 2020 1 — — 1 —_ — —

R Irwie’ 2021 43 - - 43 - - - 43
R Irwiny! 2020 78 - - 78 - - - 78
C Glbbard? 2021 56 - - 56 - - - 56
C Gibbard® 2020 23 - - 23 - — — 23

Variations betwaen the figures above and the approved fee rates refate (o the parl-yesr impact for changes in the Committee membership.

1 JBunsieppad down from the Boand in March 2020.

2 AHTierby stepped down from the Board in February 2020,
3 Rirwin and G Davies stepped down from the Board in June 2021, .
4 To reflect the challenges the busingss encountered during the Covid-19 lockdown, the Non-Executive Directors elected to take a 20% reduction in fees between

Aprll and Octobar 2020.

SHARE AWARDS MADE DURING THE YEAR

The foflowing LTIP awards were granted on 10 June 2021

Face value Number Thresholdvesting  Maximum vesting Endof
Director as % of salary Face vaiue' ofsharas {% of face value} {%of face value)  performance gariod
D J Mies 100% £402,444 213,876 25% 100% 3 March 2023
AC M Smith 100% £268,332 142,603 25% 100% 31 March 2023
AlLong 100% £219544 16,675 25% 100% 31March 2023

1 The face valye of the awards is based on a share price of £188.2p, being the 3-day average share price directly prior to the grant of the award.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The awards have been granted in the form of nominal cost options and will normally become exercisabie on 10 June 2024. Awards may become
exercisable subject to the achievement of relative TSR (50%) and EPS (SO%) performance conditions

Description igivting Caiculath Targets
Total shareholder  50% Relative TSR vessus the constituents of the FTSE SmaiCap Threshold: Median (Z5% vests)
retum (excluding invesiment trusis, finandal services and natural resources Maximum: Upper Quadtile (100% vests)

companies) measured over a thiee-year performance period.

Earnings 50% Adjusted EPS target relating 16 the 2023 finencial year. None of this part - Thireshald: 20 pence {25% wesls)
per share of the award will vest if 2023 EPS Is less than 20 pence; 25% shall vest  Maximum: 25 pence (100% vests)
for EPS of 20 pence, incressing to lull vesting for 25 pence or higher, The
Carmmittee will consider ROCE perfarmance over the performance
period and may reduce the EPS vesting outcome i the Committee is not
satisfiad that the level of EPS vesting is justified on account of the
Group's ROCE over the performance pericd.

In addition, the Committee retains discretion to reduce the overall LTIP vesting level if it considers that the underlying business performance of
the Company does not justify vasting [taking imo consideration a ranga of factors, ncluding, for example, ROCE perfermance). if the Commitige Is
ol satisied that the formulaic vesting culcome is alipne o with undenying Group performance then it mey reduce [poteniially 1o 2erc) the vesting
oulcome. Awards granted to Execulive Directors are additionally subject 10 8 two-year nolding period following the vesting date.

Awards granted to Executive Directors are addiionally subject lo a two-year holding pedod lollowing the vesting date.

The following deferred banus share awards were granled during the year In respect of honus earned lor performance In the 2020 financial year:

Director Date of gramt Number of deferred shares granted® Vesting date

D JMiles 10 June 2021 32,245 10 June 2024
A C M Smith 10 June 20 21499 10 June 2024
Along 10 June 2024 17,590 10 June 2024

1 The lace value of the swaics IS based on » share price of 188.2p, belng the 3-day Bverage share price directly prior 1o the grant of the award.
Awards were granted in the form of nomingl ¢ost options,

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' SHAREMOLDING AND SHARE INTERESTS {AUDITED)
Direclors’ share interests as al 31 December 2021 are sat out helow:

Number of Optipns Options subject Unvested Total

beneficiatly vested but ot fo pesformance  deferred bonus Interests haidt
Director owned shares exarchied conditions awwrds at yror end Shwrshoking guldeline met?
D JMiles 336789 - 20,976 32,245 582,850 T73% of salary, guideline not met
A C M Smith 199333 - 42603 21498 363,435 155% of salary, guidedine not met
Along 92,957 — 16,675 17590 1227222 55% of salary, guideling not met

There were no thangaes to the holdings set out above from the period 31 December 202110 date of $ign oft.
No Non-Executive Director hilds an interest In shares.
The current Executive Direciors each have a shareholding requirement of 400% of salary. As a1 31 December 2021, based on beneficially owned

shargs and deferred bonus awards (On a nel of 1ax basis), D J Miles, A C M Smith and A Long had shareholdings equal 1o 1T73%, 155% and 95% of their
base safaries [based on a share price of £1.88),
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SHAREHOLDER DILUTION
In accordance with the Investment Association's guidelines, the Company can issue a maximum of 10% of Its Issued share capital in a rolling 10-year
period lo employees under all its share plans. In addition, of this 10% the Company can issue 5% to satisfy awards under discretionary or Executive

plans. The Company operates all its share plans within these guidelines.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE {UNAUDITED)
The graph below shows the Group's performance, measured by TSR, compared with lhe constituents of the FTSE All-Shase index and the FTSE
All-Share Suppoit Services Index over the past 10 years. The Company is & constituent of both indices and these peer groups are considered to
provida relevant comparisons,

The table below shows the Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration package over the past 10 years, together with incentive payout/vesting as

compared to the maximum opportunity.

Single figure Long-term incentlve vesting {as
of total remunaration Bonus payout (a8 % maximum opportunity)

Year Name (£'000) % maximum opportunity}
202 D J Miles 838 88% -
2020 D J Miles 600 47% -
2019 D J miles 469 - -
2018 D J Miles 455 - -
2007 D J Miles 443 - -
206 0 J Miles 436 - -
2015 D J Miles 436 - 20%
204 D J Miles 412 - 35%
2013 D J Miles B25 - 100%
2012 D ) Miles 409 -~ -
201 D J Mites 384 - -
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS COMPARED WITH OTHER EMPLOYEES (UNAUDITED)
The lable below compares the percentage change in the remuneration of the Directors with that of the wider employee population for the iast
two years.

Selaryffee Benelits & Tthves

2024 2020 2024 2020 202t 2020
D J Mies 20% 20% 4% - 187% ~
A C M Smith 2.0% 20% 2% - 87% -
AlLong 2.0% 20% 27% - 187% -
K Murghy - ~ - - - -
G Davies’ i - - — - - —
J Unwin - - - - - -
R ewin? - - - - - -
C Loughiin - - - - - -
J Clarke - - - - — _
C Gibhard? 2.0% 2.0% — - - _
Al employges’ salaries 2.0% 2.0% - - - -

-

S Davies, R irwin siepped down from the Board in_June 201, Percentage change Cakulation inciudes port-year remuneration in 2024

2 Rirwin stepped down from the Board on in June 2021, Percentage change cakulation lncludes part-yesr remunergtion in 2021,

3 Percentage changs In Non-Executive Diractor fees is adjusted to exclude ive volumiary eleciion in 2020 1o lake & 20% recctian In feet between Aol and
Cctober 2020 ta reflect ine challenges faced by the business from Cavid-19, The perCenlage change reflecls any chenge In enllilgment as compered 1o the
BChusl ramunaraton received.

CEQ TO EMPLOYEE PAY RATIO {UNAUDIYTED)
The table below sets aut the ratky batween the toigl pay of the CEC and the iotal pay of the employees at the 25th, S0th {rmedian) and 75th
percentiles of the workforce.

Year Method 25th percertile Medlan F5th percantile
2021 B 297 278 22)
2020 8 231 211 hi= )

The 25ih, S01h ang 75th percentile ranked individuals have been identified using the gendes pay gap survey 0ata for 2020, L.e. as allowed for
under method B of the UK reporting requirements. This was deemed Lo be the most regsonable and practical approach to identifying the relevant
Indivicuals for the purposes of this disclosure. The day by referente to which the 25th, S0th ang 75th percentile employees were determined
was 22 March 2022, The CEQ pay Tigure is the otal refuneration figure as set out in the single figure table on page 90 and equivalent figures
{on & full-time equivalent basis) have been cakulated for the retevant 25th, S0th and 75th percentile employees. The Remuneration Committee

is comfartable that the resuling calcuations are representative of pay levels atthe respecilve quartiles.

The lota'l pay and benefits figures used to cakiylate the ratios for each of the 25ih percentile, median and 75th percentile employees are £28,244,
£30,i46 and £37.870 raspactively. The salary element for each of these figures sre £27.616, £29.379 and £35,733 respectively.

RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF SPEND ON PAY (UNAUDITED)
The table below sets out the relative impodiance of spend on pay in the inanclal year and previous financial year compared with gther disbursements
frem prafit

Cisbursemants
Disbursements from profit in
frot grofitin previous
fi lat yeat f iat yuar
2024 020 L]
Significant distributions £000 £000 changs
Totat Directors' pay 2M3 199 8%
Profit disributed by way of dividend*” 8,875 -
Qperating profit before non-underying items (continving activities) 33,686 6,585 511%

*  Profit distributed by wiy of dividend inchides proposed final dividend of 5.50p o share.
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Following the uncertainty surrcunding Covid-19, the Board proposed that no dividend be paid in respect of the 2020 financial year. An interim
dividend in respect of 20210f 2.50p was paid to shareholders and the Cirectors recommend 8 final divider«t of 5.50p per share.

DETAILS OF SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Director Date of contract/letter of appointment Notios period by Company or Directos
Exacutive

D JMiles June 2008 Twelve months
A CM Smith June 2008 Twelve mornths
A Long August 2009 Twele months
Chalrman/Non-Exvoutive

K Muwphy January 2019 Six months
G Davies October 2015 Six months
JUnwin January 2016 Six months
R brwin - February 2017 Six months
J Clarke Juty 2019 Six months
C Loughiin September 2019 Six months
C Gibbard September 2020 Three months

PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS AND PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE (AUDITEDR)
There were no payments for loss of office or to past Directors during the year,

STATEMENT OF IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN THE 2022 FINANCIAL YEAR
Executive Directors

Base salary
The salary entiilements for the forihcoming year fwhich effective from 1 Aprll of each year, and for the following 12-months) are set out below:

2022 2021 %
Executiva Director E £ change
D JMiles 404,044 402,944 04%
A CM Smth 269.932 268,332 06%
Along 221144 219,544 07%

The salary Increase for 2022 Is effective from { April 2022 and matches the general workiorce increase of 4% applied on 1 Aprl) 2022, but capped st
sn increase of £1,600 for any single individual,

Pension

Details of pension contributions for the year ended 31 Decembier 2021 are set out below:

Executive Dirgetor Penslon
D I Mies 15%
A CM Smith 15%
Along 15%

The current Executive Directars’ penston contribution rates will be reduced to the majority workforce rate of circa 6% of base salary from 1 January
2023. New Directors appointed ta the Board will have a contribution no higher than the workforce rate on joining.

Annual bonus 2022

The maximum bonus potantial will be 100% of salary and will be dependent upen the following performance measures:

— Profit before tax (40%)

— Net debt (30%)

— Stratagic objectives (30%) relating to customer satisfaction (10%), employee engagement (10%) and meonetary social value generated (10%)

These strategic objectives, which will be bullt sraund the Group's strateqy for customer success and supparted by cur independentty chaired
Customer Scrutiny Board, reflect the Group's commitment to serving our clients and customers; to further developing our social value offer to add
value in the comrmunities we serve: and to securing high levels of positive employee engagement through net promoter scores and validation by
external accreditation.

In addition, health and safety will apply as a discretionary underpin and, before any bonus bacomes payable, the Committee will consider health and
safety performance over the year and will have the power to reduce the bonus outcome if standards are below expeciations.

Any bonus payable will be delivered in a mix of cash {67%) and deferred share awards {33%) which will vest after three years from grant.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

LTIP for 2022
The second LTIP award under the new plén adopted as part of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy at the 2020 AGM will be made in 2022.
itis Intended that awards will be made a1 100% of salary to each of the Executive Direclors. The measures and targels will be as follows:

Dascription ing  Calculati Targets

Total shareholder return 50% Relative TSR target agalnst the constituents of the FTSE Threshold: Median [25% vests)
SmsliCap excuding investment trusts, financial services  Maximum: Uppes Quanile (100% vests)
and nalural resources compankes) measurid over p

three-year performance period.
Eamings per share 50% Adjusted EPS target redating to the 2024 financial yearie.  Threshold: 21 pence {25% vests)
the thisd year of the three-year performance period. Meximurm: 24 pence (100% vests}

The Committee will cansider ROCE perfofmance over the
performance period and may reduce the EPS vesting
outcome if the Committee is not satisfied that the level of
EPS vesting Is justified on sccount of the Group's ROCE
over the parformance period.

The Remunesation Committee befieves the use of TSR and EPS provides an appropriate balance between focusing on share price recaovery and
delivering financial retumns.

Vesting wil be on a pro-rata basis betwern he threshold and maximum vestng figures. In addition, the Committes retains discretion 1o reduce the
overall LTIP vesting level if it considers that the underlying business perfarmance of the Company does not justity vesting (taking into consideration
atange of factors, including, for example, ROCE performance). f the Committee is not satisiled that the formulalc vesting outcomae is aligned with
underlying Group performance then it may reduce (poienially 1o 2ero) the vesting oulcome,

Any shares which vest from this award will e Subject to & two-year post-vesting holding pericd.

Non-Executive Diractors
The foliowing tabla sets out the fee rates for the Nan-Executive Directors [which effective from 1 Aprll of each year, and for the following 12-momhsy,

2022 2021 cu-g:
Chairman fee 161,600 160,000 %
Base fee 51.600 50.000 32%
Committee Chawman fes 15000 15000 —
Committee membership fee 5,000 5,000 -

The safary increase for 2022 5 effective from 1 April 2022 and maches the general workforce Increase of 4% applied on t Aprif 2022, byt capped
at an increase of £1,60Q for any singte individual,

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE AND ACTIVITIES

The Commitiee determines the total individual remuneration packages of each Executive Director of the Group and certain giher seniof employees
{and any exit terms) and recornmends to the Board the framewark and brogd policies of the Group n refation 10 Senior Executive reminesation.
The Committee determines the targets for all of the Group's performance related remureration and exercises the Board's powers in retation to all
of the Group's share and incentive plans. The terms of reference of the Commitiee are available on the Company’s websile.

There is @ formal and transparent procediice for developing palicy on Executive ramunevation and for determining the remuneration of iIndividual Directors.
The Remuneration Committes is responsible for:
— determining and agreeing with the Board the broad Remuneration Policy lor:
— the Chairman, the Executive Directors and seniof managament; and
— the Executive DireCiars’ remuneration and cther benefits ang terms of employment, Inchuding performance related bonuses and share
opticns. and
— Bpproving the service agreemants of each Executive Director, including termination asrangerments.

Na Director is invadved in determining hisfher own remuneration.
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During the year the Commitiee addressed the following main topics;

=~ Undertook a tomprehensive review of Executive Directars’ remuneration which culminated in the preparation of a revised Remuneration Policy
which was put to shareholders for approval at the 2020 AGM.

— Reviewed the pension contributions of the Executive Directors to align the contributions 1o the workforce levet by 1 January 2023,

- Sought the views of our major shareholders and the maln voting agencies as part of a comprehansive investor consultation exercise to Inform
the design process for the revised Policy which was approved at the 2021 AGM.,

— Reviewed guidance from investor bodies and institutional shareholders.

— Assessed whether our remuneration framework is appropriately aligned with our culture and values, and motivates our leaders to achleve the
Group's strategic objectives.

— Reviewed ang spproved the remuneration packages for nur curment Executive Directors,

~— Fin2hsed the annual bonus payments for the 2020 financial year o the Executive Directors {which included the exercise of negative discretion
to reduce the farmulaic outcome from B6% of maximurm o 46% and the annual bonus plan for the 2021 finandal year.

COMPOSITION OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The members of the Committee during the year were Chris Loughlin (Chair), Julia Unwin, im Clarke and Kieran Murphy. Roy Irwin stepped down
from the Board and the Committee In Juna 2021,

SUPPORT TO THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

By invitation of the Committee, meetings are also attended by the Company Secretary (who acts as secretary ta the Committee} and the HR Director,
who are consulted on matters discussed by the Committae, unless those matters relate to their own remuneration, The Committee Is authorised to
take such internal and external advice as it considers approptiste in connection with camying out its duties, ineluding the appointment of its own
external remuneration advisers. During the year, the Committee was assisted in its work by FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP. FIT was appainted

in 2019 following & tender pracess and has pravided advice in 2021 in relation to general remuneration matters and the review of the Remuneration
Palicy. Fees paidto FIT in relation to advice 1o the Committee in 2021 were £44,308 (excluding VAT). HT did not provide any other services to the
Company. FIT Is 8 member of the Remuneration Consuitants Group and, as such, voluntarily operates under the Code of Conduct in relation to
executive remuneration consulting in the UK. The Committee Is satisfied that the advice it received from FIT is objective and independent.

STATEMENT OF VOTING AT GENERAL MEETING
The table belaw shows the voting outcome In respect of the remuneration related resolutions at the 2021 AGM.

ftem Votes for % Votss against % Voles withheid
To approve the Remuneration Policy 70850552 77% 21,665,055 23% 1,788,687

The significant vote against the Annual Report on Remuneration at the 2021 AGM was primarlly as a result of the dissatisfaction with the performance
ofthe Company - at that time ~ of a small number of significant shareholders. The Remuneration Committee engaged in extensive consuliation with
sharehalders over the application of the Remuneratian Folicy during the year and refined the application of that Pokicy In iine with the feedback
received. The Comminee atso engaged with shareholders ahead of the AGM and endeavoured to explain the context around its application of the
Policy. Given the range of views which were expressed by shareholders, |t was not practicable to reflect them all in designing the terms to apply the
Poficy. The Committee recognises the need to continue to engage with shareholders over the coming year and will do sg, in addition to continuing to
monltor evolving views and market practice.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Directors

The Directors present
their report together
with the consolidated
financial statements
for the year ended

31 December 2021.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principat activities of the Group are
the provision of 8 renge of outsourced
sevrvices ta the public and private sectors,
The principal activity of the Company Is to
act as 3 holding company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is required to sat out & fai
review of the business of the Group during the
reporting period. The information that fulfits

this requirament can be found in the Strtegic
Report, Chief Execuiive Officers review and
Financial review. The results of the Group

can b found within the consoliidated home
statement, information required to be disclosed
n respect of emissions and future developments
s included within the Strategic Report.

DIVIDEND

Na dividend has been declared in respect of
2020, Following Ihe impacton the business
from the Covid-19 pandemic, the Board tock
steps to protect its liquidity and is grateful

for the strong support of the majority of
sharettolders for the getions taken by the
Direciuors during this perind of uncertainty.

An interim dividend in respect of 202t ol 2.50p
was paid 1o sharehoiders tn Octobes 2024,

The Qirectors recommend a fingt dividend of
5.50p per share for payment in June 2022,
This has nat been included within the
conschdated financial statements as no
obligation existed at 31 December 2021,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Deteits of the Group’s corpoigte governance
are 58t out on pages 64 10 97,

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Wa focus on a range of key Indicators to assess
our performance, Our performance indicaitrs
are both financial and non-financial and ensure
that the Group targets ts resources around its
customers, employees, operations and finance.
Collectively they form an integral par of the
way that we manage the business (0 gekver
our sirategic goals. Our primary performance
indicators are delalled on péges 26 and 27,

DIRECTORS
The presernt membership of the Board is setl
out with the biographical detall on pages 66
and 67,

Roy Irwin and Geraint Davies did nal offer
themselves for re-electon atthe 2021 AGM
and ceased 1o be Directors in June 2022

!n ine with current practice, all sfthe Directors
wiil relire and, being eiigible, offer themseives
for re-election at the AGM In June 2022,

Any persan appointed by the Diractors mus(
retlre at the next AGM but will be eligible for
re-election at that meeting.

The beneficial imerests of the Directors in the
shares of the Company at 31 December 2021
are detalled within the Remunaration Report
on page 92.

The process governing the appointment and
replacement of Direciors is detafted within the
Repaut af the Nominations Commitiag,

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES

OF ASSOCIATION

The Campany’s Artickes of Association can be
amended only by a special resolution of the
memisers, requiring 8 majority of not less than
75% of such members voting Ih person or

by ploxy.

SHARE CAPITAL AUTHORISATIONS
The 2021 AGM heid in June 2021 authorised:

- lhe Diractors 1o alla! shares within defined
Hmits. The Companies Act 2006 requiras
directors to seek this suthority and,
icllowing changes 1o Finandal Services
Authority (FSA] rules and institutional
guidelinas, the authority was lirmited to
one thicd of the issuad share capital, a
toltal of £369,606 plus an additional one
third of issued share capital of £369,606
that can only be used for a rights ksue or
similar fundraising;

= e Diteciors io lssue shares Iot cash on @
non-pre-emptiva basis. This authority was
limited to 5% of the tssued share capital of
£55.430 and 15 required to faclitate
technical matters such a5 dealing with
fractional entillements or possibily a small
placing; and

— the convening of generat meetings (other
than an AGM} on 14 days' notice.

Secton 307A of the Companies Act 2006
provides thay isted companies must hokd
general meetings (other than annuat
general meetings) on 21 days' natice
unless the membess of that company pass
a special resolution agreeing 1o 8 shorter
notice period which cannot be any less
than 14 clear days. It is therefore nocessary
for the Company to pass this resolution
sllowing the Company to continue 16 hold
general meetings {other than annual
general meetings) on not less than ¥4

clesr days’ notice,
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Further detalls of these authorisations are
avallable in the notes 1o the 2021 Notice of
AGM. Shareholders are also refarred to the
2022 Notice of AGM, which contains simiar
provisions in respect of the Company’s equity
share cspital.

AGM

The 2022 AGM will be held on 17 May 2022,
A formal Notice of Meeting and Form of Proxy
will be issued In advance. The ordinary
business to be conducted wil include the
reappointment of all Directors.

" PRINCIPAL RISKS AND

UNCERTAINTIES

Risk i5 an accepted part of doing business.
The Group's financial risk management is
based on sound economic objactivas and
good corporate practice. The Board has overall
responstbility for risk management and interal
controls within the context of achieving the
Group’s objectives. Our process far Identifying
and managing risks is set out in more detall
within the Corporate Governance Statement,
The key risks and mitigating factors are sat out
on peges S0 to 54, Details of financial risk
management and exposure to price risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk are given in note 23 to the
financial statements.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Group is party to significant contracts,
The Directors do not consider thal any one
of those contracts is essentlal In jts own right
10 the continuation of the Group's activities,
As detalled within the Strategic Reporton
pages 62 and 63, the Directors completed a
kong-term assessment of the Group's financial
viabllity and the loss of a number of key
contracts was modelled as one possible
downside scenario but the Group remained
viable In such anevent.

PAYMENT POLICY

The Company acts purely as 8 halding
company and as such is non-rading.
Accordingly, nc payment policy has been
defined. Howewver, the policy for Group
trading companles s 1o set the terms of
payment with suppliers when entering intp
atransaction and to ensure suppliess are
aware of these terms, Group trade creditors
during the year amounted to 33 days
{2020: 59 days) of average supplies

far the year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group is financed through both equity
share capiial and debt. Details of changes 1o
the Cornpany's share capital are given in note
25 to the financial statements. The Company
has a single class of shares — ordinary 1p
shares — with no right to any fixed income and
with each share carrying the sight ¢ one vote
at the general meetings of the Company,

Under the Company's Articles of Association,
holders of ardinary shares are entitled to
parlicipate in any dividends pro-rata (o their
halding. The Beard may propose and pay
interim dividends and recommend a final
dividend for approval by the shareholders at
the AGM. A fingl dividend may be declared by
the shareholders in a general meeting by
ardinary resolutlon but such dividend cannot
exceed the amount recommended by

the Board.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As a1 9 March 2022 the Company has been
notified of, or is aware of, the shareholders
holding 2% or more of the issued share capitsl
of the Company. These shareholders are
detaited on page 72,

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

Applications for employment by disabled
persons are always fully cansidered, bearing in
mind the aptitudes of the applicant concemned,
In the event of members of staff becoming
disabled, every effort Is made to ensure that
their employment with the Group continues
and that appropriate training is arenged. It is
the palicy of the Group that the training, career
development and promotion of disabled
persons should, as far as possible, be identical
to that of other employees.

GHG EMISSIONS

The Group's carbon emissions data for the
year is provided within the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures
onpages 4210 44,

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

AND CONSULTATION

The Group has received recognition under
the Investors In Pepple’ award. The Group
continues o involve its staffin the future
development of the business. Information is
provided to employees through a daily news
emall, 8 quarterly newsletter posted out to all
staff, the Group webslte and the intranet to
ensure that employees are kept well informed
of the performance and objectives of

the Group,

CREST

CREST Is the computerised system for the
settiement of share dealings on the London
Stock Exchange. CREST reduces the amount
of documnentation required and also makes

the tracing of shares faster and more secure.
CREST enables shares to be held in an electronic
form instead of the traditional share certificates.
CREST Is voluntary and sharehoiders can keep
their share certificates if they wish. This may be
preferable for shareholders who do not trade in
shares on a frequent basis.
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GOING CONCERN

The Directors consider that, as at the date of
approving the financial statements, there is 8
reasonable expectation that the Graup and
Company have adequate resousces to continue
in aperational existence for the period lo at least
30 June 2023. When making this assessment,
management considers whether the Group will
be able to maintain adequate liquidity headroom
above the level of its borrowing faciities and to
operate within the financlsl covenants
applicable to those facitities, which will be
measured & 30 June 2022, 31 December 2022
snd 30 June 2023. At 31 December 2029, the
Group had £70m of committed borrowing
faclliies, maturing in December 2025; however,
no amount was drawn on the facility.

The principal borrowing faciliiies are subject ta
cavenants, as detalled within the Financial
review section of the Strategic Report.

The Strategic Report also detalls the principal
riskes and uncertalnties and how the Group
managesits risks. The Group has modelled its
cash flow outtook for the period to 30 June
2023 and the forecasts indicate significant
liquidity headroom will be maintained above the
Group’s borrowing facilities and that financial
covenants wilt be met throughout the period,
including the covenant tests at 30 June 2022
and 31 December 2022

‘The Group has carrded out stress tests against
the base case (o determine the performance
levels that would result in a breach of covenants
or a reduction of hegdroom againstils
borrawing faclities to £nil. The Direciors have
modelled a number of downside scenarnios,
which are covered in more detal? in the Financlal
wability review section on pages 62 and 63.
After making these assessments, the Directors
consider any scenario or combination of
scenarios that could cause the business to be
ne longer a going cancern ta be Implausitie.
The Diractors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and its subsidiaries have
adequate resources 1o continue in operational
axistence for the foresecable fulure.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the Annuat Report
and Accounts.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP offars itself for
reappointment as auditor In accordance with
Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006.

By order of the Board

B Westran
Company Secretary
ben.westran@mearsgroup.co.uk

AN March 2022
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Corporate governance

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Direciors are required to prepare the
financial statements for the Company and the
Group at the end of each financial year in
accordance with all applicable laws and
regulations. Under company law the Direciors
must not approve the financial sietements
uniess they are satisfied that they give a yue
and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or
loss of the Group and the Company for that
period. in preparing these financial slataments,
the Diractors are required to:

— setact suitable accounting podcies and
apply them consistently;

— make judgements and accounting
estimates thal are reasonable;

- State whether the consolldated financtal
statements hava been praparad i
accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards (IFRS) and in
conformity with the Companies Act 2006;

- state for thre Company financial statements
whether United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and spplicable law, including
Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework' (FRS 101, have
been followed, and

- prepare the fMinancial statements an the
gaing concesn basls unless R is
Inapprogpriate o presume that the Company
and the Group will continue in business,

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that
the Group keeps proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and the Company
o enabile them to ensure that the financial
staterments comply with the Companies Act
2006 and, es regards the consolidated firancial
staternents, FRSs. Tha Directors are alsg
respansibte for the sysiem of internal contral, for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and the
Company, and taking ressonable steps to
prevent and detect fraud and other imegularities.

100

Under applicable law and regulations, the
directors are also responsitie for preparing a
strategic repart, directors’ report, directors’
iemuneration report and corporale governance
statement that comply with that law and those
regulations. The Directors are responsible for
the maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financiai information inciuded on the
Company's website,

The Diractoes confirm that:

— 50 far as each Directos is aware thers i£ no
relevam sudit information of which the
Company's auditor is unaware;, and

- lhe Directors have 1aken all the steps that
they ought to have taken as Directors in
order to make Ihemselves aware of any
relevant audit information and 1o establish
that the auditor 15 awate of that information.

The Directors are responsibie for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and
financial iformation incuded on the Compeny's
website. Legisiation in the United Kingdom
govesning the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ fom leqisiation in
other jurisdictions.

The Board confirms that to the best of
Its knowdedge:

~ the financlel statements, prepared in
accordance with the applicable set of
accountisyg standards, give a true and fair
view of the assets, llabiites, financial
pasition end profit or lass of the Group and
the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole: and

-~ the Anmual Report InCludes a fal review of
the development and performance of the
brisiess and the position of the Geoup and
the undertakings included in the
consolldation taken as a whole. together
with a destription of the principal risks and
uncertainties thal they face.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the
Annyal Report In accordance with applicable
law and regulstions. The Board cansiders the
Annual Report and Accounts, taken as 8 whole,
1s foir, balanced and understandable and that it
provides the information necessary for
shareholders 10 assess the Group's
performance, business model and strategy.

On behalf of the Board

ACMSmith
Chief Financial Officer
andrew.smith@mearsgroup co.uk

31March 2022
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC

OPINION
In cur opinion:

-~ Mears Group PLC's group financial statemvents and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements™} give a true and fair view
of the state of the group's and of the fisrent company's affalrs as at 31 December 2021 and of the group's profit for the year then ended;

— the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international sccounting standards;

= the parem company financial statemenis have been properly prepared In accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

~ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Mears Group PLC (the ' panent company’) and its subsidiarles the ‘group) for the year ended 31 December 2021
which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated statement of profit or lass for the year then ended Balance sheet as at 31 Decambar 2021

Consolidated stalement of comprehensive income for the year Statement of changes In equity for the year then ended
then ended

Consolidated batance sheet as at 31 December 2021 Related notes 110 16 to the financial statements including

a summary of significant accounting palicies

Consolidated ¢ash fiow statement for the year then ended
Consolidated statemant of changes in equity for the yeer then ended

Related notes 1 to 31 1o the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policles

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted
international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards. including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducied our audit In accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing [UK) I5As (UK)) and applicabte law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibifities for the audit of the financial statements section of aur report. Wa beliave thal the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate o provide a basis for our opinion,

INDEPENDENCE

We are independert of the group and parent in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial stalements
inthe UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibllities
in accordance with thesa requirements.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the group or the parent company and we remain independent
of the group and the parent company in conducting the audit.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern besls of accounting in the preparation of the
financial staterments is appropriate. Our evaluatian of the directors’ assessment of the group and parent campany’s ability to centinue 1o adopt the
going concern basis of accounting included:

— testing the clerical accuracy of the madel used to prepare the group’s going concern assessment.

— 8ssessing the reasonableness of the cashilow forecas! by analysing management's historical forecasting accuracy. We evaluated the key
assumptions underpinning the group’s forecasts by proposing altematives, reflecting the uncertainties arising from Covid-19 and the recent
events in Ukraine, and challenging management’s position.

— considering whether the group's forecasts In the going concerm assessment were consistent with other forecasts used by the group In its
accounting estimates, including goodwitl Impairment.

= challenging, basad on our own independent analysis, whether the severe downside cases prepared by management could lead either to
aloss of liquidity or a covenant breach and whether these scenarios were plausible. Our assessment included consideration of the Impact
and likelihood of management’s scenarios as follows, including a combination of them:

= the loss of significant customer contracts
= future Covid-19 restrictions and the (ikelihood of government support in this respect
— aperformance failure on 8 Major contract
— considering the mitigating actions that management could undertake in a severe but plausible downside scenario and challenging their feasibility.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

- Considering, Independently, 8 “reverse stress-lest”scenatio that would dead to elther 2 loss of liquidity ar @ cavenant breach and concluding that
such a scenano would be implausibie based on evidence obtained and our understanding of the business. Our reverse stress-test scenarlo
utilsed management’s scenarios and sodittonally incotporated that there would be no Government suppart in the forecast lockdown between
Ociober and Decembear 2022,

- We piso canfirmed the cash position at 31 December 2021 by agreeing to canfimmations received directly from the bank, as wel as svaiebility
of debit facilities and considered their underlying terms, including cavenants, by examingtion of execuiad dotumentation.

Based on the work we heve performed, we have not identified any material uncenainties relating 1o events or conditions that, individually o
coliectively, may cast significant doubl on the group and parent company’s ability 10 continue as a going concedn for a period 1o 30 June 2023,

Ins refation to the group and parent company's reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material
1o add of draw attention ta in relation to the directors’ statement in the financlal statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate
1o adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Qur responsibiiities and the responsibilities of the direciors with respect 1o going concerm am described in the relevant sections of this report.
However, because not ali future events of conditions can be predicied, this statement is ot 4 guarantée as Lo the group’s ability (o continue
a5 4 gaing concern.

OVERVIEW OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Audit scope — We parformed an audi of tha cornplete nancial information of 3 components and gudit procedures on specific
balances for a further 8 components,
— The camponents where we performed fuil or specific audit procedures accounted for 100% of Profii befare tax,
100% of Revenue an 100% of Total assats.
Key audil matiers —  Management override via topside adjustments posted to sccnyals and provisions through the financial statement close
process and consofidation process
Approprisieness of igase accounting under IFRS 16
Valuation of the Group and parent's gefined benefit pension obligation and valaton of hard to vslue schema assets
Apgpropriatenass of cevenue recogmition including contract accounting, contract assets, and conmtract accruals
Intended disposal of Haydon Mechanical & Electrical LLC ("Haydon UAE™)
Overall Group materality of £1.1m which represents 5% of nomalised profit before tax from continuing operations.
We used professional judgment to determine materiality given the impact of Covid-19 on the group's refevant
materiaiity measures.

Materiality

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND GROUP AUDITS

Tailoring the scopse

Our assessment of 8udit dsk, our evaluation of materiality and our alocation of pesformance materiality determine our audit scope for each company
within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to krm an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We take Into account size, risk profike,
the organisation of the group and effectiveness of group-wide controls, changes in the business environment and other factors such as recent
Internal audit resuits whan assessing the level of work to be performed at @ach company.

In assessing the risk of materiat misstatament (o the Group financial statements, and 16 ensure we had adequate quantitative coverage of significant
accounts in the financiat statements, of the 1S réporting components of the Graup, we sefected 10 components covering entities within tha UX and
1 companent based in the Chanael Isiands, which represent all the business units within the Group.

Of the 11 Group components sedecied, we performed an audis of the caomplete financlal information of 3 companents (“full scope components”)
which were selected based on their size or risk characteristics. For 8 componens (“specific scope components™). we performed audit procedures
on spaciic accounts within that companent that we considered had the potenyal for the greatest impact an the significant accounts In the financial
statements sither because of the size of these accounts of their risk profile.

The reparting components where we performed audit procedures accounted for 100% (2020: 100%) of the Group's profit Defore tax, 100%
{2020: 99%) of the Group’s Revenue and 100% [2020: 91%) of the Group’s Total assets. For the current year, the full scope components.
contriuted 79% (2020 56%) of the Group's profit before tax, 79% (202Q: 88%) of the Sroup's Revenue and 82% (2020: 87%) of the Group's

Total assats, The specific scope component contributed 279% {2020: 49%) of the Group’s prof belore 1ax, 20% (2020 11%) of the Group's Revenue
and 18% (2020: 4%) of the Group's Total assets. The audit Scope of thase components may not have included testing of al significant accounts of
the component bui will have contiibuted 10 the coverage of significant accounts tested i the Group.

Ofthe remaining 4 componerts that together tepresent less than 1% of the Group's profit befare tax , hone are Individuaily greater than 1% ol the

Group's profit.belore tax . For these components, we performed other peocedures, including anafytical review, lesting of consofidation joumals
and imeccompany eliminations to respond to any potential risks of materisl misstalement to the Group fmancial statements.
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The charts below illustrate the coverage obtalned from the work performed by our audit team.

Changes from the prior year
The total coverage from full and specific scope componenis was at similar levels to the prior year.

2021 2020
Full scope 3 7
Specific scope B 5
Remaining components 4 8
Total components 15 20

The reduction in components compared 1o the prior year (which included 1in fuk scope, 3 In specific scope and 1in remalning components) reflects
3 entivies disposed of in 2020 and 8 fationalisation of components. The changes in the current year reflect 3 full scope entities In 2020 moving to
specific scope in 2021, and 3 remaining components in 2020 moving 10 specific scope In 2021, This ensurad thal In assessing the risk of material
misstatement we had adequate quantitative caverage of significant accounts in the Group Financial Statements.

Invalvement with component teams
All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Group audi team.

CLIMATE CHANGE

There has been increasing Interest from stakeholders as to how climate change will impact Mears Group Plc, The Graup has detemmined that the
most significant future impacts from chmate change an s operations will be from the need to move to an electric vehicle Nleet for repalrs and
maintenance work, and the need for “retrofitting” of social housing 1o be compliant with climate-related measures (eg replacement of gas boikers).
These are explained on pages 42-44 in the required Task Force for Climate related Financial Disclosures and on page 49 in the risk management
section, which form part of the "Other infarmation,” rather than the audited financial statements, Our procedures on these disclosures therefore
consisted solely of considering whether they sre materially inconsistent with tha financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course

of the audit or otherwise appear to be materlally misstated.

As explained in the Basis of Preparation nole on page 117 of the accounts, governmental and societal responses to climate change risks are stil
developing, and are interdependent upon each other, and consequently financlal statements cannot capture all possible future outcomes as these
are aot yet known. Our audit effort in Considering climate change was focused on ensuring that the effects of any material climate risks disclosed on
pages 42 and 43 have been appropriately reflected In asset values where values are getermined through modeliing future cash fows and in the
timing and nature of lisbiities recognised. The Directors have assessed that there were no materiat impacts of climaie change in detesmining asset
and liabifity valuations and the timing of future cash fiows o be incarporsted Into these accounts. We also challenged the Directors’ considerations
of climate change in thelr assessment of going concern and viability and assacisted disclosures.

Whilst the Group has stated its commitment to the aspirations of the Paris Agreement 1o achieve net zero emissions by 2050, the Group is currently
unable to determine the full future ecanomic impact on their business model, operationat plans and custormers to achieve this and thesefore as set
out above the potential impacts are not fully incorporated In these financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, In our professional judgment, were of most significance In our audit of the flnancial statements of

the current period and inciude the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified.
Thase matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing
the efforts of the engagement leam. Thase matters were addressed in the context of aur audit of the finandial statements as a whole, andin
our opinian thereon, and we do not provide a separate ppinien on these matters.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Righ

Our 10 the risk

1 i communi

10 the Audi Committes

M g i, “. 1,
adjustmanms posted to sccrusls and
provisions through the FS close
[ and licdati

P

Refer to the Accouniing polictes in
Nate 1of the Consoklidaled Financiol
Stoternants (page 117)

Thare i5 a8 level of complaxity within
ihe business which necessitates high
volumes of manual jloumal entries,
ang wp-side adjustments in preparing
the consolicdated financial stataments.
This increases the risk that
management wil! post an erronecus
journal that will materially atfect the
financlal statements.

There are also 8 number of provisions
and accruals at year e that are
basad on management estimation.

We performed audit procedures gver this risk area centraily, coverlng both
ful) and specific scope components.

We watked thrpugh me financiak statement close and consolidation
PIOCESSAS 10 aEsess the degign and Implementation of key controls.

We indépendentiy verdfied the results and balances of the consolidated
entities by agreeing the results and balances included In the consolidation
direcily 12 the audited results and balances 'or all lull snd specific scope
componens.

We oblained an understanding of al 7 d financial stat t
close and consoliation journal entries posted and specifically tasted a
sample of the journalg to Supponting evidence.

el
Y

We have [urthes tested jourmat entries throughaut the it process using
owr data snetylics genetal ledger analyser 1oots 10 Wentity and investigate

unusua) tems having considered crteris thal we believed Indicated a higher

lioelihood of matesial misstatament,

We dentiled 3 joumal Source types that in our jJudgement may be more
susceptible (o managemant override. We assessed that size was an

important factor i retation to the risk of management override and therefore
tested al journals in these sourte types ovier £110,000 effecting accruals and

provisions in the mondh of Decembaer 2021 a5 we assessed that there was
ol risk of override ¢05@ 10 the year-end date.

We also tested the same Journal source fypes 10 the ssme threshold in
Januety 2022 to understand if there ware §ny unususl amendments witich
should have been reflected in the 2021 financial statemants.

We understood ihe natuse and sppropiataness of mptoral round sum amounts

in Bronpls and provisions at the yesr-end. We ensured we 1ndersiood the
reason for significant movements in ProvSIons and accruels from the prior year
and challenged management where there had been no movement. Our work
inducked comoborating the year-end acciusts and provisions 10 Supporting
information, iooking back at prior year 10 A5Sess Manegnent's ability o
estimate and chalienging the most significant assumpions.

All audit work In relation o this ley audif matter was ungerlalken by the
Group engagement team.

We conclude that based on the sudit
procedures perfomed, manual
journdl enltries, 1op-side consalidation
adjustments, judgemental provisions
and aceruals are appropriate.

Qur procedures did not identity any
instances of management ovenide of
controls gthough we did identify that
thare is & nead toimorove Intemal
review and approval protesses,
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Key observations communicated
Risk Qur response to the risk 16 the Audit Committee
Appropriatencss of lease accounting  We performed audit procedures over this risk area which covared 100% of Based on our audit proceduras
under IFRS 16 {right of use assets the risk amount performed we conclude the key
Group 2021 £204.9m Group 2020 estimates and judgments
£200.0m, lease llabilitfas Group Ouwe procedures included; underpinning the IFRS 16 right of
2021 £216.9m, Group 2020 £209.9m, use assets and lease liabllitles are
right of use assets Parent 2021 Assessing management's process: We gained an understanding through s appropriate and the disclosures

£21.4m Parent 2020 £Y9.1m, lease
liabilities Parent 2021 €21.7m, Parent
2020 £18.9m)

Refer to the Audit Comemittee Report
(noge 78} Accounting policies (page
134); and Note 15 ond Note 20 of the
Conscfidated Financial Statements
{poges 134 and 141 respeciively)

The accounting of IFRS 16 Is camplex
and requires a number of estimates
and judgements. The most significant
estimate |s the discount rate
(incremental Borrowing Rate, 'IBR') to
spply to each lease. Key Judgaments
are made when assessing whether
lgasing arrangemants fall within the
scope of IFRS 16 and in determining
the appropriate lease term atthe
ingeption of the lease where leased
assets are subject to extension or
termination options, Further. the
group has a high volume of {eases,
some of which are complex in natwe,
and the group uses a8 combination of
manual bespoke excel modeling
templates and an off the sheif
software package to derive the

ROU asset and lease llabllity values
for the ROU asset calegories.

Due to the significant financial
statement impact of IFRS 16, the high
level of estimation end judegment
required in getermining the
sppropriate accounting treatment, and
tha manual modeliing of the Impact an
some lease categories, we thergfore
identified IFRS 16 as a significant risk.

walkthrough of the process and controls management have in place over
the completeness of IFRS 16.

Ky ustimate: We have assessed the appropriateness of the IBR by
revigwing management's methodology. With the support of our Corporate
Treasury specialists we reperformed the calculations and challenged their
validity by comparing o observable market rates.

Key judgments: We challenged the key judgements and assumgplions used
by management In relation to assessing whelher leasing srrangements fall
within the scope of IFRS 16 and in determining the appropriste lease term at
the inception of the lease where leased assets are subject to extension or
termination options, by inquiring of management, Inspecting Audit
Committee and Board minutes, and selecting & sample of leases, inspecting
the arrangement terms and reaching an independent opinlon on the IFRS 16
accounting treatment.

Tesis of detall: Wa assessed the completeness of the population of leases
by selecting 3 sample of lease payments made durlng the year, and post
year end.\hwough to 31 January 2022, from the apprapriate income
slatement general ledger codes (which includes all lease payments made
during the year prior to the reversal of ROU assats), obtaining and Inspecting
a copy of the underlying lease contract and independentty assessing
whether management’s lease identification basis Is aligned with IFRS 16, by
tracing the asset through to the correct ROU model/enswing not Included
within any ROU madels. Further, wa obtained and inspected third party
staternents from the vehicle lassors and third party retumns from those where
the lease compietion pathway sits outside of the immediate Mears function,
and ensured that these reconciled to the underlying IFRS 16 lease data.

We considered whether any reconciling difference may indicate a
completeness issue,

For a sample of leases, we assessed the measwement/valuation of the
underlying 'aase data by checking the key inputs used in the modets to
original contract or other supporting data and recalculating the right of use
asset and corresponding lease liabiily.

we interrogated the integrity and mechanical accuracy of the bespoke excel
modelling templates used to derive the [FRS 16 journals for vehicies,
residantlal property used directly In the business and some of the residential
property sub-leased o customers, through the application of our EY Al
Spreadsheet analyser which highlights, amongst other things, complex
sheets, hardcoded items, inconsistencies in the logical design, unexpeacted

formula changes, and ty searching the models for potential duplicate assets.

Ouring the year management transitioned the office leases and leases for
some of the residential properly sub-leased to customers from thelr
bespoke manual excel madels to an off the shelf lease accounting software
package. We assessad the complateness and accuracy of the transition by
reconching the 2021 total opening position for each lease calegory to the
2020 total closing position and selecting a sample of leases and agreeing
the key inputs from the underlying lease agreement (o the lease accounting
software package. The Integrity and mechanical accuracy of the software
package used to deriva the IFRS 16 journals for office and MHM fixed leases
was validated by independently calculating the cash flows for a sample of
Jeases and comparing the output to the output from the software package.

We considered the adequacy of IFRS16 disclosures, Including sensitivity of
the lease liabllities to the key assumptions.

All sudit work In relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
Group engagement keam with assistance from our valuation specialists.

within notas 15 and 20 ase in
accordance with the requirements
of IFRS 16, Leases.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Wey chigrvations communicated
Risk Our response to the risk to the Audit Commitiee
Valuation of the Group and parent's Wa performed audil procedures aver this risk area centralty, which covered The two Group SChemes and the
defined benofit pension obigstion 100% of the risk amount. LGPS o) hawve vifferent scheme
{Group 2021: net surplus £20.3m, lian|Kty durations. However, the
2020: net deficit £38.5m Parent Our procedures included: financia) assumptions have been

2021: net surplus £1.8m, 2020: net
deficit £2 8m) and vaivetion of hard
to value schame assets (Group
2021: £4719.3m, 2020: £421.3m,
Parent 2021 £19.7m, 2020: £18.6m)

Refer to the Audt Committee Report
{poge 78 Accounting polcies [page
150); and Note 28 of the Cansoidated
Finonciat Stotements (poge 150).

The Group Operates o number of
defined beneflt pension schemes
{Group schemes} and Is on admilled
botly of other delined benefit pension
schemes [LGPS).

Subjective valuation using -
actuaryl asstumptions:

A gross defined benefit pension
lisbiity of £434.9m was held at

N December 20212020 £501.4m) in
respect of ail defined benefit peasion
schemes, Small changes in the
assumptions and estimates Used 10
value the Group's and Perent's
pension cbiigation (before deducting
scheme assets) would have

8 significant effect on the capying
value of those pension cbllgations.

The effect of these matiers Is that,

as pan of our risk as5essment, we
catermined thal the Group's and
Parent Company's pension chiigation
has a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, with 2 potential range of
raasonable putcomes greater than our
materlality for the financlal statements
a5 & whole. The financial statemens
{note 28] discloses the estimation
uncertainty idenified by the Group
and company.

Valuation of defined benafit
penslon assets:

The fair value of the defined pension
schefne assets 1 aggregate as at

31 December 2021 was £492.9m
{2020 £473.9m), Judgement is
applied in valuing the more complex
leval 2 and 3 Group schemas” assetls,
while the LGPS assels are estimated
by rofing forward the pubfshed asset
position from the previous year using
market index retuens over the perigd.

We have understood management’s process snd methodology for
calculating the pension liablity for each scheme, including discussions with
maregement's extemal actuaries, walkthrough of the processes,
understanding the keyinputs and the design &nd implemenation of key
conirals. We performad a fully substantive audit approach rather than testing
the operating effectiveness of kex controls.

We have 8 d the indep e, objectivity and competence of the
Groug's extemal acluaries, which incuded understanding the scope of senices
being provided and considerning the appropristeness of the qualifications of the
external actuary.

With the support of gur pansion actuartal specialists, we assessed and
challenged the apnropristeness of the assumptions adopted by the
Directors Dy comparing them to the expectations of our penslon actusrial
specialists which they had derived from brosder maret dats.

We tested a sample of the membership data used by the achrsries 1o the
Group's necords. We diectly confirmed the existence and vaksation of
pension schame assets with asset manapers and custodians for Group
Schemes and analysed the movements on assets for LGPS. With the suppon
of our valustion and acluarial spedalists we independently challenged the
valuaticn af herd (o value scheme assets by perforriing delalied testing ona
sample of level 2 and level 3 Group schemea's assets and the LGPS assets.
We identified market indices that most accurately refiect the expected
performance of the fund (based on the undertying Investment/asset portfalio
of the funa far 2021, Using the suitabie/relevant matet index, we set an
expactation of the performance of (he {und In order o deteimine the
expected vaiue of the fund as st 31 December 2021 We then compared the
expacted value of the fund as at 31 December 202110 the value as at

31 Decamber 2021 as per the investment managef tg determine whether this
mel our expectations.

We considered the edequacy of IAS 19 disclosures, inchxiing sensitivity of
the obiigation to the key 8ssumptions.

Alt sudit work in retation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
Group engaq Tt team with \ce from our sctuarial and valiation
speciatists.

set conslstently acrass the Group
Schermes and LGPS baseri ona
weighted average duration of all
Schemeps. The salary increase
assumption which Is linked to RPI is
optimistic. There is sufficient scope
within the other assumplions which
fall wilhin a central range ¢f have
been assessad and setan an
appropriate basls to offset this,

As such, we conclude that overall
management’s actuarial
assumptlons are within an
acceplable rénge.

We have noted below, for the
S5SUMpPLONS that 8re ssessad
against a speCfic range, ow ranges
compared o management’s
assessment:

Discournt rie: 1.70%-2.00%
Mears; rate; 2.00%)

RPi infiation: 3. 00%.3.70%
(Mears rate: 3.00%),

We canclude thal group scheme
assels were under-valued based
on axiemal confirmatons received.
Management made adjustments 1o
Increase the group scheme asset
velues by £0.62m to reflect 1his,
Our tasting d\d not icentlfy any
other material missiaternents.

We sre satesfied with the
adequacy of disclosure within
the financiatl statements.
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Koy chaenatinm communicated
Risk Our reypanse to the sisk tathe Augh Committae
Appropristanets of revenus Wa performed aycit procedures aver this risk area which covered 100% Farthe yesr to 31 December 202,
tecognition including contract aof tha risk mount. wa coencutia thatbated onthe
aocounting, contract sssets srd sudit procadures parformed,
accruals {Group We performad walkthroughs of the ravenus recognition procass for all TEvEnue [1ANSICTIaNS have been
2024 £875.4m, Greup rovenus materidl revenue sireams (o 555858 the design and imglementation of key recogitac approprstely.
2020 £805.8m) controls. Quwr procedures cid not dentily
Instances of ineppropriate
Refer i the Audit Committee Report ioﬁona.saseﬁggﬂuaagqgﬁﬂgssaﬁﬁa managesent overide in the
{poga 79, Azcaunting policies juage lestine treda debiors and ceshrecelpis o racopnition of evarue dcrss
119} and Mol 2 of the Consobioated %zaonnsuﬂ.ﬂ&_gg Eovo:oi.wn,ﬂ 1 &1 SULEIlS on non- the Group.
Finenciet Statements (pope 15} enuries by ang
g?s»g_ggsgﬁn&annag Wo are satisfied with the sdequacy
Mesrs hag 4 difforent kay revenve lransacions [0 ansyne that revianue had bean ap: y s of d!sch within the finerels
siraams, each wiih Ity own revenuse sotements.

eccounting palicy. Determining the
amount of rverma o be redognised
.!uc_.-.u :.!.—3993_8 maka

IJA
5:5.353_8&__“.65 the stage
agusggggsﬂga nd

billty of WiP,

casks snd conitract assets.

Thare ks consiciared o be 3 risk
of maletist ety and mansgement
gverida in making this assessment.

‘Wo obtaned 1he schedule of contract sssets and selected b sampta of
contracts Using the kowes renge of our tasting tweshald to include Bn
slament of unpredictabiiity, We (nvestigated the recoversbiity of contreet
assets betances by reference to post balance sheel cash callaction, ot
entaining the evigence from the work cerdfied by tha customer or Group’s
btemal erindependent quantity surveyor.

For revenue recognised but nol certifed by ihe cusiomer's or Sroup's
imernal or Independant quanifly surveyar, we inquined tha resson far - -
non-cerifization and challenged the recognitian of cantraci assats and
rélatad revenus.

iqn:n-n_.amn? estimatad eontraci costio camplete Inchuging oftsining

w whare mtavent (eg
.3_?..&35...3&!:.886«.&52_552 and challenging the
estimalion baals of pverheads).

We' s with the in-housa logal counsel end reviewsd the board
megting nniias to Wentiy and assess tha Impact of Sny angoing dsputes
In relstion to e recoverabTly of the contract assets betance and

e -l onthe bility of such contract sssets
whgra they had been recognised.
no. g&ﬂﬂnaéﬁ_sogﬁéguééﬁ

the of thelr onarmus

Eqwn_uig
For a sampla ol direct werlfy thalr
oﬂﬁdﬁqoaogt&:Zaﬁu
We hove litles amd pH

e o Incoms rec during tha yaar Eﬁas.!._.snu:_‘u.o&.
end, ghainad supponing avidence for & sample of transactions nd ansured
that the revenue is recagnised in accordance with FRS 15.

We satetted 5 sampia of revenu 2 trensactions recarded befors and after
year and o verlfy that the revenue had been recosded In the stprapfitie
period,

Wa seloctad & sample of credii notes lssued after year-end and abiatned
documantaiion bo verly thal revenue edjustments at year end had baen
recorded epgropriately

We vz ik o
requiremants of [FRS 15

120 disclosures in acoordance with the

Al il wark [n rebation to TS kay sudlt matter was undenaken by the
Group enpagemant taam.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Risx

Our response 10 the risk

Key observations communicated
1o the Audit Committea

intended disposal of Haydon
Machanical L Elettrical LLC
{“Haydon UAE™)

Refer to the Audft Committee report
{poge 75j ond the Accounting policies
bOsis of preporabion {poge H9)

The 2016 annual report and sccounts

f) ) Mears’ | ) Jisposa)
{Quring 2016) of 48% of its beneficial
interesi in the shanes of Haydon
Mechanical & Electrical Contracts L LT
{"Haydon UAE"} leaving Mears with a !
% Interest. The lagel awnar of the
shares is Haygon UX Limited {"Haydon
UK. it was brougit to our afteation in
late 2021 that the transler of shbres
from Haydon UK {and Mears'
beneficist interest) o the intended
acquirer did not compiete as nended,
due to g failure to complete al aspects
of the required filing processes in the
UAE, and therefore Mears has
retained its ful 49% baneficial interest
in the shares of Haydon UAE.

As & result of the Ialipad stace transter,
Muaars continues ta hold tha rght to
controt Heydan LIAE {By virtue of its
benefical interest in the shares anad
powers sat under the Memorandum
of AsSacistion). We have therelore
canskieced what the iate
accaunting is and whether any prior
year adjustmants resuft,

We performed sudit procedures over this risk area which covered
consideration of the kay judgerments relating to Mears' substantive Hght, and
practical ability to contral Haydon UAE and whetner any Lability shoyld ba
recagnised by Maars Group Pic In respect of claims lodged against the
Haydon UAE entity.

We have oDlained and inspecied relevant third party documeniation and
confirmed deisils o the company's anslysis.

We have challenged management's contiusions relating 10 thelr ability to
conirol the Haydon UAE entity in the cuifen! and pricy years and whether
there is any further Wabillity 10 be recognited or disclosed.

With the suppaort of EY Law Dubal, we have indepentently challenged
management’s judgerments relaling to the exisience of oparaticnal, iegel
and requistery barrers 10 exercising thelr right ta contrel Haydan UAE.

We have atsa independently considered, with gdvice from EY Law Dubsi,
e Rkedhood of any further kaiNity arfsing an Mewrs from the Haydan UAE
entity.

We have confumed ail other disposals in the last 10 years have taken place
as intended by checking current ownership detalls lo mdependent third
party information.

We cansiderad the adequacy of disclosiwe in the basis of preparation note
inthe sccounts and cansidered whethert any further disciosures in the
BCOOUTHS were required.

All 2udf work in relation (o this key audit matier was undertaken by the
Giroup Bngagesnent team with assistance fram our EY Law speciahsts.

We conciude that whilst Mears has
he right 16 control Haydon UAE,
there are barriers preventing contiol
and herelore the entity has not
been consclidated. We have also
conchuded that Mears” exposure

to arvy further liabifity 1s remote.

We are satisfied that 8l other
disposals made by Mears o 1he Jast 10
years have taken place as imended,

As referred 10 1N the Audit
Committee Report (page 79} the
failure 1¢ complete all necessary
requirements for the disposat
tranisaction to be effective
nighlighted a significant

conteol deliclency

We are salishad with the adequacy
of disclosure within the financia)
sigternents.

In the prior yesr, our auditar's report included key audit matters ity relation to g} gispas2l accounting including recognitian of profit on disposal and
contingent considerstion and b) first yeer audit ransition including assessment of opening balances. In the current year, these weren't considered
key sudit matters since there were no disposals and this was the secand year of cur audi,

QUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALIYY
We apply the canceot of materality In planming and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstalements on the audit and

In forming oyr sudit opinion.

Materiality

The mognitude of on amission or misstotermnent thol, individually or in the Gggregate, could reasonobly be expecied to influence the ecaonomic
decisions of the users of the finoncial stotements.

Materigly brovides a basis for determining the nalure and extent of our 8udTt protedures. We determined materiaitty for the Group 10 be £11 million
{2020: £1.1 milion), which is 5% (2020; 4.75%) of normalised profit before 1ax from continuing epesatons. Matetiality n 2021 was based on our
judgement of normalisad eamings of tha Group from continuing opesations. To form the basis of this assessmeni we have considered the average
profit before tax from continuing operations for finahdal years 2018, 2019, 2021 snd the forecast profit before tax for financial year 2022,

Financial yesr 2020 was excluded due to the significant impact of Cawd-19 on profit befgre iax from continuing operatians.

We delermined materallty for the Parent Company (o be £1.1 million {Z020: £1.1 milion), which Is 1% {2020: %) of net assets.

During the course of our audil, we reassessed initial materiality and adjusted our finaf materiality to refiect the final profit before tax for 2021,
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Performance materiality
The appiication of materfolity at the Individuo! account or balance level. It is set at on amount to reduce to on appropriotely low tevel the prabability
that the cggregate of uncorrected and undetecied misstalements exceeds materiolity.

©On the basls of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group's overall controf environment, our Judgemant was that performance
materiality was 50% (2020. 50%) of our planning materiality, namely £550,000 (2020: £550,000). We have set performance mateniality et this
percentage due to differences identiflad relating te both the current year and prior year.

Audit work at companent ocations for the purpese of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts is undertaken based

on a percentage of total performance materiality. The performance materiality set for each component is based on he relative scate and risk of the
component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstatement at that component. In the cument year, the range of performance
materiality alocated to components was £55,000 to £412,500.

Reparting threshold
An omount below which idenlifled misstoternents are considered as being clearly triviol.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report 16 them all uncomecied audit differences in exceds of £55,000 {2020: £55,000),
which s sel al 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warianted reporting on qualilative groends.,

We evaluate any uncorrected misstalements agalnst both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and In light of other relevant
qualitative considerations In forming our opinion,

OTHER INFORMATION

The other Infarmation comprises the information included In the annual report set out on pages 1to 100, including the Strategic Report, set aut on
pages tto 63, Corparete Governance, sel out on pages 64 to 100, and Shareholder information, set out on pages 158 to 169, other than the financiai
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors ane responsible for the other Information contained within the annual report.

Our gpinion an the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, '
we do not express any lorm of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is 1o read the other information and, In doling so, consider whether the other information is materially inconststent with the
financlal statements or owr knowledge obtalned in the course of the audit or otherwise sppears to be materially misstated. if we identify such
material Inconsistencies or apparent material misstatemenis, we are required to determine whethar this gives rise 10 @ material misstaternent
inthe financial statements themselves, If, based on the work we have perfarmed, we conclude that there is 8 materlal misstatement of the other
Information, we are required 1o report that fact.

We have nothing to report In this regard.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED B8Y THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinlon, the part of the directors’ remuneration report 1o be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

In our opinlon, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

— the informatien given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
Is consistent with the financial statements; and
— the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the course of the sudit,
we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic repart or the directars’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in refation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 1o youl If, In our opinton:

— adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, of returns adequate for our udlit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; of

— the parent company financial statemenits and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are notin agreament with the

accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
We have reviewed the directors’ statemenit in relation 1o going concem, longer-term viability and that pan of the Corporate Governance Statement
rela¥ing 1o the group snd company’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code spacifled for our review by the Listing Rules.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the followling elements of the Corporate Governance Statement
is materiatty consistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the audi:

= Direciors’ siatement with regards 10 the appropnaieness of adopting the gaing concem basis of accounting and any material uncerainties
identified set out on page 99;
— Directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the company's prospects, the periad this assessment covers and why the period 15 appropriate
set oul on page 62 to 83,
— Director's statement on whether it has a reasonable expectation that the group will be sble 1o continue in operation and Meets its Rabilities
set oul on page 99;
— Diractors’ statement on fair, balarnced and undersiandable set out On page 77;
— Board's confirmatlon that it has carted out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on pages 461053,
—= The section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of sk management and internal control systems set out onpage 77; and;
— The section describiing the work of the audit committee set out on pages 76 to 8t.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully In the directors’ responsibiiities statement set out on page 100, the directors are responsie for the preparation of the
financial statements and for baing satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determing is necessary to
enable the preparstion of financial statements that are free from material misstatemnent, whether due 16 fraud or erroc.

In preparing the financlal statements, the directors are respansible for assessing the group and parent company's abilfity 10 continue as a going
concern, disclosing, 8s applicable, matters retated 1o golng concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the group of the parent company or 1o cease aperations, or héve no realistic altermative but to 4o 50.

AUDITYOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain réasonable assurance about whether the financlal stalements as a whole are free fiom material misstatement, whether
due to freud or esrds, 8nd [0 Issue an auditor's report that ncludes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but isnot a
guarantee that an audit conducied in accordance with 1SAS (UK) wilk always detecl a material missiatement when it exists, Misstalements can arise
fiom fraud or errar and are considered matevial If, individually or In the aggreqgale, they could reasanably be expecied to influence the economic
decsions of usess takén on the basis of these finandai siatements.

Explanation as to what sxtent the audit was considered capable of detecting irragularities, including traud

kregularities, including fraud, &re instances of nan-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with aur responsibilities,
cutlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a matésial misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not
delecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve delibarate concealment by, for example, fargery or intentional misrepresentations, or through
cofusion. The exient to which our procedures are capabte of delecting irregularilles, including fraucd is detalled below.

Howewver, the primary responsibiity for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with bath these charged with governance of the company and management.

- We ablained an understanding of the legal and requlstory frameworks that are applicable to the group and delenminad that the mest significant
are those that reiste 10 the reparting framework ((FRS, FRS101 and the Companies Act 2006, the Financial Reporting Councli (FRCj and the UK
Corporate Governance Code) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK.

— We understood how Mears Group PLC is complying with thase frameworks by reading intemal policias and assessing the entity level controf
environment, including the level of oversight of those charged with govemance. We made enquirtes of the Chair of the Audit Commitiee, the
group’s legal counsel and internat sudit of any known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and reguolations.

We corroborated gur enquiries theough review of correspondence with regulatory bodies. We designed our audit procedures to ideatify
non-compliance with such laws and regulations iderified in the paragraph above,

= We assessad the susceptibility of the group’s financial statements 1o matertal missiaternent, including how fraud might occur by conskiering the
RIGgrams and contrals that the group has established 1o address risks identified by the entity, or that otherwise prevent. deter and detect fraud,
how Seniof management monitor those pragrams and conlrols, evaluating canditions in the context of Incentive andfor pressure to commit frayd,
considering 1he opportunity to commit fraug and the potential rationalisation of the fiaudulent act.

— Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures ta identify nan-compliance with such laws and regulations. Qur brocedures
involved making enquiries of senior management, including the Group Finsnce Directar, Company Secretary and Chair of the Audit Committee.
As wel as sttendance and enguiny 3 meetings, our proceduses involved a review of minutes of board meetings, Intlemal audit reports, and other
commitiee minuies to identlfy ary ron-comphiance with laws and requlations. We planned our sudit procedures to identify risks of management
pverride, 1ested higher risk journal entries and performed audit procedwres io address the potentiai for managemen bias, particularly over afeas
involving significant estimation. Further detall of our approach to addrass the identifieq risks of management averide are sei outin the key audit
matters section of our report.

A further description of our responsitlities for the audit of the financia! statewments is located on the Financiat Reporting Council's website at
hupsiwwwirc arg.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.
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OTHER MATTERS WE ARE REQUIRED TQO ADDRESS

— Following the recommendstion from the audit committee we were appointed by the Board of Directors of Mears Group PLC on 3 September
2020 to audit the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2020 and subsequent financial periods. This appaintment was approved
by the shareholders at the annual generat meeting on 29 June 2021. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals
and reappointments is 2 years, covering the years ending 31 December 2020 to 31 December 2021,

— The audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.

USE OF OUR REPORT

This repart is made solely 1o the company’s members, as 8 body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matiers we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for
no other purpose. Ta the fultest extent permitted by law, we do not accept oc assume responsibllity to anyone other than the company and the
company's members as a body. for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have farmed.

Paul Mapleston (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behaf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor  EMNST & X&'&% LLF
Bristol Ernst & Young LLP (Jun TT, 2022 13:59 GMT+1)

31 March 2022
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note £'000 £'000
Prafit for the year 14,263 44801
Other comprehensive income;
Which will be subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Proflt or Loss:
Cash flow hedges:
— galns/llosses) arising in the year 23 1023 (139
- reclassification to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 23 (es) 354
{Decrease)increase in deferred tax asset in respect of cash flow hedges 24 (178 149
Which will not be subseguently redassified to the Consolidated Statement ol Profit of Loss:
Actuarial gainfloss] on defined benefit pension scheme 28 59721 (19114)
Penslon guarantee asset movements in respect of actuvarial (gainyloss 28 {19,018) 10,024
(Cecrease)increase in deferred tax in respect of defined beneflt pension schemes 24 {8,809) 1727
Cther comprehensive income for the year 32,654 {7999
Total comprehensive income for the year 46,917 36,802
Attributable to:
Owners of Mears Group PLC 467713 36,520
Non-controlling interest 44 282
Totst comprehensive Income for the year 486,917 36,802
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of Mears Group PLC arises from:
Continuing cperations 45,651 (8722%
Discontinued operatlons 1122 56,241
Totat comprehensive [ncome for the year atiributable to owners of Mears Group PLC 46,773 36520

The accompanying accounting policles and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note £000 £000
Assets
Nowi-currarnt
Goadwill 2 118,873 18,873
imangible assets 13 6,610 15,205
Property. plant and equipment - 202 23,600
Right of use essets % 204,949 200041
Investments 16 73 966
Loan nates 23 3.476 3%0
Contingent consideration 23 - 9.4
Penslon and other employee banelits 28 37681 7068
Pension guarantee assels 28 12,975 30705
Deferred tax asset 24 - 3,320
405959 408369
Current
Inventories 17 22,869 3258
Trade and other receivables 13 148,305 139,684
Current tax assets 2,54 358
Cash and cash equivalents 23 54,632 96,220
237,960 267220
Totdl assets 833,919 676,089
Equity -
Equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC
Cailled up share capital 25 1109 1109
Share premium accaount 82,365 82,225
Share-based payment reserve 133 1312
Hedging reserve 23 - (760)
Merger reserve KA Tal 791
Retained eamings 17578 631,536
Totsl equity atwributable 1o the sh iders of Mears Group PLC 200,236 155,363
Non-controlling interest 202 658
Totsl aquity 201,038 156,051
Uabhities
Non-cumrant
Long-term borrowing and overdrafis 23 - 39,353
Pension snd other employee benefits 28 16,995 45,653
Deferred tax lablities 24 6,676 -
intgrest rate swaps 23 - 462
Lease lablifities 20 176,290 166183
Non-curent provisions 22 3800 3.667
202,761 255318
Curremt
Trade and othe: payables 9 184,047 221029
Inte/est rate Sswaps brx] - 459
Lease kabilities 20 M,600 42888
Provisiang 2 4473 344
Curvernt ilabilitles 230120 264720
Total llabltities 432 881 520,538
Total equity and liabilities 633,913 676.089

The financial statements were approved and authosised for issue by the Board of Directors and were signed on [ts behalf on 31 March 2021,

D J Miles A CM Smith i Y .
Director Director ﬂ,.[ ﬁ[/@f

Company number. (3232863 d j miles {Jun 19, 2022 13:34 GMT+1) andrew smith [Jun 18,2022 21:11 GMT+1)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an Integral part of these financlal statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2001 2020

Note £'000 £'000
Operating activities
Result for the year before tax 16,333 (5.218)
Adjustments 2% 65,902 72761
Change In inventorles 12,944 4787
Change in trade and other receivables {2,244) 18475
Change in trage, other paysbles and provisions (32,673) 2248
Cash inflow from eperating activities of continuing operations before taxation 60,362 03223
Taxes poid (3752) il
Net cash inflow from aperating activities of continuing operations 56,610 103264
Net cash inflow from operating sctivities of discontinued operations 9 89 2,527
Net cash inflow from operating activities 56,869 1057591
Investing activities
Additions to property. plant and equipment (7587) (5.065)
Additions to other intangible assets (1482) 07
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 46 7
Cash Inflow in respect of property for resale - 4618
Loans repaid by related partles 3 500 10
Distributions from assoclates 16 1108 -
interest received 413 86
Net cash outflow from investing activities of continuing operations {6,702} {2.051}
Net cash inflow from investing activities of discontinued operations $00 54,612
Net cash [outhowjinflow from invesling aciivities {6,202) 52.561
Financdng activitles
Proceeds from share Issue 40 4
Met cash movement in revolving credit fadility {40,000) (84,654
Discharge of lease liabilities (40,258) {39,958}
Interest paid (8.844) {10.056)
Dividends pak] — Mears Group shareholders (2,773) -
Net cash autflow from financing activities of continuing operations (9M,835) {134.704)
Net cash autflow from financlihg ectivitles of discontinued operations 9 (220) (489)
Net cash outflow from financing sctivities ' (92,055) (135193}
Cash and cash equivalents, beglnning of year 96,220 73,061
Net (decrease)Increase in cash and cash equivalents {41,588) 23,59
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 54,632 96,220
The Group cansiders its revolving cradit facllity to be an integral part of ils cash management:
- Cash and cash equivalents 54,632 96,220
- Revolving credit facility - (39.353)
Cssh and cash equivalents, including revolving credit faclity 54,632 56,867

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

hle o #quity shareholders of the Company

Share-
Share based Non-

Share prem y Hedpi Merty R d controliing Total

capital account reserve reservVe: resarve earnings interest equity

£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
A1 January 2020 1105 82,224 2421 (124 12,956 19.840 B85) 118,337
Net result for the year - - - - - 44,519 282 44 801
Other comprehensive income - - - 638 - _[1363) - (7,999
Total comprehensive income
for the year -~ - - 1636) - 37156 282 (36,802)
Defesved tax on shere-based
payments . - - - - - 0 -~ 10
Issue of shares 4 1 - - - - ~ 5
Share oplions — value of
employee services - - 1,029 - - - - 1029
Share oplions — exercised or
lapsed - ~ {2.138) - - 2138 - -
nan-controling inlergst
elimineted on disposal ‘
of subsiglary - - - - - - 32} 132
Transactlons with nen-
controlfing interests - - - - - (583} 593 -
Transfer of realised profits - - - - (4,985) 4,985 - -~
At 1Jenuary 2021 1109 82,225 1312 (760) 791 63,536 658 156,051
Net result for the year - - - - - “ne 144 M.263
Qiher comprehensive income — - - 760 ~ 31,894 - 32654
Total comprehensive income
for the year -~ - - 250 - 46013 44 48,517
Deferred iax on share-baseg
payments - - - - - 228 - 228
lssue of shares - 40 - - - -~ - 40
Share opthons - valye of
empioyee services - - 575 - - - - 575
Share options — exercised ar
tapsed - - (574 - - 574 - -
Dividends - - - - - R773) - (2773)
At 31 December 2024 1309 82,265 133 - 7571 107578 802 201,038

The accompanying accounting poficies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements — Group
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTYING POLICIES
Accounting policies are detalied in their respective notes, where relevant. Policies that are not specific to a particulsr note are detailed below.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Graup have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirernents of the Companies Act 2006 and United Kingdom adopted inlernational accounting standards. The financlal statements are prepared
under the historical cosl convention as modified by the revaivation of cantingent consideration, derivative financial Instruments and share-based
payments. They are presented in Sterling and ail values are rounded to the nearesi thousand (€"000}.

The accounting polictes remain unchanged from the previous year excent for the modification of a number of standards with effect from 1 January 2021,
The adoption of these amendments had no material effect on the Group's financial statements.

The preparation of financlal statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimales and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets
and labisties &t the date of the financia! statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Although these estimates are
based on management's best knowledge of the amounts, actual results may uftimately differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates made
by management In these financial statements are set out in the accounting policies to which they relate.

Government and societal responses to cimate change are still developing and are Interdependent upon ¢ach other, and consequently financial
statements cannot capture all possible future outcomes as these are not yet known. There were no materiel impacts of dimale change in determining
asset and liability valuations and the timing of future cash fiows 1o be ncorporated into these financial statements.

Mears Group PLC is incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales {registration number 03232863). its registerad office and principal place of
business is 1390 Montpellier Count, Gloucester Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH. Mears Group PLC's shares are listed on the Main
Market of the London Stock Exchange.

Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Balance Sheet includes the assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries and Is mada up to 31 December 2021.
Entities for which the Group has the ability 1o exercise control over financisl and operating policies are accounted for as subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the activities that affect the Company’s returns and exposure
or rights to variable returns from the entity, Interests acquired in entities are consofidated from the effective date of acquisition and interests sold are

consolidated up 10 the date of disposal.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances between Graup enterprises, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated on consolidation: no grofit is 1aken on sales between Group companies.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolldated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group's equity therein. Non-controlling
interesis consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the non-controlling shareholders” share of
changes in equity since the date of the combination. Tolat comprehensive income Is attributed to non-contraliing interests even if this results in the
non-controling Interes! having a deficit balance.

AJoint venture Is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have Jolint control have the rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Assaciates are
entitles over which the Group does not have control, but has significant influence. Investments in joint ventures and assoclates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the Group's share of post-acquisition profits or losses Is recognised in the Consalidated
Statement of Profit or Loss; the Cost of the investment in a given joint venture or associate, together with the Group's share of that entity's post-
acquisition changes to shareholders' funds, is included in investments within the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Going concern

The Directors conslder that, as at the date of approving the financial statements, there is a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the period 1o at least 30 June 2023, When making this assessment, management considers
whether the Group will be able to maintain adequate liquidity headreom above the level of its borrowing facllities and to operate within the financial
covenants applicable 1o those fatiiities, which will be measured at 30 June 2022, 31 Decemnber 2022 and 30 June 2023. At 31 December 2021, the
Group had £70m of committed borrowing faciiities, maturing In December 2025; however, no amounl was drawn on the facility. The principal borrowing
facliities are subject 1o covenants, as detaled within the Financlal review section of the Strategic Report. The Strategic Report al50 details the principal
risks and uncertaintles and how the Group manages its risks. The Group has modeiled its cash flow outlook for the pericd 10 30 June 2023 and the
forecasts indicate significant liquidity headroom will be maintained above the Group's bomowing faciiities and that financial covenants will be met
throughout the periad, including the covenant tests at 30 June 2022 and 31 December 2022,

The Group has carried out stress tests against the base case to determing the performance levels that would resultin a breach of covenants or a
reduction of headroom egainst its borrowing facilities to £nil. The Directors have modelled a number of downside scenarios, which are covered in
more detali in the Financial viablility review seclion on pages 62 and 63, After making these assessments, the Directors consider any scenario of
combination of scenarlos that could cause the business to be no kanger a going concern to be implausible. The Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and its subsidiaries have adequate rescurces to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the gaing concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Business combinations

Business combinations are accountad for using the acquisition method. Tha acguisilon method evolves the recognition at faic valuae of all identifiable
assets and liapilities, including contingant Habitties of the subsidiary al the acquisition dete, regardiess of whether or not they were recarded inthe
financial statements of the subsidiary pricr to scquisition, On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are included Inthe
Consoiidated Balance Sheet at thelr fak values, which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement In accorgance with the Group
accounting polices. Goodwill is stated after separating out identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill represents tha excess of acquisition cost aver

the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of scquisition.

Whera appiicable, the considersation for an acqulsition includes any assets of abllities ansing from a contingent consideration arrangement,
measured at fair value et the acquisition Jate. Subsequent changes in such fsir values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition wherse they result
from additional Information obtained up 10 one year from the acquisition date about facts and circumsiances that existed at the acquisition date.

All other subsequent changes in 1ha falr value of contingent consideration classifled as an assel or liablity sre recogmsed In accordance with IFRS 9
In the Consolidated Statement of Profif ©r Loss,

For transactions with pon-controfiing pariies that do not result in a change of control, the difference between the Talr value of the consideretion
paid and the amouni by which the non-contralling Interast Is adjusied is recognised i aquity.

Any business combinations prior 1o 1 January 2010 were accounted for in accordance wilh the standards in place at the time, which differ in the
following respects: traasaction costs directly atiributabie to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition casts; cantingent consideration was
recoghised if. and only if, the Group had & present obligation, the economic outflow was mare likety than not and a religble estimate was
determinable; and subsequent adjusterents ta the contingent consideration were recagnised as part of goodwill.

Fair value
The Group measures certain assets and lfabikties at fair value on a recurring Dasis, including (s Interest rate swaps, contingent consideration and
assets n the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes.

Trade and olhes receivables. rade and other payables and other loans are initially measuied at falr value and are subsequently held at amortised
cost. Other assels are measured at falr value when they are assessed for Impairment or on classification as hekl for sale.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sall an asset or paid 1o transter a Nabllity in an orderly ransaction between maricet panicipants at the
measurement date. The Group uses valustion technigues that maximise the use of relevant obsarvable inputs using the following velation hierarchy.
ardered from highast lo lowest priosity:

Leval 1 ~ Quoated prices n acthve markets for identicel assets or tiabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included in level ihat are observable either directly or indiractly.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs, typlcally darived from the Group's own Information with any necessary adjustments to eliminate factors specific o
the Group.

For assets and labilities measured at fak value on 8 recuring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurmed between levels in the
hierarchy by assessing the lowes| level input that is significant 1o the most recent measurement.

Detaills of the particular valuation techniques used by the Group are provided in the relevant notes for each type of asset or llability messwred at falr velue,

Use of judgements and eatimates

The preparation of financial staternents recuires mansgement 1o make estmates and judgements that atfect the reported amaunts of assets and
Fabiities and disdesure of contingent assets and Kabiiles at the date of the finandal siztements and the reported amounts of incame and expenditure
during ihe reported period. The estimates and assodated judgements are based on historical experience and various other faciors that ane believed to
be reasonable under the clrcumstances. the resuits of which farm the basts of making judgements abaut carmying values of assets and fiabilittes that are
Mot readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underiying judgements are reviewed on en ongaing basis. Revisions (o accounting estimates are recagnised i the period in

which the estimate s revised if the revision affects only that period., o in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects bath
current and future periods.
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in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, key estimates and judgements have been made by management concerning whether
an entity should be consolidated, provistons necessary for certaln Kabilities, estimates used in forecasts used to assess future profitability. the
discount rates used and othet judgements when recognising right of use essets for lease accounting, the timing of revenue recognition, the
recoverability of contract assets and work In progress, actuarial estimates [n respect of defined benefit pension schemes, the fair value of contingent
consideration In respect of disposed entitles and other similar evaluations. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates. Further details of key
estimates and Judgements are provided in the appropriate notes, with the exceplion of the cansofidation judgement described below.

The Impsact of Covid-19 has been considered when making the estimates and judgements above. The globa! and local effects of the pandemic have
primarily affected the discount rates used for lease accounting as well as the assumptions of discount rate and inflation rate used in cakulating the
Group’s liabilites in respect of defined beneflt pension schemes.

Consolidation judgement

An Investor, regardless of the nature of its Involvement with an entity, Is required (o delermine whether it is a parent by assessing whether it controls
n investee. An investor controls an Investee i and only if the investor has power over the invesiee. In assessing whether it has powes, an investor
considers onty substantive rights relating to an Investee. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical ability to exercise that right.

The Group holds a beneficial mterest in 49% of the shares in 8 company, Haydon Mechanical and Electrical LLC (Haydon LLC?), registered in the UAE.
In assessing whether the Group has power over the invesiee, the Directors have considered several operational barriers which prevent Mears from
exercising its rights. These barriers Inckuded the absence of suitable individuals willing to provide an executive management service and restrictions
placed upon the trade licence, The Directors have therefore taken the Judgement thal Mears does not have the practical ability to direct the

activities of Haydon LLC and as such does not meet the crileria for contral. The results of the entily are therefore not consolidated within the

financlal statements.

Haydon LLC ceased trading during 2017 and reports a net lizbility position. The carrying value of the Group's investment in this associate has
previously been reduced to £nil, and the Directors do not belleve that the Group has Incurred any legal or constructive obligations on hehalf of
this associate.

New standards and interpretations not yet appliad

A number of standards have been modified with effect for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2022, These include 1AS 37 -
“Cost of Fuliliing a Contract’ 1AS 16 - ‘Proceeds Before Intended Use' and other existing standards arising from the Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018 - 2020 cycle. None of these amendments sre expected 1o have a material effect on the Group's finencial stalements.

2. REVENUE

Accounting pollcy

Revenue is recognised In accordance with IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers'. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based, (ive-step
model 1o be applled to all sales contracts. it is based on the transfer of control of goods and services ta customers. The detsil below sets out the
principal types of contract 8n¢ how the revenue is recognised in accordance with IFRS15.

Repair and maintenance contracts
For coniracts In this category, the customer raises orders on demand, for example to carry out responsive repairs. Revenue Is derived from a mixture
of lJump-sum periodic paymenis and task-based payments depending on the terms of the Individual contract.

Where 8 lump-sum payment Is in place it may cover the administrative element of the contract or may cover the majority of the tasks undertaken
within that cantract with exclusions to this being charged in addition to the lump-sum charge. Far the works covered by the lump-sum paymenit, the
performance obiigation is being avallable to deliver the goods and services in the scope of the contract, not the performance of the individual works
orders themselves. Reverue Is recognised on a straight-line basis as performance obligations are being met over lme,

For works orders not covered by a lump-sum payment, each works order represents a distinct performance obligation and, as the customer controls
the asset being enhanced through the works, the performance obligation is satisfied over time. Each works order can be broken down into one or
more distinct tasks which are efther complete or not complete. The stage of completion of the works order is assessed by looking at which lasks are
complete. The transaction price for partly completed works orders is recognised as cost plus expected margin. The transaction price for completed
works orders Is the invoice value, which IS typically determined by a pricing schedule referred to as a Schedule of Rates that provides a transaction
price for each particular task.

Some contracts may include an etement of variable revenue based on certain KPls, These are recognised either at apoint In tlme or over time,
depending on the nature of the KP| and the contractual agreement in which it Is contained. Where Lhere Is uncertainty in the measurement of variable
consideration, at both the stan of the contract and subsequenily, management will consider the facts and circumstances of the contract in determining
either the most likely amount of variable consideration when the outcome is binery, or the expected value based on a range of possible consideratians.
Included within this assessment will be the extent to which there s a high probability that a significant reversal in variable consideration revenues will not
occur once the uncertainty Is subsequently resohved. This assessmenl will include consideration of the following factors: the total emount of the varlable
consideration; the proportlon of consideration susceptible 1o judgements of customers or third parties, for example KPis; the length of time expected
before resolution of the uncenainty; and the Group’s previous experience of similar contracts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. REVENUE CONTINUED
Proparty Income
‘Where the Group is acting as principal, lessor operating lease revenue is recognised in revenue on a stralght-line basis over the tenancy.

Where the Group is providing 8 management service, Mears recognises revenue as an agent (the net management fee) on a straight-line basis.
Where significant inftial costs are required to make good the housing to pesform Housing Management activities, the costs directly attributable to
the initial upgrade will be recognised as costs Incurred to fulfil a contract and held within current assets, 10 the extent that it is determined that
costs are recoverable,

Where the Group is providing an accommodation and support service, revenue is recognised at a point in time for each night that the accommodation
Is occupled.

Some contracts may Include an elament of variable revenue based on certaln KPis. This ks recognised on the same basis as above.

Where the Group enters Into amangements with customers for the provision of hausing, an assessment is made as to whather this income

is recognised under IFRS 15 or IFRS 16. The contract between the Group and the customer is deemed to contain a lease whare the Contract conveys
the right to control an identified asse! for a period of time in exchange for considaration. i this instance, the rentsl income is recognised on a
siraight-Rne basis over the life of the lease. All such sub-leased residential property leases are classified as operating leases. Revenue in respect of
sub-leased residentlal property is dlsclosed separately.

Care sarvices

The stendalone seling prices for providing care are overtly siated in the contract, and the method of application of the rate of charge is cn a unit of
time basls, usually expressed as a rate per visit. Revenue will be recognised In respect of this single performance obilgation, by reference o the
chargeable (ate and time lor completed care visits in the perlog.

From {ime to time, care contracts with customers include a fixed fee per parkod for performing a consistent scope of care services. For these contract
types, the revenue recognition Is consistent with lumg-sum payments included in repair and maintenance contracts, as described above,

Mobilisation

Across all revenue types, where a contractincludes a mobilisation element, conslderation is intially given 1o whether the mobilisation element
comains any discrets performance obligations. If this Is the case, an element of the total contract price is allocated ta those peiformance obligations
and recognised elther at a point In time g over 1ime, depending on the nature of the performance obligation. Mobilisation income is Included in the
revenue caregory to which the contract relates,

Whare amaunts are received for mabilisation elements that are nat performance abligations. thase amounts are allocated 1o the pedformance
obligations In the contract to which they relate.

No revenue was recognised during 2021 in respect of mobilisatlon performance obkgations.

Contracting projects

For contracling projects, the contract states the scope and specification of the construction works 1o be carried ouy, for a fixed price, Mears is
continuously satisfying this single performance obligation as cost is incurred, determining progress against the perfermance obligation on an input
basis. The customer controls. the site or guipul as the work is being performed on it and therefore revenue Is recognised over lime where there ks an
enforceable right to payment for works compleled 1o date and the work completed does not create an asset with an sliernstive use to the Group.
An assessment is made of costs incurred to date and the costs required to complete the project. if a project is not deemed to be profitable, the
unavoidable costs of fulfilling the contract are provided for immediately. This celegory &lsa includes construction contracts where an end customer
has not yet been identified and the revenue Iy recognised at the point of sale of the property, rather than over time.

Othaer
From time to time, the Group recelves revenue that does not fali within any of the categories above but is not individually significant enaugh to require
a specific policy. In \hese cases, the revenue is considered separatety and recognised in accordance with iFRS 15,

Kay sources of estimation uncertainty

Contract recoverabllity

Deatermining future contract profitability requires estimates of future revenues and costs o complete. In making these assessmenis there is 8 degree
of inherent uncertainty. The Group utilises the appropriste expertise in determining thesg estimates and has well-astabkshed internal controls to
assess and review the expected oytcome.
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Critical judgements In applying the Group's accounting palicles

Revenue recognition

The estimation techniques used for revenue and profil recognition in respect of contracting and variable consideration contracts require
judgements to be made about the stage of campletion of certain contracts and the recovery of work in progress, mobllisation costs and contract
assets. Each contract is treated on its merits and subject to a regular review of the revenue and casts to complete that contract.

The Group's revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recagnition is as follows:

2021 2020
£000 £°000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Repairs and mainte) ance 481,647 449974
Contracting 101,599 103,643
Property Income 240,641 1998
Care services 19,446 19,825
Other 295 109
843,628 773,26%
Lease Income . 34,792 32,548
878,420 805,817

Al of the above categories fall exclusively within the Housing segment.

Atotal of £13.2m of revenue was recognised In tespect of the balance of contract llabilities at the start of the year (2020: £2.m).

Repairs and maintenance and care service revenue is typically involced between one and 30 days from completion of the performance obligation.
Contracting revenue Is typically Invoiced based on the stage of completion of the overall contracl. Property income is typically involced monthly in
advance. Payment terms far revenue invoiced are typically 30 to 60 days from the date of invoice.

A maturity analysis of future minimum lessor income as at 31 December is shown in the table Delow:

2021 20120

£000 £'000

Less than 1 year 7535 7963
Between 1 and 2 years 2,365 2.938
Between 2 and 3 years . 2,060 2,385
Between 3 and 4 years 1,750 2,087
Retween 4 and 5 years 1,544 1683
Quer 5 years 812 2,298
16,066 19,352

3, SEGMENT REPORTING
Accounting palicy

Segment information is presented In respect of the Group's operating segments based on the format that the Group reports to its chiel operating
decision maker.

The Group considers that the chief operating decision maker comprises the Executive Directors of the business.

The Group had one continuing aperating segment during the year:

— Housing — following the disposal of the Group's domiciliary care operations, all services provided by the Group fall within this segment.
This includes housing repairs and maintenance services, a full housing management service and Care services directly related to
housing provision. '

All of the Group's activities are carried out within the United Kingdom and the Group's principal reporting to its chiel operating decision maker |s not
segmented by geography. As such, the results for the Group 85 2 whole répresent the results for the single segment.
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Financlal staternents

Notes to the financial statements ~ Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SEGMENT REPORTING COMTINUED

AN revenud 81 ol No-Curnent assetF arise Wi ihe Unhited Kingdom AN of ihe revenud reporte] 1 extefiol fo e Group. The Groug's iegest
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W23 WOl N Glou expected 10 FRpOH, S0 Bl reviivis of Bround E120m, which would, Winter nonTid Candition, BMount 15 srdund 1% of Goup
rvenues. The AASC corract hes experianced efevaled vokumes 85 & resul of # backiog inkod 1o the thakenges of Cavic-19. As a resull, \his
Cusiadmer© relstionshin scoounted fr over 20% of Groug revenues ih 2021 and tis slevaled posiion has continked ka 2022 In the langer tarm,
ihis contract i mxpacted ta reduoe Dack down 10 3 normal lvid. No other Lustomer COmocises maors than I0% of reodr led revenya.
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6. EMPLOYEES
Staff costs during the year were as follows:

2021 2020
£000 £'000
Wages and salafies 166,304 161128
Socisl security Costs 16,425 17,380
Other pension costs 8,552 9,454
191,281 187.962

Wages and salaries are presented net of Coronavilus Job Retention Scheme of £nil (2020: £15.7m).

The average number of employees of the Group during the year was:

) 2021 2020
Site workers 2873 3474
Carers 664 703
Office and management 1860 2,150
5,397 6,327

7. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Accounting policy
All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 2.

The Group opergies equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employeas. All employee services recelved in exchange for the grant of
any share-besed remuneration are measured at their fair values, These are Indirectly determined by reference o the fak vakie (excluding the effect
of non-market-based vesting conditions) of the share options awarded. Their value is determined at the date of grant and Is not subsequenty
remeasured unlass the conditions on which the award was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant is calculated wsing the Monte
Cario option pricing model (2020; Black-Schotes) and the cost Is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Adjustiments are made to
reflect expected and actual forfellures during the vesting period. For Save As You Earn (SAYE) plans, employees are required to contribute towards
the plan. This non-vesting condition is taken into account In calculating the falr value of the eption at the grant date.

All shere-based remuneration is ulimately recognised as an expense in the Consolldated Statemenil of Profit or Loss. For equity-settied share-based
payments there is a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve.

Upan exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any direcily atiributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued
are atlocated to share capital, with any excess being recorded as share premlum.

As at 31 December 2021 the Group maintained four (2020; four) active share-based payment schemes for employee remuneration.

Details of the share options outstanding and movement during the year are as folows:

201 2020
Weighted Waeighted
average avearage
exercise exercise
MNumber price Number price
Opecating segments ‘000 p 000 p
Qutstanding at 1 January 5,292 1> 3325 7
Granted 544 % 4,004 93
Forfeited or lapsaed {965) 177 1,647 - 240
Exercised (44) 92 390y 7
Quistanding at 31 December 4,827 o 5292 1

The weibhled average share price at the date of exerdise for share options exercised during the period was 195p, At 31 December 2021, 0.5m cptions
had vested and were still exercisable at prices between 1 and 423p. These options had awelghtad average exertise price of 284p and a weighted
average remalning contractual life of 6.7 years.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

7. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION CONTINUED

The fair vahses of options granted were determined using the Monte Carlo option pricing model (2020 Black-Scholes). Significant inputs into the
calcutation include the market price al the date of grant. the exercise price and share price volatility. Furthermore, the caiculation incorporates an
estimate of the {uture dividend yield and the risk-free intarest rate. The share price volalility was determined from the daity log normal distributions
of the Company share price ovet a period commensurate with the expected life as calcylated back from the date of grant. The risk-free interest

rate utilised the zero-coupaon bond yield derived from UX Government bonds as at the date of calculation for a life commenswrate with the expected
life. Adjustments are made lo reflect expected and actual forfellures during the vesting pedod due to failure to satisfy service conditions.

There were 0.54m opiions granted duting the year and 0.97m options that lapsed during the year. The market price st 3) December 2021 was 189p
and the range during 2021 was 4Bp 1o 224p.

All share-based ¢mployee remuneration wil be settled in equity. The Group has no jegal obligation to repurchase or settle the options.

The Group recoghised the following expenses raiated to shara-based payments:

20 2020
£'000 £'000
Giving rise to share-based payment reserve:
- SAYE 295 682
- C30P L] 347
— LTIP o4 -
— DSEpP 53 -
575 1,029

The Group is currently running four active schemes, detatied below:

Share save plan {Save As You Earn)

Options are available to al employees. Options ere granted for a period of three years. Options are exercisable a\ a price based on the quoted
markat price of tne Company’s shares at the time af kwitation, discounted by up to 20%. Options are forfeiled if the employee leaves Mears Group
before the aptions vest, which impacts on the number of options expected 1o vest. If ap employee stops saving but continues in employment, this is
treated as a cenceflation, witich resuits in an acceleration of the share-tiased payment charge,

Company Share Option Plan

The Company operates B discrelionary unapproved share plan and a Company Share Optlon Plan. Oplions are exercisable at 8 price below market
value &t the date of grant and often at nominal value. The vesting period Is three years. It the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years
from the date of grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited if the employee (saves Mears Group before the options vest. NO awards to Executive
Directots are proposed under these plarns.

Long-term incentive plan
The LTIP provides for awards of free shares {Le. either canditional shares ar nil or nominel cost options) normally on an annual basis which are eligible
1o vest sfier three years subject to continued service and the achievement of chalienging performance conditions. The first award under this scheme
wes made during 2021. Options are granted under this scheme (o key senior managemen! subject ta performance conditions as detalled on page 52
of the Remuneration Report.

Deforred share bonus plan (DSBP}

The deterred share bonus plan relates to Annual Bonus payments where typically 33% are deferred Inta shares and vest subject to continued
employment. Individuals may be able to receive a dividend equivalent payment on deferred ponus shates at 1he time of vesting aquai to the vale of
dividends that woulkd have accrued during the vesting pariod. The dividend equivalent payment may assume the reirvestment of dividends on a
cumulative basis. Clawback provisions may apply for three years from the date of payment of any bonus or the grant of any deferred bonus share award,

124 Mears Group PLC Annual Repert and Accounts 2021




8. TAX EXPENSE

Accounting palicy

Current tax assets and/or llabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities that are Lnpaid at the balance sheet date. They are
calculsted according 16 the tax rates and tax |1aws applicable to the accounting perlads to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.

Where an item of income or expense is recognised in the Consalidated Statement of Profit or Loss, any related tax generated is recagnised as 8
component of tax expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. Where an Item is recognised directly io equity or presented within the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, any related tax generated is treated similarty.

Dederred taxation is the tax expected to be repayable ar recoverable on differences between the carrying amaunts of assets and fiabilities in
the financial statements and carrasponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and Is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method.

Deferred taxation liabilities are generally recognised on il taxable temporary ditferences in full with no discounting, Deferred taxatlon assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of goodwil, nor on the inltial recognition of an assel or liabiity, unless the related
transaction is 8 business combination or affects tax or accounting profit,

Deferred taxation s calculated using the tax rates and Iaws that are expected to apply in the pericd when the liability is seitfed or the assetis realised,
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The carrying value of deferred Laxation assets is reviewed al each
balance sheet date and reguced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be avallable against which taxable
temparary differences can be ullised, Defemred tax Is charged or credited to either the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income or equily 1o the extent that il relates to items charged or credited. Dafarred tax relating 1o items charged or
credited directly (o equity Is also credited or charged to equity.

Tax recognised In the Conselidated Statement of Profit or Loss:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
United Kingdom corporatian tax 2,407 @85
Adjustment in respect of previous periods {450 674
Total current tax chargef{credit) recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 1957 m
Defarred taxation charge:
— on defined benefit pension obligations 154 167)
-~ Onshare-based payments - 101
«= 0Oncapltal allowances 806 (26)
— onamartisation of scquisition intangibles 1.372) (1.553)
- onshort-term temporary timing differences s 144
- Oncorporate tax Iosses 1,003 {324)
- Othertiming differences {80) 43
- Slatutory rate changes 742 -
Adjustment in respecl of previous periods (3) 1,314)
Total deferred taxatlon recognised in Consclidated Statement of Profit or Loss 1,235 {3.096}
Total tax charge/icredit) recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profil or Loss on continuing operations 3192 (3.207%)
Totai tax {crediticharge recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Lass on discontinued operations {182) 121
Total tax charge/icredit) recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 3,010 B.0g6)
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December _2021

8. TAX EXPENSE CONTINUED
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the result for the year 83 follows:

2021 2020
£000 £'000

ProfitAloss) for the year on corttinuing operations befare tax 5,333 {15.218)
Profit for the year on discontinued operations before tax 940 56,933
Result for the year before tax 17,273 4715
Reasult for the year multipied by standand rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom for the period of 19.0%
(2020:19.0%) 3,282 7926
Effect of:
- BXpEnses not dedoctible for tax purposes n 142
— fixed asset Impairment - 285
— net proceeds of disposals of subsidiaries not subject o tax {209) a7e0m
«— Income not subject 10 tax - (248)
— taximpact of employee share schemes 02 2m
- tax losses not previously recognised in deferred 1ax {593) (35
= Itpact of statutary rate changes ’ 742 -
- Adjustment in respect of prior perods {635) (1.597)

Aciual 1ax chargedicredit) 3,010 (3.086)

Deferred tax is recognised on both temporary differences balwean the treatment of items for lax and accounting purposes. Deferred tax on the
amortisation of acquisition Intangibles is a tempaorary difference and arises because no tax rekef is due on this kind of amortisaticn.

Tax losses ganerated in previoys years which are expected 1o be utilsed against futune prafits are recognised as a defenad tax asset and
a subsequent charge arises as those losses are utilised. No deferred 1ax asset Is recognised in respect of losses of £26.5m (2020: £29.0m} across
several entities in the Group 85 it is not expected that they will be eligible tc be utilised against profits In the futuwe.

Deferred tax Is also recognised on short-term temporary timing differences. primailly relating to provisions. These differences are expected
to reverse In the following year and arise because tax rellef is only avallable when the Costs are incured.

Capltal allowances represent 1ax refief on the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and are spread over several years at rates set by
legislation. These ditfer from depreciation, which is an estimate of the use of an tem of property. plant and equipmen over its useful Iife. Deferred tax
Is recognised on the difference between the remaining value of such an asset for tex purposes and its carrying value in the accounts.

The UK Budget 2021 annpuncements e¢n 3 March 2021 included messures to support economic récovery as a reswult of the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic. These inclvded an increase to the UK's main corporation tax rate to 25%, which is due to be effective from 1 April 2023. These changes
were substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and hence have been reflecied in the measurement of deferred tax batances at the period end,
ta the exianl those balances are expected to impact on current tax altar 1 April 2023,

The following tax has baen charged to other comprehensive income or equity during tha year:

20 2020

£000 £'000
Deterred tax chargeAcredit) recognised in other comprehensive income
- ©On defined benefil pension obligations 8,809 727
—= ©n cash flow hedges 178 149)
Total deferred tax chargedcredit) recognised in other comprehensive iInceme, 8,967 (1.876)
Oetarred iax recognised directly in equity
Deferred tax credit:
— onshara-based payments {228) o
Total deferred tax recognised In equity {228) 10
Total tax 1
Tota) current tax 1775 10
Total deferred tax 9.994 {4982)
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9. DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES
Ouring 2020, the Group comgleted the disposal of its Domicilary Care business and disposed of its Planning Solutians business.

A small amount of income and expenditure were incurred In respect of the Domicliary Care business during 2021, primartly for transilional services as
a result bf the separation of the disposed business from the continuing business. These transactions are recognised in discontinued operations.

In addition, the consideration for the disposal of the Planning Solutions business included a contingent element to be recelved n April 2022.
The fair value of this contingent conslderation has been reassessed at 31 December 2021 and the resultant profit has been recognised in
discontinued operations.

The resufts of the operations which have been included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £000

Revenug and profits )
Sales revenue 57 35.388
Costof sales (53) {20787
Adminisirative expenses (169 (1,738)
Profit on disposal - 54,074
Increase in falr value of contingent consideration 1100 -
Finance costs 3 (]
Profit for the year before tax on discontinued operations 240 56,933
Tax on discontinued operations 182 12
Profit for the year afler tax on discontinued operations - 1122 56812

The results of all disposed businesses prior to thekr disposal are presented within discontinued cash flows In the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement.

The results of the operations which have been included in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement are as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Operating actlvities
Result for the year before tax 940 56,933
Net finance costs 3 4
Share-based payments - *
Depreciation and amortisation - 1,004
Net proft on disposal of investments - (58,993)
Fair valug movement {1100) -
Change In operating recelvables - 586
Change |n operating payables 34 2.962
Net cash (outflow)finflow from operating activities before texation (123) 2532
Taxes paid 182 B)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 59 2527
Investing activities
Additions te property, plant and equipment - (305)
Additions to other intangible assets - (347
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 500 63676
Net cash disposed of with subsidlaries - (5.618)
Net ¢ash inflow from Investing activities 500 54,612
Financing activities
Discharge of lease labilities @ {485)
Interest paid &) 14)
Net cash outflow from financing aclivities {220} 489}
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 339 56,650
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

10. DIVIDENDS

Accounting policy

Dividend distributions payable 10 equity shareholders are included In *Current financial llabilites’ when the dividends are approved in 8 genetal
meeting prior to the balance sheel date.

The foliowing dividends were pak! on ordinary shares In the year:

2021 2020

£000 000

Fingl 2020 dividend of Op {2020: final 2019 dividend ol Op) per shore - -
lantertm 2021 dividend of 2.5p {2020 interim 2020 dividend of Op) per share 2773 -
2,773 -

No dividend was declared in respect of 2020. An interim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was paid to shareholders in October 2021,
The Directors racommend a final dividend of 5.50p per shere. This has not been included within the consolidated financial siatements as no
obligation existed st 31 December 2021

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Continuing
Caontinulng Discontinued and discontinued
20 2020 2031 2020 2021 2020
[ ] P .2 [ B
Eamings per share "ra (10.66} 1.01 5087 12.73 40.21
Diluted earnings per share 150 {1066} o9 50.87 1249 40.21

The calculation of EPS s hased on a weighted average of ordinary sheres in Jssue during the year, The dillted EPS is basad on 2 weighted average of
ordinary sharas calculated In accordance with JAS 33 ‘Earnings per Share’, which assumes that al) dilutive options will be exercised. JAS 33 defines
dilutive options as those whose exercise would decrease earnings per share or increase loss per share from continuing operations.

202 2020

Million Mitkon

Weighted average number of shares in issue: 1093 no.56
— Dilutive effect of share opticns - 213 -
Weighted average number of shares for calculating diuted earmings per sharé ’ .06 140,56

As the Group made 2 loss from continuing operations duting 2020, there weve no dilutive oplions during that period. The number of antidilutive
patential shares not included in the above table for 2020 was 0.39 million.
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12. GOODWILL

Accounting policy

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents any excess of the cost of the acquired enlity over the Group's intesest in the fal
value of the entity's identifiable assets and Habilities acquired and Is capitalised as a separate tem. Goodwlll Is recagnised as an intangible asset.

tnder the business combinations exemption of IFRS 1, goodwill previously written off directly to reserves under UK GAAP is not recycled to the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on calculating & gain or loss on disposal,

Impairment

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash ftows: CGUs. Asa
result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at CGU level. Goodwill is allocated {0 those CGUs that are expected fo
benefit from synergies of the related business comblnation and represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors the
related cash flows.

Goodwill or CGUs that include goodwill and those Ilangible assets not yet avallable for use are tested for impalrment at jeast annually,
All ather individual assets or CGUs are tested for Impalrment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate thal the carrying smount may not
be recoverable,

An impaimment foss Is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Proflt or Loss for the amount by which the asset's or CGU's carrying amaunt
exceeds its recoverable amcunt. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less Costs to sell, and value in use
based on &n internal discounted cash flow evaluation. Impalrment losses recognised for CGUS, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited
initially to the carrylng amount of goodwill. Any remaining impalement loss is charged pro-rata to the other assets In the CGU. With the exception of
goodwill, ail agsets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an Impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.

Goodwill
ariging on. Pwichased
consolidation oodwill Totat
£000 £'000 £000

Gross camying amount
At1January 2020 114,954 8250 123,204
Reclassification 4208 {4,208 -
Disposal of subsidiary {4,331 — (433
At $ January 2021 and 31 December 2021 114,81 4,042 18,873
Actumulated Impairment losses
AtV January 2020, at 1 January 2021 and at 31 December 2021 - - -
Cerrying smount
At 31 Decambaer 2021 114,81 4042 118,873
At 3t December 2020 114,831 4,042 118.873

Goodwil on consalidation arises o the excess of cost of acquisition over the falr value of the net asseis acquired on purchase of @ company.

Purchased goudwill arises on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net sssets acquired on the purchase of the trade and assets
of a business by the Group.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements —

For the year ended 31 December 2021

12. GOODWILL CONTINUED

Group continued

Goodwill Is hot amaertised but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or mote frequentty if there are any indications that gaodwil may be
Impaired. Goodwill scquired n & business cambination is allocated 10 groups of CGUS according to the level at which management monitors that

goodwill. Goodwiil is carried at cost less accumulated impairment lossas.

The carrying value of goodwill is allocsted 10 the following CGUS:

Goadwilt
arising on Purchased
oo i goadwill Totat
£'0600 £000 £000
Haousing 95,742 4,042 99,784
Housing with Care 19,089 - 19,08
14,831 4,042 H8.873

Housing with Care Is delivered through two siandaione subsidiaries of the Group and includes those activitles that include an alement of persanal
care as part of the service to the end user. The cash llows In respect of these two subsidiaries are separately idemifiable and hence this is a CGU in

its owt nght. All otheér activities fall within the Housing CGU.

An asset is impaied if the camying value exceeds the CGU's recoverable amount, which is based on vailue in use, At 31 Oecember 2021 impairment
raviews were performed by comparing the carrying value with the value in use lor the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated.

The vale In use for each CGU is calculatea from the Board-approved one-year budgeted cash flows and extrapolated cash flows for the next four
years discounted at a post-tax discounl rate of over a five-year pericd with 8 1erminal value. The impalrment reviews incorporaled a terminal growth
assumption, which is conservelive when compared with the UX long-term growlh rete and the underhying cemographics, which will be positive for the

Group's ¢ore markets.

The estimaied growth rates are based on knowledge of the individual CGU's secior and markel and sepresent management’s base level
expeciations for future growth. Changes o revenue and direct costs are based on past experience and expeciation of future changes within the
markets of the CGUs. All CGUs have tha same access 1o the Group's treasury function end borrowing amangements 1o finance thelr aperations.

Msanagemen! considers that reasonably possible chenges In these assumptions would pot cause 8 CGU's camying amount 10 exceed its

recovergble smaount.

The rates used were as follows:

Volwme Terminal

Post-tax Pre-tax growth rate qrowth

discount rme discount rata {years 1-5) R

Housing 900% 1.50% 2.00% 170%
Hausing with Care 9.00% 1.45% 2.00% 170%
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13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting policy

In accordance with IFRS 3 {Revised) ‘Business Combinations', an intangible assel acquired in 8 business combination Is deemed to have a cost to the
Group of its falr value at the scquisition date, The fair valye of the intangible asset reflects market expectations about the probability that the future
economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow to the Group. Where an intangible asset might be separable, but only together with 8 related
tangible or intangible asset, the group of assets Is recagnised as & single asset separately from goadwill where the individual fak values of the
assats in the Group are not reliably measurable. Where the Individual fair values of the complementary assets are reliably measurable, the Graup
recogntses them as a single asset provided the Individual assets have similar useful lives. Intangible assets are amostised over the useful economic

life of those essets.
Development costs incurred on software development are capitalised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

Completion of the software module Is technically feasible so that it will be available for use.

The Group intends to complete the development of the module and use It

The softiware will be used in generating probable future economic benefits.

There are adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development ang to use the software.
The expenditure attributable to the software during lts development can be measured refiably.

Costs incurred making intellectual property available for use (incleding any associated bofrowing costs) are capitalised when all of the foilowing
conditions are satisfied:

== Completion of the data setis technically feaslble s0 that it will be available for use.

- The Group intends 1o complete the preparation of the data and use it.

— The data will be used in generating probable future ecanomic benefits.

== There are adequate technical, financial and other resources 10 complate the data set and to use it.

- The expenditure attributable o the Intellectual property during its development can be measured relably.

Development costs not meeting the criterla for capitalisation are expensed as incurred. Careful judgement by management is appled when
deciging whether the recognition requirements for development ¢osts have been met This Is necessary as the econamic success of any
development |s uncertaln and may be subject o future techinical problemns at the time of recognition. Judgements are based on the information
available at each bafance sheet date. in addition, ail interna! activities related to the research and development of new software are continually
monitored by management.

The cost of an internally generated Intangible asset comprises ail directly attributable costs necessary 16 create, produce and prepare the assetto be
capabile of operating In the manner intended by management. Directly attributable costs inciude employee costs incurred on software development,

Amortisation commences upon completion of the asset and is shown within other administrative expenses. Until the asset is avallable for use on
completion of the project, the assets are subject to Impairment testing only. Development expenditure is amortised over the pericd expected
fo benefit.

The identiflable intangible assels and assoclaled periods of amortisation are as follows:

Order bock — over the period of the order book, typically three years

Client relationships - over the period expected to beneflt, typically five years
Supplier relationships - over the period expected to benefit, typically two years
Development expenditure — aver four 1o five years, siraight line

Software - 25% p.a., reducing balance

The usedul economic lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually and amended if appropriate.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED
Acquisiton intangiblas

Totaf
- Client Order Supplier acquigition  Development Total
relstianships boak relationshins Intangities expenditure intangibles
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Gross carrying amount
At 1January 2020 65,987 17770 272 85,929 22998 108,927
Additions - - - - 4,858 4358
Disposal of subsidiaries - — - - {7.996) 7895}
At1.January 2021 65,987 17770 2172 85929 13,960 105,883
Additions - - - - 182 1182
At 31 December 2021 65,987 770 2172 85,929 21342 10101
Accumulated amortisstion
At 1 January 2020 51431 13580 1088 66100 4185 80,285
Amontisation charge for period 8,35 526 650 9526 2625 215
Dispasal of subsidiaries - - - - (1752) (1752
At 1January 2023 58782 1)05 1739 75626 15,058 20,634
Amartisatian charge for penod 3556 32865 433 7654 2123 9777
At 31 December 2021 63338 wn 2R 83,280 TRB1 00,461
Carrying amount
At 31 Decembar 2021 : 2,649 - - 2,649 3,961 5,840
At 31 Decemnber 2020 6,205 3665 433 10,303 4,902 15,205

Developmeant expenditure is an internaily developed intangible asset and relates largely 1 the development of the Group's Housing job management
system. Development expenditure is arnartised over its useful ecancmic life of 5.0 years. Tha weighted average remaining economic ite of the asset
is 3.1 years (2020: 3.1 yeors).

All amortisation is included within other administrative expenses.

14. PROPERTY, PLANY AND EGQGUIPMENT

Accounting policy

ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, net of depreciation. Historicel cost Includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the tems, Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s Carrying amount of recognised as a seperale asset, as appropriate, only
when itis probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow into the Group and the cost of the item tan be measured reliably.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged Yo the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss during the financial period 1o which they are Incurred.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation ofl oiher as5es is calculated (o write down the cost less estimated residual value over thelr estimated
uselul econoimic kives. The rates genesally applicable are:

Freehold buildings ~ 3% pa, svraight ine

Leasehold improvements ~ over the periad of the lease, straighti line
Plant and machmery - 25% p.a. reducing balance

Equipment - 25% p.a., reducing balance

Fixtures and filtings — BO% p.a., siraight line

Motor vehicles — 25% pa. reducing balance

Residual values are reviewed annually and updated if appropriate, The carrying value is reviewed for impairment in the peried if evants or changes in
circumstances Indicate the carmying vakue may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying value is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the assel's canying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amourt.
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Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and ace recognised within adminisirative
expenses in the Consolldated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Identifying whether there are indicators of impairment in respect of property, plant and equipment involves some judgement and a good

understanding of the drivers of value behind the assel. At each reporting pericd an assessment is performed in order to determine whether there are
any such indicatars, which involves considering the performance at both a contract and busingss level, and any significant changes 1o the markets in

which we operate. This is not considered to be a critical judgement or an area of significant uncertainty.

Fixtures, Assats
Freehold Leasehold Plant and fittings and Motor under
property  improvements machinery squipment vehicles construction Tota)
£'000 £000 £'000 €000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross camrying amount
At1January 2020 822 22,497 2933 47440 1,008 4726 79,426
Additions - 2.969 28 846 - 1413 4956
Disposals (6) {6.080) {151 (16755) {24} - {17.016)
Reclassification - (104} - 104 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaties - (241 761 {2,005) - - (3,007
Transferred from disposal group 1o 128 - 17 - - 256
At1 January 2021 926 19170 2,049 35,647 o84 5,839 64,615
Additions (s 5,225 9 2,051 - 216 7602
Disposals - - (500) (8.343) - -~ {8,843
Transfer 10 inventories - - - - - {6,055) (6.055)
At 31 Decomber 2024 1,027 24,395 1558 29388 884 - 57319
Depreciation
At1January 2020 46 12,824 13 3035 Q982 - 53100
Provided in the year 28 2,226 214 3.205 7 - 5,680
Eliminated on disposals &) {6,080) 135 {10.456) 23 - (16,740)
Impairment - - - - - 1500 1.500
Reclassification - 2 - {2) - ~ -
Disposal of subsidiaries {102) (647 {1.808) - - (2,551
Transferred to disposal group - 18 - 8 - - 26
At1January 2021 68 8,888 1,551 28042 966 1.500 41005
Provided in the year 30 3241 18 2222 5 - 5,616
Eliminated on dispesals - (426) (8.098) - {8.524)
Transfer to inventories - — - - = (1.500) {1,500}
At 31 December 2021 o8 12429 1,243 22166 oM - 36,607
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2024 929 12,266 S 7489 13 - 20,712
At 31 December 2020 858 10,282 498 7505 18 4332 23,600

During the year, the property previously presented as an assel under construction was reclsssified to inventories as it is now expected to be soldto a
third party on completion, rather than used within the business.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

15. RIGHT OF USE ASSET

Accounting policy

Where an asset Is subject to a lease, the Group recognises a right of use asset and a lease liabliity on the balance sheel. The right of use asset is
measured at cost, which matches the initial measurement of the lease liabllity and any costs expected at the end of the [ease, and then depraclaled
on 8 straight-line basis over the [ease term.

The fease liabilily is measured at the present value of the future lease peymenis discounted using the Group's incramantal borrowing rate.
Laase payfments include fixed payments, variable payments based on an Index and payments arising from options reascnably cenain to
be exercisad.

The Group has efecied to account for short-lerm leases and feases of [ow value 8ssets ysing the practical expediants. instead of recognising a right
of use asset and a lease liabllity, ithe payments in refation to these are recognised as an expense In profit of loss on a straight-lne basis over the
lease term,

On the statement of financial position, right of use aésels and lease fiabilities are presented separately.

Critical judgements in applying the Group'’s accounting palicies

The Group hailds move than 15,000 leases across its portfolio of residential properties, offices and vehicles. Whilst the Group endeavours

to standardise the form of leases, operational demands dictate that many leases have specific wording to address particular operational needs and
also to manage the associated operaifonal and financiaf risks. As such, each lease requires individual assessment and the Group is required to make
key judgements which include:

the identification of a lease;

assessing the right to direct the use of the underlying asset;

determining the lease term; and

the assessment as 1o the tevel of future 1ease payments, including fixed and variable payments.

The most typical challenges encountered anad which form the key judgements are:

|

where the lease contalns a ore-way no-faull break In Mears' favaur, the Group measures \he obligation basad on the Group's best estimate of s
future Intentions;

where a unilateral break I3 in place, assessing whether the lease can be lerminated with no more than an Insignificant penalty,

where the lessar has a right of substitution meaning that the lgssor can swap one property for another without Mesrs' approvat,

whera Mears dogs not In practice have the sight to contro! the use of the asset and the key decision making rights are retained by the supplier;
where a wider agreement 1of & supply of services Includes 8 lease component which meets the deflnition of a leese under IFRS 15, and

the assessment of the fixed lease payments wherg the lease obligation to the landlord is based on a pass-through arrangement in which Mears
onty makes lease payments 0 the owner 1o the extent that the property i occupled and 10 the exient thal rents &re received from the tenant

(N

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Additions and remeasurements 1o right of use assets in respect of lease agreements are equivalent o the presant value {or change in present value}
of the relevant lease cbiigation. Urless there is an interest rate implicil in the lease Itsel, the Group's Incremental Borowling Rate (IBR) is used to
calculate the present value of future lease payments. Estimation is requiked in derving an appropriate IBR. The Directors believe that the best
spproximation for 1BR Is the currently applicable margin from the grid coniained within the Group's RCF agreement, added 1o an appropriate base
rate. For the current period, that base rate was LIBOR, as that was the base rate under the RCF agreement throughout the year. For 2022, the base
rate will switch to SONIA as that is the base rate under the new RCF agreement, finalised in Decermber 2021 This change Is not expected 16 have 8
material impact on the calculation of IBR.

The above represens a change in estimation methodology for IBR fram that used during the previous year. In 2020, the Group had a low level of
headroom on its RCF and a reduced ability for additional borrowing. It was therelore not considered apprapriate at that time to utllise the RCF rate.
Instead, the Directors determined a synthetic credit rating and used this to select appropriste corporate bond yietd curves at varying tenoars to
determine an appropriate IBR lor leases enmered Into during the year.

The Directors believe that the methodology appkedin 2021 is both a simplification of and an Improvement to the method applied in the prior year.
Given the significant reduction in the Group's leverage, tha RCF woukd now be utifsed to lund the underlying assets were the Directors 1o choose o
purchase rather than kease. The RCF rates are real commercial rates of interest that the Group has access ta and therefore represent more rediable
information on which 10 base this estimate. The sensitivity of the lease fiability to the assumptions used in these estimations Is indicated in note 2G.

Investment property

Included within right of use assets are certain properties classified as investment properties in accordance with 1AS 40. These properties ere held
primarily in arder 1o eam rentals. The Group has chosen ta apply the cost model 1o all investment property and therefore measurement is In line with
IFRS 16 as described in the Leased assels accounting policy.
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Properiies thal generate rentals but are primarily held for the provision of soclal benefits are not considered 1o meet the definition of

investment property.
Assets that are Assels that are used
sub-leased to customers divectly within the business
Investment Rasidential Residentis!
property property property Offices  Motor vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £000
Gross carrying amount
At1January 2020 27052 15,592 42,352 11,861 321089 229,066
Additions® 476 2,999 33.462 1479 8187 46,603
Disposals - (6,582} {507) [1,105) {2.350) (10.554)
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - {1,259) - {1.259)
At 1 January 2021 27528 112,03 75307 1076 37,906 263,856
Additions® A7 5824 29,646 1262 12,895 50.044
Disposals - 4.674) 1,487) 9%0) {19761 (26.832)
At 31 December 2021 27,945 13189 403,466 11,428 34,040 287068
Depreciation
At tJanuary 2020 1509 1874 3460 3282 10,557 30,682
Provided inthe year 1521 10,832 16,292 2753 11112 42510
Eliminated on disposals - {5.555) (10} {1.063) (2.215) 8,973
Dispasal of subsidiaries - - - {404) - {404)
A1 January 2021 3,030 17151 19,612 4568 19:454 63.815
‘Provided In the year 1553 8,605 21,589 174 Xl 43413
Ellminated on disposals - (4,140} 795) {910) {19,264 {25309)
At 31 December 2021 4,583 21,620 40,406 5,399 1011 g219
Carmrying smount
At 31 December 2021 23,362 91,569 63,060 6,029 20,929 204,949
Al 31 December 2020 24,498 94,888 55,695 6,508 18,452 200,041

Agditions includes both new underying assets and remepswement of Lhe right of use asset for changes In the lease terms.

Investment property included above represents properties held by the Group primarily to eam rentals, rather than for use in the Group’s other
activities, The ampunt Included in lease income in note 2 in respect of these properties is £1.7m (2020: £2.9m}. Direct operating expenses arising from
investment property that generated rental income during the pariod was £3.3m {2020: £3.4m). The camying value cf the right of use assel in raspect
of invastment proparty is considered to be approximately equal Lo its falr vaiue.

16. INVESTMENTS
Accounting policy

Investments include thase over which the Group has significant influence but which it does not control. These are categorised as associates. Itis
presumed that the Group has significant influence where it hias between 20% and 50% of the vating rights in the investee unless Indicated otherwise.
The Group also helds Investments in joint ventures where the Group and other parties have joint control over thelr activities.

The basis by which sssociates and joint ventures are consolidated in the Group financial statements Is through the equity method, as outlined in the

basis of consolidation.

In addition to associates and joint ventures, the Group holds invastments in entitles over which it does not exert significant Influence. These are

accounted for at fair value through profit or 10ss.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

16. INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Other

Associat i ts . Total

£000 £000 £'000

AL 1 January 2020 . 536 - 536
Share of profit 1056 - 1,056
Distributions received (689 - 691
Acquisition - 65 65
A1 January 2021 am 65 966
Share of profit 855 - 855
Distributians received (08 - (108
At 31 December 2021 648 &5 73

On 9 December 2020, as part of the disposal of the Group's Planning Solutions business, the Group acquired £.16% of the ordinary share capital of
Mason Topco Limited, the new owner of ihe disposed business. This investment is presentad in Other investmernts and is mandatorily held at fak
value through peofit or loss. Thece have been no changes in the fair value of the Invesiment during the year (2020: none).

Assoclates
Set out below Is the Investment in an associate as a1 31 December 2021, which in management’s opinion s significan to the Group:

Camying value
Nature of Prapartion Courry of 2024 2020
uth i heid registration £000 L'000
Pyramid Plus Somh LLP Assoclate 30% Engtand and Wales S48 901

Pyramid Plus South LLP Is a repairs and maintenance service provider that is centrat to one of the Group’s contracts.

During the year, the Group received distributions of £1.9m (2020: £0.7m) from Pytamid Plus South LLP. Summarised financial information for Pyrarmid
Flus South LLP for the year is shown below.

2021 2020
£000 £'000
Revenue and profits
Revenue 19,866 18,413
Expenses {(17.01h (14.895)
Profit for the yesr 2,843 358
Qther comprehensive incame - ~
Total comprehensive Income 2849 3518
Share of profit at 30% - 855 1,056
Net assets
Non-current assets - -
Current assets 6,438 6,275
Current Fabilities 4290 (3,257
MNon-currem Rabilities . - (4)
Total assets less 1o1al lisbilties 2,207 304

Cash and cash equivaients of €1.9m (2020: £0.9m] were included in current assets above,
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The subsidiary undertakings within the Group at 31 December 2021 are shown below:

Proportion held Country of ragistration Nature of business
3¢ Asset Management Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Caraforce Group Ple 0o% England and Wales Dormam
Evolve Housing Limited 50% England and Wales Qormant
Helcim Group Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Helcim Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Let to Birmingham Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Manchester Working Limited BO% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Direct Limited 80% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Energy Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Estates Limited 100% England and Wales Grounds maintenance
Mears Extra Care Limited 100% Engtand and Wales Provision of care
Mears Facility Management Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Hame Improvement Limited 100% England and Wales Malntenance services
Mears Homecare Limited 100% England and Wales Provision of care
Mears Homes Limited 100% Engtand and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Management Limited ' 100% England and Wales Housing management senvices
Mears Housing Management {Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Portfolio (Holdings} Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Portfolio [London) Limited 100% England and Wales Doemant
Mears Housing Partfolic 1 Limited 100% England and Wales Donmant
Mears Housing Portfolio 3 Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Portfolio 4 Limited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
Mears Insurance Company Limited 99.99% Guemnsey insurance services
Mears Learning Limited 9% England and Wales Cormant
Mears Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Modular Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Doemant
Mgars New Homes Limited 100% England and Wales House building
Mears Scotland {Housing) Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Mears Scotiand (Services) Limited 66.67% Scotland Dormant
Mears Scotland ELP 66.67% Scotland Maintenance services
Mears Social Housing Limited KO% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Supponed Living Limited 00% Scotland Provision of care
Mears Wales Limited 00% England and Wales Dormant
MHM Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Malrtenance services
Morrison Facilities Services Limited 100% Scotland Maintenance services
MPM Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
MPS Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Mairtenance services
OA&T Developments Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Omega Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Housing registered provider
Plexus UK {First Project) Limited 100% England and Wales Housing registered provider
Scion Group Limited 10o% England and Wales Dormant
Scion Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Sclon Technical Services Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance sefvices
Supporta Limited 100% England and Wales Domant
Tando Homas Limited 100% England and Waies Housing management services
Tando Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services

All subsidiary undertakings with the exception of Evotve Housing Limited prepare accounts to 31 Decembes. Evolve Housing Limited prepares

accounts 1o 30 June in fine with its historical accounting reference date,
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

16. INVESTMENTS CONTINUED
The Group inchudes the following three subsidianas with non-controlling interests: Manchester Working Umited, Mears Leaming Limited and Mears
Scotiand LLP. The table below sets out selected financial information In jespect of those subsidiaries:

vyl 2030
£'000 £'000
Revenue and profits
Revenue 54,447 46,586
Expenses and taxalion {54,539) (47,685}
Profit for the year {92) 0.099%
Other comprehensive expense - —
Total comprehensive income {32} {1,099}
Profit{joss} for the year allocated to hon-controliing interests 144 (68}
Total comprehensive expense allocaled to non:controlling interests = =
Net assets
Non-current assets 17e 305
Current assels 14,985 17538
Currant lisbilities (10,339) {12,899
Non-current habilities : {1393 (429
Total assets less 1otal labliities 343 3523
Equity sharehalders' funds 2,629 2,865
Non-controliing interesis 802 658
Total equity 3,431 3523

The following UK subsidiaries will lake advantage of the audit exemption set oul within Section 479A of Ihe Companies Act 2006 for the year ended
31 December 2021, except MPM Housing Limited, which wil! take the same exemption for the 15-month period ended 31 December 2021

Registration

numbeds

3C Asset Managernent Limited 02459913
Let to Birmingham Limited : 08757503
Mears Estates Limited Q3720903
Mears Extra Care Limiteg 03689426
Mears Homecare Limited 02744787
Mears Home Improve ment Limited QINES17
Mears Houslag Management {Hokdings) Limited 04726480
Mears Housling Portiolio (Holdings) Limited 10908305
Mears Housing Portiolio 4 Limited 10952906
Mears New Homes Limited 08780839
Mesrs Supported Living Limiled SCB62805
MHM Properily Services Limited 07448134
MPM Housing Limited 03528320
O&T Developments Limited 05652853
Scion Group Limited Q3905442
Scion Technical Services Limited Q3671450
Tando Homes Limited 09260353
Tango Property Services Limited 07405761
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17. INVENTORIES
Accounting policy
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net reslisable value. Cost is the aciual purchase price of materials.

Work in progress is included in inventories after deducling any foreseeable losses and payments on account not matched with revenue. Work in
prograss represents costs Incumed on speculative construction projects where a customer has not yet been identfled. Work in progress is stated at
the lower of cost and net reslisable value, Cost comprises materials, direct labour and any sub-contracted work that has been lncurred In bringing the

inventorles and work In progress to their present location and condltion.

2021 2020

£'000 £000

Materials and consumables 1,650 3,558
Work in progress 21,219 27700
22,869 31,258

The Group consumed inventories totalling £167.3m during the year (2020: £163.3m). No items are belng carried at fair value less costs lo sefl

(2020: £nil).

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Accounting policy

Trade recelvables represent amounts due from customers in respect of imvoices raised. They are inftially measured at thelr transaction price and

subsequently remeasured st amortised cost.

Retention assats represent amaunts held by customers for a period following payment of invoices, to cover any potential defects in the work.

Retentlon assels are included in irade receivables and are therefore initially measured at their transaction price.
Contract assets represent revenuye recognised in excess of the total of payments on account and amounts invoiced.

Critical jJudgements and key sourcea of estimation uncartainty

The estimation techniques used for revenue In respect of contracting require judgements to be made about the stage of completion of certain
contracts andihe recovery of coniract assets. Each contract Is treated on iis merits and subject 1o & regulsr review of the revenue and costs o

complete that contract. Contract assets represent revenue recognised In excess of the total of payments on account and amounts Involced.

However, due 10 the estimation uncertalnty across numerous cantracts each with different characteristics, it is not practical to provide a quantitative
analysls of the aggregated judgements that are applied, and management does not believe that disclosing a potential range of cutcomes on @

consolidated basis would provide meaningful information to a reader of the accounts.

2021 2020
€000 £000

Current assefs:
Trade receivables 28574 39831
Contract assets $7,680 88,594
Contract fulfilment costs 1,242 1,408
Prepayments and accrued income 9,277 6,517
Contingent consideration 6,531 500
Other debtors 5,004 3,034
Total trade and other receivables 148,305 139.884

Included in trade receivebies is €4.9m {2020: £4.7m) In respect of retention payments due in more than one year.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 60 days and do not bear any effective interest rate. All trade receivables and accrued income are

subject to credit risk exposure,

The maximum exposure Lo credit risk in relation to trade receivables and accrued Income at the balance sheel date i the fair value of trade

recelvables and accrued income. The Group's customers are primarily & mix of Local and Central Government and Hausing Associations where credit
risk Is minimal. The Group's customer base is large and unrelated and, accordingly, the Group does not have 8 significant concentration of credit risk

with any one counterparty.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

18, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

The amounts presented In the balance sheet In refation (o the Graup's rade recelvables and accrued income balances are presented net of 1oss
afiowances. The Graup measwes loss allowances al an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses using both quantitative and qualitativa
information and analysis basad on the Group's hislorical expetience, and forward-loaking information.

The ageing analysis of irade recelvabies is as follows:

2021 2020
Grass Expeties Carrying Gross Expected Carrying
amourt dus cradit loas value amount dua crectlt loss valye
£000 £000 £00C £000 £000 £004
ot past due 27841 M0 26531 32 722) 32557
Less than three months past due 2,063 1429) 4634 5,406 (479} 5,017
Mare than three months past due 5873 {S546T) 306 922t (6.964) 2,257
Tols! rade recelvables 35577 (7,008) 2857 A7996 [BA6S) 3983

For expected cedit istes with large organisations, such as Government bodies or Housing Assaciations, expected credit losses are calculgted on
an individual basis, taking account of aff the reélevant factors applicable (o the amount outstanging. The Group has no history of defaults with these
ypes of customers. so expected credit losses refale to specific disputed balances.

For Individual tenant customers, expected credit losses are calculatad besed an the Gioup's historical experience of defauit by applying
a3 percentage based on the age of the customer's balance.

The movement in expected credit oss during the period s shown below:

20 2020

£'000 £000

As at1January 8165 722

Changes in amaounts provided mns 2958

Amaunts utiksed {1.35%) {1.G)

Ag at 3t December 7,006 865
The movement in contract assets during the period is shown below:

021 020

£'000 £'000

As a1 January 83,594 10,263

Recognised on complation of performance obligations 843,528 773269

Irvoiced during the year |834,542) {794.938)

As gt 31 December 97680 88,594

Contingent considefation of £6.5m (2020: £0.5m) is consideration receivable in respect of the disposal of subsldiaries. The 2021 balance is in respect
of the disposai of the Group's Planning Solutions business in December 2020, The 2020 balance was in respect of the disposat of the final element of
the Group's Domicillary Care business in September 2020, This balance was received in full duiing 2021

inchuoed in other debiors is an amount ol £2.9m (2020: £nif) recoverable from the Group's fronting insurers, An equal and oppesite amount Is aiso
included whhin cther creditors.

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020

£000 £000

Trade payables 49,558 n4,m
Accruals 51343 42797
Saodial security and other taxes 29724 34,983
Contract llabiities 27843 25330
Other creditors 5582 3.208
184,047 221,029

Due o the short duration of trade payables, management considers the cairying amounts recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheetto be a
reasonable approximation of thelr fair value.
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The movement in contract liabilities during the period is shown below:

2021 . 2020

£°000 £'000

As at 1 January 25,330 2n2
Revenue recognised in respect of contract |labilities (13197 {anz)
Payments received in advance of performance obligations being completed 15,740 25,330
As al 31 December 27843 25330

Contract llabilities relate to paymenis received from the customer on the contract, and/or amounts Invoiced to the customer In advance of the Group
performing Its obligations on contracts where revenue s recognised either over time or at a pointin time. These amounts are expected to be
recognised within revenue within one year of the balance sheet date.

Included In other creditors is 8n amount of £2.9m (2020: £nll} payable to the Group's fronting Insurers. An equal 8nd opposite amount is also included
within other debtors reflecting the subsequent reimbursament due to the Group's insurance captive.

20. LEASE LIABILITIES
Lease labllitles are separately presented on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Flnancial Position as shown belaw:

201 2020

£'000 £'000

Current 41,600 42,888
Non-currént 175,290 166,183

216,890 209,01

The Group had not commitied to any leases which had not commenced at 31 December 2021. The majority of the Group's property leases contain
variable lease payments that vary annualty either by reference 10 an Index, such as the Cansumer Prices Index (CPI), or based on market conditions
each year. The potential impact of this varlation depends on future events and therefore cannot be quantified, but the Group would typically expect
commensurate ad|ustments to income derived from these properties.

A smaller number of property leases contain termination or extension options. Management has assessed whether it is reasonably certain that the
tonger term will apply. In some cases, g portfolio of leases wilh similar lease terms Is considered together and, where a rolling notice period is
avaiiable to the Group, an average expected lease life may be appiied.

The Group has elected not 16 recognise a lease labllity for short-term leases and leases of low value. Payments made under such leases are
expensad on a straight-line basis, Certain leases incorporale variable lease payments that are nol included in the measurement of lease lisbilities in
accordance with IFRS 16. The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability Is as follows:

20 2020

£000 £'000

Short-term leases . 46,790 45,846
Low value leases 8r B39
Variable lease payments 1,550 2737

The portfolio of short-term leases 1o which the Group is committed at the end of the reporting period Is not dissimilar tg the portfello to which the
above disclosure relates.

Other disclosures relating to lease liabfiities are provided in the table below:

2021 2020

Note £'000 £'000

Depreciation of right of use assets during the year 16 43413 42,510
Additions during the year 16 50,044 46,603
Cerrylng value at the yeer end 18 204,949 200,041
Interest on lease kabllities during the year - continuing activities 5 6,952 23
Total cash outflow in respect of leases during the year 26 47,399 47470

The Group's lease liabillties are subject to changes in certain key assumptions In estimating the IBRs used ta calculdte the liablities. The IBRs used
during the year ranged from 2.11% to 3.54%. The impact of an Increase in all IBRs applied during 2021 by 0.5% is a8 £0.6m reduction in the lease Rability
and a £0.'m reduction in profit before tax.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

21. PROVISIONS
A summary of the movemeant in pravisions during the year is shown below:

Onerous

contract Fooparty Legal
provisions provisions Rrovisions Tatal
£°000 £000 £'000 £'000
A1l January 2021 344 - - 344
Utifised during the year 232} - - 232
Provided during the year 1,288 730 2,343 4,361
At 31 December 2021 1,400 730 2343 4,473

The provison of £0.3m at 1 January 2021 was in respect of property costs related to the discontinued care business. The remalning £0Im of this

provision is expecied to be utlised within ohe year.

At 31 Dacember 2021, the Groyp identified a small number af maintenance contracts where the estimate of unavoidabie costs of meeting contractual
obfigations exceed the remuneration expected o be raceived, These have been categorised as anerous contracts. In wach case, the Group has
triggered the contractual break clause and the respective contracts will conclude during the course of 2022; @ provision of £1,.3m has been made for

the remaining lifetime Josses on those contracts.

Property provisions have been recognised during the yaar In respect of the expected cosls of reinstating several properties 1o theit ocigine! condition.

These are expected to be utilised within one year.

Legal provisions relate to sub-contractor and employee relsted legal cfaims which are also expected to ba utifised within one year.

22. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS
Accounting policy

The Group self-insures certain fleet and fliability risks. A provision for claims incurred but not receivad Is recognised in respect of these potenial

claims. The value of this provision is estimated based on past experierce of claims.

2071 2020
£000 £°000
Nan-current provisions 3,800 3667

Nan-current provisions represant selft-insured claims incurred but not yet reported. £1.7m of the provision was utilised during the year and £1.8m of
addillonal amounts were provided. The timing of the utilisation of the prowision is uncertsin as it depends upon the timing of Insusance claims against
the Group. However, the majority 6f the carrying value is expacted 1o be utliised in more than one year and, as such, the provision is considered to be
fon-current.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting pollcy

The Group uses a limited numbar of financiai instruments comprising cash angd liquid resources. borrowings. interest rate swaps and vanous items
such as trade recelvables and trade payablag that arise directly ram its operstions. The main purpose of these financigl instruments is to finance the
Group's operations. The Group seeks to Anance iis pperations trough a combmation of retained earnings and bormowings and investing surplus cash
on deposit. The Group uses financisl Instruments to manage the Wterest rate risks ariskng from #ts operations and sources of finance but has no
Interests in the trade of financal instruments.

Financlal assets and lisbilities are recognised In the Consolidated Balance Sheel when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument, The principal financial assets and liabilities of the Group are as follows:

Financisl sssets
Invwestments in uniisted equities that do not carvey controd or significant influence over the imderlying entity are recognised at fair value. They are
subsequenily remeasured al fair value with any changes belng recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Contingen considaration is held by the Group in order to collect the associated cash flows but until the emount is determined, these are not salely
payments of principal and interest and therefore these assets are measurad both inltlally and subsequenily at far value, with any changes being
recogrised in the Consofidated Statemen of Profitor Loss,

Loan notes gre helg by the Group in ofder ta collect the assaciated cash flows and nat for trading. They are therefare initlally recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cast. kss any provision for impairrment.
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Finandisl assets generated from goods or services transferred to customers are presented as either trade receivables or contract assets. All of the
Group's trade receivables are shovt-lerm In nature, with payments typlcally due within 60 days of the works belng performed. The Group's contracts
with its customess therefore contain no significant financing component.

Mears recognises 4 loss aliowance for expected credit losses on financial assets subsequently measured at amorised cost using the ‘simplified
approach”. Individually significant balances are reviewed separately for impaiwrmeni based on the credit terms agreed with the customer.
Cther balances are grouped inta credlt risk categories and reviewed In aggregate.

Trade recelvables and cash at bank and in hand are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable paymenits that are not quoted in an
active market. Tratke receivables are Initially recorded at fair value net of transaction costs, belhg invoiced value less any provisional estimate for
impairment should this be necessary due to a ioss evant. Trade receivables are subsequently remeasured al invoiced value, less an updated
provision far impairment. Any change in their value through Impairment or reversal of Impairment is recognised In the Consolidated Staterent of Profit
or Loss. ‘

Cnash and cash equivalents Include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposils available with no notice or less than three months® notice from
inception that are subject o aninsignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are presented as current Bablities to the extent that there Is no
right of offset with cash batances. The Group considers Its revolving credit facillty to be an integral part of its cash management.

Following initial recognition, financial assets are subsequently remeasured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financisl Habilities
The Group's financiz! liabilitles are overdrafts, irade and other payables and interest rate swaps. They are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet
line tems ‘Long-term borrowlngs and overdrafts', ‘Trade and cther payables’, 'Interest rate swaps' and ‘Cthar payables'

All interest related charges are recognised as an expense In ‘Finance costs’ n the Consolidated Statermemnt of Profit or Loss with the exception of
those thal are directly attributable 1o the construction of a qualifying asset, which are capitallsed as part of that asset,

Bank and other borrowings are initialty recognised at faik value net of transaction costs. Galns and losses arising on the repurchase, settlernent or
canceliation of iskilities are recognised respectively In finance income and finance costs. Borrowing casts are recognised as an expense In the
period in which they are incurred with the excepiion of those which are directly atiributable to the conswruction of 8 qualitying asset, which are
capitalised as part of that asset.

Trade payables on normal terms are not interest bearing and are stated at thelr fair value on initial recognition and subsequently at amortised cost.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge lts expasure to interest rate risks arising from operational ang financing activities.

Derivative financisl instruments are recognised initially and subsequently at fair value, with mark-to-market movements recagnised in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss except where cash flow hedge accounting Is applied,

The falr value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive of pay to terminate the swap at the balance sheet date,
taking Into account current interest rates and the curent creditworthiness of the swap counterparties.

in accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or Issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Hedge accounting for interest rate swaps

Where an interest rate swap Is designated as a hedge of the variability in ¢ash flows of an existing or highty probable forecest loan interest payment,
the effective part of any valuation gain or loss on the swap instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income In the hedging reserve,

The cumulative gain or Joss is removed from equity and recognised In the Consolidated Stalement of Profit or Loss at the same time as the hedged
transaction, The ineffective part of any gain or loss Is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss Immediately.

When a hedging instrument or hedge relationship is terminated but the hedged transaction Is still expected to accur, the cumulative galn or loss at

that point remains in equity and is recognised In accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged traénsaction is na longer
probable, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity ts recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Profit or Loss immediatety.
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Financis! statements

Notes to the financial statements ~ Group conttnued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

23. FJNANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Categories of financial Instruments

a2 2020
£'000 £000
Non-current masets
Fair value leve! 3)
nvestments - other investments 65 65
Contingent consideration = 5431
65 5496
Amortised cost
Loan notes 3476 30
Currant assets
Fair vatue (favel 3)
Contingent consideration 6531 =
Amortised cost
Trade receivables 28571 39831
Deferred constderation - 500
Other debtors 5,004 3.034
Cash at bank and In hand 54,632 965,220
88,207 139,585
Non-current Habilities
Fair vatue (level 2)
Interest rate swaps - effective - (479)
Interest rate swaps — ineffactive - 7
Interest rawe swaps - (462)
Amortised coat
Long-term barmowing and averdrafts -~ (39,353}
Lease liabillties ((75,290) (166183}
{175,290) {205.536)
Cuirent Kabikitles
Fair value {level 2)
Interest rate swaps — effective - (484)
nterest rate swaps - ineffective - 25
Intecest rate swaps - (459)
Amortised cost
Trade payatles (69,555) nazm
Lease kabillies (41,600 (42,088)
Other creditors 5,582) {3,208)
{146,737 H#60.807
(m37a8) 219,023

The amount recognised as an atiowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables during 2021 was £0.2m (2020: £3.0m}.

The IFRS 13 hietarcty level categorisation relates (o the extent the fair value can be determined by reference L0 comparabte market values.

The classtications range from level 1, where instruments are guoted on an acilve market, through to level 3, where the sssumptions used 1o arrive 8t

fair value do not have comparable markel data.

The fair values of interest rate swaps have heen calculated by a third party expent discounting estimated future cash flows on the basis of market

expectations of future interest rates (level 2).

The amount of contingant consideration receivabila s typlcaity determined by fulwe expected profits of the sokd businesses. The fair vaiue

of contingent consideration has been calculated by management by reference ta the draft income and expenditure of the disposed business during
2021 and the terms of the sale (leval 3). Where appropriate, the fair vawe of contingent considaration is discounted at the Group's weighled average
cost of capital. A £0.1m increase in the 2021 profits of the disposed business would increase the fair value of contingent consideration by £0.3m.
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The Increase in the fair value of contingent consideration of £1.10m (2020: £0.04m) during the year was recagnised in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss.

The fair values of investments in unlisted equity instruments are determined by reference to an assessment of the falr value of the entlity to which they
relate. This Is typically based on a multiple of eamings of the underlying business.

There have been no transfars between levels during the year,

Fair value information
The falr value of the Group's financial assets and liabllities is as disclosed above and approximates to the book value.

Financial risk managemcht

The Graup's activities expose It to a variety of financial risks: market risk (Including interest rate risk and price risk); cred|t risk; and liquidity

risk. The main risks faced by the Group relate to the availability of funds to meet business needs and the risk of credit default by customers,

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under policies and guidelines sppraved by the Board of Directors.

Borrowling facilities
The Group's borrowing faciliies are drawn on as required to manage its cash needs. Banking facilities are reviewed regularly and extended and
replaced in advance of thelr expiry.

During the year. the Group agreed a replacement borrowing facikty of £70.0m with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC and Citl, of which £nil was
utilised at 31 December 2021,

The facilities comprise a commitied four-year £60.0m revolving credit facitity and an unsecured overdraft facllity of £10.0m. The entire amount of both
elements was undrewn at 31 December 2021,

Details of the Group's banking covenants are provided on page &1,

Interest rate risk management

The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits and bank borrowings from major banking Institutions at floating rates of
interest based on SONIA. During the year, the Group setiled its cutstanding interest rate swaps due to its reduction in borrowing requirements and
consequential ineffectiveness of the hedging relationships.

The Group's policy Is 1o accept a degree of interes! rate risk, provided the effects of the various potential changes in rates remain within certain
prescried parameters.

Effective interest rotes
The Group's overall average cost of debt was 2.3% during the year to 31 December 2021 (2020: 2.4%}.

Cash flow hedging ressrve

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises alb gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which sre effective hedges and
mature after the year end. These are valued on a mark-to-market basls, accounted for through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
and recycled through the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.,

Movements during the y2ar were:

£000
At January 2020 (124)
Amounts transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 354
Revaluations during the year (1,139}
Deferred tax movemant 9
At1 January 2021 {760)
Amounts transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 85)
Revaluations during the year 1,023
Deferred tax movement {178)

At 31 December 2021 -
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements -~ Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Al 31 Dacember 2021 the Group had minimal exposure 10 movements in literest rates as i1 had no drawn borrowings.

fthe interest rates had been 0.5% higher and afl other variables were held constant, the Group's profit belfare taxation for the years ended
31 December 2021 and reserves would have decreased, by £0.2m (2020: £0.6m).

Liquidity risk managemant
The Group seeks to manage liquidity risk by ensuing sufficient liquidity is avaiteble to meet oreseeable needs and (o irvest cash dssets safely
and profitably.

Management moniors rolling forecasts of the Grougy's liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn bortowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents) on
the basis of expected cash flows. This is generaly cared out at 3 1ocal level In the eperating companies of the Group in accordance with the practice
ang limits set by the Group. These Emits vary by location and talke into account thi liquidity énd nature of the markel in which the entity operates,

The quantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group I5 reguiary reviewed and is designed to excead forecast peak gross Jebt levels:
For shortderm working capital purposes, the Group utilises bank overdrafts as required. These facilives are regularly reviewed and are renegotialed
ahead of their expiry date.

The table below shaws the maturity profile of the Group's financial llabikties:

Within 1 yesr 1-2 years 2-5 years. Owver % yaars Totsl
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £000

2021
Non-derivative financial linblities
Bank bofrowings - - - - -
Trade and other payabies ' THA37 - - - 5,137
Lease Wabilities 42302 30769 3,899 123,394 260,364
Derivative financial llakilities
Interest rate swaps — effective - -~ - - -
2020
Non-derivative financiatl Rebifties
Bank borrawings - 39353 - -~ 39,353
Trade and cther payables W99 3,667 - - 121,586
Lesse liabilities 55237 33777 54,774 121603 265,391
Derfvative financial Habllities
Interest rate swaps — effective 459 246 6 - 921

Credit risk management
The Group's credit risk 15 primarily attributable to is rade receivables, contract assets and work in progress.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 60 days. Trade and other receivables incuded In the Consalidated Balance Sheet are siated net of
an expected credit loss provision which has been astimated by management following a review of indhvidual receivable accounts. There IS no
Group-wide rate of provision and provision made for debts that are overdue is based on prior defauit experience and knawn factors at the balence
sheet date. Receiwables are written off against the expected credit loss provision when management considers thet the debt is no fonger
recoverable.

Housing customers are typicafly Local and Central Government and Housing Associations. The nature of ihese customers means that credit risk is
minimal. Other irade receivables contain no specific concentration of credit risk a% the amounts recognised represent a large number of receivables
fram various cuslomers.

The Group continuakly monitors the position of major customers and incorporates thrs information into it Credit sk contsofs. Extermai credit ratings
are obtained where appropriate. .

Details of the ageing of irade receivabyes are shown in note 18.
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Loan notes receivable

The loan notes included within non-current essets were recelved as part of the disposal of the Terraquest Group. They are repayable in Deceamber

2028 and accrue interest st 10% per arinum,

Deferred and contingent consideration
The table below shows the movements in deferred consideration receivable:

Deferred Contingent Totat

£'000 £°000 £°000

At 1.January 2020 45618 - 4618
Increase due to disposal of Domicliiary Care businesses 1,500 - 1500
Fair value of contingent consideratiorn on disposal of Planning Sotutions business - 5395 5.395
Movement in fair value of contingent consideration - 36 36
Recelved during the year {5,618} - (5.618)
AL 1 January 2024 500 5431 5.931
Movement in fair value of contingent consideration - 1100 100
Recelved during the year {500) - (500}
At 31 Dacember 2021 - 5,531 853

The balence of contingent consideration is expected to be received in April 2022,

Capitel management
The Group’s objectives when managling capital are;

— tosafeguard the Group's abllity to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders;

— o provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the Jevel of risk; and

— o maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital In proportion to risk, The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjusiments io It in light of changes In
ecanomic conditions and the risk characteristics of the undertying assets. in order to maintain or adjust the capitat structure, the Group may adjust the

amount of dividends paid to shareholders, retum capital to sharehalders, issue new shares or sell 8s58ts to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net deht as disclosed below and equity as disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Changes

In Equity.
2021 2020
£'000 £°000
The Group considers its revolving credlt facility to be an integral part of its cash management:
— Cash at bank and in hand 54,632 96,220
— Revolving credit tacility - (39.353)
54,632 56,867

Cash and cash equivalents, including revolving credit facility
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

24. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences under the liability method.

Defarrad tax refates to the foflowing:

Consolidated statement
Balance sheet of profit or ks Other movemeras
YE]) el
Decamber December
2021 2020 201 2020 2021 2020
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Pension schemes (8,315} 1497 {1,003) 67 {8,309) 1726
Share-based payments san 281 s oo 228 o
Cash-flow hedges - 78 - - (s 49
Tax losses 249 1,279 {1,030} 1.215 - -
Provisions 149 76 73 Q43 - -
Acquisition intangibles 662) (1875) 1213 1,553 - -
Capital allowances 647 1323 (676} 439 - -
Leases &68 561 107 A3 - -
(6.678) 3320 ° (%.237) 3,099 (8789 1.885
Other movements are recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Compyehensive Income, excepl those in respect of shere-based psyments
which are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Changaes in Equity.
In accordance with IFRS 2 ‘Sharg-based Payment', the Group has recognised an expense for the consumption of employee services received
as cansideration far share optiong granted. A tax deduction will rot arise unti? the optlons are exercised. The tax deduction in future periods is
depeandent on the Company™s shire price at the date of exercise, The estimated fulure 1ax deduction Is based on the oplions' intrinsic value at ihe

balance shee! date.

The cumulative amount credited to the Consolkiated Statement of Profit or LOsS is limited to the tax effect of the associated cumulative share-besed
payment expense. The excess has been cradited directly to equity. This is presented In the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income,

In addition i those recognised, unysed tax (osses lotatting £25.5m (2020: £29.0m) have not been recognised as management does not consider that
ftis probable that ihey wifl be recovered,

imangible assels acquired as par of a business combination are capitslised ot falr value 8t ihe date of the acquisition and amartised over their useful
sconomic lives. The UK tax regime calculates tax using the individual financial statements of the members of the Group and not the consolidated
accounts. Hence, the tax base of acquisition imangible assets arising on consokdation is £ril. Furthermore, no UK tax reliefIs avallable on the malority
of acquisition intangibles within individual entities, sothe tax base of these assets s also £nil. The estimated tax effect of this Enll tax base is
accounted for as a deferred tax liability which Is relessed over the period of amartisation of the assoclated acquisition intangible asset,

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Ciasses of reserves

Share capital represents the nominat value of shares that have beer issued.

Share premium represents the difference betwaen the nomingl value of shares issued and the total considetation received.

$Share-based psyment reserve rapresents empioyee remuneration which is credited to the share-based payment resérve untit the related share
oplians are exercised. Upon exercise the shate-based payment reserve s ransferred 1o retained eamings.

The cash fiow hedging reserve Comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap cantracts which gre eftective hedges and
mature sfter the year end. Thase ara valuad an & mark-ta-rmarket basts, accourted for through the Consalidated Slatement of Comprehensive Income
and recycled through the Consoldated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

The merger reserve relates 1o the difference between the nominal value and total conskleration in respect of acquisitions, where the Company was
entitled to the merger relief offered by the Comparies Act 2006.
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Share capltal

201 2020
£'000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 110,881,897 (2020: 110,490,459 ordinary shares of 1p each 1109 105
Issue of 44 613 (2020: 351,438) shares on exercise of share options — 4
At 31 December 110,926,510 (2020: 110,881,897) ordinary sheres of 1p each 1109 103
Curing the yesr 44,613 (2020: 391,438} ardinary 1p shares wara issued in respect of share oplions exercised.
26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The following non-opetating cash flow agjustments have been made to the result for the year before tax:
2024 2020
£'000 £000
Depreciation 49,024 47,688
impairment of fixed assets - 1.500
Loss on disposal of assets 245 3
Amortisation L wrsd 1736
Share-based payments 575 9393
IAS 19 pensicn movement {933) 878
Share of profits of associates (885) (365}
Finance income {83%5) (86)
Finance cost 8,904 10166
Total 65,902 72,761
Movements In financing liabilities during the year are 3s follows.
Revoiving Lease
credit facility liabilities Total
£000 £000 £000
At1January 2020 124,047 205175 329,222
Inception of new leases - 46,603 46,603
Termination of leases - {.6m (.64
fnterest 2 7,254 9,965
Arrangement fees expensed during the year 515 - 515
Disposal of subsidiaries - (880) B80)
Cash ouifliows including in respect of interest (87.920) {47470 (135.390)
Al Janyary 2021 35,353 20907 248.424
Inception of new leases - 0,044 50.044
Termination of leases - {1.750) (.750}
Interest 966 6,955 7921
Arrangement fees expensed during the year 647 — 047
Cash outflows Including In respect of interest (40,966 {47.430) {86,396)
At 31 Dacomber 2024 - 216,890 216,890

27, DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

No disposals of subsidiaries were made during 2021. During 2020, the Group disposed of its Scotland Domiclliary Care business In the form of Mears
Care (Scotland) Limited and its Planning Solutions business in the form of Terraquest Solutions Limited and Portalplanquest Limited.

During 2021, the deferred consideration of £0.5m in respect of the ssle of Mears Care {Scotland) Limited was received in full,

The contingent consideration in respect of the disposal of the Planning Solutions business |s carrled at falr value as a cument debtor and Is due to be

received in April 2022. The fair value was estimated to be £6.3m as at 31 December 2021 (2020: £5.4m).
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Financial statemems

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

28. PENSIONS

Accounting policy

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes as folows:

Dafined contribution pensions
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to an Independent antity. The Group has ne legal
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

The contributions recognised in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they fell due. Liabilities and assets may be recognised if
underpayment or prepayment has occurred and are included In cusrrent liabilities or current assets as they are normally of a short-term nature,

The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in an kdependently aaministered furd.

Detined benefit pensions
The Group contributes o defined benellt schemes which require contributions o be mada to separately administered funds.

A defined benefit plan s a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employae wil recelve on retirement, ususlly dependent on
one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. The legal obfigations for any benedits from this kind of pension plan remain with the
Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside,

Scheme kabilities are measured using the projected unit funding method, applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balanca sheet date.
Assets are measured at market vatue. Ih accordance with IFRIC 14, the asset that I recognised s restricled to the amount by which the I1AS 19 service
costis expected, over the lifettme of the scheme, 10 exceed funding contributions payable in respect of sccnulng benefits,

Where the Group has & contractual abligation to make good any deficit in its share of an LGPS but also has the right to recover tha costs of making
good any deficit from the Group's client, the fair vaiue of that guaraniese asset has been recognised and disclosed. Movements In the guarantee asset
e taken to the Consalidaled Statement of Prafil or Loss and to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income to match the movement n
pension assets and habiktles. :

The Group recognises the pension liability and guaraniee assets separately on the face of the Consolidated Balance Sheet,

Actuarial gains and losses are taken o the Consolidaled Statement of Camprehensive Incame as incurred. For this purpase, sctuarial gains end
losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments atising because of differences between the
previous aciuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred.

Other movements In the net surplus or deficlt are recagnised in the Consalldated Statement of Profit or Loss. Including the current service Cost, any
past service cost and the etiect of curtailments or setilements. The netinterest cost is also charged ta the Consolidated Siatement of Profh or Loss.
The amount charged ko the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss In respect of these plans is included within operating costs.

When the Group ceases its participation In a defined benefit pension schemae, the difference between the Carlying vaiue of the scheme as calculaied
on an lAS 15 basis and any deficit payment or surplus recelpl due are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss as a settlement.

The Group's contributions to the scheme are paid In accordance with the rules of the scheme and the recommendations of the scheme actuary.

Defined benefit assets

Scheme assets for LGPS have been eslimated by roling forward the published asset position from the previous year using market index returns owver
the perigd. This is considered to provide a good estimate of the fair vaive of the scheme assets and the values will be updated 1o actuals each time &
triennial valuaton takes place,

Defined benefit lisbilities
A number of key estimates have been made, which are given below, and which are largely dependent on factors outside the control of the Group:

— Infiationrates;

- mortality;

-  discount ratel and

- 5aiary and pension Increases.
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Detalls of the particular estimates usad are included in this note. Sensitivity analysis for these key estimates Is Included below.

Where the Group has a contraciua! obligation to make goad any defictt in its share of an LGPS but also has the right Lo recover the costs of making
good any deficit from the Group's client, the fair value of that asset has been recognised and disclosed. The right to recover costs Is limited to exclude
situations where the Group causes the scheme to incur service costs in excess of those which would have been incurréd were the members
employed within Local Governmenl. Management has made Judgements in respect of whether any of the deficit is as a result of such situations.

The right 1o recover costs Is also limited to situations where the cap on employer contributions to be suffered by the Group is not set so as lo
contribute to reducing the deficit in the scheme. Management, in conjunction with the scheme acwaries, has made judgements in respect of the
predicted future service cost and contributions to the scheme 1o reflect this in the fair value of the asset recognised.

Key sources of ectimation uncertainty

The net position on defined benefit pension schemes is a key source of estimation uncertainty. Given the impenance of this area and to ensure
appropriate estimates are made based on the most relevant information available, management has continued to engage with third party advisers in
assessing each of the underlying assumptions. The discount rate Is derlved from the return on corporate bond ylelds, and whilst this is largely
observable, any change in discount rates In the future could have a material impact on the carrying value of the defined benefit obligation. Similarty,
Inflation rates and mortality sssumptions Impact the defined benefit obligation as they are used 1o mode! future salary Increases and the duration of
pension payments, Whilst current assumptions use projected future inflation rates and the most up to date information available on expected
mortelity, if these estimales change, the defined benefit obligetion could slso change materlaily In future perlads.

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Group personal pension scheme for the benefit of certain employeses, The Group contributes 10 peérsonal
pension schemes of certain Directors and senlor employees. The Group operates a stakehalder pension plan available to all employees. During the
year, the Group contributed £4.0m {2020: £4.5m) {0 these schemes.

Defined benefit schemes
The Group participated in 23 (2020: 23) principal defined benefit schemes on behalf of 8 number of emplayees which require contributions (o be
rmade to separately administered funds.

These pension schemes are opersted on behalf of Mears Limited, Morrison Facifities Services Limited and their subsidiary undertakings. The assets
of the schemes are administered by trustees In funds independent from the assets of the Group.

The Group schemes are no longer open to new members and have no particular concentration of investmeants, $o expose the Group only to
typical risks associated with deflined benefit pension schemes including the risk that investments underperfarm compared with movements in the
scheme Kabilities.

In certain cases, the Group will participate under Admitted Body status in the LGPS. The Group will contribute for a finite period up untilthe ena of the
particutar contract. The Group is required 1o pay reguiar contributions as detailed in the scheme’s schedule of contributions. In some cases, these
contribytions are capped and any excess can be recovered from the body from which the employees originaily transferred, Where the Group has a
contraciual right to recover the costs of making good any deficitin the scheme from the Groug's client, the fair value of that asset has been
recognised as & separate pension guarantee asselL Certain judgements around the value of this asset have been made and are discussed In the
Judgements and estimates disclosure within the accounting poficies.

The disclosures in respect of the two {2020 two} Group defined benefit schemes and the 21 (2020: 21} other defined benefit schemes in this note
have been aggregated. Datails of movemenis in pension guarantee assets are presented in a separate table and the disclosures for 2019 have been
re-presented In the same way In order (o aid comparability.

Costs and liabliitles of the schemes are based on actuarial valuations. The latest full actuarial valuations for the schemes ware updated 10
31 December 2021 by qualified independent actuaries using the projected unit funding method.
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The amounts recognised in the Consoiidated Statement of Profit or Loss are as follows:

2021 2020
Group Other Group Other
sch L Tota! schemas schemes Teotal
£'000 £'0Q0 £000 €000 £000 £000
Current service cost 2154 4277 6,431 2029 4,244 6,273
Setttement and curtailment . - (687) {687) - 22) (22}
Administration costs 545 - S45 3 - 375
Total operating cherpe 2,699 3,590 6,289 2404 4,222 6,626
Met interest (69) 282 3 {206) 466 260
Effects of limitation of recognisable surplus related
1o nat Interest - 152 152 — 56 56
Total charged to the result for the year 2,630 4,024 6.654 298 4,744 6,942
Cumulative actuarlal gains and iosses recognised in ather comprehensive Income {OCI} are as follows:
2021 2020
Group Ottvar Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes sthemes Totat
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000
Return on plén assets in excess of thatrecorded In
net interest 12,003 1,691 23,784 21,081 202768 41847
Actuariet gain arising f_rom changes in
demographic assumptions 292 1,001 1,293 1693 8,364 10,057
Actuarial gainfloss) arising from changes In
financial assumptions 17,044 3648 48,692 {25,060) (62337 87397
Actuerial gainiloss) arlsing from Kability experience 4,364 8,032 12,396 (350) 25300 24,950
On scheme transfer - - - - (57 {157
Effects of limitation of recognisable surplus related
1o OCl movements - {26,444) {26,444) — {8.414) (8,414
Total gains and losses racognised in OC! 33793 25,928 59721 (2,636} 16,478} 1914}
Changes In the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2021 2020
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Totai schemes schamaes Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 E'000
Present value of obligations st 1 January 181184 320,186 501,370 156,379 327460 483,839
Cuvrent service cost 2354 8277 6,431 2,029 4,244 6,273
Interest on obligations 2413 3808 62N 329 5,974 9,215
Plan padicipants’ contributions 236 540 6 264 763 1,027
Benefits paid {5,026) (6,348) 1,374) {4.446) {4189} (8.635)
Contract transfer - 2212 2.212) - (42,595) (42,595
Settlements - {3742) 3.742) - (a4) (144)
Actuarial galn arising from changes in
demographic assumptlons {(292) {4,001) {1,293) 1,693) {8,364) {10,057
Acluarial {gainyloss arising from changes in
financlal assumptions (17,044} {31,648) {48,692) 25,060 62337 87397
Actuarial {gainjioss arising from lisbliity experience {4.364) {8,032) {12,396) 350 {25.300) (24,950)
Present value of obligations at 31 December 159,261 275,828 435,089 181184 320186 501.370
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

28. PENSIONS CONTINUED
Changes in the I3ir value of the plan assets are as follows:

20 202D
Graup Other Group Other
schames schemes Yotal schames schemes Total
£900 £900 £000 €'000 £000 £'000
Fair value of plan assets a1 1 January 185,436 28841 473927 163,250 303464 466,14
Expected return on plan gssels 2482 3,528 6,008 3,447 5,508 B955
Empioyers contributions 2,236 3279 5518 2215 1,835 . 4020
Plan participants’ contribwtions 236 5S40 76 264 763 1027
Benefhis paid {5,026) (6. 349) m37s) {4.446) (4.89) 8,635)
Scheme administration costs (545) - (545) 375 - (375)
Contract transfer - {1,553} (1.553) - (39.836) {39,836)
Settlements - {3,055) (3,055) - 1122 122y
Retum on plan assets above that recorded in .
netinterest 12,093 H,691 23,784 21081 21,098 42179
Fait value of plan assets a1 31 December 196,912 29651 493,453 185,436 28849 473927
Changes In the fair vaiue of guarantee assets are as folows:
201 2020
£'000 £'000
Fair volue of guarante® assets at 1 January 30,708 23,80
Transferred in on scheme entry 579 -
Transferred out on scheme exit {6.369) {5173
Recognised in the Consolidatad Statement of Profitor Loss
Guarantee assel movement In respect of service cost 1707 1626
Guarantee ssset moverent in respeact of fet interest 240 48
Recognised in other comprehensive income
Guarantee as5et movement in respect of actisatial osses {n.0m) 10,024
Fak value gl guarantee assets at 31 Dacembes 2975 30,705

Funding srrangements are agreed for each of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes with their respective trusiees. The employer's
contributions expected o be paid during the financial year ending 3% December 2022 amount 10 £3.5m.

Each of the schemes manages risks through a variety of methods and sustegles [0 iimh downside In falls in equity markets, movement in inflation and
movement in interest ratas,

The Group's defined benefit abligation is sensitive to changes in ceriain key assumptions. The sensilivity analysis below, prepared using the same
methads and assumptions used above, shows how a reasonably possible increase or decrease in a pasticular assumption, in Isolation, results in an
Increase or decrease in the presant value of the defined banefit obligatian as at 31 December 2021,

£'000 £'000

Rate of inflation ~ decreasefincrease by 0.% 7.287) 7.296
Rate of increase in salaries — decreasefincrease by 05% (1.344) 1344
Discoun rate — decieasefincreasa by 01% 8.450 (8.44%
Lile expactancy — decrease/increase by 1 yaar ___(18.403) 18,402
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29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no caplial commitmenis at 31 December 2021 ot at 31 December 2020.

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has guaranteed that it will complete certain Group contracts that it has commenced. At 31 December 2021 these guarantees amounted to

€15.7m (2020: £14.7m).

The Group had no tther contingent liabilities at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Identity of related parties

The Gioup has & related party ielstionship with its pension schemes, its subsidiaries and its Directors.

Panslon schemes
Details of contributions 10 pension schemes are set outin note 28.

Subsidiaries

The Group has & central treasury arrangement in which ali subsidiaties participate. Management does not consider it meaningful to set out details of
transfers made In respect of this treasury arrangement between companies, nor does it consider it meaningful to set out detadls of interest or dividend

paymenls made within the Group.

Transactions with key management personnel
The Group has Identified key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC.

Key management personnel held the following percentage of voting shares in Mears Group PLC:

2021 2020

% %

Directors 0.6 06
Key management personnel’s compensation |s as follows:

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Salaries Including soclal security costs 1659 2,063

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 134 131

Share-based paymerts 46 340

1,939 2,534

Further detaiis of Directors' remuneration are disclosed within the Remunerstion Repaort.
Dividends totating £0.02m (2020: £nll) were paid to Directors during the year.

Transactions with other related parties

At the beginning of the year the Group was owed £0.5m (2020; £0.5m} from YourMK LLP, an entity in which the Group 1S 8 50% member. This loan was

repaid in full during the period.

During the year the Group previded maintenance services to Pyramid Plus South LLP, an entity in which the Group is a 30% member, totaling £10.2m
{2020: £7.9m). At 31 December 2021, £1.0m (2021: £0.9m] was due 1o the Group in respect of these transactions. Pyramid Plus South LLP also made
recharges of certain staff costs ta the Group totaling £0.2m (2020: £0.1m). There were no amounts autstanding at 31 December 2021 in respect of

these recharges (2020: £nil).
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Financial statements

Parent Company balance sheet

As at 31 December 2021

2020
2021 {restated”}
Note £'000 £000
Non-cument assets
Intangibie assets: googwill - -
Right of use assets =3 naz 19746
Investments 7 139,398 139398
Loan notes n 3478 3360
Pension and clher amployee benefits i5 1.920 -
Deferred tax asset - 73
166,211 162,417
Current assats
Debtors 8 45933 37612
Cash at bank and In hand 549 214561
46,582 59073
Creditors: amounts faling due within one year 9 71.216) 30194}
Net current (liabilities)/ L (24,634) 28,879
Total assets less current isbllities w1577 191,296
Creditors: smounts falling due aftar more than one year 0 {15,492} (49,919}
Provisions for labllities
Pension liability 15 -~ 2,816}
126,08% 138,561
Capital and reserves
Cailled up share capital 12 1109 1102
Share premium account #2268 82,225
Share-based payment reserve 1313 1,212
Hedging reserve - (760}
Profit end loss account 41,398 54.675
Sharshoidurs’ funds 126,085 138,561

*  Details of the reclassification in respect of 2020 are Inciyded in note 1.

The Parent Company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own prefic and lass account in these
financial statements. The Group profit (2020: loss) for the year includes a loss of £15.2m 2020 profit of £30.9m) which is recognised within the

financial statements of the Company.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2022,

D J Mites A C M Smith PPN
Diractor Director
Company number. 03232863 d jmiles (Jun 19,2022 13:34 GMT+1)

andrew smith (Jun 19,2022 21:31 GMT+1)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Parent Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Share-
Share based
Share premivm poymant Hedging Retained Total
capial accoum reserve resarve earnings equity
£'000 £000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1January 2020 1105 82224 242 {124) 22,874 108,500
Net resylt for the year - - - - 30,936 30,936
Other comprehensive expense - - - {636} {1,273} 1.909)
Tolal comprehensive expense for the year - - - {636) 29,663 29,027
Issue of shares 4 1 - - - 5
Share options — value of employee services - - 1,029 - - 1029
Share opilons — exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - (2138} - 2138 -
At 1 January 2021 1109 82225 1312 760} 54,675 138,561
Net result for the year - - - - (15,229) {15.229)
Other comprehensive expense - - - 760 4151 4,91
Total comprehensive (expense)income for
the year - = - 760 (.078) 00.318)
Issue of shares - 40 - - - 40
Sharg options — value of employee services - - 75 - - 575
Share options — exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - (S74) - 574 -
Dividends — — - - (2773} {2,773}
At 31 December 2021 1,109 82,265 1313 - 41,396 126,085

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial stalements.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting policies are detalled in their respective nates, where ralevant. Policies that are not specific to @ particular note are detslied below.

Statement of compllance
Mears Group PLC is a public imited company incorporated in England and Wales. lis registered office is 1390 Mompellier Court, Gloucesler Business
Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH.

Basis of preparation

The tinancis! stalements have been prepared in accardance with applicable Uniled Kingaem accounting standards, including FRS 101 and the
Companles Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basls except for the modification to a fai value basis for
certak financial instruments specified in the accounting policies below. The financial statements are presented in Sterling.

The financial statements have been prepared on a geing concern basis. Further details of the cansiderations made by management when making
this assessment are provided in note 1 of the notes to the Group financlal statements.

The Company has taken advamtage of the exemption in Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 from disclesing iis individual profit and loss account.

The Campany has taken advaniage of the reduced disclosures for subsidiaries and the ulimate parent provided for in FRS 101 and has therefore not
provided 2 cash flow stalement or certain disclosures In respect of share-based payments.

The principal accounting policies of the Company ere set out below. These policies have been applied consistently to aff the years presented, ynless
otherwise stated.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there Is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and sl atlached conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it Is recognised as incame on a systematic basis over the periods thal the related costs, for which itis
Intended o compensale, are expansed.

During the prior period, the Group banefitied from receipts from the UK Gavernment under the Caronavirus Job Retention Scheme. in sccordance
wilh FRS 101, smournits received ware presented ss othet income,

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences where the transactions or events thet give the Company sn obigation 10 pay more tax nthe
fulure, or a nght to pay 1e5$ tax in the future. have occurred by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is more likety than
not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax Is meesured using rates of tax and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Critical jucigements in applyihg the Company’s accounting pokcies and key sources of estimation uncertalnty are disclosed in the Group's
accounting policies.

2. RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
This result far the year is staled after charging auditor's remuneration of £150,000 (2020: E130,000) relating 1o audit services.
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3. DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES

Employee benefits expense:
2021 2020
£'000 £000
Wages and salaries 13,283 13189
Saocial sequrity costs 1,510 1665
Other pension costs 512 412
18,305 15,266
A Coaronavirus Job Retention Schene grant of £ni (2020: £0.6m) was recognised as other income.,
The average number of employees of the Company during the year was:
2021 2020
Management 287 308
Remuneration in respect of Directors was as follows:
202 2020
£°000 £'000
Emoluments 1,427 1.821
Pension contributions 10 personal pension schemes 134 31
Gains on exercise of options 146 340
1,707 2,292

During the year contributions were paid to personal pension schemes far three Direciors (2020: three).
During the year no Directors {2020; three} exercised share options.

4. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Accounting policy
All shere-based payment arrangements that were granted after 7 November 2002 are recognised In the financial statements.

The Group operates equity-settied and cash-settied share-based remuneration plans for its employasas. All employee services received In exchange
for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair value. These are Indirectly determined by reference to the fair value of the
share options awarded. Their vaiue Is determined at the date of grant and Is not subsequently remeasured unless the conditions on which the award
was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant is calculated using the Black Scholes aption pricing madel and the cost is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Adjustments are made to refiect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period.

Share-based remunesation in respect of employees of the Company is uitimately recognised as an expense n the profit and loss account. For
equity-settled share-based payments there is a comespanding credil to the share-based payment reserve; for cash-settled share-based payments
the Company recognises a liabikity at the balance sheet date. The Company operstes share-based remuneration plans for employees of subsidiaries
using the Company's equity Instruments. The fair value of the compensation given in respect of these share-based compensation plans less
payments received from subsidiaries In respect of those share-based payments is recognised as a capital contribution.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued,
are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2021 the Group maintained four share-based payment schemes for employee remuneration. The details of each scheme are
Inciuded within note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

AN share-based employee remuneration will be settied (n equity. The Group has ne legal obligstion 1o repurchase o settie the optlons,
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

8. DIVIDENDS
The following dividends were pakd on ordinary shares in the year:

20 2020

£'000 €000

Final 2020 dividend of Op {2020: final 2019 dividend of Op) per share - -
laterim 2021 dividerd] of 2.5p {2020: Interin 2020 dividend of Gp) per share 2773 -
2773 ) -

Na diidend was declared in respect of 2020 An interim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was pald to sharehalders in October 2021
The Directors recommend a final dividena of 5.50p per share. This has not been included within the consoiidated financial siatements as na
obligation existed at 31 December 2021

6. RIGHY OF USE ASSETS

Accounting policy

Where an asset s subject 10 a kease, the Company recognises a right of use asset and 8 iease liabllity on the balance sheet. The right of use asset is
measured at cost, which maiches lhe initial measurement of the fease ability and any costs expected at the end of the lease, and then depreciated
art & steaighit-line basls over the 1£3se term.

The lease liabillty is measured at the present value of the future lease payments discounted using the Group's inclemental bomowing rete.
Lease payments include ixed payments, vatlable paymants based on an index and payments arising from oplions feasonably certain 1o
be exercised.

The Group has elected to accour for short-term leases pnd leases of low value assels using the praciical expedients. Instead of recognising a sight
of use asset and 2 lease labllity, the payments in refalion to these are recognised as an expense in profit or lass on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.

On the stalerment of financial position, right of use assets and lease (iabilities are presented separately.

Offices  Motor vehicles Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
Gross <arrying amoun
Ar1Janyary 2020 ) 115 32309 33224
Addttions* ’ 12 887 B9
Disposals ] (2390) {2.408)
At 1 January 2021 1109 37906 39.015
Additions™ Q) 12,896 12,886
Disposais B {19261 19,842}
At 31 Decembaer 2021 1018 oM 32,059
Dapreciation
At1 January 2020 23 10557 0776
Provided in year M ngi2 1326
Efminated on disposais (8} {2,215 _ (2233
At 1 January 2021 415 19,454 19,869
Provided in the year 7 992 1oh8
Elimnated on disposals (5] {19.264) {19,345)
At 31 December 2021 531 «in 10,642
Carrying amount
At 31 Decamber 2021 487 20,930 21417
Al 31 December 2020 634 18452 19146

*  Additions includes both new urderlying assets an retesduremen of the gt of use ssset for changes in the lease terms.
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7. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Accounting policy

Investments [n equity shares which are not publicly treded and where fair value cannot be measured refiably are measured at deemed cost less

impakment. Dividends on equity securities are recognised inincome when receivable.

Investment

n subs!diary

undertakings

£'000

At 1 Jenuary 2020 39,583

Capitalisation of loans with subsidiaries 10,000

Disposal of cubsidiary (10,250}

Retentlon of holding In disposed subsidlary 85

ALt January 2021 and 31 December 2021 139.3%8
Details of the subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown In note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

8. DEBTORS

2020

2021 {restated)

€000 £'000

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 38528 N7

Other receivables 7405 5,888

45,933 37612

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable on demand. Expected credit losses are assessed on an individual basls, taking into account all

the relevant factors in respect of the counterparty.
Details of the raclassification in respect of 2020 are included in note 11,

9, CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2021 2020
£'000 £000
Trade creditors 12,855 15,478
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 49,455 4123
Interest rate swaps - 459
Accruals 1,727 751
Corporation 1ax 346 579
Lease obligations 6720 8,768
Cther payables 13 36
1,216 30194

10. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE IN MORE THAN ONE YEAR
2021 2020
£000 £'000
Bank borrowings - 39,344
Lease obiigations 15,012 013
Interest rate swaps - 462
Deferred 1ax &80 _
15,492 49519
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

Financiat assets and kabilities sra recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Company becomes party o the cortractual provisions of
the instrument. The principal financial asseis and llabiities of the Company are a5 foliows:

Financlial sasets

8ask financial assets, including trade and other receivables, amounts due to Group compantes and cash and cash equivalents, are initially
recognised at transaction price, uniess the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction s measured af the present value of
the future recelpts discounted at a market rate of interest,

Such assats are subsequently carred at amoriised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Al the end of each reporting pedod financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If an assat is
impaired (he impaliment i0ss is the difference between the carrying amount 8nd the present vaiue of the estimatexd cash flows discounted at the
asset’s oiginal etfective interest rele. The iImpairment loss is récognised in profit or loss,

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual sights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are setiled; {b) substantlaily all the risks
and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another parly; or (C) despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of
ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to another party which has the practical abiity to unifalerally sell the asset to an unrelated third
party without iMposing additfonaf restrictions.

Cash and cash eguivalents include cash al bank and in hand and bank deposits available with 1o nolice of less than Lhree months' notice from
incepiion that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are presented as current liabilkties to the extant that there is no
right of offset with cash balances.

Financial Habilities

Basic financial liablitles, Including rade and other payables, ang amounis paysbie 1¢ Group companies that are classified as debt, are initlally
recognised at transaction price, unfess the arrengemant constitutes a financing fransaction, where the debl instrunent is measured at the present
value of the fulure recelpts discounted al 8 matket rate of interest.

Bank bortowings are non-basic financisl liabilities and are initially recognised at tair value, belng the present value of Tulure psyments discounted at a
market rate of imerest. Bank boriowings are remeasuned at fair value.

Derivatives, Including interest rate swaps, are hat basic finandial nstrumants.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair vafue on the date a derivative contract i entered into and are subsequently rameasured at their fair value.
Changes in the fair vaiue of derivatives are retognised in profit or loss in finance costs or finance income as appropriste, urless they are includedin a
hedging arrangement.

Financiai liabllities are derecognised when the liabilty is extinguished, that i when the contractual obligation is discharged or cancelled of expires.

Offsetting
Firancisl assets and liablilties ace offset and the net smounts presented in the financial staterments when there ks a legally enforcesble right o se! off
the recognised amounts and there s en Intention 1o settie an a net basis or to reafise the assel and settie the lablifity simuhaneousty.

Hedge accounting for interest rate swaps
The Company apphes hedge accounting for transactions entered Into 10 manage the cash flow exposures of borrowings. Interest rate swaps are heid
10 mangage the interest rate exposures and are designated as cash flow hedges of Noating rate bormowings.

Changes in the fair values o1 denvatives designaled as cash flow hedges, and which are effective, are recognised directly In equity. Any Ineflectivenass
in the hedging relationship (being the excess of the cumulative change In fair value of the hedging Instrument since mception of the hedge averthe
cumulative change in the fair vatue of the hedged item since inception of the hedge) is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

The gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income fs reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedge

relabonship ends. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrumeni expires or no longer meets the hedging criteria, the forecast
transaction is no longer highly probable, the hedged debt insirument is derecognised of ihe hedging instrument is terminated.
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The Company has the following financial Instruments;

2020
201 {restated)
£000 £'000
Financial assels that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost:
— Loan notes 34716 3160
- Amounts owed by Group undertakings 38,528 31724
- Other receivables 7405 9,048
Financial kablkies that are measwed at fair value through other comprehensive income:
s [NlErest rate Swaps - 92y
Financlal kebilities that are measured at amortised cost:
w Bank borrowings - (39,344)
—~ Trade creditors {12,855) (15,479
- Lease obligations (21,732} {18.821)
- Amounts owed 10 Group undertakings (49,455) (4123
— Other payables (113) 36
(34.746) (34.851

There have been no changes during the perlod or cumulatively in the fair value of bank borrowings atiributable to changes in the credil risk of the
instrument. The change attributabile to changes In own credit risk is not material due to the short life of indlvidual draw-downs within bank borrowings.
The difference between the carrying amount and the amount expected 10 be paid at maturity is not matertal due to the short life of individual
draw-dawns within bank borrowings.

The Company pald a margin over and above LIBOR on bank borrowings. The margin is based on the ratio of Group consolidated net borrowings to
Group consolidated adjusted EBITDA and could have varied between 1.35% and 2.2% during the year. In December 2021, the Company agreed a

new borrowing facility based on SONIA; however, the facility had not yet been utitised at the year end.

During the year, the Company settied all cutsianding interast rate swap instruments due to its reduced borrowing requirements.

During 202), a hedging gain of £1.0m (2020 loss: £1.1m) was recognised in other comprehensive income for changes in the faw value of the interes!

rate swap and £0.)m of income (2020: £0.4m of expense) was reclassified from the hedge reserve to profit and loss.

The Company seeks to manage liquidity risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity is available 1o meet foreseeable needs and (0 invest cash assets safely
and profitably.

Management monitars roling forecasts of the Group and Company's liquidity resenve {comprising undrawn borrowing facillties and cash and cash
equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows. The quantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group and Company is regularly reviewed
and is designed to exceed lorecast pesk gross debl levels. Far short-term working capitel purposes, the Group and Company utllise bank overdrafts

as required. These facilities are reguylarly reviewed and are renegotiated ahead of thelr explry date.

Loan notes
Loan notes are held as a result of the sale of the Company's holding in TerraQuest Solutions Limited during 2020. The notes are repayable on the
earlier of the onward sale of that business or In 2028. They attract interest et 10% per annum, payable on settiement of the loan notes.

During 2021, these notes were reclassified from current to non-current assets, in line with their expected maturity. This reclessification is presented as
a restatement in the Balance Sheet and has no other impact.

12. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

2021 2020
£'000 £'000

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Al 1 January 110,881,897 (2020: 110,490.459) ordinary shares of 1p each 1909 1105
Issue of 44,613 (2020: 391,438) shares on exercise of share optlons - 4
At 31 December 110,926,510 {2020: 110,881,897) ordinary shares of 1p each 1109 1109

During the year 44,613 {2020: 391,438) ordinary 1p shares were issued In respect of share oplions exercised.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12. sn'nns CAPITAL AND RESERVES CONTINUED
Claszes of reserves
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been Issued.

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued and the wotal considaration received.

Share-based payrent resenve represents employee remuneration which Is credited 1o the share-based payment reserve uniil the related share
options are exerclsed. Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve is translerred to retained earnings.

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising frem the valuation of inlerest swap contracts which are effective hedges and
mature after the year end. These are valued on 2 maricto-market basis, accounted for through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
and recycled thraugh the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedged$ lem affec1s \he Consolijated Statement of Profft or Loss.

13. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Company had no capitat commhments a1 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020.

14. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company has guaraniged that it will complete certain Group contracts that its subsidiaries have commenced. At 31 December 2021 these
guarantees amounted 1o £15.7m (2020: €14.7m). '

The Company Is 8 participant in the Group's RCF agreement and, as such, has provided a full guarantee in respect of amounts drawn under this
facilty. The total facility I$ £70m (2020: £145m) of which none (2020: £40m) was drawn at the balance sheel date,

The Company hat] no other contingent liabilities at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020

15. PENSIONS

Accounting policy

Defined contribution pension scheme

The pension costs charged against profits are the contributions payabie 1o individual polities In respect of the accounting period.

Defined benefit penaions
The Campany contributes ta defined benefit schemes which requing contridutions to be made io separately administered funds.

A gefined benefll planis a penslon plan that defines an amount of penslon benefit that an employee will receve on retrement. usyally dependent on
one ar more factors such as age, years of service and satary. The legal obligations for any benefits from this kind of pension plan remaln with the
Graup. even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit pian have been set aside.

Scheme fabilties are measured using the projected unit funding methad, applying the principal actuanal assumptions at the balance sheet date.
Assets are measwred 3 market vaive. The asset thatis recogrised is restricted 1o the amount by which the service cost is expected, over the litetime
of the scheme, 10 exceed funding contributions paysble in respect of accruing benefits.

Actuarial goins and losses are taken 0 the Consollgated Statemant of Comprehensive income as Incurred. For this purpose, actuarial gains and
losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial assumpiions and experience adjusiments arising because of differences between the
previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred.

Other movements in the net surplus or defich are recognised In the profit and )oss account, InCluding the current service Cost, any past service cost
and the effect of curtaiiments or settlements, The interest costs less the expected return on assets are 3150 charged 10 the Consolidated Staterment of
Profit or Loss. The amount charged 1o the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss in respect of these plans ts Included within operating costs.

The Company’s contributions to the schemes are paid in accordance with the rules of the schemes and the recommendations of thé actuary.

Defined contribution schemes
The Company contributes Lo the personal pension schemes of certain empicyees.

Defined benafit scheme
The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme for the benefit of cenain employees of its subsidiary companies. The assets of the
schemes are administered by trusiees in a fund independent from the assets of the Company.

Costs and labiiities of the scheme are based on aciuanal valugtions. The actuanal valuations weve reviewed and uptated 10 31 December 2021 by
qualified independent actuary using the projecied unit funding method.
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The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date ara as follows:

201 2020
Rate of increnase of salaries - first year 3.00% 285%
Rale of increase of salaries - second year 3.00% 2.85%
Rale of Increase of salaries — kong term 3.00% 2.85%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment ~ based on RP1 with a cap of 5% 290% 2.85%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment - based on RPI with a cap of 3% 2.35% 2.35%
Discount rate ‘2,000 135%
Retall prices nflation 3.00% 2.85%
Consurner prices inflation 2.60% 245%
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old male 1.0 yeurs 21'.1 years
Life axpectancy for a 65-vear-old femate 23.9 years 24.0 years
The emounts recognised in the Parent Company Batance Sheet and major categorles of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are;

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Quoted assets
Bonds 3378 3.865
Property 853 558
Other assats
Multl-asset funds 16,272 15364
Alternative asset funds 2,205 2,039
Return seeking funds 338 40
Dertvatives 564 733
Cash and other 1251 278
Investment liabilities
Derivatives (34) 194
Group's estimated asset share 24824 23,050
Present vaiue of funded scheme llabilities {22,904 (25.866)
Funded status 1920 {2.816)
Related deferred 1ax (iability)/asset (480} 535
Penslon assetiability) 1,440 (2,281
The amounts recognised In the profit and loss account are as follows:

20 2020

£'000 £'000

Current service cost B8 13
Administration costs 167 T
Total operating tharge 175 S0
Net interest 37 28

212 118

Tatal charged o the result for the year
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Financiat statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

15. PENSIONS CONTINUED

201 2020
000 £'000
Present value of ohligations at{ January 25,866 22,350
Current serice cosi 3 13
Interest on obligations 345 463
Plan participants’ cantributions 2 2
Benefits paid (535} (624)
Acuuarial [gain)loss arsing from changes In demographic assumptions . (402) 216
Actuarial (gain¥loss arising flom changes in financial assumplians (2,420} 3643
Actuarial lossAgain) arlising from liabllity experience 49 (%7
Present value of obligattons at 31 December 229504 25,866
Changes in the falrvalue of the plan assets are #s [olows!
2021 2020
£000 £'000
Fair value of plan assets ol | January . 23,050 20972
Expected return on plan assets 308 435
Employer's contributions )] 252
Pian participants” contributions 2 2
Benefits paid (53%) {624)
Administration costs %N (1)
Return on plan assets above thal recorded in net interest 1935 2,090
Falr value of plan asaets at 31 December 24,824 23.050
The moavements inthe net pension llabiiity and the amount recognised in the Parent Company Balarce Sheet are as foliows:
20 W20
£000 £'000
Deficit in schemes 8t 1 January {2,816) (1378
Current service cost (L] 3
Admiristration costs (167 N
Contributions 231 252
Qther findnce cost an 28]
Actuarial gainiloss) arising from changes in demographic assumptions 402 216)
Actuarial gain/loss) ansing from changes in financial assumptions 2,420 {3613)
Actuarial (lossygain arising from Babifity experience {40) 167
Return on plan assels above that recorded In net interast 1936 2090
Deficlt in schemes a1 31 Decamber . 1,920 (2,816)

No employer's contributions are expected 1o be paid Quring the financial year ending 31 December 2022,
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Shareholder information

Five-year record (unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

202 020 w019 2018 2017
lcontinuing)  icontnuing)  {contiwing)  {continulng) (s sctivities)
£000 £'000 £'360 £000 £000
Revenus by business segment '
Housing 879,420 805,877 881457 7N.86 7E6)2}
Care - - - - 134,063
Continulng activities TR A0 805,817 881,457 nas Q00184
Gross profit 180,487 156,287 20609 184928 223702
Operating profit before acquisition intanglble amartisation and
exceptional costs 33,683 5528 40229 33,093 29151
Exceptional ems 1827 2,279 208 15.657) -
Operating profitiloss) 28400 (6,276} 28,089 29,698 28,513
Profit/loss) for the year before ax %333 15.218} 20,253 27377 26484
Profit/loss) before taxation before acquisition intangible
amortisation and exceptional cosls 25,615 (3.4M) 32393 36,772 IN22
Earnings pey share
Basic n72p (066 5720 2.91p 2028p
Dhuted nsop (0561 15.64p nIsp 2010p
Normalised 18.23p 2290 2374p 2770p 28.05p
Dividends per shafe 8.0p 00p 365p 12.40p 12.00p
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
N 2020 2019 018 2017
{ uling) inuing) (cantinuing) {enrmtinuing) (all activitles)
€000 £000 Lo00 £'000 €000
Nan-current assets 405,959 408,369 409151 304 549 264,567
Custgnt assets 227960 267720 284230 244272 1,439
Current llabitities (230,520) [255,318) 326329 {222,909} (198,678)
Non-cumrent labilities {202,261) {264720) (248,115) (115,632) {67,738}
Total equity 201,038 156,051 18337 210,280 239,530
Cash and cesh equivalents, end of year 54,632 56,867 {50.986) {65.204) (25789
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Shareholder and corporate information

Financial calendar
Annual General Meeting
17 May 2022

Repistered office

1330 Montpellier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tel: 01452 634600
www.mearsgroup.co.uk

Company registrataon humbar
03232863

Company Secretary

Ben Westran

1390 Montpeller Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockwarth

Gloucester GLI 4AH

Tet Q1452 634600

Bankers
Barclays Bank PLC

Wales arxi South West
Corporate Banking

41h Floor, Bridgewsler Mouse
Counterslip

Finzels Reach

Bristol BS16BX

Tet 080Q 2851152

HSBC Bank PLC

West & Wales

Corporate Banking Cantre
3 Rivergate

Temple Quay

Bristol BS1EER

Tel 0845 583 9796

Citi Bank pic

25-33 Canada Square
Canary Wharl

London

E14 508

Tel 020 7500 5000

Solicitors
Travers Smith

10 Snow Hilt
London ECI1A 2AL

Tet 020 7295 3000

Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountants
The Paragon
Counterslip

Bristol BSY6BX

Tel ON7 9812050

Registrar

Neville Reglstrars Lid
Naville House

Steelpark Road
Halesowen

West Midlands B62 8HD

Teb 1215851131

Corporate brokers
Pae! Hunt

Moor House
20 London Wall
Londen EC2Y SET

Tel: 020 7418 8900
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Interntet

The Group operates a website, which canbe
found at www.mearsgroup.co.uk. Thissiteis
regularly updated to provide information about
the Group, in particular, al of the Group's press
releases and annouricemerits can be found on
the site.

Repistrar

Any enguiries concerning your sharehelding
shouid be addressed to the Company's
registrar. The registrar should be notified
promptly of any change In a sharehatlder's
address or other details.

Investor relations

Requests for further coples of the Annual
Report and Accounts, of other investor
refations enquiries, should be addressed to the
registered office.

Consultancy, design and production
www.luminous.co.uk
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